
 

 

F19/13/03-D21/26182

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8 March 2023 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Audit and Risk Committee and Ordinary Meeting of Council  
 
Notice is hereby given that the Audit and Risk Committee and Ordinary Meeting of Council will be held in 
the Council Chambers, Stratford District Council, 63 Miranda Street, Stratford on Tuesday 14 March 
2023 beginning at 1.00pm.     
 
Timetable for 14 March 2023 as follows: 
 
10.00am Section 17a Review Group  

1.00pm  Audit and Risk Committee  
 

2.45pm  Afternoon tea for Councillors 
 

3.00pm Public Forum  
- Judy Drummond, Stratford Croquet Club  
- Taranaki Trails Trust – Dave Taylor, Charlotte Littlewood and Darryl 

Gaudin 
3.30pm Ordinary Meeting of Council 

4.30pm (approx.) Workshop for Councillors  
- Annual Plan 

 
 
 Yours faithfully 
 

 
Sven Hanne 
Chief Executive 
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F22/55/05 – D22/46131 

Date: Tuesday 14 March 2023 at 1.00PM  
Venue: Council Chambers, 63 Miranda Street, Stratford 
 

1. Welcome 
 

1.1 Opening Karakia  
D21/40748 Page 7 
 

1.2 Health and Safety Message   
D21/26210 Page 8 

 

2. Apologies 
 

3. Announcements 
 

4. Declarations of members interest  
Elected members to declare any real or perceived conflicts of interest relating to items on this 
agenda.  

 

5. Attendance Schedule   
Page 9 
 
Attendance schedule for Audit and Risk Committee meetings. 

 

6. Programme of Works   
D21/42807  Page 10 
 

 

Recommendation 
 

      THAT the Audit and Risk Committee’s rolling programme of works up to the end of 2023 be  
      received. 

 /  
Moved/Seconded  

 
 

7. Confirmation of Minutes    
 
7.1 Audit and Risk Committee – 6 December 2022 
 D22/47533  Page 11 

 
 

Recommendation 
 

THAT the minutes of the Audit and Risk Meeting of Council held on Tuesday 6 December 
2022 be confirmed as a true and accurate record.    

  /  
 Moved/Seconded 
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8. Matters Outstanding  
D18/27474  Page 19 

 
 

Recommendation 
 

      THAT the matters outstanding be received.  
   /  
  Moved/Seconded 

 

 
9. Information Report – Health and Safety  

D23/7845  Page 20 
 

 
Recommendation 

 
      THAT the report be received.  

   /  
Moved/Seconded 

 

 
10. Information Report – Internal Audit 2021/22 – Update    

D23/7299 Page 24 
 

 
Recommendation 

 
             THAT the report be received. 
 

Recommended Reason 
The Audit and Risk Committee is tasked with reviewing and monitoring the internal audit 
activities of Council on behalf of elected members. 

 /  
Moved/Seconded 

 

 

11. Information Report – Capital Works Programme – Key Projects Update – February 
2023  
D23/6964 Page 34 

 
 

Recommendation 
 
             THAT the report be received. 

 
Recommended Reason 
To present an update on the progress of our key capital projects in the 2022/23 financial year. 

 /  
Moved/Seconded 
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12. Information Report – Annual Plan Update   
D23/7919 Page 43 

 
 

Recommendation 
 
 THAT the report be received. 

 
Recommended Reason 
This report provides the Committee with an update on the status of the draft Annual Plan 
2023/24, and an opportunity to comment on associated risks. 

 /  
Moved/Seconded 

 

 

13. Information Report – Section 17a Reviews  
D22/45421 Page 49 

 
 

Recommendation 
 
 THAT the report be received. 
 

Recommended Reason 
To give an update to the Committee on the status of the Service Delivery (Section 17a) 
Reviews. 

 /  
Moved/Seconded 

 

 

14. Information Report – Risk Management 
D23/8365 Page 63 

 
 

Recommendation 
 
 THAT the report be received. 

 
Recommended Reason 
To provide an update to the Audit and Risk Committee of any significant risks and any incidents 
or threats in relation to significant risks on Council’s risk register from the previous quarter. 

 /  
Moved/Seconded 

 

 

15. Correspondence 
15.1 LGFA Half Yearly Report  
15.2 LGFA Statement of Intent  
 

16. General Business  
 

17. Questions  
 

18. Closing karakia  
                 D21/40748 Page 220  
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F19/13/03-D21/40748

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Karakia  
 
Kia uruuru mai  
Ā hauora  
Ā haukaha 
Ā haumāia 
Ki runga, Ki raro 
Ki roto, Ki waho  
Rire rire hau Paimārire 

I draw in (to my being) 
The reviving essence  
The strengthening essence  
The essence of courage  
Above, Below 
Within, Around 
Let there be peace. 
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F19/13/03-D22/17082

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Health and Safety Message 

 
In the event of an emergency, unless guided to an alternative route by staff, please exit through the main 
entrance. Once outside the building please move towards the War Memorial Centre congregating on the 
lawn area outside the front of the council building.  
 
If there is an earthquake, please drop, cover and hold where possible. Remain indoors until the shaking 
stops and you are sure it is safe to exit or remain where you are until further instruction is given. 
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5. Attendance schedule for 2022/23 Audit and Risk Committee meetings.  
 
 

Date 

14
/0

3/
23

 

16
/0

5/
23

 

18
/7

/2
3 

19
/0

9/
23

 

21
/1

1/
23

 

Meeting A A A A A 

Neil Volzke      

Steve Beck       

Grant Boyde       

Annette Dudley      

Jono Erwood      

Ellen Hall      

Amanda Harris      

Vaughan 
Jones  

   
  

Min McKay      

John Sandford       

Clive 
Tongaawhikau 

   
  

Mathew Watt      

Philip Jones 
(External 
Chair) 

   
  

 
 

Key  
A Audit and Risk Meeting 
D Meeting deferred 
 Non-committee member  
 Attended 
A Apology/Leave of Absence 

AB Absent 
S Sick  

(AV) Meeting held, or attended by, Audio Visual Link   
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Mar‐23 May‐23 Jul‐23 Sep‐23 Dec‐23 Mar‐24 May‐24 Jul‐24
Standing Items ‐Correspondence 

Received
‐Health and Safety 
Report
‐Risk Management 
Review
‐ LTP Capital Projects 
status update

‐Auditor Correspondence 
Received
‐Health and Safety 
Report
‐Risk Management 
Review
‐ LTP Capital Projects 
status update

‐Auditor 
Correspondence 
Received
‐Health and Safety 
Report
‐Risk Management 
Review
‐Audit matters raised ‐ 
Deloitte
‐ LTP Capital Projects 
status update

‐Auditor Correspondence 
Received
‐Health and Safety 
Report
‐Risk Management 
Review
‐ LTP Capital Projects 
status update

‐Auditor Correspondence 
Received
‐Health and Safety Report
‐Risk Management 
Review
‐Audit matters raised ‐ 
Deloitte
‐ LTP Capital Projects 
status update

‐Auditor Correspondence 
Received
‐Health and Safety Report
‐Risk Management 
Review
‐Financial Report
‐Audit matters raised ‐ 
Deloitte
‐ LTP Capital Projects 
status update

‐Auditor Correspondence 
Received
‐Health and Safety Report
‐Risk Management 
Review
‐Financial Report
‐Audit matters raised ‐ 
Deloitte
‐ LTP Capital Projects 
status update

‐Auditor Correspondence 
Received
‐Health and Safety Report
‐Risk Management 
Review
‐Financial Report
‐Audit matters raised ‐ 
Deloitte
‐ LTP Capital Projects 
status update

Annual Items ‐ Internal Audit 2021/22 
update 
‐ Annual Plan 2023/24 
update

‐Civil Defence Readiness
‐ Internal Audit 2022/23 ‐ 
Plan 
‐Cyber Risk prevention 
update

‐ Review of Insurances ‐Internal Audit Report 
(outcomes)

‐Committee Self‐Review 
(workshop)
‐ Annual Report 2022/23 
(final draft for approval)

‐ Internal Audit (Plan for 
2024, and status report 
on previous year audit)
‐ Annual Plan 2023/24 
update

‐ Internal Audit (Plan for 
2024, and status report 
on previous year audit)
‐ Annual Plan 2023/24 
update

‐ Review of Insurances

One‐Off Items ‐ Section 17a Reviews 
final project plan and 
templates

‐ Climate Change 
resilience, strategic risk ‐ 
deep dive
‐ 3 Waters Reforms ‐ 
update

‐ Risk 32 ‐ Lone Worker ‐ 
deep dive
‐ 3 Waters Reforms ‐ 
update

‐ 3 Waters Reforms ‐ 
update

‐ 3 Waters Reforms ‐ 
update

‐ 3 Waters Reforms ‐ 
update

‐ 3 Waters Reforms ‐ 
update

Audit and Risk Committee ‐ Programme of Works (D21/42807)
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F22/55/05 - D22/47533 

 
Date: Tuesday 6 December 2022 at 2pm  
Venue: Council Chambers, 63 Miranda Street, Stratford  
 
 

Present 
 
Mr P Jones (the Chair), the District Mayor N C Volzke, the Deputy Mayor M McKay, Councillors: G W Boyde, 
J M S Erwood and V R Jones 

In attendance 
 
Councillors: S J Beck, W J Sandford and A K Harris (via audio visual link) 
 
The Chief Executive – Mr Sven Hanne, the Director – Community Services – Ms K Whareaitu, the Director 
Assets – Mrs V Araba, the Director – Corporate Services – Mrs T Raich, the Director Environmental Services 
– Mr B Sutherland, the Committee Advisor and Executive Assistant – Mrs E Bishop, the Health & Safety/Civil 
Defence Advisor – Mr M Bestall (part meeting), the Corporate Accountant – Mrs C Craig (part meeting), the 
Projects Manager/Engineer – Mr S Taylor (part meeting), the Roading Asset Manager – Mr S Bowden and 
one member of the media (Stratford Press).  
 
Via audio visual link: Pam Thomson and Yan Oon (Deloitte (part meeting)) 
 

1. Welcome 
 

The opening karakia was read.    
 
The Chair welcomed the District Mayor, Councillors, staff and the media to the meeting. 

 
The Chair reiterated the health and safety message and emergency procedures.  
 

2. Apologies  
 
Apologies were noted from Councillor A M C Dudley and C M Tongaawhikau.  
 

 
Recommendation 

 
 THAT the apologies be noted.  

VOLZKE/ERWOOD 
Carried 

A&R/22/45 
 

 

3. Announcements  
 
The Chairman welcomed the auditors from Deloitte. He noted that approval had been given to move 
item 15 – Correspondence to be considered now. This was to allow representatives of Deloitte to 
present on the Annual Report and audit process.  
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Item 15 – Correspondence. 
 
Pam Thomson of Deloitte presented to the Audit and Risk Committee, the auditors report was tabled 
as correspondence and had been circulated to the Committee. The following points were noted: 

 The audit is largely completed, however there are minor points that are still being worked 
through such as the substantive testing, financial reporting and regulatory matters.  

 The Financial Statement Disclosure in regard to the three waters will still be included, however 
it is awaiting the Auditor General to release the proposed changes.  

 The highlighted areas of focus have not changed since the original planning document. The 
significant risk around property, plant and equipment has been one of the key focuses with 
increasing costs, supply chain issues and disruptions. Valuations were completed for roading 
and water assets and discussions held with the valuers with no concerns identified. It is 
recommended in the future to align the valuations with the year-end especially given the 
significant movement in prices and inflation over the past 12 months. Not aligning these 
requires additional procedures to be undertaken by auditors and management to ensure 
nothing has changed materially.  

 It was noted the area of focus – Management’s ability to override controls was not something 
specific to this council but to do with auditing standards. It is about understanding key controls 
around reporting processes and following general testing from set and detailed criteria there 
were no identified material issues.  

 Revenue recognition is always considered an important focus, there were no issues that were 
found.  

 
Questions/Points of Clarification: 

 The District Mayor questioned if there was any advice for looking to plan ahead with the Annual 
Plan with the unknown outcomes of the three waters reform. Ms Thomson noted that auditors 
appreciated the challenges that councils have and will continue to liaise with the Auditor 
General on all issues faced by the sector to understand what needs to be done going forward, 
this can only be done once the bill is accepted and it is known what the various amendments 
are.  

 
Yan Oon noted the following points in completing the presentation: 

 The area of focus relating to the public sector specific procedures is largely determined by the 
Auditor General and where there are concerns around good practice guidance, specifically 
around sensitive expenditure, conflicts of interest and severance payments. There were no 
identified matters or issues but there were a couple of improvement points which will be 
communicated with management and some best practice examples to refer to.  

 The impact of Covid-19 has been an area of focus of for a couple of years now and there are 
areas that will continue to be impacted, such as the valuation of assets or whether there are 
changes required for internal controls. There were no identified matters of issue.  

 The area of focus for the Statement of Service performance is where council is required to 
include a statement around the performance framework including in the Long Term Plan. It is 
important to record performance to ensure council is meeting legislative requirements and that 
they are consistent with the 2021-2031 Long Term Plan. There were no identified matters of 
issue.  

 The area of focus relating to Climate Change and Natural Hazards relates specifically to the 
Long Term Plan and if there is a need to consider these in the financial provisions. This has 
been discussed with management to see what they have done in terms of the long term plan. 
There were no identified matters of issue.  

 
Ms Thomson concluded the presentation: 

 A separate report will be provided to management post signing the financial statements. Based 
on the report to date there is nothing identified that will have a material impact.  

 There is one unadjusted difference relating to the fair value of Percy Thomson Trust 
investments to be revalued for consolidation purposes to be carried to cost in council’s 
statements.  

 It was confirmed that the Annual Report was on track for adoption by Council on 13 December 
2022 and that it was expected an unmodified opinion would be issued.  
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4. Declarations of Members Interest 
 
The Chair requested councillors to declare any real or perceived conflicts of interest relating to items 
on this agenda.    
 
There were no declarations of interest relating to items on this agenda.   
 

5. Attendance Schedule  
 
The attendance schedule for Audit and Risk Committee meetings was attached.  

 

6. Programme of Works  
D21/42807 Page 10 

 
 

Recommendation 
 

      THAT the Audit and Risk Committee’s rolling programme of works up to the end of 2023 be  
      received. 

BOYDE/VOLZKE 
Carried 

A&R/22/45 
 

 

7. Confirmation of Minutes    
 

7.1 Audit and Risk Committee – 20 September 2022   
 D22/36176 (open) D22/36102 (PE) Page 11 

 
 

Recommendation 
 

THAT the confirmed minutes of the Audit and Risk Meeting of Council held on Tuesday 20 
September 2022 be received.   

  P JONES/ERWOOD  
Carried 

A&R/22/45 
 

 
8. Matters Outstanding  

D18/27474  Page 19 
 

 

Recommendation 
 

      THAT the matters outstanding be received.  
ERWOOD/McKAY 

Carried 
A&R/22/45 
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9. Information Report – Health and Safety  
D22/45592  Page 20 

 

 
Recommendation 

 
      THAT the report be received.  

V JONES/P JONES 
Carried 

A&R/22/45 
 

 
The Health and Safety/Civil Defence Advisor noted there had been a further four incidents at the pool to the 
end of November.  
 
Questions/Points of Clarification: 

 Mr Bestall noted that the lockdown at the library had highlighted the need for an actual procedure for 
this sort of event to be added to council’s emergency procedures.  

 The District Mayor noted his concern regarding the situation with Puniwhakau Bridge and Worksafe 
entering the discussion. He felt if the bridge was deemed as a workplace then would a road be 
considered a workplace? Mr Hanne noted that subsequent statement had been received from 
Worksafe requesting progress before the logging company needed to cross over the bridge again. 
Council was in discussion with Waka Kotahi regarding a legal opinion on worksafe’s directive. The 
District Mayor requested that this issue also be raised with Local Government New Zealand.  It was 
noted that there had been damage made to the bridge in February from the logging company. 
Additional scaffolding has been added to raise the handrail and consultants had undertaken an 
inspection of the bridge who have stated in their opinion it is still ok to carry 44 tonne loads as it was 
strengthened for in 2012. A status update was requested to be added to the matters outstanding. The 
immense concern over the precedent this complaint could take was noted.  

 Councillor Boyde noted that council had not been advised of the incident at the aerodrome and Mr 
Bestall noted that an incident of this nature should have been communicated to council.  

 The Chair requested further clarification on incidents with either no further action required, remedial 
action proposed or remedial action undertaken.  
 

10. Information Report – Internal Audit 2021/22 
D22/45824 Page 24 

 
 

Recommendation 
 
             THAT the report be received. 
 

P JONES/V JONES  
Carried 

A&R/22/45 
Recommended Reason 
The Audit and Risk Committee is tasked with reviewing and monitoring the internal audit 
activities of Council on behalf of elected members. 

 
 

 
Questions/Points of Clarification: 

 It was noted that the contractor management results were largely due to the specialist skillset required 
for the contracts reviewed. The Procurement Policy was not applied because it would not have 
delivered the desired outcome. It has highlighted that there is also a lack of contractual agreements 
in these cases. The Procurement Policy will be reviewed to ensure council is able to find the right 
source for the required work and at the same time improves its processes.   

 It was noted that eye checks for staff were a recommendation from this report. The Chief Executive 
noted there were a number of health checks provided to staff, however eye checks were not currently 
on this list and would require an increased budget which could be discussed during the Annual Plan 
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process. He noted health checks were undertaken with staff who have regular exposure to high-risk 
areas. It was noted that the internal audit plan was in the programme of works and would be brought 
back to this committee.  

 
The Corporate Accountant and Health and Safety/Civil Defence Advisor left the meeting at 3.09pm.  
 

11. Information Report – Capital Works Programme – Key Projects Update – November 
2022 
D22/44738 Page 39 

 
 

Recommendation 
 
             THAT the report be received and that the Audit and Risk Committee note their appreciation and 

congratulation to staff for the Transport Choices Funding allocation.  
VOLZKE/BOYDE 

Carried 
A&R/22/45 

Recommended Reason 
To present an update on the progress of our key capital projects in the 2022/23 financial year. 
 

 

 
The Project Manager/Engineer noted that since the report had been printed there had been an announcement 
regarding the Transport Choices Fund of which Stratford District Council was one of 46 councils to receive 
funding. This will go towards the town centre, school safety and connecting our community projects and means 
some long term plans have been brought forward. He noted one of the keys to being successful with this 
funding was that these projects were already in council’s plans. Stratford has also been listed as a flagship 
project.   
 
Questions/Points of Clarification: 

 The District Mayor acknowledged and thanked the staff involved in this funding application as it had 
little preparation time to submit the application. 

 The Chairman questioned what the Chief Executive’s confidence was to complete these extra capital 
works. Mr Hanne noted council had achieved 80% of work in the previous year with the remaining 
20% being picked up in the new financial year. He was hopeful that performance would be at a similar 
level.  
 

12. Information Report – Risk Management 
D22/45421 Page 47 

 
 

Recommendation 
 
             THAT the report be received. 

ERWOOD/P JONES 
Carried 

A&R/22/45 
Recommended Reason 
To provide an update to the Audit and Risk Committee of any significant risks and any incidents 
or threats in relation to significant risks on Council’s risk register, since the last Committee 
meeting. 

 
 

 
The Director – Corporate Services noted that councils were being encouraged to submit on the Future for 
Local Government Review on their accord with submissions closing on 28 February 2023. 
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Questions/Points of Clarification: 
 It was clarified that submissions for the Resource Management Act reform closed on 30 January 2023. 

It was noted that the mayors at the recent Zone 3 meeting had signed a letter to the select committee 
regarding the timeframe and asking for an extension.  
 

13. Information Report – Service Delivery (Section 17a Reviews) Update  
D22/46483 Page 62 

 
 

Recommendation 
 
 THAT the report be received. 

McKAY/ERWOOD 
Carried 

A&R/22/45 
Recommended Reason 
To give an update to the Committee on the status of the Service Delivery (Section 17a) 
Reviews. 

 

 
The Director – Corporate Services noted this report provided an update on these reviews. The first meeting 
will be held on 13 December 2022 and an update will be provided at each Audit and Risk Committee meeting.  
 
Questions/Points of Clarification: 

 The Chairman noted the amount of work that was currently in front of council and questioned if there 
was a significant benefit in undertaking these reviews? Mrs Radich noted a cost benefit by activity will 
be undertaken but that these reviews will help guide council through the Long Term Plan. The reviews 
are worthwhile but the project team will need to be selective about what is reviewed and to what depth.  

 It was clarified that the inclusion of Elected Members was raised by Elected Members and would 
provide them with good insight and an opportunity to participate by asking the questions the 
community may ask. It was confirmed they will receive good guidance on the process.  

 It was clarified that any consultation that arises from this process will be undertaken through the normal 
consultation process which will include consulting with mana whenua.  

 
The Projects Manager/Engineer left the meeting at 3.27pm.  
 

14. Decision Report – Three Water Reforms – Risk Management  
D22/46201 Page 95 

 
 

Recommendations 
 

1. THAT the report be received.  
ERWOOD/McKAY 

Carried 
A&R/22/45 

2. THAT the Committee consider the discussion points listed in 7.4 of this report, and 
decide whether further investigation is required for each. 

 
Recommended Reason 
To assist and guide the Committee in managing all aspects of risk in relation to the Three 
Waters Reform. 

 

 
The Director – Corporate Services noted the following points: 

 This report was requested by Elected Members to present the financial risks to council with the three 
waters reforms.  

 It is hoped that this committee will provide guidance towards any changes that may need to be 
considered in the 2022/23 Annual Plan as next year will be the last year with the three waters assets 
within the plan.  

 The four options in 7.4 were just suggestions for the committee to consider.  
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Questions/Points of Clarification: 
 The District Mayor noted his congratulation on this report and that it was one of the most accurate and 

concise reports that he had read on this subject. He noted that the report highlighted many of the 
deficiencies and unknowns that there are including the inability to make meaningful decisions when 
what the future looks like is unknown. He noted that at the recent Rural and Provincial meeting, 
National’s Chris Bishop, had presented and noted that the repeal would very much depend on how 
far down the track this process was. He had stated the most likely change would be the chance to 
develop your own bespoke model for the region and potentially neighbouring areas. Mayor Volzke 
noted that a fairly conservative approach to the options presented must be taken as each of the 
scenarios presented would result in the assets ownership being transferred from council. He felt to 
stop funding depreciation would be a bold step.  

 Councillor Boyde agreed with the District Mayor and noted that with so many unknowns and potential 
changes made it very difficult to make decisions. He noted his reservations in making big judgement 
calls at the moment.  

 Deputy Mayor McKay noted the option to charge for the information being requested and asked if 
council had been charging to date. Mr Hanne noted that the information request had effectively been 
offset by the Better Off Funding packages which expected councils to engage in good faith with the 
process. The funding received well exceeds the amount that would have been charged in terms of 
LGOIMA charges.  

 Mrs Radich clarified that with the ‘no worse off’ review she had presented debt to revenue and other 
covenants pre-reforms and post reforms under the anticipated scenario that is currently before 
parliament. This does show a slight worsening of some of councils ratios which may need to be looked 
into for council to continue to invest in capital works and investment projects. Council could either put 
a cap on some of its loan funded projects, or allocate some of the no worse off funding to debt but this 
depends on the funding to debt ratio with the three waters and future loan funded capital expenditure 
program.  

 Mrs Radich clarified that council was still very low in its covenants and at this stage would not require 
these to be readjusted to borrow for further projects, but extra caution was required.  

 The District Mayor noted the original intention was that debt would go to the new entity, however this 
will now remain on council’s balance sheet with the new entity servicing the loan. The Chairman noted 
that there will not be further clarification until the next water services bill is passed by parliament which 
should be introduced before Christmas. He noted that all the was certain was that there was change 
coming and councils needed to prepare themselves and get into the best position possible.  

 The Chief Executive noted that funding depreciation had been reduced in the last Annual Plan in light 
of the reforms to positively impact rates.  

 It was noted that the options had been presented to give the committee the opportunity to consider 
them, however it was decided to not pursue these at this time.  

 

15. Correspondence 
 
Presented during announcements. 
 

16. General Business  
 

There was no general business.  

 
17. Questions  

 

18. Closing karakia  
              D21/40748 Page 106 

The closing karakia was read.  
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The meeting closed at 3.46pm.   

 

 

P Jones  
Chairman 
 

Confirmed this 21st day of March 2023.  

 

 

 
N C Volzke 
District Mayor   
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Audit and Risk Committee 
Matters Outstanding Index 
 

ITEM OF MATTER MEETING RAISED RESPONSIBILITY CURRENT 
PROGRESS 

EXPECTED RESPONSE 

Health and Safety Framework Review 
– manual review 

22 June 2021  Sven Hanne/Mario 
Bestall  

Underway Update in item 9 – Information 
Report - Health and Safety  

Puniwhakau Bridge – status update  6 December 2022 Sven Hanne Complete Update in item 9 – Information 
Report - Health and Safety 

Health and Safety Report – further 
clarification to be added regarding 
remedial actions.  

6 December 2022 Mario Bestall  Complete Item 9 – Information Report - 
Health and Safety 

Report outlining recommendations 
implemented from internal audit – 
including health checks for staff 

6 December 2022  
Complete Item 10 – Information Report – 

Internal Audit 2021/22 - Update 
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F22/55/04 – D23/7845 

 
To: Audit and Risk Committee   
From: Health and Safety/Emergency Management Advisor   
Date: 14 March 2023 
Subject: Health and Safety Report  
 

 
Recommendation 

 
 THAT the report be received. 

 /  
Moved/Seconded 

 

 
1. Purpose of Report 
 

1.1 This report presents a summary of three-monthly progress and any highlights for the 
main areas of activity within for the period to 28 February 2023. 

 
2. Executive Summary  
 

2.1 This report provides an overview of Council’s health and safety performance through 
statistical data reported and recorded in the health and safety software (Vault) for the 
three months ending 28 February 2023. 

 
2.2 Results of data analysed since 1 December show that there has been a total of 70 

events logged in Vault. This incorporates 52 pool events that are now being logged in 
Vault. There was 3 near miss reported and no positive observations noted. 

 
3. Incidents  
 
1 December -2022 – 28 February-2023 
 
 Report 

Period 
1 Dec 22- 
28 Feb 23 

Average 
amount of 
incidents 
per month 

Average 
amount 

incidents 
last 

Quarter 

Running YTD 
Balance 

(1 July2022 – 
30 June 

2023) 

YTD 
average 

amount of 
incidents 

Events 70 23.3 13.6 120 15.0 
Of which:      
Injury( to our staff/ Contractor) 2   3  
ACC Claims -   -  
Notifiable -   -  
Near Miss 3   4  
Observations    -  
Other 65 21.6 13 113 14.1 
Type of Incident      
Slips/Trips/Falls  7  6 13  
Sprains/Strains 2  4 8  
Cuts/Abrasions/ Bleeding nose 20  5 26  
Bruising 4  5 9  
Rescues 3  3 6  
Contamination incidents (Pool) 1  2 3  
Aggressive/Abusive Customer 5  4 12  
Trespass -   -  
Vehicle Damage 2  0 2  
Non-compliance of process 1  1 2  
Plant/Building/Equipment 6  2 8  
Other 14  12 26  
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 Period 

1 December 22- 
28 February 2023 

Running YTD Balance 
(1 July2022 – 30 June 

2023) 
Level of Treatment   
First Aid /DR/ Medical Centre 33 56 

   
Level of Investigation   
No Investigation 42 72 
Minor Investigation 18 24 
Formal Investigation 10 23 
WorkSafe Investigation - - 

   
Health and Wellbeing   
Workstation Assessments 4 7 
EAP Referrals 1 7 
Health Monitoring Assessments - 25 
Health and Safety Committee 
Meeting 

1 3 

Site Reviews 1 3 
 
3.  Events 
 

3.1 Wai O Rua – Stratford Aquatic Centre remains the council location with the most 
incidents. This can however be attributed to the high number of visitors frequenting this 
facility. User numbers for the new pool are approximately double that of the old pool 
with a large portion of that growth being in the younger visitor ages that are naturally 
more prone to minor incidents (bleeding noses, grazed knes). 

 
Overall, it is important for Wai O Rua and Council to take measures to prevent injuries 
and ensure the safety of our patrons. By monitoring and addressing injury trends, 
implementing safety measures, and providing appropriate training and education, 
Council can ensure that our customers can enjoy the services without undue risk of 
harm. Although the amount of injuries has risen, the seriousness of the injuries has not 
increased and it is suggested that the number and severity of injuries are within 
acceptable levels when considering the nature of the business of the pool complex.  
 

            
3.2 There has been a shift towards a new format of reporting key risks and incidents to 

council, with a focus on identifying and mitigating potential hazards before they 
escalate into incidents and or key outcomes from major investigations.  

 
Incident 1 

 
           Incident type: Workplace ergonomics 
 Investigation & event details: recurrence/aggravation of historic injury 

Specific outcome: changes to the staff member's work environment including desk 
and chair height, provision of ergonomic equipment and suggestion that the staff 
member stagger repetitive duties  
Organisation-wide implications: none as ergonomic equipment already readily 
available. Have historically undertaken ergonomic assessments organisation wide but 
have found that without buy-in from staff, these are immediately undone, therefore have 
reduced them to on request basis. 
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Incident 2   
 
           Incident type: external complaint – health & safety 
 Investigation & event details: external complaint about competence & standard of 

skill level council staff 
Specific outcome: review of processes, procedures, competence and qualification of 
staff and relevant in-house training processes. Feedback taken into consideration in 
ongoing improvements of operation 
Organisation-wide implications: none as was specific to role. Council provides a 
wide range of job specific training for the broad range of roles we undertake. Wherever 
possible these utilise external qualification and or accreditation for transparency and 
quality control. 
 
Incident 3            

                           
           Incident type: physical injury – staff member 
 Investigation & event details: injury obtained while undertaking tasks not part of role 

or assigned by supervisor/manager, failure to assess situational risk/undertake JSA  
Specific outcome: re-iterated processes when undertaking unfamiliar tasks as well as 
processes to follow once an injury occurs 
Organisation-wide implications: newsletter article on undertaking unfamiliar tasks as 
well as processes to follow once an injury occurs 

 
            
           Incident 4 
 
           Incident type: airplane crash  – not directly involving council assets/infrastructure 
 Investigation & event details: fatal airplane crash within short distance after take-off 

from council owned aerodrome. Further event details not yet know – under 
investigation by CAA  
Specific outcome: immediate contact made with first responders/incident 
investigators. Immediate inspection of runway and feedback sought from other pilot 
who used same runway on the day to identify any potential issues with council assets. 
None identified, hence runway left operational. 
Organisation-wide implications: None 

           
 
4.  Civil Defence  
 

4.1 The new training calendar is out for the year. Internal meeting with managers held 
earlier last month identifying key staff for key roles within EOC that will need to be 
released for training. There are 42 trained staff members currently that are trained to 
varying degrees but the intention is establish fully trained staff members that are 
proficient to a function level with CIMS. 

 
5.  Contractors  
 

5.1 There have been no reported incidents with contractors in the past three months. 
 
6.  Site reviews  
 

6.1 One site review has been conducted over the period with minor non-conformances 
noted and corrective actions issued. 

 
7.  EAP Referrals  
 

7.1 There has been one EAP request reported in the portal for the period. 
 

8     Wellness Committee 
 
            8.1 The Committee remain well engaged and committed to leading wellbeing across the 

Council. There has been one meeting held this year with the intention to meet quarterly. 
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9 Matters Outstanding  
 

9.1 Health and Safety Manual  
 
 The review of the Health and Safety Framework has been undertaken as part of the 

overall Health and Safety Manual review which is needing to signed off. The first draft 
has been reviewed and final changes are now being implemented.   

 
9.2 Puniwhakau Bridge   
 
 Further to my last report regarding the condition of the wooden handrail on the bridge 

located at the end of Puniwhakau Road I can confirm the following: 
 

1. Consulting Engineers have confirmed that the existing structure is capable of 
carrying Class 1 loadings i.e. 44 tonnes 

2. As recommended by worksafe, the forestry management company has been 
informed by email that for any loads greater than 44 tonne, a permit is to be 
submitted to SDC for approval.   

3. Worksafe closed the Improvement Notice on 9/12/2022 following additional 
corrective actions by council and commitments to undertake additional works 
by 31 march 2023. These works have been scheduled by council’s 
maintenance contractor. 

4. A request by SDC for an internal review of worksafe’s actions has been 
declined by worksafe.  

5. SDC staff have engaged with NZTA and LGNZ regarding this matter and both 
organisations are making enquiries with NZTA and are watching whether this 
was a one-off by worksafe or is part of a more vigilant focus on roading assets.  

   
 

 
M Bestall  
Health and Safety/Civil Defence Advisor  
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
[Approved by] 
Sven Hanne 
Chief Executive Date:    7 March 2023 
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F22/55/04 – D23/7299 

 
To: Audit and Risk Committee  
From: Corporate Accountant    
Date: 14 March 2023 
Subject: Internal Audit Report 2021/22- Update 
 

 
Recommendation 

 
             THAT the report be received. 
 

Recommended Reason 
The Audit and Risk Committee is tasked with reviewing and monitoring the internal audit 
activities of Council on behalf of elected members. 

 /  
Moved/Seconded 

 

 
1. Purpose of Report 

 
The purpose of this report is to enable the Audit and Risk Committee on the subsequent actions 
taken, as a result of the findings arising from the internal audit that was carried out in 2022 by 
Stratford District Council staff. 

 
2. Executive Summary  

 
2.1 The Audit and Risk Committee have, in its Terms of Reference adopted in February 

2020, an obligation to: 
 

1. Agree the internal audit programme, review the findings of internal audits, and 
to monitor management response and implementation of their 
recommendations. 

2. To ensure that recommendations highlighted in internal audit reports are 
actioned by management. 

3. To review the internal auditors and their activities. 
 

This report provides the Committee with the opportunity to action the obligations above. 
 
2.2 Key findings from the audit – based on the risk categories were: 
 

 Data and Information 
o Controls on approved online platforms is tight, as verified by Deloitte’s IT 

auditors.   
o Recommend to conduct an audit of cloud-based systems and access. 

 Financial 
o Recommendation to ensure offices with bulk IT equipment, or at times 

hazardous chemicals, are securely locked at the end of the day; and 
o Recommendation to have all cleaners in the Administration building sign in 

each day. 
 Reputational and Conduct 

o LGOIMA register well maintained and information recorded correctly; 
o Recommendation to ensure full documentation held with all access to systems; 
o Recommend that when staff leave, all relevant passwords are changed and 

access discontinued immediately; 
o Recommend that if a staff member commences employment before the police 

vetting form is received back from NZ Police, the new employee must not be 
left alone, and is to be supervised by another staff member. 

 Health and Safety Wellbeing 
o Recommendation to include the vehicle rules as part of the induction process 

for all staff;  
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o Recommendation to have driver training e.g., defensive driving, and 4WD, 
where applicable;  

o Recommend to ensure all relevant information regarding a staff member 
(licence, convictions etc) be held in one register and updated annually: 

o Recommend that budgets are included to allow for ergonomic workplace 
assessments, and equipment required as a result. 

 Operational  
o Recommend investigating whether RAMM can be used to store waters 

information, to provide for back up when needed. 
o Recommend enhancing the procurement process, including a specialised 

software programme being used 
o Critical assets records should be held in one place, and available to staff when 

necessary 
o EnviroHaz compliance certificate displayed had expired. 

 
3. Local Government Act 2002 

 

Under section 10 of the Local Government Act 2002, the Council’s purpose is to “enable 
democratic local decision making by and on behalf of communities; as well as promoting 
the social, economic, environmental, and cultural well-being of communities now and into 
the future” 

Does the recommended option meet the purpose 
of the Local Government 4 well-beings? And 
which: 

 

Yes 

Social Economic Environmental Cultural 

    

 
3.1 A local authority must manage its revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities, investments, 

and general financial dealings prudently and in a manner that promotes the current and 
future interests of the community (Section 101 of the Local Government Act 2002 “the 
Act”). The internal audit process is a mechanism by which senior management and 
elected members can get some form of assurance that the Council is managing its 
assets prudently. 

 
4. Background 

 
4.1 The purpose of carrying out an annual internal audit is to provide additional assurance to 

the Audit and Risk Committee that the Council is managing its risks effectively. It fulfils 
the Council’s responsibilities in the Risk Management Policy approved in September 
2017. The following is an excerpt from the Council’s Risk Management Policy:  

 
 “FRAME - Risk management practices are framed in the context of the Council’s 

risk appetite; The Stratford District Council’s strategic and business objectives; and 
the strategic, environmental and organisational context within which the Stratford 
District Council operates and from which risks arise. 

    ASSESS - what, why and how events may arise are identified, existing controls 
determined, and risks are analysed in terms of their likelihood and impact in the 
context of those controls.  

 RESPOND – Stratford District Council develops and implements specific risk 
management plans - with controls and treatments for high impact risks, or monitoring 
measures for lower or accepted risks – in response to risks.  

     MONITOR - Monitoring and review occurs throughout the risk management process, 
with oversight and review of Risk Registers and any changes that might affect them; 
this includes communication, consultation and reporting at all stages that enables 
the Stratford District Council to minimise losses and capitalise on opportunities.”  

 
4.2 This audit report relates to the third in-house internal audit undertaken since the inception 

of the Audit and Risk Committee, the first one being in July 2020.  Unlike the previous 
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internal audits which were undertaken by external consultants, these audits were done 
by council staff, however still focused primarily on risks contained in Council’s Risk 
Register.  
 

4.3 A wider risk-based audit is considered to be a more effective use of an internal auditor, 
rather than focusing purely on a financial based audit. At year end, external auditors 
undertake a significant review of the Council’s financial processes, testing of asset and 
liability balances, and substantive transactional testing. In addition, the auditors review 
the effectiveness of internal controls in the finance function. Council officers are actively 
identifying ways to minimise and reduce the incidence of errors, or deliberate acts of 
fraud, on an ongoing basis. 

 
4.4 It was once again considered good practice to undertake this year’s internal audit by 

council staff.  In addition to cost savings, this also gave the audit participants a better 
understanding of processes within other departments, assisting with individual personal 
development and cross department collaboration.  The staff responsible for the function 
being audited also directly benefited from the audit as it was an opportunity for them to 
revisit their current processes and procedures.   
 

4.5 The internal audit was carried out in line with the Internal Audit Plan that was approved 
by the Audit and Risk Committee at the July 2022 meeting. A report was presented to 
the Audit and Risk Committee in December 2022 with the results, and as expected, the 
audit identified areas for improvement and these are commented on in the next section. 
 

4.6 Other work that was performed 
 

4.6.1 Review of contractor management 
 
Council requested that an internal audit be undertaken to assess the systems 
and controls in place to ensure that contractors’ services are being used 
effectively and correctly.  This review included the on-boarding process; 
training provided by staff; access to council owned property i.e., IT systems, 
offices, equipment; and health and safety procedures. 
 
New Plymouth District Council had recently hired Deloitte to review their use 
of contractors, from which a number of findings arose, as a result it was 
considered prudent that SDC conduct a similar review. 
 
Findings and recommendation 
 
 Nine of the nine selected for the review did not have a contract, nor 
 follow the procurement process 
 All nine were providing services, not supplying goods 
 Five of the nine performed the services on council owned property. 
 

Update on where this is at 
 

Missing Contract / Procurement Process 
 
A current review of the Procurement Policy is underway, as part of the policy 
review schedule (this policy is due for review in the 2022 / 23 financial year). 
The policy itself is generally robust and provides  good guidelines to follow for 
the procurement of goods and physical works, it is however not suitable for the 
engagement of professional service providers. It is the area of professional 
service providers that the audit found council processes to be lacking. The 
updated policy will provide separate pathways for the different procurement 
types. 
 
In addition to the above mentioned shortcoming of the procurement policy, 
there is also discrepancy between the Procurement Policy and Council’s 
Procurement Procedures Manual. The procedures manual does not accurately 
reflect the details of the policy, and is most likely to be one of the causes for 
not following correct procedures. This will be updated once the policy has been 
reviewed and adopted. 
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Services Providers 
 
A variety and at times lack of agreements in place with service providers is due 
to staff not following correct procedures. The processes mentioned above will 
eliminate this issue. 
 
Access to Council owned property, offices, equipment – Access to the 
appropriate property is managed by the Property Officer, who assigns keys, 
fobs etc. on request from the manager responsible. 
 
All Medium/ high risk contractors/suppliers have to either supply a JSA for 
every job or become prequalified. If a contractor is not prequalified a JSA will 
be accepted prior to work starting showing a systematic step by step way and 
logical evaluation process on how a job, task, process, procedure, or the 
contracted work is to be carried out safely before every job.  

 
Lower risk contractors/suppliers such as couriers do not need pre-qualification. 
 

4.6.2 Swimming Pool Stocktake 
 

Given that there was the upcoming move to the new pool complex, council 
needed to ensure that the stock that was currently held on the shelves for 
resale matches exactly with what is held in the electronic stock register. 
 
This stocktake was performed manually, in September 2022, and overseen 
by finance staff, then compared to the register. 
 
Findings and recommendation 
 
The value of stock on hand at that time was minimal, however the manual 
count and the electronic version did not match with some items.  One of the 
reasons is that when staff take an item off the shelf for work purposes, the 
stock register is not adjusted accordingly. 
 
Given that the new pool, Wai o Rua, is now fully operational, and stock levels 
will start to build up again, a further stocktake will be done in the new year, to 
ensure manual counting and electronic stock levels match. 
 
Update on where this is at 
 
Now that the new Aquatic Services Team Leader has commenced 
employment, the stocktake will be done within the next month, in conjunction 
with training on the management and reconciling of stock on hand 
 

 
5. Information Summary 

 
5.1 Attached as Appendix 1 is a summary of the risks identified, the resulting 

recommendations, and what actions have been taken to reduce and/or control each risk.  
These are summarised below: 
 

a) Risk 16 – Data and Information -Unapproved online platforms used 
i. All request for software of hardware goes through the IT helpdesk and 

consistent with council’s Information Acceptable Use Policy.   
ii. Software access based on the role. 
iii. Any new cloud systems must go through a Cloud Risk Assessment, using DIA 

guidelines. 
iv. Testing to see if hacking is possible cannot be undertaken internally as it 

requires a specific skill set. 
v. Controls on systems and access are tight.  

 
b) Risk 36 – Health and Safety and Wellbeing – Council vehicle accident 

i. Reviewed staff register in Vault, and consulted Health and Safety Advisor on 
policies and procedures. 

ii. Council has a register but does not have all staff, nor all the details.  
iii. No driver training is currently provided. 
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iv. Need to keep register up to date, and include all staff, and provide driver 
training where necessary. 

v. Ensure all staff are familiar with the rules and policy relating to vehicle use. 
 
c) Risk 44 – Operational – Road closures unplanned 

i. Reviewed progress reports for road closures. 
ii. The test samples did not contain sufficient information to tell whether the 

closures were planned or unplanned. 
iii.  The contractor to include whether planned or unplanned in their weekly report, 

and the expected duration of the closure. 
 
d) Risk 50 - Operational – Key person risk 

i. Good business continuity plans prepared in response to Covid measures 
ii. Procurement process development is ongoing 
iii. Look at using RAMM to hold waters information also, so there is always a 

backup available. 
 
e) Risk 53 – Reputational and Conduct - Release of incorrect or confidential 

information 
i. Reviewed LGOIMA Register, and spoke with relevant staff members.  
ii. The register is well maintained, all information recorded correctly, and staff 

aware of responsibilities.  
 

f) Risk 57 – Reputational and Conduct – Online passwords 
i. Ascertained processes relating to sharing system passwords, records kept, 

and the process when a staff member leaves.  
ii. There are some systems that have shared passwords, including administration 

access for IT, however this password is changed regularly.  
iii. There is no register kept that lists all staff who have access to a shared 

password, so a register is recommended.  This will include external contractors 
as well as staff.   

 
g) Risk 63 – Financial – Theft by contractors 

i. Various council areas were checked for security of council property, outside of 
normal business hours.   

ii. The library / i-site and pool had minimal opportunity for theft, however the 
administration building was not as secure. 

iii. Cleaners are not required to sign in to the visitor i-pad, however contractors 
and visitors during the day do need to sign in.   

iv. There is no way of knowing who came in each night to clean, and at what time, 
should anything go missing.  The IT office and the storage room in the 
engineering office are the main locations for items of value that could be 
removed, particularly when the building is empty of staff. 

v. Recommend that cleaners sign in to the administration building every day. 
vi. Recommend that some form of security be placed on the IT office, or storage 

areas within it, and on the engineering storage room.   
  
h) Risk 67 – Health and Safety and Wellbeing – Muscular discomfort, ergonomics 

i. Viewed a selection of strain incidents recorded, and spoke with a group of staff 
regarding a safe work environment. 

ii. No current budget for eye checks or ergonomic equipment. 
iii. No current formal process for ergonomic assessments, although he Health 

and Safety Advisor does do regular checks.  
iv. Recommend an external workplace assessment be done in relation to 

ergonomics within each office space. 
v. Recommend eye checks be provided every two years to staff.   

 
i) Risk 71 – Operational – Critical asset failure 

i. Evidence of bridge inspections available, and CDEM response document for 
roading and water assets was available. 

ii. No evidence of roading contractor’s qualifications and experience. 
iii. No evidence available for two yearly reviews of 3 waters critical assets  
iv. EnviroHaz compliance certificate currently displayed had expired.   together 

with data safety sheets, also a certificate for each officer qualified to handle 
chemicals. 
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j) Risk 75 – Reputational and Conduct – Council employees abuse members of the 
public 

i. Selected a set of staff who had started at the pool within a specific time period, 
to ensure they did not start work until the police vetting form had been received 
by council.   

ii. Of the 5 selected, 3 started working before the vetting form was received from 
the police.   

iii. Need to look at the timeframe for pre-employment procedures.   
iv. If the employee must commence work before the form is returned by the police, 

then they must be under continual supervision until cleared.  
 

6. Strategic Alignment  
 

6.1 Direction 
 

This does not link directly to Council's strategic direction or the long-term plan, however 
direction was taken from Council's Risk Register which identifies and evaluates the 
risks of all Council's activities and responsibilities. This register was adopted by the 
Audit and Risk Committee and regularly reviewed to ensure it meets the needs of 
council. 

 
6.2 Annual Plan and Long-Term Plan 

 
 There are no implications on the Annual Plan or Long-Term Plan as a result of the 

internal audit. 
 

6.3 District Plan 
 

There is no direct connection with the District Plan. 
 

6.4 Legal Implications 
 
Potential legal implications if recommendations not considered: 

 Council could be subject to a judicial review or dispute if resource consents are 
granted incorrectly. 

 Council could be subject to scrutiny and being legally challenged by the 
Department of Internal Affairs if reporting of water complaints is not correct. 

 Potential liability could be imposed on Council if regulatory decisions are made 
incorrectly. 

 Possibility of death or serious injury at a public event, or from incorrect 
chemical handling, could lead to litigations. 

 
6.5 Policy Implications 

 
Potential policy implications if recommendations not considered: 

 Polices and Bylaws may become unenforceable, and Council could be acting 
illegally. 

 If the Procurement Policy is not followed then Council could be subject to 
industry, media and legal scrutiny. 

 
Attachment: 
Appendix 1 -  Summary of work findings and current status of recommendations. 
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Christine Craig 
Corporate Accountant 

 
 
 
[Endorsed by] 
Tiffany Radich 
Director – Corporate Services 

 
 
 
[Approved by] 
Sven Hanne 
Chief Executive Date: 7 March 2023 
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APPENDIX 1 
      

INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN - UPDATE ON ACTIONS TAKEN 
  

      
   

Risk 
number 

Risk details Recommendations Position 
responsible 

Brief description of what 
has happened to date 

Complete, or Expected 
date of completion    

16 Approved online platforms That the new user request form to include the option to 
select more cloud based applications. 
That an audit of cloud based systems and access be 
conducted as a separate audit. 

IT Manager The new user request form has been 
reviewed with additional options 
included as appropriate. Quotes will be 
obtained for audit. 

30 June 2023 

   

36 Accidents  in council 
vehicles 

Induction process to include vehicle orientation for all new 
staff. 
Look at defensive driver training. 
Look at collecting data on driving convictions to assess 
driver risk at recruitment. 
Implement a driver training procedure that should include 
targeted 4WD training. 
Reminder to the drivers to turn their lights on while driving. 
Update staff licence register. 
Promote the use of the laminated policy of do's and don'ts in 
the glove box.  

H&S Advisor  Induction process has always involved 
orientation around vehicles. Drivers are 
still having to be reminded that our 
policy stages to Drive with lights on. 
Laminated copies of do's and don’ts in 
all 3 pool vehicles. Driver training and 
4wd courses have been discussed at 
SLT but not taken further. 

Induction process -complete. 
Defensive/ 4wd training ongoing. 
Driving with lights on- ongoing 
reminders. Do's and don’ts 
complete and in glove box. 

   

44 Unplanned road closures Ensure reports should be routinely saved within Content 
Manager. 
Ensure the contractor should provide information in the 
weekly report on planned versus unplanned works, 
associated road closures, and proposed duration. 

Roading Asset 
Manager 

We have requested Fulton Hogan keep 
a record of any un planned road 
closures as a result of an un-planned 
event.  Some consideration needs to be 
given to the duration of the closure. For 
example a tree down may take an hour 
to clear, verses a significant slip which 
could be all day.  

Work in progress - June 2023. 
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50 Key person risks 1. Investigate the possibility of using RAMM to asset GIS 
information instead of Assetfinda.  This will hold data in one 
place, and provide further back up for staff. 
 
 
 
 
 
2. Explore software to manage procurement in one 
package. 
 
 
 
3. Update hardware to improve connections with software. 
 
 
4. Update GPS to new software and install more computers 
for easier and more efficient uploading of data. 

Projects Manager 1. Aware of only one or two councils 
that have converted all information to 
RAMM. Not an easy process to convert 
3 waters information to RAMM as it is a 
Roading Asset Management system. 
Will discuss with new GIS officer on 
options. 
2. NPDC uses Vender Panel and STDC 
is looking the system as well. Ideal to 
go with a system that is used regionally 
as we share same contractors / 
suppliers. Awaiting answer to question 
regarding working with Civica. 
3. Price sought for upgrade of GPS 
software. Decision to be made on 
accuracy required (GIS Officer) 
4. Once hardware is sorted for GPS, 
the software will be updated. 

1. Ongoing 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2. Te be submitted as part of the 
Annual Plan process? 
 
 
 
 
3. 30 June 2023 
 
 
4. 30 June 2023 

   

53 Actioning of LGOIMA 
requests 

No recommendations were necessary. Communications 
Manager 

  Complete 
   

57 Computer access and 
sharing of passwords 

Ensure all new staff and contractors (individuals) that have 
access to any computer systems go through the correct IT 
induction system, and is documented. 
Ensure that where there is shared access to any system,  
passwords are changed immediately when a staff member 
or contractor leaves. and the process is documented. 
Ensure that when an employee or contractor leaves, the exit 
form has a prompt in it to ensure shared passwords are 
changed where applicable. 

IT Manager 
Customer Services 
Team Leader 
Roading Asset 
Manager 
Services Asset 
Manager 
Building Control 
Manager 

These processes have been 
implemented. 

Complete 

   

63 Theft by contractors Ensure the IT office is secured. 
Ensure the new Aquatic Centre have resolved their storage 
solutions. 
Ensure that a lock is installed on the sliding door in the 
engineering office, and the door shut every evening. 
Ensure that there is a sign in and out process for the 
cleaners in the administration building 

Property Officer 
Customer Services 
Team Leader 

IT door now has lock on it.  Cleaners 
have been informed to sign in and out.   

Complete 

   

67 Muscular discomfort  - 
ergonomics 

Ensure there are sufficient budgets included for each 
department to ensure the necessary equipment can be 
purchased, and allow for regular eye tests. 
Engage a workplace assessor to come in and assess each 
staff member's work space, and provide a report of what 
they consider is necessary, after talking to each employee. 
Create a register to record all workplace checks, and update 
as required. 

Health and Safety 
Advisor 

According to SLT there is always 
budget for necessary equipment (within 
reason) for ergonomics. Eye tests 
discussed several years ago and SLT 
at the time didn’t want to proceed. A 
workplace assessor has not to date 
been engaged and a register is still to 
be done. 

To be discussed further in SLT and 
agreement reached on bringing in 
assessor and eye checks.  Register 
to be done once agreement on 
ergonomic assessor is reached.    
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71 Critical asset failure Ensure all copies of records to be held in an approved 
repository, and all responsible staff aware of where they are 
held. 
Ensure CDEM response plan for Water Assets required 
contact details to be updated. 
Ensure expired EnviroHaz compliance certificate has been 
removed and the current one displayed. 
Ensure contractors qualifications are suitable for the work 
required, and evidence of qualifications. 
Investigate whether training courses should be provided for 
contractor's staff. 

Roading Asset 
Manager 
Services Asset 
Manager 

All structural assets are inspected bi-
annually and the inspection records are 
kept in RAMM. A copy can be obtained 
to be stored in Content Manager.  Road 
inspections are undertaken by 
contractor staff or SDC personnel and 
rely on the experience of the person 
undertaking the inspection. 

Complete. 

   

75 Council employees abuse 
members of the public 

Ensure that the request for offer of employment is extended 
out to at least four working days to allow all the processes to 
be completed within the time frames. 
However, the issue with this is that sometimes the police 
process the form on the same day, and other times it can 
take up to a month to be returned to council. 
Therefore recommend that until the police form is received 
by council, the new staff member is not left alone, at any 
time. 

Committee Advisor 
and Executive 
Assistant 

The viability of ensuring staff are not left 
alone during this period is to be 
discussed by the Senior Leadership 
Team as well as alternative options.  

It is expected a process will be 
confirmed and enforced by 30 
March 2023. 
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F22/55/04 – D23/6964 

 
To: Audit and Risk Committee  
From: Projects Manager   
Date: 14 March 2023 
Subject: Capital Works Programme – Key Projects Update – February 2023 
 

 
Recommendation 

 
             THAT the report be received. 

 
Recommended Reason 
To present an update on the progress of our key capital projects in the 2022/23 financial 
year. 

 /  
Moved/Seconded 

 

 
1. Purpose of Report 
 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide the Audit and Risk Committee with an update 
on the progress of key capital projects in the 2022/23 financial year. 
 

1.2 The intent is to track these projects and provide confidence both to the Council and 
ratepayers that the capital works programme will be delivered as indicated in the 2021-
31 Long Term Plan (LTP). 

 
2. Executive Summary  
 

2.1 The Council, in the 2021-31 Long Term Plan, approved a total of $11,764,000 for the 
delivery of capital expenditure for the 2022/23 financial year and $10,183,000 for the 
2023/24 financial year. The total LTP (over 10 years) is $125,463,814, with 40% of this 
to be delivered in the first three years of the LTP. 
 
Council has received $10.27 million for the Better off Funding in two instalments ($2.57 
million and $7.7 million) which is to be spent by the end of the 2027 financial year. The 
Better off Funding Package is part of the 3 Waters Reform. 
 
Council also received $7.8 million for the Transport Choices Package. This package is 
to promote walking and cycling in the Stratford Township. Nationally, the Ministry of 
Transport is targeting the reduction of vehicle emissions by promoting safer walking 
and cycling communities. 

 
2.2 These projects are spread among Council departments, the majority of which are to be 

delivered through the Assets, Environmental Services, and the Community 
Development departments. 
 

2.3 This report provides information to the Committee to enable the achievement of Section 
2 of the Audit and Risk Committee Terms of Reference, specifically to allow the 
Committee “To proactively assess, monitor and provide governance oversight of 
risks, and the internal controls instituted, including finance … Contract 
Management, … Quality Management.” 
 

2.4 Council officers are proactively managing all aspects of risks being identified in the 
delivery of these capital projects, which are mainly: 
 Cost overruns;  
 Not delivering to timeframe; and  
 Not delivering what was expected. 
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2.5 As a result, Council officers are monitoring and mitigating the identified risks by: 
 Regular tracking of the project;  
 Tracking and reporting on the budget; and 
 Regular supervision through communication and meetings with contractor 

oversight by the respective project manager. 
 

2.6 This Capital Works Programme report will be brought before the committee quarterly. 
 

2.7 Some projects may be delayed due to Cyclone Gabrielle. Consultants and Contractors 
have raised the potential for temporary relocation of resources to the flood damaged 
East Coast of the North Island. This could affect current and future contracts for this 
financial year for the following maintenance and capital projects: 

 
 Roading 
 3 Waters 
 Better Off Funding 
 Parks and Reserves 
 Property 
 Transport Choices  

 
3. Local Government Act 2002 

 

Under section 10 of the Local Government Act 2002, the Council’s purpose is to “enable 
democratic local decision making by and on behalf of communities; as well as promoting 
the social, economic, environmental, and cultural well-being of communities now and into 
the future” 

Does the recommended option meet the purpose 
of the Local Government 4 well-beings? And 
which: 

Yes 

Social Economic Environmental Cultural 

    
     
 
3.1 Good risk management and regular monitoring supports the Council’s social, 

economic, environmental and cultural outcomes.  
 
4. Background 
 

4.1 This report is directly as a result of the request made by this Committee in the 
November Audit and Risk Meeting, to present an update on the progress of our key 
capital projects in the current financial year. 

 
5. Information Summary 
 

5.1 Please refer to the Executive Summary and the Appendix 1, which shows that all year 
2 projects are in progress, along with year 1 projects that were carried over from the 
2021/22 financial year.  
 

5.2 All capital projects are now being vetted and/or are under the supervision of Council’s 
Projects Manager, who has also produced a number of documents and tracking tools 
to support the successful project planning, procurement and management. These tools 
should satisfy Audit New Zealand’s requirements in terms of action plans identified at 
their recent audit exercise. 
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5.3 Updates on key projects are provided below. 
 

5.3.1 Connecting our Communities Strategy 
 

The Connecting our Communities Strategy will help identify improvements in 
our networks to improve accessibility for residents and visitors to the Stratford 
District. A specific strategy will help Council to meet some funding 
requirements from Waka Kotahi for the transport network. 
 
This strategy has been approved by the Policy and Services Committee to 
proceed to consultation with the public. Consultation is completed and officers 
are working through the feedback received for present back to Council in 2023. 
 
This strategy will help to guide projects included in the Transport Choices and 
Better Off Funding packages as well as provide guidance for long term walking 
and cycling projects. 

 
5.3.2 Bike Park 

 
All physical works is completed. 
 
There was a delay in the production of the new signs to replace all stolen ones. 
These will now be installed in March 2023 with anti-theft devices. 
 

5.3.3 Whangamomona Camping Ground Septic Tank 
 

The concept design is expected to be completed by WSP in April 2023, 
although they have noted that the timeframe may change if the designer is 
required from the Hawkes Bay. 
 
Once the concept design is complete, the design and build contract to install 
the wastewater system will be issued. 

 
5.3.4 Water Treatment Plant Membranes 

 
Procurement for membranes at the Water Treatment Plant is ongoing. The 
supplier has indicated that the membranes required may not be available this 
financial year. This is not expected to be a concern. 

 
5.3.5 Better Off Funding Projects 

 
SDC has allocated $2.57 million to the following projects: 
 
 Brecon Road Bridge – Business Case Development and Detailed 

Design 
 
The Brecon Road Bridge will provide a link across the Patea River on the 
west side of town. The only access from north to south (and vice versa) 
for residents living on the west side of Stratford is via the Patea Bridge on 
State Highway 3. It is a strategic connection for SDC’s roading network, 
Transport Choices Package and the Connecting Our Communities 
Strategy. 
 
A Request for Proposal (RFP) for the creation of a business case to submit 
to Waka Kotahi will be issued in March / April 2023. The objective of the 
business case is to apply for subsidised funding from Waka Kotahi. 
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 Town Centre Project – Skate Park Development 
 
The Skate Park has been identified by the community as needing a refresh 
due to equipment refreshing the end of its life span (Skate Bowl etc.) 
 
A proposal closed Tender for a design and build of the Skate Park and is 
being evaluated. 
 

 Town Centre Project – Victoria Park Drainage 
 

A contract has been awarded for the upgrade of drainage of the main 
sportsground at Victoria Park. Physical works is programmed to start in 
March 2023, once the cricket season has finished. 
 
The contractor has signalled that this project could be delayed due to the 
relocation of resources to the east coast of the North Island, due to 
Cyclone Gabrielle. If this is the case, then physical works will be delayed 
until the end of the Rugby season. 
 

 Town Centre Project – Prospero Place and Broadway Beautification 
 

 This project encompasses the Prospero Place development and 
Broadway Beautification projects (Better Off Funding) and crossing 
facilities of SH.3 (Transport Choices Package) 

 
  A project panel is to be formed in March / April 2023 to progress this 

project. 
 

 Stratford Park – Wastewater Enabling Infrastructure 
 

A three-year project has been commissioned to model the wastewater 
network in Stratford. This project is part of this modelling and is expected 
to be investigated in early 2024. 

 
5.3.6 Transport Choices Package 
 

The Ministry of Transport issued a $350 million package to improve walking 
and cycling as well as reducing carbon emissions as part of the VKT reduction 
programme. 
 
Stratford District Council was successful in an application for $7.8 million to 
improve: 

 walking and cycling outside schools 
 Walking and cycling connections between schools, Wai-O-Rua and 

the Bike Park 
 Walking and cycling connections across State Highways 3 and 43. 

 
SDC staff and consultants are working through concept and project designs to 
submit to Waka Kotahi for approval. Once approved, the community will be 
consulted before installation. 
 
Council Staff are having weekly meetings with Waka Kotahi to develop a better 
understanding of their requirements (fully separated cycle lanes as opposed to 
on road cycle lanes). 
 
Waka Kotahi visited in March 2023 so they can also get a better understanding 
of our roading network and the differences between a town like Stratford 
compared to a city like Auckland. 
 
There is a very short timeframe in the delivery of this project (to be completed 
by June 2024). Council staff have raised concerns with Waka Kotahi regarding 
the importance of progressing this project due to the small pool of contractors 
that would be shared with NPDC that was allocated $16 million. 
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5.3.7 Stratford Schools Safety Projects 
 

This project has been merged with the Transport Choices Package projects. 
 

6. Strategic Alignment  
 

6.1 Direction 
 

This report is consistent with our Long-Term Plan Outcomes and directly relevant to 
supporting the work of the Audit and Risk Committee. 

 
6.2 Annual Plan and Long-Term Plan 

 
This report is consistent with the Annual and Long-Term Plan outcomes. 
 

6.3 District Plan 
 

There is no direct relationship with the District Plan. 
 

6.4 Legal Implications 
 

There are no legal implications. 
 

6.5 Policy Implications 
 

The report is consistent with Council policies relating to service delivery. 
 
Attachment:  
Appendix 1 - Capital Work Projects Update 

 
Steve Taylor 
Projects Manager 
 
 

 
Victoria Araba 
Director – Assets 
 
 
 

 
 
 
[Approved by] 
Sven Hanne 
Chief Executive Date: 7 March 2023 
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APPENDIX 1 
   Category   Budget Y2    Actual Spent    Budget LTP   Project Status  Jul‐

22 
Aug‐
22 

Sep‐
22 

Oct‐
22 

Nov‐
22 

Dec‐
22 

Jan‐
23 

Feb‐
23 

Mar‐
23 

Apr‐
23 

May‐
23 

Jun‐
23 

Civic Amenities                                   

Stratford 2035 Projects 
Level of 
Service 

$ 979,056  $ 4,664,082 Ongoing                         

TET Multi Sports Centre 
Level of 
Service 

$ 51,300 $ 10,886 $ 554,400 Building Consent lodged.                         

Demolish Bell Tower Replacements - $ 10,719 $ 30,000 Car Park to be sealed in March.                         

Parks, Reserves, and 
Cemeteries 

                                  

Upgrade Broadway 
Roundabout 

Level of 
Service 

$ 60,000  $ 60,000 

Working in conjunction with Community 
Development Team/Broadway 2035. Awaiting 
the development of the Town Centre Plan before 
implementing the action plan identified 

                        

Walkway development 
Level of 
Service 

$ 10,000  $ 50,000 
Works underway to install 50 m concrete path 
behind the TET stadium towards the Dell. 

                        

Skate Park Upgrade 
Level of 
Service 

$ 150,000 $ 14,088  
Funded from the Better off Funding package. 
Bowl has been filled in and tenders for design 
and build close in March 2023 

            

Victoria Park Drainage 
Level of 
Service 

$ 60,000   

Funding is from the Better off Funding Package. 
Contractor appointed and works is expected to 
be completed in March, depending on 
resources. 

                        

Parks upgrade 
Level of 
Service 

$ 6,400 $ 2,154 $ 34,300 
Lime chip path installed and planting is 
underway. 

                        

Trees of significance - access 
Level of 
Service 

$ 5,000  $ 5,000 Waiting for iwi confirmation on signage                         

Kopuatama Cemetery 
entrance upgrade 

Level of 
Service 

$ 76,800  $ 76,800 Concept design underway                         

Victoria Park - Exercise and 
Fitness Trail 

Level of 
Service 

$ 16,400   $ 84,300 To be looked at in the next LTP             

Whangamomona Camp - 
septic tank 

Replacements $ 45,699 $ 16,014 $ 47,000 
Consultant finalising concept design for design 
and build specifications. 

                        

* LED Screen (southern 
entrance) 

Level of 
Service 

$ 75,000   NZTA have declined proposed location, further 
investigation on other locations underway. 

                        

* Discovery Trail (signage, 
glockenspiel upgrades, new 
features) 

Level of 
Service 

$ 15,000   Elements of Project commenced                         

Purchase of land - Prospero 
Place  

Level of 
Service 

$ 385,500  
 Part of the 
Stratford 2035 
budget  

Officers to prepare an Options Assessment 
report to Council for a decision to progress the 
preferred option 

                        

Pool Complex                                   

                  

Democracy                                   

Computers and Periherals Replacements $ 212,875 $ 146,569 $ 1,442,000 Ongoing                         

Vehicle replacements Replacements $ 39,500  $ 342,500 Ongoing                         

Micellaneous equipment Replacements $ 20,000  $ 200,000 Ongoing                         

Furniture Replacement - 
Miranda Street 

Replacements $ 3,200 $ 4,153 $ 33,200 Ongoing                         
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   Category   Budget Y2    Actual Spent    Budget LTP   Project Status  Jul‐
22 

Aug‐
22 

Sep‐
22 

Oct‐
22 

Nov‐
22 

Dec‐
22 

Jan‐
23 

Feb‐
23 

Mar‐
23 

Apr‐
23 

May‐
23 

Jun‐
23 

Furniture Replacement – 
WMC 

Replacements $ 3,200 $ 1,554   Ongoing                         

Economic Development                                   

Council Subdivision Growth $ 2,218,975  $ 4,902 $ 3,274,000  
Negotiating with land owner on Flint Road for 
purchase of land 

                        

Rental and Investment 
Properties 

                                  

Farm - Waterlines and trough 
upgrade 

Level of 
Service 

$ 12,300 $ 8,492 $ 24,900 
Four troughs installed after calving had finished, 
remainder to be installed by end of 2022. 

                        

Farm - Landscaping and 
riparian planting 

Level of 
Service 

$ 3,500  $ 38,900 Ongoing                         

Environmental Services                                   

                                    

Roading                                   

Walking and Cycling 
improvements 

Level of 
Service 

   
$276,900  

$ 114,808 $ 3,823,700  
Upgrade to the southern footpath on Fenton 
Street between Swansea Road and Cordelia 
Street. 

                        

Brecon Road Bridge 
Level of 
Service 

$ 257,700   $ 13,022,683  
Proposal for Business Case and Detailed design 
to be issued in March / April 2023 

                        

Road to Zero 
Level of 
Service 

$ 917,381 $ 520,415  Ongoing             

Transport Choices 
Level of 
Service 

- $ 19,024  Ongoing to the June 2024             

Unsealed Road Metalling Replacements $ 840,000 $ 478,631 $ 10,480,208 
Funding reduced to pay for the rehabilitation 
programme 

                        

Sealed Road resurfacing Replacements $ 893,034 $ 59,502 $ 12,351,731 
Half of this project expected to be completed 
before end December 2022. 

                        

Drainage Renewals Replacements $ 700,000  $ 662,231 $ 7,634,676 
Kerb and Channel replacement on Swansea 
Road, Elisnore Street, and Surrey Street 

                        

Pavement Rehabilitation Replacements $ 750,000 $ 721,443 $ 7,531,118 Monmouth Road and Flint Road                         

Structure Component 
Replacement 

Replacements $ 647,000 $ 59,645 $ 6,277,706 Sites to be confirmed with consultants                         

Traffic Services Replacements $ 113,000 $ 47,833 $ 1,243,036 Works less due to limited budget                         

Footpath renewals Replacements $ 170,000 $ 117,839 $ 1,944,901  
Works commenced on Elisnore Street and 
Surrey Street 

                        

Low cost low risk roads Replacements $ 521,142 $ 82,691 $ 5,270,000 
Beaconsfield Road improvements, Dunn's 
Bridge realignment 

                        

Sealed Road resurfacing - 
special purpose roads 

Replacements $ 114,000 $ 5,237 $ 723,916 
Pembroke Road reseals programme for early 
2023. Brought forward 2023/24 allocation of 
funding to have one contract. 

                        

Unsealed Road  resurfacing - 
special purpose 

Replacements $ 10,000   Approved allocation from Waka Kotahi                         

Drainage Renewals - special 
purpose roads 

Replacements $ 10,000   Approved allocation from Waka Kotahi                         

Traffic Services - special 
purpose 

Replacements $ 5,000 $ 7,281   Installation of site rails                         

Low cost low risk roads - 
special purpose roads 

Replacements $ 39,695  $ 210,000  Dawson Falls carpark                         

Stormwater                                   

Pipework capacity increase 
Level of 
Service 

$ 210,372  $ 1,418,885 
Tender to be issued in March for Achilles Street 
Stormwater Upgrade 

                        

2023 - Agenda - Audit and Risk - March - Information Report - Capital Works Programme - Key Projects Update - February 2023

40



 

   Category   Budget Y2    Actual Spent    Budget LTP   Project Status  Jul‐
22 

Aug‐
22 

Sep‐
22 

Oct‐
22 

Nov‐
22 

Dec‐
22 

Jan‐
23 

Feb‐
23 

Mar‐
23 

Apr‐
23 

May‐
23 

Jun‐
23 

Modelling 
Level of 
Service 

$ 31,000  $ 31,000 Tender awarded.                         

Safety improvements 
Level of 
Service 

$ 238,770 $ 903  $ 1,275,770 
Rock amouring of stormwater culvert on 
Pembroke Road.Resouce consent requirements 
has increased costs 

                        

Reticulation renewals Replacements $ 101,983   $ 769,000  
Tender to be issued for Achilles Street 
stormwater. 

                        

Wastewater                                   

Pipework capacity increase 
Level of 
Service 

$ 222,581 $ 9,805  $ 1,187,000 Consultant engaged and works underway                         

Modelling 
Level of 
Service 

$ 51,700   $ 51,700 Consultant engaged and works underway                         

Inflow and Infiltration 
programme 

Level of 
Service 

$ 297,919 $ 1,391   3-year fixed term contract awarded             

Treatment Plant Upgrade 
Level of 
Service 

$ 394,979  $ 68,830  $ 500,000 
Ongoing - Diatomix to enhance growth of good 
algae 

            

Routine step / aerate 
renewals 

Replacements $ 50,800 $ 24,349 $ 343,800 Ongoing                         

Bulk discharge renewals Replacements $ 31,000  $ 55,300 
Works planned to remediate areas around pump 
station that eroded during heavy rain 

                        

Infiltration renewals Replacements $ 344,986 $ 18,060 $ 1,961,600 3 year fixed term contract awarded                         

Solid Waste                                   

Transfer Station building 
renewals 

Replacements $ 10,300 $ 4,260 $ 70,100 Works scheduled for February / March                         

Water Supply                                   

Universal water metering 
implement 

Level of 
Service 

$ 558,270 $ 1,269  $ 2,195,000  
Water meters being replaced in Midhirst and 
Toko. 

                        

Electronic water reading 
software 

Level of 
Service 

$ 51,500  $ 1,605 $ 51,505 Due to be trialled once meters are installed                         

Raw water delivery line 
Level of 
Service 

$ 2,000,000 $ 2,904 $ 338,200 Final design with consultant                         

Raw water analyser 
Level of 
Service 

$ 95,000  $ 95,000 Procurement progressing                         

Generator for Treatment plant 
Level of 
Service 

$ 105,000  $ 105,000 
Quotes being sought for Generator, Diesel Tank, 
and Shed 

                        

Street work ridermains 
Level of 
Service 

$ 301,700  $206,100 Craig Street identified due to recent failures                         

Second water trunk main 
Level of 
Service 

$ 1,024,650 $ 399,619 $ 2,911,100 Practical completion certificate awarded                         

Laterals Replacements $ 62,200  $ 350,800  Ongoing                         

Street water ridermains - 3 
waters schemes 

Replacements $ 368,900 $ 339,940 $ 2,993,100  
Surrey Street completed. Broadway scheduled 
for February / march 2023 

                        

Instructure general - 3 waters 
scheme 

Replacements $ 33,500  $ 338,200 Ongoing as required                         

Toko Bore Replacements $ 134,500  $ 134,500 Ongoing, as required                         

Reservoir overflow to pond Replacements $ 77,600  $ 77,600 Scope of works underway                         

Pipe bridges Replacements $ 103,500  $ 103,500 
Patea River bridge is being replaced and Hunt 
Road has been upgraded 
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   Category   Budget Y2    Actual Spent    Budget LTP   Project Status  Jul‐
22 

Aug‐
22 

Sep‐
22 

Oct‐
22 

Nov‐
22 

Dec‐
22 

Jan‐
23 

Feb‐
23 

Mar‐
23 

Apr‐
23 

May‐
23 

Jun‐
23 

Instructure general – Toko Replacements $ 1,600   Ongoing as required                         

Reservoir cleaning - 3 waters 
scheme 

Replacements $ 82,036  $ 107,600 Cleaning requirement to be assessed.                         

Membranes Replacements $ 150,000  $ 150,000 
Membrane’s procurement ongoing. Supplier has 
indicated that none may be available this 
financial year. 

                        

Meter renewals Replacements $ 57,750  $ 4,338,800 Ongoing                         

Midhirst Resource Consent Replacements $ 197,040  $ 309,700 Awaiting Iwi assessment report                         

Hydrants Replacements $ 30,100 $ 21,939 $ 169,600 Ongoing                         

 
 
 
 

2023 - Agenda - Audit and Risk - March - Information Report - Capital Works Programme - Key Projects Update - February 2023

42



 

 

 
 
 
 

F22/15 – D23/7919 

 
To: Audit and Risk Committee 
From: Director – Corporate Services   
Date: 14 March 2023 
Subject: Annual Plan 2023/24 Update 
 

 
Recommendation 

 
 THAT the report be received. 

 
Recommended Reason 
This report provides the Committee with an update on the status of the draft Annual Plan 
2023/24, and an opportunity to comment on associated risks. 

 /  
Moved/Seconded 

 

 
1. Purpose of Report 

 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to give an update to the Committee on progress of the 

draft Annual Plan 2023/24. The Committee’s Terms of Reference includes “To consider 
the annual budget, assess inherent risk, and provide recommendations to the Council”. 

 
2. Executive Summary  

 
2.1 The draft Annual Plan 2023/24 is currently presenting a rates increase of 16.35%. This 

compares to a rates increase in year 3 of the Long Term Plan 2021-31 (for the 2023/24 
year) of 4.23%, and the rates limit in the Financial Strategy of 6%. The expectation is 
that the final draft presented to Council will show a rates increase of 6% or less. 
 

2.2 A rates rise of 16.35% is an unrealistic burden to place on our ratepayers, and would 
add increased costs to the already high living costs. On the other hand, Council costs 
to deliver the same level of service are increasing, largely due to high inflation - and 
not delivering or funding particular activities now may be delaying the burden onto our 
future generation of ratepayers, particularly when it comes to core infrastructure 
funding. 

 
2.3 A major reason for the rates increase is due to the additional costs associated with the 

new swimming pool. The initial draft of the Annual Plan 2023/24 shows an increase in 
the rates requirement for the Swimming Pool activity of $1,397,543, from a rates 
requirement base of $1,239,636 in 2022/23 (increase of 113% from current year). The 
swimming pool was budgeted for in the Long Term Plan at a capital cost of $16,700,000 
in Year 1 (2021/22). The project was not completed until partway through the 2022/23 
year, therefore the full effect of the increase in operational costs and rates funding, 
originally planned for in Year 2 of the Long Term Plan, is now occurring in Year 3 of 
the Long Term Plan. In addition, the increased costs now relate to a $22,000,000 pool, 
rather than a $16,700,000 pool. The pool management have been directed to look at 
ways to reduce costs, and staff have been directed to look at various options for funding 
the first full year of the new swimming pool. 
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3. Local Government Act 2002 
 

Under section 10 of the Local Government Act 2002, the Council’s purpose is to “enable 
democratic local decision making by and on behalf of communities; as well as promoting 
the social, economic, environmental, and cultural well-being of communities now and into 
the future” 

Does the recommended option meet the purpose 
of the Local Government 4 well-beings? And 
which: 

Yes 

Social Economic Environmental Cultural 

    

 
1.1 All four well-beings are addressed in the Annual Plan document.  

 
2. Background 

 
2.1 The Draft Annual Plan 2023/24 is in a work in progress stage, and has been developed 

from the Long Term Plan 2021-31 Year 3 figures as a starting point, and updated using 
actual YTD 2022/23 expenditure and updated assumptions on cost inflation and 
revenue growth. 
 

2.2 With three waters reforms still uncertain, but likely, Council have decided to continue 
on with the usual planning process and continued to budget for three waters as 
business as usual for Annual Plan 2023/24.  

 
2.3 The Section 17a reviews of Council functions are being run concurrently with the 

development of the Annual Plan 2023/24 and Long Term Plan 2021-31. Any efficiencies 
that can be adopted immediately will be factored into the draft financial budgets. 

 
5. Information Summary 

 
5.1  Refer to the attached summary of the Draft Annual Plan 2023/24. 

 
5.2 Key assumptions made for the draft Annual Plan include: 

 
 Business as usual for all Council activities in terms of service level delivery 
 Inflation rates of 4-15% depending on the type of expenditure, excluding staff 

inflation, budgeted at 3%. However natural turnover and vacancies providing 
for 95% of positions filled at any one time. 

 Interest Rate on borrowings 3.20% (likely to be on the low side now) 
 Interest Rate on investments 3.37% 
 Asset Revaluation increase effect on depreciation - 10% 
 Farm rates contribution of $119,000, including $69,000 from the farm reserve 

 
All remaining costs have been based on year-to-date actual expenditure, with the 
exception of certain areas where cost savings, or revenue generation could be 
achieved. 
 
More staff have been employed to deliver the service levels expected at a standard 
required by our community and by government (and legislation) that is unprecedented. 
Staff are now being paid market rates in order to ensure that we can access and retain 
the staff required to deliver on these expectations. There is little room to increase 
revenue, before Council services become uneconomical to use. The ratepayer base 
has grown by 2% which provides little relief at the other end for spreading the overall 
burden of a significant rise in the rates requirement to fund Council activities. 
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5.3 Depreciation on Council assets overall is expected to increase by $1,091,000 in 
2023/24. Staff shortages in local government and higher turnover are forcing Council 
to pay market salaries at a national level. A market review was undertaken in 2022 of 
all Council positions and their salaries to ensure Council remained a competitive 
employer. In addition, legislation is imposing additional pressures on local government 
to deliver the same level of service with additional resourcing. The cost of wages alone 
is expected to increase by $1,285,000. However, new staff also create additional costs 
in other areas such as additional IT requirements (hardware and software licensing), 
and additional staff costs such as ACC, Kiwisaver, Training, and office equipment as 
examples. 

 
5.3 Some options to reduce the rates increase are provided below, and feedback is being 

sought from the Committee as to which options they would like to see incorporated into 
the second draft Annual Plan 2023/24: 

 
1. Reduce the pool rates requirement:  

a. Reduce operational costs, specifically personnel and staffing which 
has more than doubled with the new pool, and reduce cleaning and 
energy costs which have more than tripled. 

b. Find ways to increase revenue, which may be a combination of 
increasing charges, and investigating advertising and sponsorship 
opportunities and setting revenue targets for both.  

c. Use some of the Financial Contributions Reserve (current balance 
$1,100,000) to part fund increase in delivery of new recreational 
amenity.  

d. Part fund depreciation on new facility on the basis that the new pool 
would not be replaced at the same level in future, and that 45% of the 
pool was grant funded. 

2. Capitalising staff time in relation to projects – currently staff time spent on 
capital projects is all funded by rates, however it could instead be allocated to 
the project and the cost (rates requirement) spread over the life of the project 
instead. 

3. Reduce the three waters rates requirement. The rates for Water Supply is 
expected to increase by $236,831, and Stormwater by $18,458. Costs 
reductions may be identified in these two areas, particularly in the areas of 
investment that provides more of a long term benefit, major maintenance 
works, and the use of consultants. 

4. Conduct a significant review of the Fees and Charges schedule, with the 
intention of lifting all fees and charges where the benefits outweigh the costs, 
taking into account the principles of exacerbator pays and user pays, and the 
true cost of delivering each service and who should pay. This review should be 
closely aligned with Council’s Revenue and Financing Policy. 

5. Reviewing staff requirements with the intention of not budgeting for positions 
that have been unfilled for some time, or newly created positions that are yet 
to be filled. 

6. To avoid deferring the rates increase to the following year, Council could 
consider a full review of capital projects planned for in 2023/24, and culling all 
projects that are not considered urgent or necessary for core operations. 

 
6. Strategic Alignment  

 
6.1 Direction 

 
All Community Outcomes are affected by the Annual Plan. 

 
6.2 Annual Plan and Long Term Plan 

 
Annual Plan currently under consideration, and strong links to Long Term Plan 2021-
31. 

 
6.3 District Plan 

 
N/A 

 
6.4 Legal Implications 
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There are no legal implications unless elected members are looking at adopting an 
Annual Plan 2023/24 that differs materially from the Long Term Plan 2021-31. 

 
6.5 Policy Implications 

 
Council must consider the Revenue and Financing Policy when looking at altering any 
funding positions.  

 
 
Attachments: 
 
Appendix 1 Draft Annual Plan Summary 2023/24 
 
 

 
Tiffany Radich 
Director – Corporate Services  
 
 

 
 
[Approved by] 
Sven Hanne 
Chief Executive Date 7 March 2023 
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Reconciliation
Total Rates Rates Increase

Rates - 2022/23 14,845,000

Rates - 2023/24 - Annual Plan 17,247,445 2,402,445

Rates - 2023/24 - LTP 14,816,027 2,431,418

2023/24

Proposed Rates Increase 16.18%

Rates Increase Limit - Financial Strategy 6.00%

10.18%

Remove/(add) to get to limit 1,511,745$    

Proposed Rates 17,247,445$   

Rates Limit - Financial Strategy 15,735,700$    

1,511,745$    

A 1% increase in rates equates to 148,450$   

Proposed Net Debt 25,773$   

Net Debt Limit - Financial Strategy 34,050$   

Should be less than 130% 98%

Appendix 1
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Net Operating Annual Plan 2024 Annual Plan 2023 Variance
Total Operating Revenue (excl rates) 8,945 11,625 (2,680)                -23%
Rates 17,247 14,845 2,402                  16%
Total Operating Expense 25,044 21,431 (3,613)                 17%

Operating Income and Expenses Annual Plan 2024 Annual Plan 2023 Increase
User Fees and Charges 2,996 2,820 176 6%
Personnel Costs 6,065 4,780 (1,285)                 27%
Finance Costs 1,186 735 (451)                     61%
Direct Operating Costs 11,094 10,307 (787)                    8%
Depreciation 6,699 5,608 (1,091)                  19%

Capital Expenditure Annual Plan 2024 Annual Plan 2023 Increase
Renewals 5,468 6,813 1,346                  -20%
Level of Service 2,446 9,577 7,131                   -74%
Growth 1,000 1,025 25                        -2%

Overheads (actual amount) Annual Plan 2024 Annual Plan 2023 Variance

Miranda Street Office 290,773                  241,489                  (49,284)               20%
IT and Records 906,948                 869,003                 (37,945)               4%
Fixed Management 185,871                   158,516                   (27,355)               17%
Pool vehicles 15,000                    34,024                    19,024                -56%
Chief Executive 764,123                  592,155                  (171,968)             29%
Corporate Services 1,021,681                843,764                  (177,917)              21%
Assets Administration 652,264                  442,348                  (209,916)            47%
Waters and Rubbish 547,937                  443,975                  (103,962)             23%
Property and Parks 149,012                   147,741                   (1,271)                  1%
Environmental Services Administration 231,479                  210,638                  (20,841)               10%
Community and Customer Services 398,645                 378,765                  (19,881)               5%

5,163,733               4,362,417               (801,316)             18%

Rateable Properties/Units 2023 2022 Increase

General Rates and Roading 5,001                      4,849                      152                      3%
Solid Waste (Rubbish and Recycling) 2,673                      2,648                      25                        1%
Water - full 3,035                      3,021                       14                        0%
Water - 50% 243                          180                         63                       35%
Wastewater - full 2,697                      2,674                      23                        1%
Wastewater - 50% 204                         169                          35                       21%
UAGC - no of SUIPs 5,115                       4,941                       174                      4%

CV of Rateable Properties 2023 2022 Increase

Capital Value 3,563,405,000      3,519,234,900       44,170,100         1%
Capital Value - forestry only 33,057,500            16,640,500            16,417,000        99%
Capital Value - non forestry 3,530,347,500       3,502,594,400       27,753,100         1%

Comparison to original budget (LTP Year 2) $'000's
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F22/55 – D23/7918 

 
To: Audit and Risk Committee  
From: Director – Corporate Services   
Date: 14 March 2023 
Subject: Service Delivery (Section 17a Reviews) Update 
 

 
Recommendation 

 
 THAT the report be received. 
 

Recommended Reason 
To give an update to the Committee on the status of the Service Delivery (Section 17a) 
Reviews. 

 /  
Moved/Seconded 

 

 
1. Purpose of Report 

 
1.1 To give the Committee a progress report on the service delivery reviews, which are 

legally required to be completed within six years of the last review, which requires the 
reviews to be completed by August 2023. 

 
2. Executive Summary  

 
2.1 In September 2022, the Audit and Risk Committee approved the initial terms of 

reference for the Service Delivery Reviews. 
 

2.2 The first meeting for the project team was held on 13 December 2022 and was a 
planning and introductory session, where the team also agreed on the Council 
functions that would be required for the Section 17a reviews. 

 
2.3 The second meeting was held on 28 February 2023 where the Terms of Reference and 

project plan were agreed to, and a full group review was undertaken of six of the 25 
council functions to be reviewed. Agreement was achieved on the outcome and 
recommendations of the first reviews. 

 
2.4 The review group has now split into their respective sub-groups and will progress with 

completing the remaining reviews allocated to their sub-groups by June/July 2023 so 
that the full recommendations can be brought to Council for adoption by August 2023. 

 
3. Local Government Act 2002 

 

Under section 10 of the Local Government Act 2002, the Council’s purpose is to “enable 
democratic local decision making by and on behalf of communities; as well as promoting 
the social, economic, environmental, and cultural well-being of communities now and into 
the future” 

Does the recommended option meet the purpose 
of the Local Government 4 well-beings? And 
which: 

Yes – the reviews themselves will be 
looking at the impacts on the four well 
beings. 

Social Economic Environmental Cultural 

    
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4. Background 
 

4.1  The service delivery reviews involve analysing the various options for governance, 
funding, and service delivery for each Council function, including in-house delivery, 
delivery by a Council Controlled Organisation, another local authority, or another 
person or agency, and the rationale for delivering the function in the first place. It is an 
opportunity for Council to seek cost efficiencies and investigate options for out-sourcing 
or partnering with other Councils. The review does not include making operational 
decisions on a function; however, it does include looking at processes to achieve 
internal efficiencies of a function if it continues to be delivered in-house. 
 

4.2 Council may opt out of reviewing certain functions if the delivery of that function is 
governed by legislation or a binding agreement that cannot be reasonably altered within 
the next two years, or if the cost of undertaking the review outweigh the benefits. 

 
4.3 The reviews are to be conducted independently of the managers directly involved in 

that activity to avoid conflict of interest and bias. Therefore, a project team has been 
established made up of all levels of the organisation, including four elected members, 
three members of the senior leadership team, and three other Council officers. 

 
4.4 To determine the Council functions for review, the review group went through every 

function and based on the exemption criteria in Section 17A (3) of Local Government 
Act (refer to 4.2) decided that 7 of the 31 functions did not require a review. The review 
group decided that the remaining functions would be reviewed at either a Full, Medium, 
or Light level – refer templates attached for the information requested to be completed 
by the budget manager. The Functions reviewed at a Full level would basically be 
reviewed at a more detailed level. 

 

Function Full Medium Light No 
 Aerodrome  
 Animal Control  
 Building Control    
Cemeteries     
Civil Defence    
 Communications    
 Customer Service Centre     
 Economic Development     
 Environmental Health    
 Farm    
 Financial Administration     
 Governance    
Health and Safety    
I-Site     
 Information Technology     
Records Management    
 Library     
 Liquor Licensing    
 Parking and Bylaws     
 Parks and Reserves     
 Pensioner Housing     
 Percy Thomson Art Gallery    
 Property     
Rates    
 Resource Consent    
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Function Full Medium Light No 
 Roading     
 Rubbish and Recycling     
 Stormwater    
 Swimming Pool     
 Wastewater    
 Water Supply    

 
4.5 The review group will complete the final recommendation template, based on the Full, 

Medium, or Light review, and discussions at the review group meetings. Refer to the 
Final Recommendation template attached. These templates will be brought to the Audit 
and Risk Committee for approval as they are completed. 

 
5. Information Summary 

 
5.1 The review team is made up of a mix of elected members and senior Council staff. The 

review team has been split into two and allocated equal share of the functions for 
review. The initial reviews however were carried out by the full team to ensure 
consistency in analysis going forward. 

 
5.2 The initial review looked at the following Council functions: 
 

 Communications 
 Financial Management 
 Solid Waste (Rubbish and Recycling) 
 Liquor Licensing 
 Health and Safety 
 Community Development 

 
The final recommendation from the group for all functions reviewed was to remain with 
status quo for governance, funding and service delivery however a number of cost-
efficiency saving type recommendations were noted and investigated further. These 
recommendations will be brought to the next Audit and Risk Committee meeting. 

 
 5.3 At this stage no risks have been identified during the process of the reviews. 
 
6. Strategic Alignment  

 
6.1 Direction 

 
The outcomes of the service delivery reviews will potentially have an effect on Council 
direction. 

 
6.2 Annual Plan and Long Term Plan 

 
The decisions made under this review will feed into the Long Term Plan 2024-34. 

 
6.3 District Plan 

 
N/A 

 
6.4 Legal Implications 

 
There is no involvement by audit in this review, however the review itself and the 
subsequent conclusions are open to judicial review. The grounds for a judicial review 
(a legal challenge to public decision-making) are procedural injustice, illegality, and 
unreasonableness. 

 
6.5 Policy Implications 

 
N/A 
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Attachments 
 
Appendix 1 Sample template for Full Review. 
 

 
Tiffany Radich 
Director – Corporate Services  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
[Approved by] 
Sven Hanne 
Chief Executive Date 7 March 2023 
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Appendix 1 
Full Assessment 

PART ONE ‐ CURRENT ARRANGEMENTS 

1  Name of the Department responsible for the service   Name of Service Manager  Name of Service under Review 

Click here to enter text.  Click here to enter text.  Click here to enter text. 

2  Description and scope of 
the service 
(full range of services provided, any 
parts contracted out, any exclusions of 
service) 

 

3  Rationale for service 
provision 

Legal requirement to provide 
the service 

 

4   
 

Community outcomes the 
service contributes to (LTP) 

 

5    Council policies, bylaws, 
strategies and plans the service 
contributes to 

 

6  Performance  Major levels of service (LTP)   

7    Performance measures (LTP)   

8  Finance & management  Current governance of service 
(decision‐making) – either 
political or arms‐length 
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9    Specify all Funding Sources   

10   
 

Method of delivery (include 
term of contract if currently 
contracted out) 

 

11 
 

  Cost of providing the service (as 
per Annual Plan 2022/23) 

Capital Cost  Operating Cost  Total Operating Revenue 

  Click here to enter text.  Click here to enter text.  Click here to enter text. 

 

PART TWO ‐ CURRENT ARRANGEMENTS 

Factor to 
consider: 

Principle tested  Criteria   

Size and scale 
of service 

The bigger the budget the more efficiency gains are 
possible.    
 
Consider how much of this activity (if any) is 
outside council’s control. 
What is the customer base for this service? 
Where could efficiency gains be made? 
 

Total 
OPEX pa 

 
 

Capital intensive services are more likely to generate 
savings. 
 
What capital projects are coming up and what impact 
may that have on service delivery? 

Total 
CAPEX pa 
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Uniqueness of 
service delivery 

The more generic the service the more opportunity 
for economies of scale or scope. 
 
Is the service tailored for the 
customer/user/beneficiary of service OR is it high 
volume with little variation in service delivery? 
 
Does/Should the customer experience the same 
service regardless of location? 

Customer 
needs 

 

If the area of delivery can be  increased economies 
of scale could exist. 
 
What is the area of delivery e.g. regional, 
catchment, TA boundaries?  
 
Is it prescribed by statute? 

Geographical 
area of delivery 

 

Different council operating models suggests a 
review could realise benefits from comparison from 
approaches proven elsewhere. 
 
Do  all  councils  deliver  the  service  in  a  similar 
manner?  If  not what are the models being used? 

Multiple 
models of 
delivery 
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Type of service  Services which  are  core  competencies*  and  have 
non‐commercial objectives should be retained in 
house. 
 
*A core competency is defined here as a unique 
characteristic or capability that provides a 
competitive advantage in  the marketplace,  cannot 
be easily replicated by others and contributes to the 
perceived customer benefits of the end product. 
 
Is the service a statutory requirement?  Is it of high 
public interest?  Is it strategically important to 
retain within the organisation? How  complex  is  it 
and do other  services depend on it? Are the 
objectives for providing the service wholly or 
primarily non‐commercial? 
 
What are the risks of failure for the organisation 
and the customer/community? Consider ability to 
deliver the service in exceptional circumstances (e.g. 
emergency event). How are they managed currently, 
is this adequate? 
 

Core 
competency 

 

Strategic 
considerations 

How does this function further council’s, 
community outcomes, strategic priorities or 
respond to a demographic trend or future problem. 
 
Is retaining capability and capacity and therefore 
employment opportunities within the local 
community an important driver for council? 

Strategy   
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Market barriers  The success of alternative service delivery 
methods (such as contracting out to a private 
sector provider) depends on the existence of a 
competitive market. 
 
How many providers are there in the market? Do 
they have well established networks? 
 
Does the service require technical, highly 
skilled specialists? Are they a scarce 
resource? 
 
Would delivery by a third party result in greater 
capacity to manage complex issues OR would it 
create undue risk for council? Consider the 
current situation (local conditions) and medium 
term outlook. 

Supply side 
capability and 
capacity 
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The customer is a key stakeholder in these 
reviews. 
 
How many customers are there and are they a 
specific sector of the community only?  
 
Is there continuous demand? Is there an 
increasing/decreasing change in demand for 
this service? 
 
To what extent can you charge full cost for the 
service, e.g. is the service non‐rival and non‐
excludable?  

Demand   
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Current efficiency 
and effectiveness 

A service that consistently achieves its performance 
targets is evidence that it meets customer 
expectations and a review is less likely to realize 
benefits. 
 
Does the service consistently achieve LOS 
performance measures?  Refer to previous 3 years. 
 
Is there any credible (and quantified) evidence that a 
change in service delivery might provide improved 
service? 
 
Does the customer satisfaction survey results 
generally show a high level of community 
satisfaction? 
 

Achievement of 
performance 
targets 

 

Political risk  Council will get the most “bang for buck” by focusing 
on services that are important to citizens and are 
failing to meet their expectations. 
 
Is the service a topic that people have strong 
opinions on? What are the views and preferences of 
users, beneficiaries and the community? 
 
Consider:  
- Complaints 
- Request for service resolution and satisfaction 
- Resident satisfaction 
- Media profile 
   

Public interest   

2023 - Agenda - Audit and Risk - March - Information Report - Section 17a Reviews

59



 

  Other Stakeholder Information 
 
Are there any other relevant stakeholders that 
should be included in this review?  
 
What are their preferences?   

   

Change in the 
operating 
environment 

Service reviews realise the most benefits when there
is certainty around the operating environment in 
which the service is delivered. 
 
Are there any significant changes likely to happen 
soon that will impact on the operating environment? 
Consider: 
- Legislative changes 
- Central government policy agenda 
- Market conditions 
- Developments in technology might make some 
options  

feasible 
- Changes in the political direction of council 
 

Pending change   
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Joint approach  Reviews undertaken jointly with relevant councils 
and service providers will realise the most value. 
 
Would it be beneficial for other potential service 
providers to participate in the service review? e.g. 
neighboring councils, regional councils or other 
service providers. 
 

Ability to 
participate 

 

Shared services  Shared services are the preferred structural option 
to coordinate infrastructure across a region to 
support future growth and reduce costs. 
 
Are services coordinated between neighbouring 
councils under the current arrangements? Could 
shared services support future growth and/or reduce 
costs for ratepayers? 
 
 
 

   

Previous S.17a 
Review 

The results of the last review may share some 
insights into other considerations. 
 
Provide template from last review, any relevant 
findings? 
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PART THREE – REVIEW RECOMMENDATION 

Manager / Director recommendation 
 

      

Reason/s for recommendation 
 

 

 

Click here to enter text. 

 

 

   

Signed by:   

 

   

  Project Team Representative    Chief Executive 
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F22/55/04 – D23/8365 

 
To: Audit and Risk Committee  
From: Director – Corporate Services   
Date: 14 March 2023 
Subject: Risk Management 
 

 
Recommendation 

 
 THAT the report be received. 

 
Recommended Reason 
To provide an update to the Audit and Risk Committee of any significant risks and any 
incidents or threats in relation to significant risks on Council’s risk register from the previous 
quarter. 

 /  
Moved/Seconded 

 

 
1. Purpose of Report 

 
1.1 To provide a high-level update on Council risk, in accordance with Council’s Risk 

Management Policy. 
 
2. Executive Summary  

 
2.1 Events or threats that have required active management by the Senior Leadership 

Team, in relation to the top ten risks are as follows: 
 

 Three Waters reforms – policy direction is somewhat unclear 
 Cyclone Gabrielle and other storm related weather events 
 Decisions made by elected members – new edition to this report 

 
3. Local Government Act 2002 

 

Under section 10 of the Local Government Act 2002, the Council’s purpose is to “enable 
democratic local decision making by and on behalf of communities; as well as promoting 
the social, economic, environmental, and cultural well-being of communities now and into 
the future” 

Does the recommended option meet the purpose 
of the Local Government 4 well-beings? And 
which: 

Affects all four wellbeings in some way. 

Social Economic Environmental Cultural 

    

 
1.1 Risk Management aims to protect all areas of Council operations and therefore 

indirectly meet the purpose of all four wellbeings. 
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2. Background 
 

2.1 The Council maintains a full risk register, which currently has 91 risks. Of these, 10 of 
the highest risks in terms of likelihood and consequence are monitored and reported to 
the Audit and Risk Committee. 
 

2.2 The risk register includes a description of the risk, and evaluates the risk in terms of 
likelihood and consequence without any controls in place. Controls (risk reduction 
methods and mitigations) have been established for each risk, and then the risk is re-
evaluated to get a residual risk score. In terms of what constitutes a significant risk, the 
raw risk score is taken into account rather than the residual risk as it is important that 
the Senior Leadership Team and the Audit and Risk Committee regularly monitor that 
the controls in place are appropriate and effective. 

 
2.3 The Global Risks Report 2023 is attached to this report.  There has been a change in 

the top 5 global risks from the previous year, which have been identified and ranked 
as: 

 
1. Cost of living crisis 
2. Natural disasters and extreme weather events 
3. Geoeconomic confrontation – interstate conflict and warfare including 

sanctions, trade wars and investment screening 
4. Failure to mitigate climate change – with current measures to prevent or 

prepare for climate change mostly ineffective. 
5. Erosion of social cohesion and societal polarization – fracturing of communities 

 
These risks are all interconnected and impact on the severity of the other. Although 
these are arguably the most significant global risks currently, they all are relevant to 
Stratford District Council also. For example, the cost of living is a key consideration for 
elected members when considering setting the rates and financial budget in the Annual 
Plan 2023/24. Mitigating the effects of climate change is becoming increasingly 
important, and Council has recently established a new position of Sustainability Officer 
to lead Council’s efforts in this area.  
 

  2.4 Other general risk related events that occurred since December 2022 are listed below: 
 Insurance cover fully removed from the old pool.  
 Animal welfare – getting dogs into the back of a vehicle is becoming 

increasingly difficult with the current dog control vehicle setup. Alternative 
options are being investigated further.  

 Toko Rd, drainage improvement – an issue was identified in relation to safety 
of the road following contractor work. An additional white line was painted on 
the road to indicate road edge.  

 Police requested the security camera footage at the new swimming pool as 
a result of alleged minor theft in the changing rooms. The request was 
declined by Council as there are no security cameras in the changing rooms. 

 A person allegedly associated with Americarna was witnessed hacking at the 
northern roundabout on Broadway, the morning of Americarna in Stratford. 
This is being investigated further, however Council contractors tidied up the 
mess left there  

 Public safety of oxidation ponds – Council staff have proposed to erect 1.8 
metre deer fencing around the Wastewater pond at a cost of $175,000, 
however this decision has been put on hold by elected members pending a 
site tour. 

 On 7 January 2023, there was a light airplane crash across from the Stratford 
Aerodrome after the pilot had taken off from the Aerodrome, that resulted in 
a single pilot fatality. Council has not been involved in the investigation. Not 
directly related but relevant, a consultant from AIMM is attending a Council 
workshop to discuss Council’s responsibilities in relation to the Aerodrome. 
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5. Information Summary 
 

5.1 Risk Events in relation to the Top Ten Risk Register 
 
Risk 51 – Natural Disaster or Fire 
 
Cyclone Gabrielle formed on 8 February 2023 in the Coral Sea, and a strong wind 
warning was issued for Taranaki from 13 February. The Taranaki CDEM (Civil 
Defence Emergency Management) lead the monitoring of the potential impact for the 
region. The Emergency Coordination Centre (ECC) was activated on 13 February.  
 
There was no requirement to setup an Emergency Operations Centre in Stratford as 
the impact locally was minimal. There was no direct damage to Council assets from 
the cyclone.  
 
Council staff trained in Civil Defence operations have offered to go and help the badly 
affected areas on the East Coast, but as of early March, no requests for support have 
been received. 
 
Risk 78 – Government Policy Impacting on Local Government 
  
Three Waters Reforms 
 
DIA (Department of Internal Affairs) and NTU (the national transition unit, sitting within 
DIA laying the groundwork for the new entities and leading the 3 waters work until this 
gets handed over to each of the entities) are continuing to work on the reform 
programme in full expectation that the reforms will go through. When NTU senior staff 
are questioned on potential directional change either due to the change in Prime 
Minister or as a potential result of the next election, there is a firm belief that the 
reforms will proceed and if not exactly as outlined currently then close enough to still 
require all the work currently under way. At the end of the day, the NTU’s work is 
governed by current legislation and any change in direction would require further 
legislative change. 
 
The draft Annual Plan 2023/24 is currently being developed with a business as usual 
approach, with Water Supply, Wastewater and Stormwater all in Council’s ownership, 
control and operation for the full year. As was done for 2022/23, SDC is proposing to 
fund up to 80% of depreciation on three waters assets. However, this is due to the 
significant increase in asset valuations impacting on depreciation, which is considered 
to be a temporary increase as a result of economic conditions. 
 
Engagement with councils is occurring at multiple layers. The NTU is directly 
communicating with staff whose roles entail 50% or more of three waters tasks, with 
a view of absorbing these into the new entities. The most recent engagement request 
in fact was looking for information on staff with 30+% involvement. This received push-
back from Council CEOs and the NTU clarified that this for purposes of keeping 
affected staff informed rather than taking those across into the new entities. This has 
minimal impact on SDC but is of concern to larger councils.  
 
To date, Council has been allocated Tranche 1 of Better Off Funding of $2,570,000 
(total of $10,270,000), and Transitional Funding to assist with transition costs in 
assisting the NTU, of $350,000. The No Worse Off Funding is yet to be confirmed. 
 
The newly appointed Entity B CEO Vaughan Payne has started to attend 3 Waters 
meetings and roadshows and is in the process of visiting each Council within Entity B 
territory. Vaughan has served seven years as Chief Executive of the Waikato 
Regional Council, and a further five years as Chief Executive at Ōpōtiki District 
Council. The next roadshow/in-person meeting is 9/10 March in Whanganui. These 
focus on updates by the NTU on their current state of delivery, concepts and time 
lines for upcoming work and expectations/requirements for councils going forward, 
such as data requests. A number of councils are involved via working groups in the 
design elements of the new entity. We have left that to larger councils with more staff 
capacity. This benefits the future Entities (and their customers) rather than council 
directly (their future customers are our ratepayers however). 
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NTU staff also met with SDC staff to discuss financial implications of the transfer of 3 
waters functions, assets and finances. While some elements of stormwater are still 
unclear, they form a very small portion of SDC’s 3 Waters asset base and costs/debt. 
The discussion around debt aligned with SDC staff expectations in that the NTU 
agreed to take over all debt shown on our books (stormwater pending some future 
decisions) and settle this in a single payment on the hand-over date. SDC would from 
there have the opportunity to either immediately settle the associated debt or invest 
the funds if a better return can be achieved that way. 
 
The NTU expressed a clear expectation that council’s next long-term plan excluded 
any and all 3 Waters costs and that council budgets fully reflected this change. Apart 
from the impact of stranded overheads, SDC staff considered that as a given and see 
no issue with this in principle. 
 
The Stratford District Council submitted on both the Water Services Legislation Bill 
and the Water Services Economic Efficiency and Consumer Protection Bill. Refer to 
the full submissions attached to this report. 
 
Resource Management Reforms 
 
The period for lodging submissions on the draft Natural and Built Environments Bill 
and draft Strategic Planning Bill closed on 5 February 2023. Taranaki's three district 
councils worked together alongside Govett Quilliam Law to prepare submissions. 
Each council submitted individually but the cooperative approach ensured a high level 
of commonality across the three submissions and a sense of speaking with a regional 
voice. Because of the timing of the submission period and the volume of material to 
read and understand to contribute to a submission we weren't able to include a draft 
submission in a Council agenda but the draft submission was circulated to elected 
members and any feedback incorporated before being finalised. The submissions are 
currently being considered by the Parliamentary Select Committee. 
 
The submission is attached to this report. 
 
Risk 47 – Attracting and Retaining staff 
 
Since the last meeting, all advertised vacancies have now been filled. The only 
vacancies now are in relation to the swimming pool which is an ongoing experience. 
 
Risk 72 - Elected Members Decision Making 
 
Recent decisions made by Elected Members since the December Audit and Risk 
Committee meeting are below, with the risk section included. 
 
13/12/2022 Adopt Annual Report 2021/22 
24/01/2023 Road Closure for Americarna 2023 
24/01/2023 Nominating Taranaki Regional Transport Committee to represent the 

district 
14/02/2023 Road Closure for Toko Road car club event 
14/02/2023 Appointment of Registrar for Pecuniary Interests Register 
28/02/2023 Policy Reviews – New policies adopted were Smokefree 

Environments – Public Spaces and Community Events Policy, 
Workshop Policy, and Waste Levy Contestable Fund Policy. The 
Smokefree Environments – Council Buildings and Public Spaces 
Policy and Paper Records Policy were withdrawn. 

28/02/2023 Established the Waste Levy Advisory Group 
28/02/2023 Approved legal proceedings to collect outstanding rates from three 

ratepayers through the court process that may lead to a property rating 
sale. 

 
5.4 New Risks Identified 
 
 There have been no new risks identified since the last Audit and Risk Committee 

meeting. 
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6. Strategic Alignment  
 

6.1 Direction 
 
N/A 

 
6.2 Annual Plan and Long Term Plan 

 
N/A 

 
6.3 District Plan 

 
N/A 

 
6.4 Legal Implications 

 
N/A 

 
6.5 Policy Implications 

 
This report is in line with the Risk Management Policy. 

 
Attachments: 
 
Appendix 1 Top Ten Risk Register 
Appendix 2  Legislative Reform currently open for submission – Taituara 
Appendix 3 Three Waters Submission – Water Services Legislation Bill  
Appendix 4  Three Waters Submission – Water Services Economic Efficiency and Consumer 

Protection Bill 
Appendix 5 Resource Management Reform Submission – Natural and Built Environment Bill and 

Spatial Planning Bill 
Appendix 6 Global Risks Report 2023 – World Economic Forum  
 
 
 

 
Tiffany Radich 
Director – Corporate Services  
 
 

 
 
 
[Approved by] 
Sven Hanne 
Chief Executive Date 6 March 2023 
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Appendix 1 
 

Top Ten Risk Register 

Risk 
Alert 

Number 

Risk 
Category 

Risk 
Subject 

Risk Description 
Risk 

Score 
Raw 

Control Description 
Residual 

Risk 
Score 

78 Operational Government 
Policy 
Impacting on 
Local 
Government  

IF Government Policy significantly changes 
the services Council delivers or the way they 
are delivered, THEN this could put financial 
pressure on the district to fund investment in 
changes, or it may mean previous investment 
has become redundant. 

20 
Extreme 

Where a policy change may have a significant negative 
impact on the Council then staff and elected members should 
consider making a submission to suggest and encourage 
alternative options. Council officers and elected members 
need to keep up to date with proposed changes to legislation 
and govt policy, and anticipate potential impacts of legislative 
changes and respond strategically, rather than being in a 
reactive position or being overly proactive. This could include 
joint collaboration with business and other councils, 
accessing alternative funding sources, or obtaining legal or 
professional advice. Council should aim to maintain a position 
where it can be adaptive and respond well to change, e.g. 
low to medium debt levels, diversification, good employment 
relationships. 

20 Extreme 

12 Data and 
Information 

Cyber Attack IF the systems are compromised and subject 
to a cyber attack, THEN system downtime, 
loss of data, ransoms may be demanded, 
potential privacy breach, reputational 
damage, and potential loss of funds. 

16 Very 
High 

Council have several security measures in place such as 
enterprise grade firewalls, email filtering, backups, antivirus 
and device management. If a breach was detected Council 
would activate the insurance policy and engage an IT security 
company resource to assist with recovery. 

4 High 

47 Operational Attracting and 
Retaining 
Staff 

IF Council is unable to attract and retain 
suitably qualified personnel, THEN services 
may become under threat and may cease. 

16 Very 
High 

Internal training and succession planning programs. Ensure 
market wages are offered for all high demand positions. 
Recruit off shore option should be available for high-demand 
positions. Make greater use of consultants if necessary 
and/or shared services with neighbouring Councils. Make 
Stratford District Council a great place to work - measure staff 
engagement and respond to any issues expediently. 

4 High 

51 Operational Natural 
Disaster or 
Fire - 
Response 
preparedness 

IF a Natural Disaster or Fire causes 
significant damage to infrastructure and 
buildings THEN community welfare may be 
severely compromised, putting peoples lives 
at risk, and staff may be unable to access 
systems to carry out their day to day duties 
and functions. 

15 Very 
High 

Civil Defence Emergency Management plans are in place. 
Procedures following an emergency event are widely known 
by a number of staff due to Civil Defence Foundational 
training being rolled out to majority of council staff. Business 
Continuity Plans need to be in place and practiced regularly 
for all activities - Directors responsible for having a plan in 

12 Very 
High 
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place for each of their departments to ensure core functions 
can continue to be delivered.  

64 Operational Infectious 
Disease 
Outbreak / 
Pandemic 

IF an infectious human disease outbreak / 
pandemic threatened NZ and reached the 
district, THEN this could impact staff 
availability, local services could temporarily 
close down, and the community access to 
healthcare is limited potentially resulting in 
population decline. 

15 Very 
High 

Health and Safety Advisor to keep aware of any public health 
notifications of disease outbreaks. Ensure there is a plan to 
respond to any notifications. Civil Defence covers infectious 
human disease pandemics and will take responsibility for 
local management. Follow Ministry of Health's NZ Influenza 
Pandemic Action Plan. 

8 High 

71 Operational Critical Asset 
Failure 

IF a critical asset (water treatment plants, 
stormwater, wastewater, reticulation, roading)  
failed, THEN unexpected financial burden 
may arise and there could be significant 
disadvantage and risk to the community. 

15 Very 
High 

Conduct 2 yearly Asset Criticality Review. Ensure there are 
established Civil Defence Emergency Management response 
procedures in relation to fixing critical assets in an emergency 
event. Management practices and staff training, retention to 
ensure appropriate skill level in critical asset maintenance. 

4 High 

72 Reputational 
and Conduct 

Elected 
Members - 
Decision 
Making 

IF elected members make significant 
decisions based on inaccurate/insufficient 
information, "biased" influences, conflicts of 
interest not disclosed, or lack of 
understanding of the financial or legislative 
impacts, THEN there could be funding access 
difficulties, audit scrutiny, financial penalties, 
and/or community distrust in elected 
members. Potential breach of Local 
Authorities (Member's Interests) Act 1968, 
and Councillors may be personally financially 
liable under S.47 of LGA 2002. 

12 Very 
High 

Relies on the accuracy and quality of the advice given by 
staff to elected members - ensure agenda, reports, and other 
papers are always reviewed by CEO, and Directors if 
appropriate. Information related to decision making should be 
given to elected members in a timely manner. Elected 
members should receive initial induction training and attend 
LGNZ, SOLGM conferences where material is relevant to get 
a better understanding of governance decision making. 
Council has a Professional Indemnity insurance policy for all 
elected members and independent committee members. 

4 High 

11 Data and 
Information 

Server Failure IF the server failed THEN systems down, 
data unavailable, potential data loss 

12 Very 
High 

Restore from backup - backups encrypted, and stored off-site 
at approved data-centres (Tier 3). Fail-over for Melbourne 
data centre replicates to Sydney data centre. 

3 Moderate 

32 Health, 
Safety, and 
Wellbeing 

Lone Worker IF a staff member is seriously injured or killed 
during field inspections/site visits, THEN 
possible health and safety breaches, death or 
serious injury. 

12 Very 
High 

Quality assurance, Ongoing training/awareness of HSE 
requirements and responsibilities, Better use of council 
data/knowledge base on dangerous or insanitary sites before 
staff member deploys to site, Use of GPS tracking, mobile 
phone tracking. Compliance officers to wear body cameras 
when on duty. 

3 Moderate 
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58 Reputational 
and Conduct 

Contractor 
Damage or 
Breach 

IF Council and/or council contractors are 
found to be liable for public/environmental 
damage, or any actions that are unsafe or 
non-compliant with legislation and applicable 
policies and standards, THEN fines, possible 
injury, long-term damage, reputational 
damage could result. 

12 Very 
High 

Appropriate procedures and guidelines are in place to 
monitor contractor actions and our own including health and 
safety audits, contractor meetings/KPI's. The Council requires 
all physical works contractors to go through a thorough health 
and safety pre-qualification process and become approved 
before commencing any physical work. All relevant staff are 
kept up to date with pre-approved contractors register. Mini 
audits and random checks should be built into contracts. 
Contractor public liability insurance required for all major 
contracts. 

3 Moderate 
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Appendix 2 
Open for Submissions as at 17 February 2023 
(Note – in the Taituarā Action column a green cell indicates the Taituarā draft response is open for sector comment).  
Everything beneath the buff-coloured line is upcoming and the information is speculative.  
 

Name of initiative  Agency 
engaging 

Due date Taituarā 
Action 

Description 

Future for Local Government draft report  
 
https://www.futureforlocalgovernment.govt.nz/assets/R
eview-into-the-Future-for-Local-Govt-Draft-Report.pdf 
 

Future for Local 
Government 

panel 
 

28 February 
2023 

 
 

Submit 
 

Contact 
Kath Ross 

Draft report including recommendations from the panel.   

Business Payment Practice Regulations  
 
https://www.mbie.govt.nz/have-your-say/business-
payment-practices-regulations 
 

MBIE 28 Feb 2023 No action 
 

Contact 
Raymond 

Horan  

This regime will improve information and transparency 
around business-to-business payment practices by 
requiring large firms (those with turnover of $33 million a 
year) to publicly disclose information on their payment 
practices, including payment times.  This includes local 
authorities.  
 

National Environment Plan on PFAS 
 
 
https://haveyoursay.agriculture.gov.au/nemp-on-pfas  

MFE (joint with 
NZ and Aust 

EPA) 

28 Feb 2023 TBC The Heads of EPAs of Australia and New Zealand (HEPA) 
have released the draft per- and poly-fluoroalkyl 
substances National Environmental Management Plan 
(PFAS NEMP) version 3.0 for public consultation.  We’re 
advised that this potentially affects any entity that deals 
with water, wastewater, stormwater, biosolids, composting 
and landfills. 

Review of the Resource Management (infringement 
Offences) Regulations (NEW – added 7 Feb) 
 
 
https://environment.govt.nz/assets/publications/Revie
w-of-the-Resource-Management-Infringement-
Offences-Regulations-1999.pdf 

MFE 6 March 2023 TBC Considers options for increasing fines for infringement 
offences.  
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Smoked Tobacco Regulatory Regime (added 10 
February) 
 
https://www.health.govt.nz/system/files/documents/pu
blications/proposals_for_regulation_-
_smokefree_environments_and_regulat 
ed_products_act_1990_22_dec_final.docx  

Ministry of 
Health 

15 March TBC but 
unlikely  

 

The Smokefree Environments and Regulated Products 
(Smoked Tobacco) Amendment Act came into force 
on 1 January 2023. The amendment also extends the 
Act’s regulatory powers over the composition of 
smoked tobacco products, such as nicotine levels. 
Health is seeking views on proposals to implement 
these changes, including a retail scheme (where they 
are sold), and low nicotine requirements The 
consultation document also sets out proposals to 
tighten current restrictions on vaping product safety 
requirements and packaging. It also considers some 
restrictions on the location of Specialist Vape Retailers 
(SVR’s). 
 

Occupational regulation reforms in the building 
sector (NEW – added 24 February) 
 
https://www.mbie.govt.nz/dmsdocument/26189-
occupational-regulation-reforms-in-the-building-
and-construction-sector-consultation-document 
 

MBIE 6 April 2023 TBC but 
unlikely 

Proposals for change to the Licensed Building 
Practitioners regime, the Plumbers, Gasfitters and 
Drainlayers regime and the Electrical Workers regime.  

 
 
Upcoming  
 
 

 
 
 

   

Housing Infrastructure (GST-sharing) Bill 
 
https://www.legislation.govt.nz/bill/member/2022/0154
/latest/096be8ed81c6447d.pdf  
 
NB. Private Members Bill – may not proceed 

TBC Awaiting first 
reading  

TBC This Bill would introduce a GST-sharing scheme to fund 
housing infrastructure. Effectively councils would receive 15 
percent of the value of building work put in place in their 
local authority in the preceding year.  
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NB – this is a Private Members Bill that is waiting first 
reading. Details about consultation will only be known if 
and when the Bill gets a first reading. 

Sale and Supply of Alcohol (Cellar Door Tasting) 
Amendment Bill  
 
https://legislation.govt.nz/bill/member/2022/0173/late
st/contents.html  
 
NB. Private Members Bill – may not proceed 
 

TBC Awaiting first 
reading 

No action 
proposed 

This Bill allows winery cellar doors to charge visitors for the 
samples of their own wine and adds an off-licence category 
for wineries holding an on-licence. 
 
NB – this is a Private Members Bill that is waiting first 
reading. Details about consultation will only be known if 
and when the Bill gets a first reading 

Civil Defence and Emergency Management 
Amendment Bill 

Governance 
Admin Select 
Committee 

TBC Submit Gives effect to whatever of the Trifecta Review survives the 
‘consultation’ and policy development process. NEMA 
officials have said this is the formal consultation. 

Land Transport Management Amendment Bill (not 
sure of title) 

Transport and 
Infrastructure 

Select 
Committee 

TBC Submit 
 

Jen Coatham 

Legislation to give effect to changes to the Passenger 
Transport Operating Model.  

Royal Commission into Covid-19 response (NEW – 
added 5 December) 

Royal 
Commission 

TBC Submit 
 

Raymond 
Horan 

The overall lessons learned from the pandemic response 

including the economic response.  

Building Amendment Bill  (added 7 December) ?  Early 2023 TBC Bill will introduce energy ratings for buildings and waste 

minimisation plans to support Aotearoa New Zealand’s 

climate change goals.  (Hat tip: Mark form Hamilton) 

 

Learn more about the Government's proposed changes
 

Climate Adaptation Bill Presumably, 
Environment 

Select 
Committee 

Mid 2023 Submit Will introduce the legal framework for managed retreat and 
other climate response matters.  
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F16/1152-D22/5897

Appendix 3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
15 February 2023 
 
 
Barbara Edmonds 
Chair 
Finance and Expenditure Committee 
Parliament Buildings 
WELLINGTON 
 
 
Dear Chair 
 
WATER SERVICES LEGISLATION BILL  
 
The Stratford District Council thanks the Finance and Expenditure Select Committee for the opportunity to 
submit on the Water Services Legislation Bill. We would however like to take this opportunity to express our 
disappointment at the short time allowed for consultation on such a significant matter. 
 
Stratford District Council (SDC) opposes the Water Services Legislation Bill. SDC submitted against the 
Water Services Entities Bill (now Act) to the Finance and Expenditure Committee, and continues to oppose 
the Three Waters Reforms. Our submission to you outlined our opposition on the basis that: 
 Non-structural regulatory interventions to achieve improved water services have not been attempted 

first 
 Councils, including SDC, are already tackling the challenges to improve water services 
 The Reforms represent a significant centralisation of community assets, particularly through the 

Government Policy Statement 
 Stormwater services should not be delivered separately from roading and parks service delivery 

given their interfaces, and 
 There is no guarantee that any particular community will receive investment. 
 
We remain of the view that a model that retains asset ownership with the communities that paid for their 
establishment and that facilitates increased accountability through the ability of councils and or communities 
to appoint directors would far better reflect our and our communities’ preferences.  
 
We recommend that the Committee reconsider these aspects and our previous submission in reviewing this 
Bill.  
 
SDC accepts that the Water Services Entities Act is now law. We have not undertaken an extensive review 
of the Bill as sector organisations (LGNZ, Taituara and Water New Zealand) will provide detailed 
submissions to you. We have seen these and support the technical aspects these organisations cover in 
their submissions. However, we have significant concerns around a number of aspects that we recommend 
you amend. 
 
SDC does not wish to make an oral submission in support of this submission. 
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ENSURING WSE PAY RATES IN ALIGNMENT WITH OTHER UTILITY PROVIDERS 
 
Clause 22, new section 342 provides that the WSE will not be liable for rates for pipes and assets on land 
they do not own. This runs counter to the notion that WSE will be fully funding their activities and acts as a 
subsidy from the rest of the community to the WSE including from those that do not receive water services. It 
also sets a significant precedent for other utility providers to seek exemptions from paying rates. Pipes and 
assets, regardless of location, will create and incur costs for local authorities that should be accounted for 
through rates and there is no justification for why WSE should be exempt from paying rates.  
 
We also note that territorial authorities will need to provide their rating information database to the WSE 
under clause 22, new section 319. “on a reasonable cost basis”. WSE will be required to use the capital 
value of a property in charging for stormwater services under clause 22, new section 340, so it is appropriate 
that they contribute towards the costs of the district valuation roll. We would strongly encourage an 
amendment to section 319 to clarify the meaning of “on a reasonable cost basis”. Councils incur significant 
costs in the creation and maintenance of this data and we strongly believe that WSEs need to pay a fair 
share of these costs as this information is equally important to their business as it is to councils’. 
 
SDC recommends that the Committee ensure that WSE fully fund their activities by: 

 Removing clause 22 new section 342 so that WSE be liable for rates for pipes and assets 
regardless of the land owner, and 

 Amending section 319 to better define the meaning of “on a reasonable cost basis” with regards to 
WSEs fair and reasonable contribution to the ongoing costs of councils maintaining and providing 
the district valuation roll. 

 
TRANSITIONAL CHARGING ARRANGEMENTS 
 
We have significant concerns with the transitional charging arrangements set out in the Bill. 
 
First, new sections 336-338 provide that local authorities may (and effectively be required to) collect charges 
on behalf of the water services entities through to 1 July 2029. However, Local authorities may not have the 
capacity, systems or resources to provide pass-through billing and customers are likely to be confused about 
who provides their water services. Furthermore, there is no provision in the Local Government (Rating) Act 
2002 for local authorities to include WSE charges in a rates bill. This means that each local authority will 
need to separately invoice each property with WSE charges for these five years.  
 
This Council does not wish to collect charges on behalf of the entity and we note with considerable concern 
that the tone of sections 336 and 337 suggests local authorities will have no ability to decline pass-through 
billing. If we collect the charges, we will also receive the front-line complaints about the level of the charges 
and the service, allowing the entities to be faceless. Entities must be required to set up their own billing 
systems and collect their own charges.  
 
Second, SDC also disagrees with the transitional provision in new clause 63 of Schedule 1 that enables 
WSE to bill territorial authorities for stormwater services through to 1 July 2027 instead of consumers. 
Territorial authorities will have to account for this charging in their LTP and then in the rating system. SDC 
accepts that an alternative transitional arrangement for stormwater services is required as many territorial 
authorities (including SDC) charge for stormwater services through the general rate. However, charging 
territorial authorities who will, in turn, rate the community is inefficient and mixes accountability. It goes 
against the premise that WSE can stand on their own feet and, as the Department of Internal Affairs notes in 
its Regulatory Impact Analysis (paragraph 157), may undo the balance sheet separation of WSE from 
territorial authority owners. Furthermore, this provision also runs counter to clause 27 of Schedule 1 of the 
Water Services Entities Act which provides that the Long-Term Plan 2024-34 process must not contain any 
content relating to water services, including funding arrangements. This new clause would, however, require 
such content in order for territorial authorities to account for and then rate for stormwater service charges.  
 
The Bill already outlines new stormwater charging provisions that use the capital value of properties. This 
can easily be incorporated into the transitional charging approach, although some modification will be 
necessary to the provisions of new section 340. 
 
SDC recommends that the Committee: 
 Amend new sections 336-338 to the effect that while councils may collect charges on behalf of the 

water services entities, this is voluntary and there is no obligation for them to do so. 
 Remove new clause 63 of Schedule 1 and instead require water services entities to set a charge per 

property for stormwater services from 1 July 2024 using a modified version of new section 340, and 
then use new sections 336-338 for billing purposes. 
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DEBT REPAYMENT 
 
We also have significant concerns about the debt repayment provisions in the Bill. Schedule 1 inserts a new 
clause 54 into Schedule 1 of the Water Services Entities Act. This clause requires the WSE to pay each 
territorial authority for its debt. However, there are several issues with the wording which may enable the 
WSE to avoid paying some debt associated with water services. These concerns are: 

 The debt only relates to “water services infrastructure wholly or partly used in the provision of water 
services”. This wording has several impacts: 

o This means that operating costs that have lawfully been funded through debt may not 
transfer. This could include operating costs for future planning purposes which are not 
currently “used in the provision of water services”.  

o The limitation to “wholly or partly used in the provision of water services” also means that 
debt for work-in-progress cannot be recovered as it is not “used”. 

o The limitation to “water services infrastructure” also means that non-infrastructure assets 
that should transfer to the WSE are not covered. This would include assets such as 
vehicles, computers, and intellectual property. It would also cover any debt for new systems 
put in place for the transitional charging arrangements. 

 The clause implies that there is a five year period for instalment payments as the clause is repealed 
five years after the establishment date. During that time territorial authorities will still hold the debt, 
that debt will still incur interest, and territorial authorities will still have to make interest and 
potentially principal repayments. Whether these costs can be recovered from the WSE is unclear. 
Five years is also simply too long as it will have significant impact on the debt-to-income ratios for 
territorial authorities. 

 
While we do not believe it is the intention, the clause creates a very real possibility that territorial authorities 
will be left with some residual debt associated with water services, and that this debt will have to be repaid 
by ratepayers.  
 
 
SDC recommends that the Committee amend new clause 54 of new Part 2 of Schedule 1 of the Water 
Services Entities Act, contained in Schedule 1 of the Bill, to: 

 Clarify that the amount to be transferred from the WSE to territorial authorities is for all debt 
associated with the provision of water services, not just for infrastructure already in use 

 Clarify that the amount to be transferred includes recovery of any costs incurred by the territorial 
authority in holding that debt from establishment date until the repayment 

 Reduce the timeframe for instalment payments to being within 1 year of the establishment date 

 
ENGAGEMENT, PUBLICATION AND REVIEW REQUIREMENTS 
 
Subpart 2 of Part 13 deals with engagement requirements, including the establishment of consumer forums. 
The Bill provides for a wide range of forum options and there is the possibility that an entity could set up one 
forum for its whole area to comply with the legislation, even though it is not appropriately representative and 
is practicably unworkable, further removing consumer representation. This new Bill does not address these 
concerns. The Council would like clarity on consumer forums. 
 
CONCLUDING REMARKS 
 
SDC reiterates its opposition to the Three Waters Reforms and therefore to the Water Services Legislation 
Bill. SDC’s preference is for local communities, in partnership with mana whenua, to determine the 
appropriate way to managing local water assets. This can include local communities deciding to aggregate 
into regional water companies. However, if the Three Waters Reforms are to continue then a fairer regime 
needs to put in place so WSE fully fund their activities and do not leave territorial authorities and their wider 
ratepayer base with stranded costs to bear.  
 
Ngā mihi 

 
Neil Volzke 
District Mayor 
Stratford District Council  
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Appendix 4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
15 February 2023 
 
 
Barbara Edmonds 
Chair 
Finance and Expenditure Committee 
Parliament Buildings 
WELLINGTON 
 
 
Dear Chair 
 
WATER SERVICES ECONOMIC EFFICIENCY AND CONSUMER PROTECTION BILL 
 
The Stratford District Council thanks the Finance and Expenditure Select Committee for the opportunity to 
submit on the Water Services Legislation Bill. We would however like to take this opportunity to express our 
disappointment at the short time allowed for consultation on such a significant matter. 
 
Stratford District Council (SDC) opposes the Water Services Legislation Bill. SDC submitted against the 
Water Services Entities Bill (now Act) to the Finance and Expenditure Committee, and continues to oppose 
the Three Waters Reforms. Our submission to you outlined our opposition on the basis that: 
 
 Non-structural regulatory interventions to achieve improved water services have not been attempted 

first 
 Councils, including SDC, are already tackling the challenges to improve water services 
 The Reforms represent a significant centralisation of community assets, particularly through the 

Government Policy Statement 
 Stormwater services should not be delivered separately from roading and parks service delivery 

given their interfaces, and 
 There is no guarantee that any particular community will receive investment. 
 
We recommend that the Committee reconsider these aspects and our previous submission in reviewing this 
Bill. 
 
SDC accepts that the Water Services Entities Act is now law. We have not undertaken an extensive review 
of the Bill as sector organisations (LGNZ, Taituara and Water New Zealand) will provide detailed 
submissions to you. We have seen these and support the technical aspects these organisations cover in 
their submissions. However, we have significant concerns around a number of aspects that we recommend 
you amend. 
 
SDC does not wish to make an oral submission in support of this submission. 
 
PRELIMINARY PROVISIONS 
The definition of water services entity in the Bill is circular and unhelpful: “Water services entity means a 
water services entity (whether or not it is a regulated water services provider)”. 
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PRICE AND QUALITY REGULATION 
The purpose statement in Part 2 is taken from regulatory models applying to for-profit entities, which the 
Council considers inappropriate for publicly owned water services via the statutory entities. There should 
also be explicit reference to environmental outcomes and potentially health and safety, in recognition of te 
Mana o te Wai. 
 
The purpose, according to section 12, is to promote long term benefits for consumers by giving water 
services providers incentives to innovate and invest, improve efficiency and provide quality services, and 
share the benefits with consumers. Given that the entities will be non-profit monopolies, there is little 
incentive for entities to innovate, invest or improve efficiency and share resultant benefits with consumers. 
The Council would like to see the clauses relating to this purpose strengthened. 
 
DIRECTIVE PERFORMANCE REQUIREMENTS 
The role of an economic regulator should be to incentivise and make recommendations to the regulated 
entity, not to control directly the regulated entity’s business.  Section 39 crosses inappropriately into directive 
control by stating the items that a quality path must specify and those it may specify. The Council is 
concerned that the potential performance requirements extend into direct control of the regulated 
provider(s), specifically: 
 

 approach to risk management 
 asset condition and remaining life 
 particular types of investment 
 asset management policies and practices 
 ring-fencing revenue and not spending it without Commission approval.  

 
S39 makes it look as though the Commission is the entity. The Council regards this blurring of regulatory 
and operational functions as inappropriate. The same comments can be made about section 42 (price-
quality path requirements). Treating quality and price quality separately is an unnecessary doubling-up. We 
have seen advice from Simpson Grierson that “Quality regulation should not be allowed to exist at the same 
time as price-quality regulation for the same regulated provider and water infrastructure service”. 
Subpart 8 of Part 2 deals with the Commerce Commission’s reviews of funding and pricing plans. The 
Commission’s ability, stated in section 52, to direct an entity to reconsider its plan is another example of the 
Commission being empowered to interfere directly in the operation of entities, and we think this wording 
should be changed so the Commission can recommend that a water services entity reconsiders its plan. 
 
CONSUMER PROTECTION 
Subpart 9 of Part 2 and Subpart 1 of Part 3 deal with designations of water services entities. The difference 
is unclear, but we assume it means an entity can be designated for price and quality regulation but not 
consumer protection, and vice versa. If so, why? The interpretation sections of the two parts do not make 
this issue any clearer. 
 
SERVICE QUALITY CODE 
The Bill assumes a regulated service quality code is necessary, and thus requires the Commission to make 
one by 1 July 2027 (clause 69).  However, consistent with Part 7 of the Telecommunications Act 2001 relating 
to retail quality codes for telecommunications providers (section 236(1) in particular), the Commission should 
only be empowered to make a regulated code if the water services industry has failed to regulate, or 
adequately regulate, itself. We consider the water services industry should be given an opportunity to make 
its own service quality code(s) before a regulated one is applied. 
 
Ngā mihi 

 
Neil Volzke 
District Mayor 
Stratford District Council  
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SUBMISSION ON RESOURCE MANAGEMENT REFORM  

STRATFORD DISTRICT COUNCIL 

Introduction 

1. This submission is prepared on behalf of Stratford District Council (SDC) in relation to the Resource 
Management reform bills (the Natural and Built Environment Bill (NBE) and Spatial Planning Bill (SP)), 
referred to collectively as “the Bills”: 
 

2. SDC has considered the draft submissions from Local Government New Zealand (LGNZ) and Taituara 
and relies on the detail in these submissions and the general views of local government organisation 
on the Bills.   SDC has only submitted on points of particular importance/relevance to it. However, for 
clarity, SDC does not take a formal position with respect to the particular submission points and 
recommendations in the LGNZ submission, except as specified within this submission.  

 
3. SDC has engaged with the other district councils within the Taranaki region (South Taranaki District 

Council and New Plymouth District Council) and understand that all three councils have a similar 
position in respect of the Bills.    

 
4. SDC reserves the right to be heard on this submission and supports requests made by others for hearing 

of submissions to take place throughout New Zealand rather than being concentrated in Wellington. 

General 

5. SDC generally supports the need for reform of New Zealand’s resource management system. SDC 
considers that the current system can be inefficient and time consuming and does not ensure the best 
outcomes for communities and the environment.  

 
6. At a high level SDC questions the relationship of the RM reform to the Local Government reform 

programme.  Many of its comments relate to the new system and the practical interactions and interests 
of the SDC and how it operates under the system.   SDC supports timely but also logical reform that 
ensures the best system outcomes for its community.  SDC supports that alternative workable models 
for the new RM system are explored, beyond the RPC to ensure better outcomes for the community. 

 
7. SDC supports the stated objectives of the Bills, as set out in the explanatory note of the NBE, in 

particular the objective to improve system efficiency and effectiveness and reduce complexities.  
 

8. SDC considers that the current ability to review and change plans under the current system is 
cumbersome, with costly and lengthy processes that require significant resourcing from district councils. 
SDC therefore supports in principle, the intention to reduce the number of planning documents through 
the consolidation of plans into NBE plans and Regional Spatial Strategies (“RSS”). However, SDC is 
concerned that a key method for achieving this objective appears to be by reducing the input of Local 
Authorities. This concern is discussed in further detail later in this submission. Further, SDC is 
concerned that while the number of plans may be reduced, the Bills may not achieve the intent to provide 
enhanced efficiencies and reduced complexities. 
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 Purpose and preliminary matters 

9. SDC endorses the key matters raised in the draft LGNZ submission regarding purpose and preliminary 
matters, particularly seeking further clarification on: 

 
 the requirement to “uphold” Te Oranga o te Taiao; 
 the integration of Te Oranga o te Taiao and Te Mana o te Wai; 
 the meaning of “compromising” wellbeing of future generations; 
 the reconciliation of clauses 3(a) and (b) in the NBE; and 
 the meaning of “promotes outcomes” for the benefit of the environment. 
 The requirement to give effect to te Tiriti o Waitangi. 

Transitional provisions and central government support for funding participation. 

   
10. SDC considers that the Bills lack sufficient clarity regarding the transition to and implementation of the 

new system, as well as the status of the existing RM system and planning documents during this 
transition. 
 

11. SDC’s District Plan is due for review under the existing RM system in 2014. This is a significant 
undertaking for a small Council both in terms of resourcing required and financially. SDC is keen to 
avoid any unnecessary duplication of planning processes and expense that might arise from 
undertaking a review under the existing RM system closely followed by a transition to the new system 
and requests clarity around how this is to be handled. 

 
12. In particular, SDC submits that the NBE should be amended to provide further clarity regarding the 

following matters: 
 

a. The role and status of the RMA and existing RMA planning documents, following the 
enactment of the Bills and the NPF and RSS.  

b. SDC understands that the consenting requirements set out in plans prepared under 
the RMA will continue to apply until an RPC notifies its decisions on NBE plans. 
However it is unclear whether the NPF and any operative RSS must be considered 
in resource consent applications lodged under the RMA or whether applications made 
under the RMA must be assessed against the RMA legislation only. There will be a 
significant period of time between the implementation of the NPF and an RSS and 
the RPC decisions on NBE plans.  

c. The timing of the enactment of clause 2, Schedule 1 of the NBE and the impact of 
“subject to the NBEA” 

d. The impact of aspects of the NBEA that have commenced in relation to existing and 
ongoing RMA consenting.  

Order of regions commencing new system 

13. SDC also submit that further clarification and up-front communication is required regarding which 
regions are intended to be part of the initial pilot group and subsequent tranches, and the process and 
considerations for establishing the order in which regions will be required to start introducing the new 
system. It is critical that Councils are informed as soon as possible as to when the new system will be 
commenced in their region(s) so that this can be factored into planning and resourcing, particularly given 
the ongoing obligations under the RMA.  
 

14. SDC falls within both the Taranaki and Manawatu-Whanganui regions and further submits that further 
clarification and communication is required regarding the transition of districts in multiple regions into 
the new system. 
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Incorporation of information from RMA planning documents 

15. SDC supports the inclusion of clause 2, Schedule 1 of the SP Bill regarding the incorporation of 
information from RMA planning documents into regional spatial strategies.  
 

16. SDC considers that clause 2, Schedule 1 of the SP Bill should be a mandatory requirement rather than 
a discretionary requirement, to ensure that where information meets the requirements of clause 2, that 
the Regional Planning Committee (“RPC”) does incorporate this information into the RSS.  

 
17. Accordingly, SDC seeks that clause 2(1), Schedule 1 of the SPB be amended to “A regional spatial 

strategy must incorporate the following from an operative RMA planning document…” 
 
18. SDC also considers that the category of information that can be incorporated into RSS’ could be further 

expanded or clarified.   

Recommendations 

19. Amendments be made to the NBE to provide further clarity regarding the transition from the RMA system 
and the status of planning documents during this transition, including but not limited to: 
 

a. The role and status of the RMA and existing RMA planning documents, following the enactment 
of the Bills and the NPF and relevant RSS.  

b. Whether the NPF and any operative RSS must be considered in resource consent applications 
lodged under the RMA (prior to RPC decisions on NBE plans).  

c. The timing of the enactment of Schedule 1, Subpart 1, clause 2 of the NBE and the impact of 
“subject to the NBEA”. 

d. The impact of aspects of the NBEA that have commenced in relation to existing and ongoing RMA 
consenting.  

 
20. The Bills be amended and/or further central government guidance be prepared to provide further clarity 

regarding which regions will be included in the pilot tranche and the order in which other regions will 
commence the transition and/or the process for establishing this order. With Plans at different stages of 
plan-making there also needs to sufficient flexibility to ensure that a bespoke regional process can be 
adopted that best fits this region’s needs.  Amendment to clause 2(1), Schedule 1 of the SP Bill to “A 
regional spatial strategy must incorporate the following from an operative RMA planning document… 

Regional Planning Committees  

Lack of accountability to Local Authorities 

21. SDC supports LGNZ’s concern regarding the RPC’s lack of accountability to local authorities, who are 
required to fund and resource the RPC and to implement the plans developed by the RPC.  

RPC membership 

22. SDC notes that (as per clause 3(d) of Schedule 8 of the NBE) the composition arrangement for RPCs 
must ensure that “in the case of a region with multiple local authorities, the local authority membership 
of the committees has been agreed with consideration of the different populations of the individual local 
authorities and the desirability of applying some weighting in respect of that”. 
 

23. SDC seeks more certainty relating to composition arrangements and appointment policies, including 
the weight to be given to the relative populations of the individual local authorities, and consistency with 
the purpose and principles of local government in the provisions. It also considers that recognition 
should be given to the key planning issues in the region to ensure that key legislative requirements can 
be met.   
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24. SDC notes the challenges of determining both membership and funding arrangements equitably where 
there are members of different sizes and members who fall within multiple regions. It is important that 
RPC membership is both affordable and a vehicle that enables all members to contribute effectively to. 

 
25. SDC falls within both the Taranaki and Manawatu-Whanganui regions. The district’s population is not 

equally split across the two regions with most living within the Taranaki region. We would be the smallest 
member of both of the RPCs for our district. Because our population is comparatively small and further 
exacerbated by it being split between regions proportional representation on the RPCs is likely to 
present difficulties in terms of making an effective contribution. Similarly, insofar as funding the operation 
of the RPCs is concerned, all members making equal financial contributions to the funding of RPCs 
would be challenging for districts that straddle regional boundaries. This is especially so for small 
Councils where the cost would need to be met by a limited number of ratepayers. 

 

Host Authority  

26. SDC supports the Bill’s current approach that does not specify a default position on hosting the RCP.  
SDC considers that the determination of the host authority should be based on a multitude of factors 
including resourcing, population and prior planning leadership experience and that this decision requires 
flexibility to account for region-specific considerations. 
 

27. SDC considers that the working arrangements of the secretariat and host authority appear to be 
uncertain, complex and potentially unworkable, particularly with regards to funding, resourcing and 
employment matters and endorses the concerns raised in the LGNZ submission. Accordingly, SDC 
supports any further amendments to the Bills that provide more clarity regarding this system change 
and the appointment and operation of the host authority and secretariat. However, SDC also considers 
that sufficient flexibility will need to be retained in these provisions to allow for region-specific matters 
to be addressed. 

 

Funding  

28. SDC generally endorses the issues raised and recommendations sought in respect of funding and 
resourcing in the LGNZ submission. In particular, SDC considers that: 
 

a. the NBE lacks sufficient direction or clarity as to how funding contributions for the RPC are to be 
agreed. Currently, the NBE requires that all of the local authorities in the region “jointly fund” the 
RPCs and the secretariat. Where there are multiple local authorities, these authorities must work 
together in “good faith” to agree the amount of funding to be provided to the RPC, and the share 
of the funding to be provided by each authority. However, there is no further guidance beyond 
this. For example, the NBE provides for a process for determining a funding dispute, however 
does not specify factors to be considered in determining such a dispute which provides authorities 
with a lack of guidance and certainty; 

b. the NBE should include matters for consideration when authorities are agreeing funding 
contributions and/or when a Minister’s appointee is making decisions on funding disputes; and 

c. central government should fund the reform and transition process, in particular funding for 
meaningful iwi and hapū engagement.  

29. SDC considers that such clarifications would provide more certainty and direction for local authorities. 

Recommendations 

30. Retain or strengthen 3(d) of Schedule 8 of the NBE, regarding the consideration of the populations of 
local authorities and key legislative responsibilities in determining membership of the RPC. 
 

31. Amendment of the NBE to provide further clarity regarding the appointment and operation of the host 
authority and secretariat. 
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32. Amendment of the NBE to provide further clarity regarding the agreement of funding contributions for 
the RPC, including: 

 
a. The minimum matters for consideration when authorities are agreeing funding contributions; 

b. the factors to be considered by a Minister’s appointee in determining a funding dispute; 

c. The provision of more central government funding for the reform and transition process, particularly 
in regards to iwi and hapū participation.  

NBE System Outcomes 

33. SDC generally supports the inclusion and move towards to the provision of system outcomes (as set 
out in clause 5 of the NBE). 
 

34. SDC supports the inclusion of system outcomes that provide for increased recognition of matters 
compared to the RMA – in particular, climate change, natural hazards and infrastructure outcomes.  
 

35. However, SDC considers that the system outcomes contained in the NBE do not provide sufficient 
direction regarding urban development outcomes, noting that clause 5(c) of the NBE provides for a 
combined system outcome of “well-functioning urban and rural areas”. As a consequence of the removal 
of the reference to amenity values and the need to favour “caution” proportionate to the level of 
environmental protection (the new decision making principle in clause 6(2)), unpacking what constitutes 
a “well-functioning urban area” will be challenging/up for debate. SDC considers that more direction is 
required within the system outcomes to support well-functioning urban development outcomes.  

 

36. SDC understands from the NBE’s explanatory text that the NPF is intended to provide further direction 
on each system outcome. SDC therefore acknowledges that the above suggested urban development 
direction could alternatively be included in the NPF. However, as set out below, as the NPF is not 
currently available for review, SDC is unable to confirm whether the further direction in the NPF will 
address SDC ’s concerns regarding the lack of a comprehensive urban development system outcome. 
 

37. SDC also endorse LGNZ’s draft submission that there is a lack of direction or guidance in the NBE 
about how competing or conflicting outcomes will be managed. SDC understands that the NPF will 
provide further guidance on weighting of competing outcomes and national direction, however until the 
NPF does so, it is difficult to determine whether the Bill’s system outcomes will be able to be effectively 
achieved.  
 

38. SDC agrees with LGNZ’s submission point that key conflicts should, if possible, be resolved in the NBE 
to ensure certainty, or at the least not left to the RPC and NBE plans (where these are national-level 
conflicts and not regional conflicts). Accordingly, we also agree that some flexibility should be retained 
to address local issues. SDC considers that if weighting guidance and direction is to be addressed in 
the NPF, then this strengthens the need for enhanced local authority involvement in the development 
of the NPF as discussed elsewhere within this submission. 

Recommendations 

39. Amendment of the NBE to include a standalone and more comprehensive urban development outcome, 
with further direction addressing the following matters: 
 

a. Development occurs in a cohesive, compact and structured way; 
b. Well-functioning urban form that provides for connected, liveable communities; 
c. Recognition that existing urban environments may change over time; 
d. Recognition that development enables greater productivity and economic growth and social and 

cultural vitality; 
e. Development meets the community’s short, medium and long-term housing needs; 
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f. The provision of a variety of housing types, sizes and tenures in quality living environments to 
meet the community’s diverse social and economic housing needs; 

g. Well-designed, liveable, connected, accessible and safe spaces for the community to live, work 
and play; 

h. Recognition of the local context and character of an area. 
 
40. Further direction be included in the NBE regarding the resolution of conflicts between and the weighting 

of system outcomes.  

Local community voice and input 

41. SDC considers that the role and voice of Territorial Local Authorities (TLAs) in the proposed plan making 
process has been significantly reduced. TLAs are best placed to understand the unique challenges and 
opportunities within their districts, and accordingly should have a stronger role in plan making.   
 

42. TLAs will also be responsible for funding and implementing the plans made under the new system, and 
accordingly should have an enhanced role in the plan making process. 
 

43. Fundamentally, SDC is concerned that there will be a loss of good community outcomes if planning 
decisions are centralized, and the role of TLAs and planners is reduced.  It would also serve to 
exacerbate the status quo whereby well-resourced submitters influence policy direction that may not 
address localised key resource management issues or reflect community aspirations. Planning is a 
multi-disciplinary profession and successful planning and implementation requires interaction between 
various arms and departments of local government, a function often provided by planners.  
 

44. As such, SDC considers that the proposed changes to plan making may result in system inefficiencies 
based on the reality of local government structures and the interaction and multi-disciplinary approach 
required to implement plans.  
 

45. SDC supports further involvement of TLAs in the process. 

Statement of Community Outcomes (SCOs) 

46. SDC generally supports the intent of SCOs (as captured by clause 107 and clause 14, Schedule 7 of 
the NBE and clause 24 of the SPB).  
 

47. It is noted that Councils already develop Community Outcomes under the Local Government Act that 
support the strategic framework of Councils.  Recognition and alignment of this requirement is 
requirement to ensure community outcomes developed under the LGA and RM reform are aligned and 
fit for purpose. 
 

48. However, SDC is concerned that insufficient weight is placed on SCOs to ensure that they are an 
effective and meaningful mechanism for TLAs to contribute to plan making. 
 

49. SDC considers that more clarity regarding the process, form and content of SCOs would be beneficial 
for local authorities and would create greater efficiencies in the planning processes under the Bills.  

 
50. SDC agrees with LGNZ/s submission that the scope of SCOs is currently too weak and supports any 

further amendment to clarify and strengthen the scope and purpose of SCOs.  Currently SCOs are 
intended to provide a summary of “the views of a district or local community” – SDC considers that this 
purpose is too high level. SDC encourages the amendment of the scope of SCOs to enable district 
councils to prescribe particular local matters or rules within plans.  
 

51. SDC supports LGNZ’s recommendation that the Bills be amended to require RPC’s to “give effect” to 
SCOs, or alternatively at least a greater weighting than “have particular regard to”. SCOs are the primary 
mechanism for councils to influence RPC planning decisions, and accordingly they should carry 
sufficient weight to ensure that there is appropriate local input into plan making.  
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IHP recommendations 

52. SDC shares the concern with LGNZ that there is only a limited substantial role for local government in 
the Independent Hearing Panel process (IHP) (as a submitter). Accordingly, SDC supports any 
amendment that would enable enhanced local government input into the IHP process. 

 
53. The LGNZ draft submission also recommends that the Independent Hearings Panel be required to 

ensure that their recommendations “give effect” to, or alternatively, are “not inconsistent with” SCOs. 
SDC supports this recommendation. As set out above, SDC does not consider that SCOs are provided 
with sufficient weight, as one of the primary mechanisms for territorial authority input into plan making. 

 
54. SDC would also support and encourage an amendment to the NBE to require the RPC to seek advice 

from affected councils on any decision to accept or reject an IHP recommendation, and the provision of 
reasoning where the RPC does not adopt any comments or advice received from councils.  

Recommendations 

55. Amendment of the scope and purpose of SCOs to provide further direction and weight to these 
documents.  
 

56. The amendment of the NBE to require RPC’s to “give effect” to SCOs, or alternatively a weighting 
greater than “have particular regard to” in preparing RSS’ and NBE plans. 
 

57. The amendment of the NBE to require IHPs to ensure their decisions “give effect to”, or alternatively 
“are not inconsistent with” SCOs. 
 

58. The amendment of the NBE requiring RPCs to seek advice from affected local authorities on any 
decision to accept or reject an IHP recommendation, and where the RPC does not adopt such advice, 
reasoning to be provided for this.  

 
59. For clarity, SDC supports any other recommendations made by other submitters that provide for greater 

local authority and territorial authority input into the plan making process for the NBE and RSS, and any 
other high order documents under the new system.  

Spatial planning and RSS process 

60. SDC is generally supportive of regional spatial planning and the intent of the RSS (subject to the points 
raised in this submission).  The Spatial Planning requirements will be of substantial benefit to areas 
such as Taranaki that have not under taken region wide spatial planning. 

RSS planning process 

61. SDC is concerned that while Schedule 4 of the SP sets out the “key process steps” to be taken in 
preparing an RSS, clause 30 provides the RPC with the ability to adopt its own preparation process.  

 
62. SDC is concerned that there is insufficient TLA input into the development of the RSS. Accordingly, 

SDC is supportive of any amendments that provide more mandatory TLA input/consideration of local 
authority’s position in the “key process steps”. SDC considers that the need for more local authority 
input is strengthened by the fact that there are no appeal rights once an RSS is adopted.  
 

63. This position is intensified by the fact that the RSS process does not have to include hearings (clause 
35 states that the processed may include hearings). Clause 28 however requires that the RPC ensure 
that the RSS is based on robust and reliable evidence and other information that is proportionate to the 
level of detail required in the particular context. SDC is concerned that the failure to require hearings, 
or at least the opportunity for interested parties to be heard, limits the ability to ensure that the RSS is 
based on robust and reliable evidence. Further, SDC acknowledges that the RSS does not include 
appeal rights, including for interested parties. SDC considers that this strengthens the need for more 
meaningful and integrated local authority involvement in the RSS process.  
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64. There is a need for alignment of the Spatial Planning Bill with the Local Government Act to ensure that 

there is a clear distinction between statutory requirements.  The Spatial Planning Bill’s amendment to 
Section 76AA of the Local Government Act is misplaced. The effect of it is that Councils can only consult 
on issues with the public on the options that are consistent with the Regional Spatial Strategy. However, 
it does not mean that Councils can only choose from options consistent with the Regional Spatial 
Strategy. This means Council’s would be consulting on only a subset of options that they can determine 
from.  
 

65. Consequently Sections 77 and 79 also need to have similar amendments to ensure that Council’s only 
consider options consistent with the Regional Spatial Strategy. 

Recommendations 

66. The “key process steps” in Schedule 4 of the SP be amended to include more local authority input.  
 

67. The amendment of the NBE to require RPC’s to “give effect” to SCOs, or alternatively a weighting 
greater than “have particular regard to” in preparing RSS’. 
 

68. That there is better alignment between the Local Government Act and SP Bill. 

National Planning Framework (“NPF”) 

69. SDC supports the LGNZ submission seeking a co-design process for the NPF with local government. 
Given the importance of the NPF, and that it will inform all further planning documents, SDC consider 
that it is vital that there is enhanced local authorities in the development of the NPF, to ensure that good 
community outcomes are achieved. 
 

70. SDC understands that as drafted, the responsible Minister must engage with “individuals or 
organisations that the Minister considers representative of the local government sector” before 
notification of an NPF proposal. SDC considers that the extent of the engagement and who will be 
engaged is unclear. SDC submits that all local authorities in the relevant region must be engaged with 
in the pre-notification stage and that the Bill provide further clarity regarding what that engagement looks 
like and to ensure that the engagement is meaningful.  

Recommendations 

71. Amendment of the NPF process to provide more opportunities for local authorities to contribute to the 
preparation of the NPF.  
 

72. Amendment of the NBE to require engagement with local authorities in the pre-notification stage and 
further clarity and direction regarding that engagement.  

Consenting 

73. SDC has not submitted in detail on the proposed consenting regime. However, SDC supports proposals 
for efficient and effective consenting processes.  SDC also wishes to record its concern with the 
requirement that TLAs have as a consent authority and in implementing, administering and enforcing 
plans which have limited input from TLAs (noting in particular the requirement of clause 645 of the NBE 
to implement and administer the committee’s plan and regional spatial strategy).  
 

74. As set out throughout this submission, SDC considers that good community outcomes are achieved 
when plans have sufficient TLA and community input. SDC is concerned that the implementation of the 
consenting regime may provide difficulties where there is limited meaningful TLA input into plans which 
may result in a disconnection between the plan making and consenting/implementation functions of 
local government. Accordingly, SDC reiterates its submissions and recommendations set out above 
which request more mandatory TLA input into plan making.  
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Preface

Last year’s Global Risks Report warned that a 
divergent economic recovery from the COVID-19 
pandemic risked deepening divisions at a time 
when collaboration was urgently required to address 
looming global challenges. Yet despite hard-learned 
lessons around the interdependence of global risks, 
few would have anticipated the extent of instability 
that would soon unfold, this time driven by a new war 
in Europe. 

The health and economic aftereffects of the pandemic 
have quickly spiraled into compounding crises. 
Carbon emissions have climbed, as the post-
pandemic global economy fired back up. Food and 
energy have become weaponized by the war in 
Ukraine, sending inflation soaring to levels not seen in 
decades, globalizing a cost-of-living crisis and fueling 
social unrest. The resulting shift in monetary policy 
marks the end of an economic era defined by easy 
access to cheap debt and will have vast ramifications 
for governments, companies and individuals, widening 
inequality within and between countries.

As the conflict between Russia and Ukraine 
approaches one year, economies and societies 
will not easily rebound from continued shocks. In 
this year’s Global Risks Perception Survey, more 
than four in five respondents anticipated consistent 
volatility over the next two years. The persistence 
of these crises is already reshaping the world that 
we live in, ushering in economic and technological 
fragmentation. A continued push for national resilience 
in strategic sectors will come at a cost – one that only 
a few economies can bear. Geopolitical dynamics 
are also creating significant headwinds for global 
cooperation, which often acts as a guardrail to these 
global risks. 

The 18th edition of the Global Risks Report considers 
this backdrop of simmering geopolitical tensions 
and confluence of socioeconomic risks. It identifies 
the most severe perceived risks to economies 
and societies over the next two years. The world's 
collective focus is being channeled into the “survival” 
of today’s crises: cost of living, social and political 
polarization, food and energy supplies, tepid growth, 
and geopolitical confrontation, among others.

Yet much-needed attention and resources are being 
diverted from newly emerging or rapidly accelerating 
risks to natural ecosystems, human health, security, 
digital rights and economic stability that could 
become crises and catastrophes in the next decade. 
A low-growth, low-investment and low-cooperation 
era further undermines resilience and the ability to 
manage future shocks. In recognition of growing 
complexity and uncertainty, the report also explores 
connections between these risks. The analysis 
focuses on a potential "polycrisis", relating to 
shortages in natural resources such as food, water, 
and metals and minerals, illustrating the associated 
socioeconomic and environmental fall-out through a 
set of potential futures. 

The report is underpinned by our annual Global 
Risks Perception Survey, which brings together 
leading insights from over 1,200 experts across the 
World Economic Forum’s diverse network. It draws 
on the collective intelligence of the world’s foremost 
risk experts, including the Global Risks Advisory 
Board and the Chief Risk Officers Community, as 
well as thematic experts from academia, business, 
government, the international community and 
civil society. The report has also benefited greatly 
from the expertise of the World Economic Forum’s 
platforms, which work daily to drive tangible, 
system-positive change for the long term. We are 
deeply grateful to our long-standing partners in the 
report’s development: Marsh McLennan and Zurich 
Insurance Group. 

The 2023 edition of the Global Risks Report 
highlights the multiple areas where the world is 
at a critical inflection point. It is a call to action, to 
collectively prepare for the next crisis the world may 
face and, in doing so, shape a pathway to a more 
stable, resilient world. 

Saadia Zahidi  
Managing Director
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The Global Risks Perception Survey (GRPS) has 
underpinned the Global Risks Report for nearly two 
decades and is the World Economic Forum’s premier 
source of original global risks data. This year’s 
GRPS has brought together leading insights on the 
evolving global risks landscape from over 1,200 
experts across academia, business, government, the 
international community and civil society. Responses 
for the GRPS 2022-2023 were collected from 7 
September to 5 October 2022. 

“Global risk” is defined as the possibility of the 
occurrence of an event or condition which, if it 
occurs, would negatively impact a significant 
proportion of global GDP, population or natural 
resources. The GRPS 2022-2023 included the 
following components: 

•	 	Outlook invited respondents to predict global 
volatility to provide context to the evolution of the 
global risks landscape.

•	 Severity assessed the perceived likely impact 
of global risks over a one-, two- and 10-year 
horizon, to illustrate the potential development of 
individual global risks over time.

•	 Consequences asked respondents to consider 
potential impacts of a risk arising, to highlight 
relationships between global risks and the 
potential for compounding crises.

•	 Risk preparedness and governance invited 
respondents to assess the current effectiveness 
of the management of global risks and reflect on 
which stakeholders are best placed to effectively 
manage them, to elicit opportunities for global 
action and collaboration. 

•	 Qualitative questions on risks sourced expert 
knowledge to identify new and emerging risks. 

Refer to Appendix A: Technical Notes: Global 
Risks Perception Survey 2022-2023 for more 
detail, including relevant definitions for each of the 32 
global risks.

To complement GRPS data on global risks, the 
report also draws on the World Economic Forum’s 
Executive Opinion Survey (EOS) to identify risks 
that pose the most severe threat to each country 
over the next two years, as identified by over 
12,000 business leaders in 121 economies. When 
considered in context with the GRPS, this data 
provides insight into local concerns and priorities 
and points to potential “hot spots” and regional 
manifestations of global risks. Refer to Appendix 
B: Executive Opinion Survey: National Risk 
Perceptions for more detail.

Finally, the report integrates the views of leading 
experts to generate foresight and to support 
analysis of the survey data. The Global Risks Report 
harnesses contributions from over 40 colleagues 
across the World Economic Forum’s platforms. 
Qualitative insights were also collected from over 
50 experts from across academia, business, 
government, the international community and 
civil society through community meetings, private 
interviews and thematic workshops conducted from 
July to November 2022. These include the Global 
Risks Advisory Board and the Chief Risks Officers 
Community. Refer to Contributors for more detail. 

Overview of 
methodology
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The first years of this decade have heralded a 
particularly disruptive period in human history. The 
return to a “new normal” following the COVID-19 
pandemic was quickly disrupted by the outbreak of 
war in Ukraine, ushering in a fresh series of crises in 
food and energy – triggering problems that decades 
of progress had sought to solve. 

As 2023 begins, the world is facing a set of risks 
that feel both wholly new and eerily familiar. We have 
seen a return of “older” risks – inflation, cost-of-living 
crises, trade wars, capital outflows from emerging 
markets, widespread social unrest, geopolitical 
confrontation and the spectre of nuclear warfare – 
which few of this generation’s business leaders and 
public policy-makers have experienced. These are 
being amplified by comparatively new developments 
in the global risks landscape, including unsustainable 
levels of debt, a new era of low growth, low global 
investment and de-globalization, a decline in human 

development after decades of progress,  rapid and 
unconstrained development of dual-use (civilian and 
military) technologies, and the growing pressure of 
climate change impacts and ambitions in an ever-
shrinking window for transition to a 1.5°C world. 
Together, these are converging to shape a unique, 
uncertain and turbulent decade to come. 

The Global Risks Report 2023 presents the results 
of the latest Global Risks Perception Survey (GRPS). 
We use three time frames for understanding global 
risks. Chapter 1 considers the mounting impact of 
current crises (i.e. global risks which are already 
unfolding) on the most severe global risks that many 
expect to play out over the short term (two years). 
Chapter 2 considers a selection of risks that are 
likely to be most severe in the long term (10 years), 
exploring newly emerging or rapidly accelerating 
economic, environmental, societal, geopolitical and 
technological risks that could become tomorrow’s 

Executive Summary

Global risks ranked by severity over the short and long termF I G U R E  A

Source

World Economic Forum Global Risks
Perception Survey 2022-2023.

1

2
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4

5

6

7

8

9

10

Risk categories Economic Environmental Geopolitical Societal Technological

2 years 10 years

Failure to mitigate climate change

Failure of climate-change adaptation

Natural disasters and extreme weather
events

Biodiversity loss and ecosystem collapse

Large-scale involuntary migration

Natural resource crises

Erosion of social cohesion and societal
polarization

Widespread cybercrime and cyber insecurity

Geoeconomic confrontation

Large-scale environmental damage
incidents

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

Cost-of-living crisis

Natural disasters and extreme weather
events 

Geoeconomic confrontation

Failure to mitigate climate change

Erosion of social cohesion and societal
polarization

Large-scale environmental damage
incidents

Failure of climate change adaptation

Widespread cybercrime and cyber insecurity

Natural resource crises

Large-scale involuntary migration

"Please estimate the likely impact (severity) of the following risks over a 2-year and 10-year period"
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crises. Chapter 3 imagines mid-term futures, 
exploring how connections between the emerging 
risks outlined in previous sections may collectively 
evolve into a “polycrisis” centred around natural 
resource shortages by 2030. The report concludes 
by considering perceptions of the comparative state 
of preparedness for these risks and highlighting 
enablers to charting a course to a more resilient 
world. Below are key findings of the report. 

Cost of living dominates global 
risks in the next two years while 
climate action failure dominates 
the next decade

The next decade will be characterized by 
environmental and societal crises, driven by 
underlying geopolitical and economic trends. “Cost-
of-living crisis” is ranked as the most severe global 
risk over the next two years, peaking in the short 
term. “Biodiversity loss and ecosystem collapse” 
is viewed as one of the fastest deteriorating global 
risks over the next decade, and all six environmental 
risks feature in the top 10 risks over the next 10 
years. Nine risks are featured in the top 10 rankings 
over both the short and the long term, including 
“Geoeconomic confrontation” and “Erosion 
of social cohesion and societal polarisation”, 
alongside two new entrants to the top rankings: 
“Widespread cybercrime and cyber insecurity” 
and “Large-scale involuntary migration”.

As an economic era ends, the 
next will bring more risks of  
stagnation, divergence and  
distress

The economic aftereffects of COVID-19 and the war 
in Ukraine have ushered in skyrocketing inflation, a 
rapid normalization of monetary policies and started 
a low-growth, low-investment era.

Governments and central banks could face stubborn 
inflationary pressures over the next two years, not 
least given the potential for a prolonged war in 
Ukraine, continued bottlenecks from a lingering 
pandemic, and economic warfare spurring supply 
chain decoupling. Downside risks to the economic 
outlook also loom large. A miscalibration between 
monetary and fiscal policies will raise the likelihood 
of liquidity shocks, signaling a more prolonged 
economic downturn and debt distress on a global 
scale. Continued supply-driven inflation could lead 
to stagflation, the socioeconomic consequences 
of which could be severe, given an unprecedented 
interaction with historically high levels of public 
debt. Global economic fragmentation, geopolitical 
tensions and rockier restructuring could contribute to 
widespread debt distress in the next 10 years.

Even if some economies experience a softer-than-
expected economic landing, the end of the low 
interest rate era will have significant ramifications 
for governments, businesses and individuals. The 
knock-on effects will be felt most acutely by the 
most vulnerable parts of society and already-fragile 
states, contributing to rising poverty, hunger, violent 
protests, political instability and even state collapse. 
Economic pressures will also erode gains made by 
middle-income households, spurring discontent, 
political polarization and calls for enhanced 
social protections in countries across the world. 
Governments will continue to face a dangerous 
balancing act between protecting a broad swathe of 
their citizens from an elongated cost-of-living crisis 
without embedding inflation – and meeting debt 
servicing costs as revenues come under pressure 
from an economic downturn, an increasingly urgent 
transition to new energy systems, and a less 
stable geopolitical environment. The resulting new 
economic era may be one of growing divergence 
between rich and poor countries and the first 
rollback in human development in decades.

Geopolitical fragmentation will drive 
geoeconomic warfare and heighten 
the risk of multi-domain conflicts

Economic warfare is becoming the norm, with 
increasing clashes between global powers and state 
intervention in markets over the next two years. 
Economic policies will be used defensively, to build 
self-sufficiency and sovereignty from rival powers, 
but also will increasingly be deployed offensively to 
constrain the rise of others. Intensive geoeconomic 
weaponization will highlight security vulnerabilities 
posed by trade, financial and technological 
interdependence between globally integrated 
economies, risking an escalating cycle of distrust 
and decoupling. As geopolitics trumps economics, 
a longer-term rise in inefficient production and rising 
prices becomes more likely. Geographic hotspots 
that are critical to the effective functioning of the 
global financial and economic system, in particular in 
the Asia-Pacific, also pose a growing concern. 
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Interstate confrontations are anticipated by GRPS 
respondents to remain largely economic in nature 
over the next 10 years. However, the recent uptick 
in military expenditure and proliferation of new 
technologies to a wider range of actors could 
drive a global arms race in emerging technologies. 
The longer-term global risks landscape could be 
defined by multi-domain conflicts and asymmetric 
warfare, with the targeted deployment of new-tech 
weaponry on a potentially more destructive scale 
than seen in recent decades. Transnational arms 
control mechanisms must quickly adapt to this new 
security context, to strengthen the shared moral, 
reputational and political costs that act as a deterrent 
to accidental and intentional escalation. 

Technology will exacerbate  
inequalities while risks from  
cybersecurity will remain a  
constant concern

The technology sector will be among the central 
targets of stronger industrial policies and enhanced 
state intervention. Spurred by state aid and military 
expenditure, as well as private investment, research 
and development into emerging technologies will 
continue at pace over the next decade, yielding 
advancements in AI, quantum computing and 
biotechnology, among other technologies. For 
countries that can afford it, these technologies will 
provide partial solutions to a range of emerging 
crises, from addressing new health threats and a 
crunch in healthcare capacity to scaling food security 
and climate mitigation. For those that cannot, 
inequality and divergence will grow. In all economies, 
these technologies also bring risks, from widening 
misinformation and disinformation to unmanageably 
rapid churn in both blue- and white-collar jobs. 

However, the rapid development and deployment 
of new technologies, which often comes with 
limited protocols governing their use, poses its 
own set of risks. The ever-increasing intertwining 
of technologies with the critical functioning of 
societies is exposing populations to direct domestic 
threats, including those that seek to shatter 
societal functioning. Alongside a rise in cybercrime, 
attempts to disrupt critical technology-enabled 
resources and services will become more common, 
with attacks anticipated against agriculture and 
water, financial systems, public security, transport, 
energy and domestic, space-based and undersea 
communication infrastructure. Technological risks 
are not solely limited to rogue actors. Sophisticated 
analysis of larger data sets will enable the misuse 
of personal information through legitimate legal 
mechanisms, weakening individual digital sovereignty 
and the right to privacy, even in well-regulated, 
democratic regimes.

Climate mitigation and climate  
adaptation efforts are set up for a 
risky trade-off, while nature 
collapses

Climate and environmental risks are the core focus of 
global risks perceptions over the next decade – and 
are the risks for which we are seen to be the least 
prepared. The lack of deep, concerted progress on 
climate targets has exposed the divergence between 
what is scientifically necessary to achieve net zero 
and what is politically feasible. Growing demands 
on public-and private-sector resources from other 
crises will reduce the speed and scale of mitigation 
efforts over the next two years, alongside insufficient 
progress towards the adaptation support required 
for those communities and countries increasingly 
affected by the impacts of climate change. 

As current crises diverts resources from risks arising 
over the medium to longer term, the burdens 
on natural ecosystems will grow given their still 
undervalued role in the global economy and overall 
planetary health. Nature loss and climate change 
are intrinsically interlinked – a failure in one sphere 
will cascade into the other. Without significant policy 
change or investment, the interplay between climate 
change impacts, biodiversity loss, food security 
and natural resource consumption will accelerate 
ecosystem collapse, threaten food supplies and 
livelihoods in climate-vulnerable economies, amplify 
the impacts of natural disasters, and limit further 
progress on climate mitigation. 
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Food, fuel and cost crises  
exacerbate societal vulnerabilities 
while declining investments in 
human development erode future 
resilience

Compounding crises are widening their impact across 
societies, hitting the livelihoods of a far broader 
section of the population, and destabilizing more 
economies in the world, than traditionally vulnerable 
communities and fragile states. Building on the most 
severe risks expected to impact in 2023 – including 
“Energy supply crisis”, “Rising inflation” and 
“Food supply crisis” – a global Cost-of-living crisis 
is already being felt. Economic impacts have been 
cushioned by countries that can afford it, but many 
lower-income countries are facing multiple crises: 
debt, climate change and food security. Continued 
supply-side pressures risk turning the current cost-of-
living crisis into a wider humanitarian crisis within the 
next two years in many import-dependent markets. 

Associated social unrest and political instability will 
not be contained to emerging markets, as economic 
pressures continue to hollow out the middle-income 
bracket. Mounting citizen frustration at losses in 
human development and declining social mobility, 
together with a widening gap in values and equality, 
are posing an existential challenge to political systems 
around the world. The election of less centrist leaders 
as well as political polarization between economic 
superpowers over the next two years may also reduce 
space further for collective problem-solving, fracturing 
alliances and leading to a more volatile dynamic. 

With a crunch in public-sector funding and competing 
security concerns, our capacity to absorb the next 

global shock is shrinking. Over the next 10 years, 
fewer countries will have the fiscal headroom to invest 
in future growth, green technologies, education, 
care and health systems. The slow decay of public 
infrastructure and services in both developing and 
advanced markets may be relatively subtle, but 
accumulating impacts will be highly corrosive to the 
strength of human capital and development – a critical 
mitigant to other global risks faced. 

As volatility in multiple domains 
grows in parallel, the risk of  
polycrises accelerates 

Concurrent shocks, deeply interconnected risks 
and eroding resilience are giving rise to the risk of 
polycrises – where disparate crises interact such 
that the overall impact far exceeds the sum of each 
part. Eroding geopolitical cooperation will have ripple 
effects across the global risks landscape over the 
medium term, including contributing to a potential 
polycrisis of interrelated environmental, geopolitical 
and socioeconomic risks relating to the supply of and 
demand for natural resources. 

The report describes four potential futures centred 
around food, water and metals and mineral shortages, 
all of which could spark a humanitarian as well as an 
ecological crisis – from water wars and famines to 
continued overexploitation of ecological resources 
and a slowdown in climate mitigation and adaption. 
Given uncertain relationships between global risks, 
similar foresight exercises can help anticipate potential 
connections, directing preparedness measures 
towards minimizing the scale and scope of polycrises 
before they arise. 

Source

World Economic Forum, Global Risks
Perception Survey 2022-2023.

Short- and long-term global outlookF I G U R E  B

2 years 13% 69% 14%

2% 2%

10 years

Progressive tipping points and persistent crises leading to catastrophic outcomes

Consistently volatile across economies and industries with multiple shocks accentuating divergent trajectories

Slightly volatile with occasional localised surprises

Limited volatility with relative stability

Renewed stability with a revival of global resilience

20% 34% 26% 11% 9%

"Which of the following best characterizes your outlook for the world over the short-term (2 years) and longer-term (10 years)?
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In the years to come, as continued, concurrent 
crises embed structural changes to the economic 
and geopolitical landscape, they accelerate the 
other risks that we face. More than four in five 
GRPS respondents anticipate consistent volatility 
over the next two years at a minimum, with multiple 
shocks accentuating divergent trajectories. However, 
respondents are generally more optimistic over 
the longer term. Just over one-half of respondents 
anticipate a negative outlook, and nearly one in five 
respondents predict limited volatility with relative – and 
potentially renewed – stability in the next 10 years.

Indeed, there is still a window to shape a more 
secure future through more effective preparedness. 
Addressing the erosion of trust in multilateral 
processes will enhance our collective ability to 
prevent and respond to emerging cross-border 
crises and strengthen the guardrails we have in 
place to address well-established risks. In addition, 

leveraging the interconnectivity between global 
risks can broaden the impact of risk mitigation 
activities – shoring up resilience in one area can 
have a multiplier effect on overall preparedness for 
other related risks. As a deteriorating economic 
outlook brings tougher trade-offs for governments 
facing competing social, environmental and security 
concerns, investment in resilience must focus on 
solutions that address multiple risks, such as funding 
of adaptation measures that come with climate 
mitigation co-benefits, or investment in areas that 
strengthen human capital and development.

Some of the risks described in this year’s report are 
close to a tipping point. This is the moment to act 
collectively, decisively and with a long-term lens to 
shape a pathway to a more positive, inclusive and 
stable world.
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Currently manifesting risksF I G U R E  D

Source

World Economic Forum Global Risks
Perception Survey 2022-2023.

“Please rank the top 5 currently manifesting risks in order of how severe you believe their impact will be on a global level in 2023”
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Global risks ranked by severityF I G U R E  E

Source

World Economic Forum Global Risks
Perception Survey 2022-2023.
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Global Risks 2023: 
Today’s Crisis

1

With the global landscape dominated by manifesting 
risks, we introduce this year three time frames for 
understanding global risks: 1) current crises (i.e. 
global risks which are already unfolding), 2) risks 

that are likely to be most severe in two years, 
and 3) risks that are likely to be most severe in 10 
years. This chapter address the outlook for the 
first two time frames. Most respondents to the 

Current crises1.1
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Currently manifesting risksF I G U R E  1 . 1

Source

World Economic Forum Global Risks
Perception Survey 2022-2023.
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Structural failures
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Risk categories Economic Environmental Geopolitical Societal Technological

“Please rank the top 5 currently manifesting risks in order of how severe you believe their impact will be on a global level in 2023”

Today's CrisisGlobal Risks Report 2023January 2023
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2022-2023 Global Risks Perception Survey (GRPS) 
chose “Energy supply crisis”; “Cost-of-living 
crisis”; “Rising inflation”; “Food supply crisis” 
and “Cyberattacks on critical infrastructure” 
as among the top risks for 2023 with the greatest 
potential impact on a global scale (Figure 1.1). 
Those that are outside the top 5 for the year but 
remain concerns include: failure to meet net-
zero targets; weaponization of economic policy; 
weakening of human rights; a debt crisis; and failure 
of non-food supply chains.

News headlines all over the world make these 
results largely unsurprising. Yet their implications 
are profound. Our global “new normal” is a return 
to basics – food, energy, security – problems our 
globalized world was thought to be on a trajectory 
to solve. These risks are being amplified by the 
persistent health and economic overhang of a 
global pandemic; a war in Europe and sanctions 
that impact a globally integrated economy; and an 
escalating technological arms race underpinned 
by industrial competition and enhanced state 
intervention. Longer-term structural changes to 

geopolitical dynamics – with the diffusion of power 
across countries of differing political and economic 
systems – are coinciding with a more rapidly 
changing economic landscape, ushering in a low-
growth, low-investment and low-cooperation era 
and a potential decline in human development after 
decades of progress.

The result is a global risks landscape that feels both 
wholly new and eerily familiar. There is a return of 
“older” risks that are understood historically but 
experienced by few in the current generations 
of business leaders and public policy-makers. In 
addition, there are relatively new developments 
in the global risk landscape. These include 
widespread, historically high levels of public and 
in some cases private-sector debt; the ever more 
rapid pace of technological development and 
its unprecedented intertwining with the critical 
functioning of societies; and the growing pressure 
of climate change impacts and ambitions in an ever-
shorter time frame for transition. Together, these 
are converging to shape a unique, uncertain and 
turbulent 2020s.

The path to 20251.2

The complex and rapid evolution of the global risks 
landscape is adding to a sense of unease. More than 
four in five GRPS respondents anticipated consistent 
volatility over the next two years at a minimum, with 
multiple shocks accentuating divergent trajectories 
(Figure 1.10). 

Respondents to the GRPS see the path to 2025 
dominated by social and environmental risks,  
driven by underlying geopolitical and economic 
trends (Figure 1.2). 

There were some notable differences between the 
responses of government and business respondents, 
with “Debt crises”, “Failure to stabilize price 
trajectories”, “Failure to mitigate climate change” 
and “Failure of climate change adaptation” 
featuring more prominently for governments, and 
“Widespread cybercrime and cyber insecurity” and 
“Large-scale environmental damage incidents” 
featuring higher for business (Figure 1.3). 

The following sections explore the most severe 

1 Cost-of-living crisis

2 Natural disasters and extreme weather
events 

3 Geoeconomic confrontation

4 Failure to mitigate climate change

5 Erosion of social cohesion and societal
polarization

6 Large-scale environmental damage
incidents

7 Failure of climate change adaptation

8 Widespread cybercrime and cyber insecurity

9 Natural resource crises

10 Large-scale involuntary migration

Source

World Economic Forum Global Risks
Perception Survey 2022-2023.

Global risks ranked by severity over the short term (2 years)F I G U R E  1 . 2

Risk categories Economic Environmental Geopolitical Societal Technological
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Severity by stakeholder over the short term (2 years)F I G U R E  1 . 3

Source

World Economic Forum Global Risks
Perception Survey 2022-2023.
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Risk categories Economic Environmental Geopolitical Societal Technological

Government Business

global risks that many expect to play out over the 
next two years, within the context of the mounting 
impacts and constraints being imposed by the 
numerous crises felt today. These are: cost-of-living 
crisis, economic downturn, geoeconomic warfare, 
climate action hiatus and societal polarization. We 
describe current trends associated with each risk, 
briefly cover the reasons behind them and then note 
their emerging implications and knock-on effects. 

Cost-of-living crisis

Ranked as the most severe global risk over the next 
two years by GRPS respondents, a global Cost-of-
living crisis is already here, with inflationary pressures 
disproportionately hitting those that can least afford 
it. Even before the COVID-19 pandemic, the price 
of basic necessities – non-expendable items such 
as food and housing – were on the rise.1 Costs 
further increased in 2022, primarily due to continued 
disruptions in the flows of energy and food from 
Russia and Ukraine. To curb domestic prices, around 
30 countries introduced restrictions, including export 
bans, in food and energy last year, further driving 
up global inflation.2 Despite the latest extension, the 
looming threat of Russia pulling out of the Black Sea 
Grain Export Deal has also led to significant volatility in 
the price of essential commodities.

Although global supply chains have partly adapted, 
with pressures significantly lower than the peak 
experienced in April last year,3 price shocks to core 
necessities have significantly outpaced general 
inflation over this time (Figure 1.4). The FAO Price 
Index hit the highest level since its inception in 1990 
in March last year.4 Energy prices are estimated to 
remain 46% higher than average in 2023 relative 
to January 2022 projections.5 The relaxation of 
China's COVID-19 policies could drive up energy 
and commodity prices further - and will test the 
resilience of global supply chains if policy changes 
remain unpredictable as infections soar.

Cost-of-living crisis was broadly perceived by 
GRPS respondents to be a short-term risk, at peak 
severity within the next two years and easing off 
thereafter. But the persistence of a global cost-of-
living crisis could result in a growing proportion of 
the most vulnerable parts of society being priced out 
of access to basic needs, fueling unrest and political 
instability. Continued supply-chain disruptions 
could lead to sticky core inflation, particularly in 
food and energy. This could fuel further interest rate 
hikes, raising the risk of debt distress, a prolonged 
economic downturn and a vicious cycle for fiscal 
planning.

Despite some improvement during the pandemic, 
household debt has been on the rise in certain 
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Price hikes in basic necessities, 2020-2022F I G U R E  1 . 4
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economies. Global mortgage rates have reached their 
highest level in more than a decade. Some estimates 
suggest that the increase in rates amounts to a 35% 
increase in mortgage payments for homeowners.6 
Rent inflation has also followed suit – in the United 
States of America, it is estimated to peak at over 8% 
in May this year before easing,7 disproportionately 
affecting lower socioeconomic groups who are more 
likely to rent but least able to afford rental price hikes. 
Retirees will also be impacted as pensions fail to 
keep pace with higher inflation.8 Higher costs of food, 
energy and housing, causing lower real incomes, will 
result in trade-offs in essential spending, worsening 
health and wellbeing outcomes for communities.

Economic impacts are often cushioned by expansive 
fiscal policy and government programmes in 
countries that can afford them.9 Advanced economies 
continue to roll out measures, many of which have 
been broad-brush in approach – ranging from caps 
on electricity bills, fuel rebates and subsidized public 
transport tickets for consumers, to export controls 
on food, tax relief, enhanced state aid and support 
for affected companies. The resulting pressure on 
fiscal balances may exacerbate debt sustainability 

concerns, leaving emerging and developing countries 
with far less fiscal room to protect their populations in 
the future.

Both affordability and availability of basic necessities 
can stoke social and political instability. Last year, 
the increase in fuel prices alone led to protests in 
an estimated 92 countries, some of which resulted 
in political upheaval and fatalities, alongside strikes 
and industrial action.10 The impact of insecurity will 
continue to be felt most acutely in already vulnerable 
states – including Somalia, Sudan, South Sudan and 
the Syrian Arab Republic – but may also exacerbate 
instability in countries facing simultaneous food and 
debt crises, such as Tunisia, Ghana, Pakistan, Egypt 
and Lebanon.11

A combination of extreme weather events and 
constrained supply could lead the current cost-of-
living crisis into a catastrophic scenario of hunger 
and distress for millions in import-dependent 
countries or turn the energy crisis towards a 
humanitarian crisis in the poorest emerging markets. 
Energy shortages – as a result of supplier shut-
offs or natural, accidental or intentional damage 
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to pipelines and energy grids – could cause 
widespread blackouts and fatalities if combined with 
seasonal extreme weather. There is also a material 
possibility of a global food supply crisis occurring in 
2023, with the continuation of the war in Ukraine, 
the lagged effect of a price spike in fertilizer last year 
and the impact of extreme weather conditions on 
food production in key regions. Estimates suggest 
that over 800,000 hectares of farmland were wiped 
out by floods in Pakistan – increasing commodity 
prices significantly in a country that was already 
grappling with record 27% inflation.12 Predicted 
droughts and water shortages may cause a decline 
in harvests and livestock deaths across East Africa, 
North Africa and Southern Africa, exacerbating food 
insecurity.13

Although some regions anticipate above-average 
yields next year, unexpected production or 
transportation shocks in key exporters – including 
water shortages in the Netherlands and droughts 
and large-scale insect loss in the United States 
of America and Brazil14 – or controls imposed by 
these countries could further destabilize global 
food security, explored in Chapter 3: Resource 
Rivalries. “Severe commodity price shocks or 
volatility” was a top-five risk over the next two 
years in 47 countries surveyed by the Forum’s 
Executive Opinion Survey (EOS), while “Severe 
commodity supply crises” registered as a more 
localized risk, as a top-five concern across 34 
countries, including in Switzerland, South Korea, 
Singapore, Chile and Türkiye. The catastrophic 
effects of famine and loss of life can also have spill-
over effects further afield, as the risk of widespread 
violence grows and involuntary migration rises.

Economic downturn

Last year’s edition of the Global Risks Report 
warned that inflation, debt and interest rate rises 
were emerging risks. Today, governments and 
central banks – led by developed markets, notably 
the United States of America, Eurozone and the 
United Kingdom of Great Britain – are walking 
a tightrope between managing inflation without 
triggering a deep or prolonged recession, and 
protecting citizens from a cost-of-living crisis while 
servicing historically high debt loads. Public-sector 
respondents to the GRPS ranked Debt crises (#6), 
Failure to stabilise price trajectories (#8) and 
“Prolonged economic downturn” (#10) in the top 
10 risks over the next two years (Figure 1.3).

Managing inflation is a worldwide concern. “Rapid 
and / or sustained inflation” was also highlighted 
as a top-five risk over the next two years in 89 of 
the countries surveyed in the EOS, a significant 
increase from 2021 (Figure 1.5). It was ranked 
as the top threat in a number of G20 countries – 
including Brazil, South Korea and Mexico – although 
inflationary pressures have affected both developed 
and developing economies. Inflation rates rose 
above 80% in Argentina and Türkiye, while 
Zimbabwe, the Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela, 
Lebanon, the Syrian Arab Republic and Sudan 
witnessed triple-digit inflation. Inflation in the United 
States of America peaked above 9% in June last 
year and hit record highs in the United Kingdom of 
Great Britain and the Eurozone in October, at 11.1% 
and 10.6%, respectively, forcing interest rates higher 
and inflicting more pain on emerging economies.15

A. Failure to stabilize price trajectories, 2021 B. Rapid and / or sustained inflation, 2022

1 10 20 30

Rank

1 10 20 30

Rank

Source

World Economic Forum Executive Opinion Survey 2022.

F I G U R E  1 . 5 National risk perceptions: inflation
"Which five risks are the most likely to pose the biggest threat to your country in the next two years?"
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The IMF’s most recent projections anticipate a 
decline in global inflation from almost 9% in 2022 
to 6.5% this year and 4.1% in 2024, with a sharper 
disinflation in advanced economies.16 However, 
downside risks to the outlook loom large. The 
complexity of inflationary dynamics is creating a 
challenging policy environment for both the public 
sector and central banks, given the mix of demand 
and supply-side drivers, including a prolonged war 
in Ukraine and associated energy-supply crunch, 
potential for escalating sanctions, and continued 
bottlenecks from a lingering pandemic or new 
sources of supply-side controls. 

Given currently low headline unemployment in 
advanced economies, persistent price pressures will 
likely lead to higher interest rates to avoid inflation 
de-anchoring. Central banks have sped up the post-
pandemic normalization of monetary policy. Nearly 
90% (33 of 38) of central banks monitored by the 
Bank for International Settlements raised interest 
rates in 2022, a dramatic shift away from the loose 
financial conditions that characterized the previous 
decade.17 With a rapid rise in rates, the risk of 
unintended consequences and policy error is high, 
with possible overshoot leading to a deeper and 
more prolonged economic downturn and potential 
global recession. 

Even if the economic fallout remains comparatively 
contained, global growth is forecast to slow to 
2.7% in 2023, with around one-third of the world’s 
economy facing a technical recession – the third-
weakest growth profile in over 20 years.18  This 
downturn will be led by advanced markets, with 
projected growth falling to 1.1% in 2023, while the 
largest economies – the EU, China and the United 
States of America – face continued challenges to 
growth. However, for developing economies, there 
is a risk of further economic distress and tougher 
trade-offs. Stubbornly high inflation and more 
disorderly containment will raise the likelihood of 
stagnant economic growth, liquidity shocks and 
debt distress on a global scale. Energy importers in 
particular will bear the brunt of higher energy prices 
stemming from a strengthened US dollar, but its 
continued strength is importing inflation worldwide. 

Globalized capital flows over recent decades have 
increased exposure of emerging and developing 
markets to rising interest rates, especially those 
with a high proportion of USD-denominated debt, 
such as Argentina, Colombia and Indonesia.19 Early 
tightening of monetary policy in many markets – 
including Brazil, Mexico, Chile, Peru and Colombia – 
minimized initial exposure. But while some countries 
have resorted to foreign-exchange interventions 
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to limit currency depreciation and debt-servicing 
loads, heightened volatility continues to drive 
demand for US assets. This has led to record capital 
outflows from markets with weaker macroeconomic 
fundamentals, with investors already withdrawing 
$70 billion from emerging market bond funds by 
October last year.21 

Growth agendas, including the critical pivot to 
greener economies, have been based on the 
availability of cheap debt. The extent to which 
countries can continue to finance development 
will be dependent on domestic political and debt 
dynamics. Sri Lanka’s recent crisis provides a very 
real example of the spiraling risks to human security 
and health that can arise from economic distress, 
where a debt default and shortage in foreign 
currency limited imports; disrupted access to food, 
fuel, healthcare and electricity; and led to violent 
protests and the resignation of the President. 

The scale of sovereign debt defaults could 
significantly rise in weaker emerging markets over 
the next two years, in terms of both the percentage 
value of total global debt and number of states in 
default (Figure 1.6). Although unlikely under the 
current trajectory to reach globally destabilizing 
levels, the proportion of countries in or at high risk of 
debt distress has already doubled from 2015 levels.22 
This will increase the global influence of creditor 
nations and heighten state fragility as the capacity 
to address simultaneous crises in food and energy 
will be limited.23 Some countries will be unable to 
contain future shocks, invest in future growth and 

green technologies or build future resilience in 
education, healthcare and ecological systems, with 
impacts exacerbated by the most powerful and 
disproportionately borne by the most vulnerable, as 
explored in Chapter 2.6: Economic stability.

Geoeconomic warfare

“Geoeconomic confrontation” was ranked the 
third-most severe risk over the next two years by 
GRPS respondents. Interstate confrontations were 
anticipated by both GRPS and EOS respondents 
to remain largely economic in nature over the short 
term. Geoeconomic confrontation – including 
sanctions, trade wars and investment screening – 
was considered a top-five threat over the next two 
years among 42 countries surveyed by the EOS and 
featured as the top risk in many East and South-
East Asian countries, among others. In comparison, 
“Interstate conflict” was ranked as a top-five risk in 
28 countries surveyed by the EOS (Figure 1.7).

The weaponization of economic policy between 
globally integrated powers has highlighted 
vulnerabilities posed by trade, financial and 
technological interdependence - for the public and 
private sector alike. The Ukraine conflict triggered 
the imposition of sanctions, nationalization of key 
players, and government appropriation of assets, 
such as Germany’s seizure of Russian energy 
companies' stakes in local refineries last year.24 
Reputational and legal risks for multinational 
company operations in certain markets also grew: 

A. Geoeconomic confrontation B. Interstate conflict
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Source

World Economic Forum Executive Opinion Survey 2022.

F I G U R E  1 . 7 National risk perceptions: interstate confrontation
"Which five risks are the most likely to pose the biggest threat to your country in the next two years?"
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consumer good companies faced boycotts after 
continuing to provide basic necessities to Russia, 
and a European energy company was accused 
of “complicity in war crimes” due to linkages to a 
Russian gas field.25

In the face of vulnerabilities highlighted by the 
pandemic and then war, economic policy, particularly 
in advanced economies, is increasingly directed 
towards geopolitical goals. Countries are seeking 
to build “self-sufficiency”, underpinned by state aid, 
and achieve “sovereignty” from rival powers, through 
onshoring and “friend-shoring” global supply chains. 
Defensive measures to boost local production and 
minimize foreign interference in critical industries 
include subsidies, tighter investment screening, 
data localization policies, visa bans and exclusion of 
companies from key markets. 

While initially driven by tensions between the United 
States of America and China, many policies are 
extra-territorial in nature or have been similarly 
adopted by other markets, with spill-over effects 
across a broad range of industries. For example, 
Switzerland is considering the introduction of a 
general cross-sectoral foreign direct investment 
screening regime for the first time. Expanded state 
aid to support self-sufficiency in “strategically 
important products”, including climate mitigation and 
adaptation, has also heightened competition within 
global blocs. The EU has already raised concerns 
about the USA's Inflation Reduction Act, which 
includes significant tax credits and subsidies for local 
green technologies.26

Economic levers are also being used to proactively 
constrain the rise of rivals. This includes delisting 
of foreign companies, extensive use of the foreign 
direct product rule and export controls on key 
technologies and intellectual property as well as 
broad constraints on citizens and entities working 
with designated foreign companies. The introduction 
of an outbound investment screening regime has 

also been contemplated by the United States of 
America.27

Together, these trends towards geoeconomic 
warfare risk creating widespread spillovers. More 
extensive deployment of economic levers to meet 
geopolitical goals risks a vicious and escalating cycle 
of distrust. Financial and technological ramifications 
may highlight further vulnerabilities, leading states to 
proactively wind back other interdependencies in the 
name of national security and resilience over the next 
two years. This may spur contrary outcomes to the 
intended objective, driving resilience and productivity 
growth lower and marking the end of an economic 
era characterized by cheaper and globalized capital, 
labour, commodities and goods. 

This will likely continue to weaken existing 
alliances as nations turn inwards, with enhanced 
state intervention perceived to drive a “race to 
the bottom”. Further pressure will be placed on 
multilateral governance mechanisms that act as 
mitigants to these risks, potentially mirroring the 
politicization of the World Health Organization 
(WHO) during the COVID-19 pandemic and the 
near paralysis of trade enforcement on more 
contentious issues by the World Trade Organization 
(WTO) in recent years.28 It will also likely embed 
the importance of broader geopolitical spheres 
of influence in “dependent” markets, with global 
powers extensively exercising trade, debt and 
technological power. Although some developing 
and emerging markets may wield critical resources 
as leverage, considered in Chapter 3: Resource 
Rivalries, anticipated controls on capital, labour, 
knowledge and technological flows risk widening the 
developmental divide.

In addition, spheres of influence will not be purely 
contained to global powers, nor “dependent” 
developing and emerging markets. The influence and 
alignment of the Middle East in regional and global 
politics will shift. Although the challenge of longer-
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term economic diversification remains a significant 
distraction domestically, the current energy crisis 
will raise economic, military and political capital 
of numerous countries over the next two years. 
Comparative ties of the United States of America 
and China will have significant ramifications for the 
balance of power in the region, as well as global 
military dynamics, considered further in Chapter 2.4: 
Human security.29

Strategies to enhance security may also come 
at a wider economic cost. Intensified geopolitical 
tensions risk weakening the economic landscape 
even further, resulting in lingering inflation or 
depressed growth even if current pressures subside. 
If on- and friend-shoring continue to be prioritized 
– particularly in strategic industries such as 
technology, telecommunications, financial systems, 
agriculture, mining, healthcare and pharmaceuticals 
– consumers will potentially face rising costs well into 
the future. As costs of compliance with divergent 
political and economic systems climb, multinational 
companies may pragmatically pick a side, speeding 
up divergence between various market models.  

While intended to lower risks associated with 
geopolitical and economic disruption, shortened 
supply chains may also unintentionally heighten 
exposure to geographically concentrated risks, 
including labour shortages, civil unrest, pandemics 
and natural weather events. Geopolitical risks 
posed by geographic hotspots that are critical to 
the effective functioning of the global financial and 
economic system, in particular in the Asia-Pacific, 
also pose a growing concern.

Climate action hiatus

Despite 30 years of global climate advocacy and 
diplomacy, the international system has struggled 
to make the required progress on climate change. 
The potential failure to address this existential global 
risk first entered the top rankings of the Global 
Risks Report over a decade ago, in 2011. Today, 
atmospheric levels of carbon dioxide, methane and 
nitrous oxide have all reached record highs. Emission 
trajectories make it very unlikely that global ambitions 
to limit warming to 1.5°C will be achieved.30 

A Failure to mitigate climate change is ranked 
as one of the most severe threats in the short term 
but is the global risk we are seen to be the least 
prepared for, with 70% of GRPS respondents rating 
existing measures to prevent or prepare for climate 
change as “ineffective” or “highly ineffective” 
(Figure 4.1). According to the Intergovernmental 
Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), the chance of 
breaching the 1.5°C target by as early as 2030 
stands at 50%. Current commitments made by the 
G7 private sector suggest an increase of 2.7°C by 
mid-century, way above the goals outlined in the 
Paris Agreement.31

Recent events have exposed a divergence between 

what is scientifically necessary and what is politically 
expedient. Current pressures should result in 
a turning point, encouraging energy-importing 
countries to invest in “secure”, cleaner and cheaper 
renewable energy sources.32 Yet geopolitical tensions 
and economic pressures have already limited – and 
in some cases reversed – progress on climate 
change mitigation, at least over the short term. For 
example, the EU spent at least EUR50 billion on new 
and expanded fossil-fuel infrastructure and supplies, 
and some countries restarted coal power stations.33

Despite some longer-term government action on 
the energy transition, such as the USA’s Inflation 
Reduction Act and the EU’s REPowerEU plan, 
overall momentum for climate mitigation is unlikely to 
rapidly accelerate in the next two years. Negotiations 
at the Conference of the Parties of the UNFCCC 
(COP27) failed to reach a much-needed agreement 
to phase out all fossil fuels, laying bare the difficulty 
of balancing short-term needs with longer-term 
ambitions. Policy-makers are increasingly confronted 
by perceived trade-offs between energy security, 
affordability and sustainability. The stark reality of 600 
million people in Africa without access to electricity 
illustrates the failure to deliver change to those 
who need it and the continued attraction of quick 
fossil-fuel powered solutions – despite the risks 
of stranded assets, energy security challenges of 
exported fossil fuel commodities and lifetime carbon 
emissions that exceed the 1.5°C limit.  

There is also growing recognition that not only the 
pace of the transition but also effectiveness and 
integrity matter: climate litigation is increasing and 
concerns about emissions under-reporting and 
greenwashing have triggered calls for new regulatory 
oversight for the transition to net zero.34 While some 
countries have made disclosure mandatory, much 
of the corporate world have not yet assessed or 
started to manage their climate risks. In the absence 
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of clearer policy signals and consistent regulation 
and enforcement, mitigation efforts will be shaped 
by increasingly disruptive climate activism, raising 
the likelihood of stranded assets – as well as people. 
A just transition that supports those set to lose 
from decarbonization is increasingly invoked by 
countries heavily dependent on fossil-fuel industries 
as a reason to slow down efforts. These challenges, 
against the backdrop of a deteriorating economic 
landscape and inflated input costs, may postpone 
investments in greener production methods – 
particularly in heavier, “dirtier” industries.35 

All of this implies that the risks of a slower and more 
disorderly transition (extensively covered in last year's 
Global Risks Report) have now turned into reality, 
potentially leading to dire planetary and societal 
consequences. Any rollback of government and 
private action will continue to amplify risks to human 
health (explored in Chapter 2.3: Human health) and 
spur the deterioration of natural capital, as discussed 
in Chapter 2.2: Natural ecosystems. Climate 
change will also increasingly become a key migration 
driver and there are indications that it has already 
contributed to the emergence of terrorist groups and 
conflicts in Asia, the Middle East and Africa.36

Indeed, with 1.2°C of warming already in the 
system, the compounding effect of a changing 
climate is already being felt, magnifying humanitarian 
challenges such as food insecurity, and adding 
another hefty bill to already stretched fiscal 
balances.37 In the GRPS results, “Natural disasters 
and extreme weather events” was considered the 
second-most severe risk over the next two years. As 
with many of the global risks featured in this year’s 

report, the impact of these events disproportionately 
affects low- and middle-income countries. It 
registered as a top-five risk in 25 countries surveyed 
by the EOS, in particular in developing coastal states 
across Latin America, Africa and South-East Asia. 

As floods, heatwaves, droughts and other extreme 
weather events become more severe and frequent, 
a wider set of populations will be affected. In 
parallel, a consolidation of public- and private-
sector resources may set up emerging and pressing 
trade-offs between disaster recovery, loss and 
damage, adaptation and mitigation. Although climate 
mitigation has been overwhelmingly favoured over 
adaptation in terms of financing to date, particularly 
in the private sector,38 EOS results indicate that 
climate adaptation may now be seen as a more 
immediate concern in the short term by business 
leaders. Failure of climate change mitigation only 
featured in the top five risks over the next two years 
in one economy, Zambia, whereas the Failure of 
climate-change adaptation was a top-five risk 
in 16 countries, such as the Netherlands, where it 
ranked first (Figure 1.8). The diversion of attention 
and resources towards adaptation may further 
slow progress on global-warming targets in the 
economies that remain the biggest contributors to 
greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions.39

Despite plans for a global goal on adaptation 
to be agreed at COP28, there has also been 
insufficient progress towards the support required 
for infrastructure and populations already affected 
by the fallout from climate change. Adaptation has 
not been adequately funded, with 34% of climate 
finance currently allocated to adaptation worldwide.40 

A. Failure of climate-change adaptation B. Failure of climate-change mitigation
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Source

World Economic Forum Executive Opinion Survey 2022.

F I G U R E  1 . 8 National risk perceptions: climate action
"Which five risks are the most likely to pose the biggest threat to your country in the next two years?"
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Nor do new investments in infrastructure or capital 
allocation decisions adequately consider current and 
future risks. Investors and policy-makers are locking 
themselves into costly futures, likely to be borne 
by the most vulnerable. Disagreements on what 
constitutes adaptation, and the lack of shared goals 
and best practices, robust regulatory frameworks 
and metrics, add to a high risk of overshooting and 
undershooting adaptation efforts. 

Limits to adaptation are also increasingly evident. 
This has been highlighted by the Loss and Damage 
agenda which, after decades on the sidelines of the 
climate discourse, has now reached the mainstream. 
A new financing mechanism was tentatively agreed 
at COP27, although the contribution to this fund by 
high-emitting economies remains unclear. Even as 
more funding is unlocked, there is a risk of ignoring or 
avoiding climate-proofing against future disasters, as 
governments scramble to provide relief and support 
in disaster-hit areas. Market-based mechanisms for 
managing financial shocks are inadequate and may 
diminish further within the next two years. There is a 
risk of retreat by insurers from some areas of natural 
catastrophe coverage, with the gap in insurance 
estimated to have grown from $117 billion in 2020 to 
$161 billion in 2021.41 Only 7% of economic losses 
from flood events in emerging markets – and 31% 
in advanced economies – have been covered by 
insurance in the last 20 years.42

Societal polarization

“Erosion of social cohesion and societal 
polarisation” has been climbing in the ranks of 
perceived severity in recent years.43 Defined as the 
loss of social capital and fracturing of communities 
leading to declining social stability, individual and 
collective wellbeing and economic productivity, it 
ranked as the fifth-most severe global risk faced in 
the short term by GRPS respondents. It was also 
seen as one of the most strongly influenced risks 
in the global network, triggered by many other 
short- and longer-term potential risks – including 
debt crises and state instability, cost-of-living crises 
and inflation, a prolonged economic downturn and 
climate migration (Figure 1.9).

A widening gap in values and equality is posing 
an existential challenge to both autocratic and 
democratic systems, as economic and social divides 
are translated into political ones. Polarization on 
issues such as immigration, gender, reproductive 
rights, ethnicity, religion, climate and even secession 
and anarchism44 have characterized recent elections, 
referendums and protests around the world – from 
the United States of America and China to the 
Islamic Republic of Iran. Mounting citizen frustration 
at perceived gaps in direct governmental action, 
human development and social mobility manifested 
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in frequently divisive and unruly civil protests last 
year. More protests were observed between January 
and October than in all of 2021.45

Consequences of societal polarization are vast, 
ranging from a drag on growth to civil unrest and 
deepening political fissures. And there are indications 
that increasing polarization is contributing to the 
decline of democracies and accompanying rise 
in hybrid regimes, with the share of the world’s 
population living in autocratizing countries rising 
from 5% in 2011, to 36% in 2021. Only 13% of 
the world’s population are currently living under a 
liberal democracy, compared to 44% living under an 
electoral autocracy.46

The erosion of the social and political centre risks 
becoming self-perpetuating. Divisions incentivize 
the adoption of short-term, more extreme policy 
platforms to galvanize one side of the population 
and perpetuate populist beliefs. Notably, the 
contest between two, non-centrist candidates or 
positions is often close.47 Although heralded as 
a resurgence of leftist movements, the Brazilian 
presidential election of 2022 was won by President 
Lula by 1.8 points – the slimmest margin recorded 
since it became a democratic nation.48 As such, a 
large proportion of the population can feel alienated 
and angered by leadership in the following term, 
acting as a multiplier to existing societal concerns 
and civil unrest. This is further amplified by social 
media, which increases polarization and distrust in 
institutions alongside political engagement.49 

“Misinformation and disinformation” are, 
together, a potential accelerant to the erosion of 
social cohesion as well as a consequence. With 
the potential to destabilize trust in information and 
political processes,50 it has become a prominent tool 
for geopolitical agents to propagate extremist beliefs 
and sway elections through social media echo 

chambers. It was perceived as a moderately severe 
risk by GRPS respondents, ranking 16th over the 
short term. Regulatory constraints and educational 
efforts will likely fail to keep pace, and its impact 
will expand with the more widespread usage of 
automation and machine-learning technologies, 
from bots that imitate human-written text to 
deepfakes of politicians.51

Polarization undermines social trust and, in some 
cases, has reflected power struggles within a political 
elite more than underlying divisions in ideologies.52 
Often, hardened polarization on key issues lead to 
government gridlocks. "Swings" between parties 
each electoral cycle may stymie the adoption of a 
longer-term policy outlook, causing greater strife, 
especially when navigating the difficult and uncertain 
economic outlook of the coming years. Additionally, 
although less likely in more democratically robust 
states, an increasing presence of anocracies (those 
forms of government that are part democracy, 
part autocracy, referred to in Chapter 2.5: Digital 
rights) and factionalism may radicalize polarization. 
This could lead to increased incidences of threat 
campaigns and political violence, hate crimes, violent 
protests and even civil war.53

Social and political polarization may also further 
reduce the space for collective problem-solving to 
address global risks. The far right has been elected 
in Italy and are now the second largest party in 
Sweden, while the left has resurged in Latin America. 
National elections will take place in several G20 
countries within the next two years, including the 
United States of America, South Africa, Türkiye, 
Argentina, Mexico and Indonesia. The election of 
less-centrist leaders and adoption of more “extreme” 
policies in economic superpowers may fracture 
alliances, limit global collaboration and lead to a 
more volatile dynamic. 
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Looking ahead1.3

The way risks play out over the next two years 
has ramifications for the decade to come. Nearly 
one in five respondents to the GRPS felt optimistic 
about the outlook for the world in the longer term, 
predicting limited volatility with relative – and 
potentially renewed – stability over the next 10 years 
(Figure 1.10). Yet, over half anticipated progressive 
tipping points and persistent crises leading to 
catastrophic outcomes over the next 10 years, 
or consistent volatility and divergent trajectories. 
Notably, younger age groups were more hopeful for 
the future: one in three respondents under the age 
of 40 shifted to a neutral or positive stance over the 
longer time frame.

Shocks of recent years – most notably, the war in 
Ukraine and COVID-19 pandemic – have reflected 
and accelerated an epochal change to the global 
order. Risks that are more severe in the short term 

are embedding structural changes to the economic 
and geopolitical landscape that will accelerate other 
global threats faced over the next 10 years. And 
as the confluence of current crises distracts focus 
and resources from risks arising over the medium 
to longer-term horizon, we may face increasing 
burdens on natural and human ecosystems. Some 
of these risks are close to a tipping point, but 
there is a window to shaping a more secure future. 
Understanding them is vital. 

The next chapter considers the potential global 
shocks we are heading towards over the next 
decade, highlighting worrying developments 
emerging from the crises of today that are eroding 
the resilience and stability of the global system. 
It highlights a series of such emergent risks – the 
shocks of tomorrow – that can be reduced through 
collective attention and action today.

Source

World Economic Forum, Global Risks
Perception Survey 2022-2023.

F I G U R E  1 . 1 0

Progressive tipping points and persistent crises leading to catastrophic outcomes

Consistently volatile across economies and industries with multiple shocks accentuating divergent trajectories

Slightly volatile with occasional localised surprises
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Short- and long-term global outlook
"Which of the following best characterizes your outlook for the world over the short-term (2 years) and longer-term (10 years)?
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Global Risks 2033: 
Tomorrow’s Catastrophes

2

As risks highlighted in the past chapter unfold 
today, much-needed attention and resources are 
being diverted from global risks that may become 
tomorrow’s shocks and crises. The Global Risks 
Perceptions Survey (GRPS) addresses a one-, 
two- and 10-year horizon. Chapter one addressed 
the present and two-year time frame, focusing on 
currently unfolding and shorter-term risks. This 
chapter focuses on the third time frame: risks that 
may have the most severe impact over the next 10 
years. 

Based on GRPS results, the longer-term global 
risks landscape is also dominated by deteriorating 
environmental risks (Figure 2.1). More specifically, 
climate- and nature-related risks lead the top 10 
risks, by severity, that are expected to manifest 
over the next decade. Differentiated as separate 
risks for the first time in the GRPS, Failure to 
mitigate climate change and Failure of climate-
change adaptation top the rankings as the most 
severe risks on a global scale, followed by Natural 
disasters and extreme weather events and 
“Biodiversity loss and ecosystem collapse”.

The world in 20332.1

1 Failure to mitigate climate change

2 Failure of climate-change adaptation

3 Natural disasters and extreme weather
events

4 Biodiversity loss and ecosystem collapse

5 Large-scale involuntary migration

6 Natural resource crises

7 Erosion of social cohesion and societal
polarization

8 Widespread cybercrime and cyber insecurity

9 Geoeconomic confrontation

10 Large-scale environmental damage
incidents

Source

World Economic Forum Global Risks
Perception Survey 2022-2023.

Global risks ranked by severity over the long term (10 years)F I G U R E  2 . 1

Risk categories Economic Environmental Geopolitical Societal Technological

Comparing the two-year and 10-year time frames 
provides a picture of areas of increasing, decreasing 
and continued concerns according to GRPS 
respondents (Figure 2.2). The top right of the graph 
indicates global risks that are perceived to be 
the most severe in both the short and long term. 
These are consistent areas of global concern and, 
arguably, attention. Four environmental risks have 

worsening scores over the course of the 10-year 
time frame, indicating respondents’ concerns about 
increased severity of these risks in the longer term. 
“Large-scale involuntary migration, rises to fifth 
place in the 10-year time frame, while Erosion 
of social cohesion and societal polarization is 
perceived to be slightly more severe over the longer 
term. 

Tomorrow’s CatastrophesGlobal Risks Report 2023January 2023
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Risks that are growing in severity over the 
longer term include “Biodiversity loss and 
ecosystem collapse” and “Misinformation and 
disinformation”. Among other technological risks, 
as indicated in the far left of the graph, “Digital 
inequality and lack of access to digital services” 
and “Adverse outcomes of frontier technologies” 
are also anticipated to significantly deteriorate over 
the 10-year time frame. 

The scores of multiple social risks are also worsening, 
including “Severe mental health deterioration”, 
“Collapse or lack of public infrastructure and 
services”, and “Chronic diseases and health 
conditions”. In contrast, economic risks such 
as “Failure to stabilize price trajectories”, “A 
prolonged economic downturn”, “Collapse of a 
systemically important industry or supply chain”, 
and “Asset bubble burst” are perceived to fall slightly 
in expected severity over the 10-year time frame.

The far right of the graph indicates that today’s 
most prominent risk, the “Cost-of-living crisis”, is 
anticipated to drop in severity over the longer term. 
Towards the center, the scores of geopolitical risks 
were mixed, with the “Use of weapons of mass 
destruction” remaining consistent, “State collapse 
or severe instability” and “Ineffectiveness of 
multilateral institutions” worsening and Interstate 
conflict perceived as decreasing in severity.

This year, we look at five newly emerging or rapidly 
accelerating risks clusters – drawn from the 
economic, environmental, societal, geopolitical and 
technological domains, respectively – that could 
become tomorrow’s crisis. We explore their current 
drivers and emerging implications, and briefly touch 
on opportunities to forestall and reshape these 
outcomes by acting today. 
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Relative severity of risks over a 2 and 10-year periodF I G U R E  2 . 2

Source

World Economic Forum Global Risks
Perception Survey 2022-2023.

Note

Severity was assessed on a 1-7 Likert scale [1 – Low severity, 7 – High severity].

Adverse outcomes of
frontier technologies

Digital inquality

Terrorist attacks
Asset bubble burst

Collapse or lack of public
infrastructure and services

Cost-of-living crisis

Geoeconomic confrontation

Erosion of social cohesion
and societal polarization

Large-scale environmental
damage incidents

Debt crises

Failure to stabilize
price trajectories

Prolonged economic
downturn

Interstate conflict

Ineffectiveness of multilateral institutions
and international cooperation

Failure to mitigate climate change

Failure of climate-change adaption

Natural resource crises
Large-scale
involuntary

migration
Widespread cybercrime

and cyber insecurity

Misinformation and disinformation

Severe mental health deterioration

Biodiversity loss and ecosystem collapse

Natural disasters
and extreme weather

Chronic diseases and health conditions

Risk categories Economic Environmental Geopolitical Societal Technological

Higher
severity

Higher
severity
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These include: 

•	 Natural ecosystems: deteriorating risks to 
natural capital (“assets” such as water, forests 
and living organisms) due to growing trade-offs 
and feedback mechanisms relating to climate 
change, taking us past the point of no return. 

•	 Human health: chronic risks that are being 
compounded by strained healthcare systems 
facing the social, economic and health 
aftereffects of the COVID-19 pandemic. 

•	 Human security: a nascent reversal in 
demilitarization and growing vulnerability of nuclear-
armed states to emerging technologies, emerging 
from new weapons and multi-domain conflicts.

•	 Digital rights: the potential evolution of data 
and cyber insecurity, given the slow-burning, 
insidious erosion of the digital autonomy of 
individuals, putting privacy in peril. 

•	 Economic stability: growing debt crises, with 
repercussions for financial contagion as well 
as collapse of social services, emerging from a 
global reckoning on debt and leading to social 
distress. 

The newly emerging or rapidly accelerating risk 
clusters identified this year are not intended to be 
exhaustive. Rather, they aim to provide topic-specific 
analysis, nudge pre-emptive action and attention, 
and serve as examples for applying similar analysis 
to a range of other future risk domains.

Natural ecosystems: past the point of no return2.2

Biodiversity within and between ecosystems is 
already declining faster than at any other point 
during human history.1 Unlike other environmental 
risks, Biodiversity loss and ecosystem collapse 
was not seen as pressing of a concern by GRPS 
respondents over the short term. Yet it accelerates 
in perceived severity, rising to 4th place over the 10-
year time frame (Figure 2.1). 

Human interventions have negatively impacted a 
complex and delicately balanced global natural 
ecosystem, triggering a chain of reactions. Over the 
next 10 years, the interplay between biodiversity 
loss, pollution, natural resource consumption, 
climate change and socioeconomic drivers will make 

for a dangerous mix (Figure 2.3). Given that over 
half of the world's economic output is estimated 
to be moderately to highly dependent on nature, 
the collapse of ecosystems will have far-reaching 
economic and societal consequences. These include 
increased occurrence of zoonotic diseases, a fall 
in crop yields and nutritional value, growing water 
stress exacerbating potentially violent conflict, loss 
of livelihoods dependent on food systems and 
nature-based services like pollination, and ever more 
dramatic floods, sea-level rises and erosion from the 
degradation of natural flood protection systems like 
water meadows and coastal mangroves.

Edges

Chronic health conditions

Natural resource
crises 

Environmental
damage incidents

Biodiversity loss and
ecosystem collapse

Failure to mitigate
climate change

Failure of climate-change
adaption

Source

World Economic Forum, Global Risks
Perception Survey 2022-2023.

Compounding environmental crisesF I G U R E  2 . 3

Risk categories Economic Environmental Geopolitical Societal Technological

Edges
Relative influence

High

Low
Medium

Risk influence
Nodes

High

Low
Medium

Reference

Natural disasters and
extreme weather
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Terrestrial and marine ecosystems are facing 
multiple pressure points due to their undervalued 
contribution to the global economy as well as overall 
planetary health. While not the sole drivers, at the 
heart of this potential catastrophe are key trade-
offs and feedback mechanisms emerging from 
current crises. Without significant policy change or 
investments, the complex linkages between climate 
change mitigation, food insecurity and biodiversity 
degradation will accelerate ecosystem collapse.

Exponentially accelerating nature 
loss and climate change 

Nature loss and climate change are intrinsically 
interlinked – a failure in one sphere will cascade 
into the other, and attaining net zero will require 
mitigatory measures for both levers.2 If we are 
unable to limit warming to 1.5°C or even 2°C, the 
continued impact of natural disasters, temperature 
and precipitation changes will become the dominant 
cause of biodiversity loss, in terms of composition 
and function (Figure 2.4).3 Heatwaves and droughts 
are already causing mass mortality events (a single 
hot day in 2014 killed more than 45,000 flying foxes 
in Australia), while sea level rises and heavy storms 
have caused the first extinctions of entire species.4 
Arctic sea-ice, warm-water coral reefs and terrestrial 
ecosystems have been found most at risk in the 
near term, followed by forest, kelp and seagrass 
ecosystems.5

The impacts of climate change on ecosystems can 
further constrain their mitigation effects. Increased 
severity and frequency of extreme weather events 

and other natural disasters are already degrading 
nature-based solutions to climate change, such 
as wildfires in forests used for carbon offsetting.7 
In addition, a variety of ecosystems are at risk of 
tipping over into self-perpetuating and irreversible 
change that will accelerate and compound the 
impacts of climate change. Continued damage to 
carbon sinks through deforestation and permafrost 
thaw, for example, and a decline in carbon storage 
productivity (soils and the ocean) may turn these 
ecosystems into “natural” sources of carbon and 
methane emissions.8 The impending collapse of 
the Greenland and West Antarctic ice sheets may 
contribute to sea-level rise and coastal flooding, 
while the “die-off” of low-latitude coral reefs, the 
nurseries of marine life, are sure to impact food 
supplies and broader marine ecosystems.

Trade-offs between food security 
and nature conservation

Land-use change remains the most prolific threat 
to nature, according to many experts.9 Agriculture 
and animal farming alone take up more than 35% of 
Earth's terrestrial surface and are the biggest direct 
drivers of wildlife decline globally. The ongoing crisis 
in the affordability and availability of food supplies 
positions efforts to conserve and restore terrestrial 
biodiversity at odds with domestic food security, as 
explored in Chapter 3: Resource Rivalries.

Conservation efforts and nature-based solutions 
(which can offer biodiversity co-benefits) will struggle 
to be commercially competitive with intensive, 
yield-focused agricultural practices, particularly in 

Impacts of climate change on ecosystemsF I G U R E  2 . 4
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densely populated, agrarian nations. State incentives 
to boost local production and reduce reliance on 
imports – in a reaction to current geopolitical and 
supply pressures – could come at the cost of 
ecosystem preservation. Technology will provide 
partial solutions in the countries that can afford it. For 
example, the global vertical farming market has been 
predicted to grow at a compound annual rate of 
26% and hit $34 billion by 2033.10 These agricultural 
production techniques increase food output per unit 
area with a smaller water and biodiversity footprint, 
but can actually be more carbon-intensive and may 
have an indirect land footprint that exceeds open-
field farming in some regions.11

Given a highly uncertain economic outlook, 
developing and emerging markets may struggle 
to close the funding gap to increase agricultural 
productivity. Pressure on biodiversity will likely be 
further amplified by continued deforestation for 
agricultural processes, with an associated demand for 
additional cleared cropland,12 especially in subtropical 
and tropical areas with dense biodiversity such as 
Sub-Saharan Africa and Southeast Asia.13 Biodiversity 
and ecosystem preservation could be supported 
through the expanded use of concessional financing 
and debt restructuring: 58 developing countries 
exposed to climate change have almost $500 billion 
in collective debt reservicing payments due in the 
next four years.14 Increased deployment of debt-for-
nature swaps, for example, could be targeted towards 
conservation and restoration. In fact, this type of 
restructuring is being pursued by Ecuador, Sri Lanka 
and Cape Verde.15 However, these mechanisms 
could contribute to shorter term challenges of 
food insecurity, rising cost of living and declining 
government revenue.16 In addition, indigenous 
communities can be disproportionately at risk from 
these activities. “Fortress conservation” can encroach 
on indigenous land tenure and has previously been 
linked to forced evictions, even fatalities.17 

Yet, there is a more existential feedback mechanism 
to consider: biodiversity contributes to the health and 
resilience of soil, plants and animals, and its decline 
puts both food production yields and nutritional value 
at risk.18 This could then fuel deforestation, increase 
food prices, threaten local livelihoods and contribute 
to diet-related diseases and mortality (explored in 
Chapter 2.3: Human health). It may also lead to 
Large-scale involuntary migration, a new entrant 
in the Top 10 rankings in the GRPS survey (Figure 
2.1) and analysed in last year’s Global Risks Report 
chapter ‘Barriers to Migration’.

New battlefronts between ecosys-
tems and “green” energy sources

The transition to clean energy is critical for the 
mitigation of climate change by reducing the carbon 
footprint of energy compared to fossil fuels. Yet 
the rapid expansion of green infrastructure in a 
quest for energy security may have unintended 
impacts on domestic and broader ecosystems, 
as the dependencies on and risks to natural 
ecosystems of these technologies are, presently, 
less well understood. Although renewable energy 
infrastructure can be “nature-positive” – for example, 
wind farms acting as a “safe haven” for the recovery 
of marine populations and the seabed – green 
sources of energy can also cause environmental 
degradation, such as habitat loss, sound and 
electromagnetic pollution, introduction of non-
indigenous species and changes to animal migratory 
patterns.19 

Renewable energy technologies are also reliant 
on non-renewable, abiotic natural capital (metals 
and minerals, as explored in Chapter 3: Resource 
Rivalries). These are sourced from the geosphere, 
which, together with the hydrosphere, provide the 
physical habitat for the global ecosystem. These 
resources are often concentrated in countries with 
poor governance of nascent, artisanal and illicit 
mining, or less stringent environmental and social 
regulations – increasing the likelihood of more 
widespread destruction of nature and devastation of 
local communities and indigenous groups. Mining of 
rare earth elements in Myanmar and the Democratic 
Republic of the Congo have already caused 
widespread deforestation, habitat destruction of 
endangered species and water pollution, and have 
been linked to human rights abuses and financing 
of militia groups.20 While offering the possibility of 
socioeconomic development and diversification, the 
expansion of green metals mining in nature-rich or 
ecologically sensitive areas, such as the Plurinational 
State of Bolivia and Greenland, has the potential to 
destabilize water tables and disrupt ecosystems.21 
The pressure to push ahead with deep-sea mining 
also entails significant risks, due to the unknown 
impacts to critical oceanic ecosystems.22

It is clear that both the scale and pace needed 
to transition to a green economy require new 
technologies. However, some of these technologies 
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risk impacting natural ecosystems in new ways, 
with limited opportunity to “field-test” results. The 
urgency of climate change mitigation is incentivizing 
the deployment of new technologies, potentially 
with less stringent testing and protocols. Carbon 
removal technologies will be particularly essential to 
achieve a net zero world if anthropogenic emissions 
do not sufficiently decline, or emissions from natural 
resources continue to increase. Gene editing to 
enhance natural carbon capture productivity, 
geoengineering for carbon removal,23 and solar 
radiation management all pose major future risks 
– from enhanced water stress, nutrient “robbing” 
and redistribution of diseases to termination shock 
and the weaponization of stratospheric aerosol 
technologies.24 Unintended consequences relating to 
technological “edits” to the atmosphere, biosphere, 
hydrosphere and geosphere can occur at speed, 
raising the risk of accidental extinction events.

Acting today

Averting tipping points requires a combination of 
conservation efforts, interventions to transform the 
food system, accelerated and nature-positive climate 
mitigation strategies, and changes to consumption 
and production patterns. This involves realigning 
incentives and upgrading governance structures, 
fueled by better data and tools to capture the 
interdependencies of food, climate, energy and 
ecosystems. 

There are already initial signs of shifts in this 
direction. The increasing visibility and influence of 
multilateral and market-led initiatives such as the 
Taskforce for Nature-related Financial Disclosures 
(TFND) set to launch later this year, are positive 
developments. The 15th Conference of Parties to 
the Convention of Biological Diversity (CBD COP15) 
resulted in the Montreal-Kunming agreement, setting 
out new global targets for 2030 such as reforming 
environmentally damaging subsidy systems and 

restoring 30% of the planet’s degraded ecosystems. 
These significant steps confirm that the global 
community recognizes that the risks associated 
with nature loss, food production, energy generation 
and climate change cannot be fully mitigated in 
isolation. However, the translation into public- and 
private-sector action remains to be seen, particularly 
given limited progress on previous biodiversity – and 
climate – targets to date.

Although the relationship between climate and nature 
heightens the likelihood of a series of escalating and 
potentially irreversible feedback loops, it can equally 
be leveraged to broaden the impact of risk mitigation 
activities. Given increasing financial and capacity 
trade-offs, investment in resilience must focus 
on solutions that build preparedness for multiple 
risks. By restoring biodiversity in soils, for example, 
regenerative agriculture has the potential to store 
large amounts of carbon. 

A focus on biodiversity preservation should drive and 
prioritize local adaptation and community resilience 
– and in doing so, contribute to the mitigation of 
climate change globally. Altered land management 
practices like afforestation, micro-irrigation and 
agroforestry are a low-cost way to increase resilience 
to extreme weather. The protection and restoration 
of marine biodiversity, such as mangrove systems, 
can enhance rather than compete with domestic 
food web productivity and security. It can also 
support local industries and livelihoods and provide 
protection from extreme weather. Such activities 
also produce co-benefits at a global level, such 
as enhancing carbon sequestration and climate 
regulation, offering potential revenue streams for 
developing nations in the form of carbon credits. 
Similarly, scaling up practices such as biocultural 
preservation, indigenous community management 
and integration of traditional knowledge into 
food production and cultivation can provide dual 
socioeconomic and environmental benefits.25
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Global public health is under growing pressure 
and health systems around the world are at risk 
of becoming unfit for purpose. The COVID-19 
pandemic further amplified ever-present spectres 
and emerging risks to physical and mental health, 
including antimicrobial resistance (AMR), vaccine 
hesitancy and climate-driven nutritional and 
infectious diseases (described in ‘False Positive: 
Health Systems under New Pressures’ in our 
2020 edition, published before the pandemic took 
hold). Given current crises, mental health may also 
be exacerbated by increasing stressors such as 
violence, poverty and loneliness. 

There is also a rising risk of a “panic-neglect” 
cycle. As COVID-19 recedes from the headlines, 
complacency appears to be setting in on preparing 
for future pandemics and other global health 
threats. Healthcare systems face worker burnout 
and continued shortages at a time when fiscal 
consolidation risks deflecting attention and resources 
elsewhere. More frequent and widespread infectious 
disease outbreaks amidst a background of chronic 
diseases over the next decade risks pushing 
exhausted healthcare systems to the brink of failure 
around the world.26

Pandemic aftershocks meet  
silent health crises

Global health outcomes have been weakened by 
the COVID-19 pandemic, with lingering effects. 
Early evidence points to a post-COVID-19 condition 
impacting the quality of life and occupational status 
of individuals – contributing to work absences 
and early retirements, tighter labour markets and 
a decline in economic productivity. The resulting 
economic hit is estimated to be from roughly 
$140-600 billion to up to $3.7 trillion in the United 
States of America, and close to AUD$5 billion per 
year in Australia if current costs persist, reflecting 
loss of quality of life, lost earnings and output, and 
higher spending on medical care.27 The pandemic 
also diverted resources from other diseases 
such as cancer screening and tuberculosis,28 
and immunization campaigns were put on hold. 
Vaccination rates for polio fell to the lowest level in 
14 years, perhaps ushering in the return of the wild 
strain to Africa in 2021.29 

Beyond the lingering impact of COVID-19, the 
potential stresses imposed by climate change and 
nature loss on health are likely to grow, ranging 
from air pollution and heightened exposure to wet 
heatwave days (which increase heat stress on 
humans), to disrupted access to safe water and 
sanitation and increases in waterborne diseases 
due to floods. Urbanization, land use change 

Human health: perma-pandemics and chronic 
capacity challenges

2.3

and nature loss are heightening the emergence 
and re-emergence of diseases, including invasive 
fungal diseases, while global warming is increasing 
the number of months suitable for transmission 
of existing diseases such as malaria and dengue 
fever.30 Climate change is also expected to 
exacerbate malnutrition as food insecurity grows. 
Increased levels of carbon dioxide in the atmosphere 
can result in nutrient deficiencies in plants, and even 
accelerated uptake of heavy minerals, which have 
been linked to cancer, diabetes, heart disease and 
impaired growth.31

Expanding sources of disease will combine with 
persistent disease burdens to entrench a growing 
health burden in developing and advanced 
economies alike. There has been a noticeable shift 
towards non-communicable diseases over the past 
decade (Figure 2.5), linked to population growth 
and ageing alongside lagging coverage by health 
systems. A key implication is the resulting loss of 
functional health and rise in disabilities, rather than 
deaths. Medical advances have made it possible 
for people to live with multiple co-morbidities 
(such as diabetes, hypertension, heart disease 
and depression), but these remain complex and 
expensive to manage. People are living more years 
in poor health, and we may soon face a more 
sustained reversal in life expectancy gains beyond 
the influence of the pandemic.

Notably, although some disease burdens are 
growing, all health-related risks fell into roughly 
the bottom third of the GRPS’ global risk rankings 
over both the two- and 10-year period (Figure 
2.2). “Infectious diseases” plummeted in risk 
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perceptions, from the sixth-most severe risk on a 
global scale over the next 10 years in last year’s 
Global Risks Report, to 27th place this year. Further, 
female respondents to the GRPS consistently 
assessed health-related risks as more severe than 
their male counterparts. Chronic diseases and 
health conditions and Severe mental health 
deterioration were ranked 13th and 14th by female 
respondents, with the related Collapse or lack of 
public infrastructure and services in 19th place, 
compared to rankings of 23rd, 28th and 27th, 
respectively, by male respondents. 

The decline in risk perception is likely driven by 
pandemic fatigue and the human tendency to 
focus on fresh, recent and more visible crises. 
Yet “silent” crises with cumulative impacts can 
quickly outpace a one-off, catastrophic event. The 
COVID-19 pandemic has been linked to nearly 
6.6 million deaths globally at the time of writing 
noting that this figure will likely increase with China’s 
lifting of stringent COVID-19 restrictions after three 
years.33 In comparison, an estimated 4.95 million 
deaths were associated with drug-resistant bacteria 
(AMR) in 2019 alone, with roughly 1.27 million of 
these considered directly attributable to AMR.34 
Air pollution was estimated to be responsible 
for a further 9 million deaths in the same year, 
corresponding to one in six deaths worldwide.35 
While there are limitations to the collection and 
analysis of data in all three cases, and COVID-19’s 

outcomes may have been far worse in the absence 
of rapid action, the comparisons highlight the 
potential of silent crises to create compounding, 
runaway damage. 

Chronic capacity challenges

As disease burden grows and innovation widens 
the scope of what medicine can treat, inexorable 
demand for healthcare is running up against chronic 
capacity challenges. The COVID-19 pandemic 
disrupted the delivery of prevention and treatment 
services, resulting in a backlog for hospital and 
community care that may prove challenging to clear. 
More than 7 million people in the United Kingdom of 
Great Britain (more than one-tenth of the population) 
were waiting for non-emergency medical care in 
September 2022, while 10% of job posts remained 
vacant as the National Health Service struggled to 
retain staff.36 

Health systems are likely to face intensifying financial 
pressure – with budget cuts or revenue loss as well 
as higher costs of goods and labour – as inflation 
persists, economies grow slowly or stagnate, and 
governments reprioritize expenditure to address 
more salient social and security concerns. Even 
before the COVID-19 pandemic aggravated staff 
shortages, the World Health Organization (WHO) 
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predicted a global shortfall of 15 million health 
workers by 2030.37 Some health systems are seeing 
productivity decline as experienced employees leave 
due to exhaustion, burnout and concerns about 
staff and patient safety. Skills and infrastructure 
gaps undermine capacity further as staff become 
overwhelmed by challenges for which they are not 
adequately equipped or supported to solve, leading 
to more strikes over pay and staffing levels. 

Medical inflation is expected to continue to outstrip 
GDP growth in many countries,38 and financial 
pressures on working populations will intensify 
as dependency ratios rise. The United States of 
America already spends nearly 20% of its GDP on 
healthcare, even before its largest population cohort 
(the “Baby Boomers”) has retired.39 Governments, 
insurers or employers may respond by limiting 
coverage and shifting a greater proportion of 
the costs to individuals, reducing access and 
affordability of healthcare. Two-tier health systems, 
already prevalent in many advanced and developing 
economies, may become further entrenched, with 
a profitable private sector catering to patients with 
greater ability and willingness to pay, while poorer 
people remain reliant on increasingly threadbare 
public provision.40 

A persistent mismatch between demand and supply 
gradually weakens the ability of health systems even 
in richer countries to cope and adapt, eroding care 
quality and shrinking healthcare access. Fragile 
health systems could quickly become overwhelmed 
by one or more catastrophic events. A large-scale 
cyberattack, war, extreme weather event or new or 
re-emergent infectious diseases could trigger health 
system collapse within one or more regions, resulting 
in a sudden surge of deaths from all causes. More 
gradual deterioration of health systems would also 
weaken overall health, widen health disparities, 
slow economic activity and undermine political and 
societal stability as a safety net disintegrates.

Socioeconomic syndemics

Combined with fragile health systems, there is a risk 
of a rise in “syndemics”: a set of concurrent, mutually 
enhancing health problems that impact the overall 
health status of a population, within the context of 
political, structural or social environments.41 The 
concept has long been applied to HIV research. 
More recently, it has been considered in the context 
of the COVID-19 pandemic and chronic disease 
burdens, which have resulted in higher morbidity 
and mortality rates among socially disadvantaged 
communities.42 A similar pattern could now play out 
at a systemic level: deteriorating social, economic 
and political contexts will contribute to endemic 
diseases and lead to poorer health outcomes for 
select communities. 

Inequality and conflicts in societal values could 
precipitate regulatory changes regarding education, 
employment, housing, gender, immigration and the 

environment, some of which could have unintended 
compounding effects on specific diseases. For 
example, a lack of LGBTQ protection has been 
linked to poorer health outcomes relating to HIV, 
due to the resulting avoidance of healthcare.43 
Current crises might further derail health outcomes 
and equity. Chronic financial stress and rationing 
of essentials – such as having to choose between 
heating and eating – will have long-term physical 
and psychological impacts even on healthy people.44 
Lower confidence in public institutions has already 
resulted in less effective pandemic responses, and 
growing misinformation and disinformation could 
further increase vaccine hesitancy, which has 
already led to the re-emergence of locally-eradicated 
diseases such as polio.45 These patterns may be 
reinforced as there is a clear rise in the erosion 
of social cohesion (see Chapter 1.2: Societal 
polarisation). 

Geopolitical tensions could limit the co-development 
and sharing of new scientific breakthroughs, 
limiting respective abilities to address ever-present 
risks such as AMR as well as new ones. Export 
restrictions applied to medicine and medical 
products could cause a humanitarian crisis and spiral 
into controls over even more existential resources – 
most notably food – with compounding effects on 
health. Disparities in healthcare access may also 
worsen across and within countries as a result of 
economic inequality. For example, while advances 
such as in personalized, genomic and proteomic 
medicine can vastly improve health outcomes for 
chronic and degenerative conditions, they come with 
hefty price tags that may constrain widespread use; 
gene therapies can cost upwards of $2 million.46 A 
rise in state instability and conflict would further limit 
the delivery of aid, disrupt vaccination programmes 
and put health workers at risk. This was evident 
in the case of polio vaccination workers killed in 
Afghanistan last year.47
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Acting today

 
It is essential that we embed hard-earned lessons in 
preparedness for the next iteration of health crises. 
A continued focus on public health policy and 
interventions can have outsized impacts at national 
and regional levels, as a great deal of chronic 
disease burden is, in fact, preventable.48 Realizing 
public health gains will require governments and 
business to promote the conditions that underpin 
wellbeing and encourage healthy lifestyles, such 
as good food, clean air, secure housing and social 
cohesion. 

Public health agencies, healthcare providers and 
funders can play a key role by improving interactions 
and coordination between different parts of the 
health system to share information, expand capacity 
and improve overall population health. Planning for 
the long run will help governments better assess 
and manage health system risks, as will aligning 
policies that directly or indirectly affect health (such 
as agricultural policies that drive antibiotic use and 
increase AMR risk). Governments and businesses 
will also need to add a health dimension to crisis 
preparedness plans to withstand emerging risks. 

In parallel, national and global health institutions 
and systems need to be strengthened in the face 
of multiple challenges. Innovation in care delivery, 
staffing and funding models are required for health 
systems to provide disease prevention, early 
detection and complex care cost-effectively for 
an increasingly frail and chronically ill population. 
There is also potential for healthcare to reap the 
advantages of technological advances and digital 
transformation that other sectors have embraced, 
such as augmenting capacity with technology and 
combining virtual and in-person care to reduce 
costs. 

Opportunities to strengthen public health exist 
across countries, too, especially in the areas of 
pandemic surveillance and preparedness, scientific 
collaboration, and in mitigating global threat drivers 
such as climate change and AMR. It is essential 
that health nationalism is avoided in the face 
of the geopolitical and security considerations 
already underway today. Continued collaboration 
and information flows in the field of healthcare, 
pharmaceuticals and life sciences underpin efforts 
to ensure that our understanding and capability can 
continue to effectively address emerging health risks.

Human security: new weapons, new conflicts2.4

GRPS results suggest that economic and information 
warfare will continue to pose a more severe threat 
than hot conflict over the next decade. Interstate 
conflict and Use of weapons of mass destruction 
were ranked lower in anticipated severity 
compared to “Geoeconomic confrontation” and 
Misinformation and disinformation over the  
10-year time frame (Figure 2.2). 

Past decades were defined by the non-deployment 
of humanity’s most powerful weapons and no direct 

clashes between global powers. Prior to 2022, 
militarization had fallen in all regions, with recent 
data showing an overall decline in nearly 70% of the 
countries covered by the Global Peace Index 2022 
over the past 15 years.49 Even between 2021 and 
2022, the holdings of nuclear and heavy weapons, 
military expenditure, weapons imports and armed 
services personnel rates declined (Figure 2.6). Yet 
the world still became less peaceful, with more violent 
demonstrations, external conflict and intense internal 
conflicts during the same fifteen-year period.50

Global Risks Report 2023   38

2023 - Agenda - Audit and Risk - March - Information Report - Risk Management

124



A reversal of the trend towards demilitarization will 
heighten the risk of conflict, on a potentially more 
destructive scale. Growing mistrust and suspicion 
between global and regional powers has already 
led to the reprioritization of military expenditure and 
stagnation of non-proliferation mechanisms. The 
diffusion of economic, technological and, therefore, 
military power to multiple countries and actors is 
driving the latest iteration of a global arms race. 
Unlike previous power dynamics that were shaped 
by weapons of deterrence, the next decade could 
be defined by devastation from precision attacks and 
expanded conflicts.

New military architects and  
architecture

The 2010s saw global military expenditure growing 
in line with GDP and government budgets (5% of 
expenditure, down from 12% in the early 1990s).51 
However, today, global military expenditure as 
proportion of GDP is rising, driven predominantly by 
higher spending by the United States of America, 
the Islamic Republic of Iran, Russia, India, China 
and Saudi Arabia. Japan announced a proposal to 
double its defence budget to $105 billion (2% of 
its GDP) in May last year, and Qatar has increased 
spending by 434% since 2010 in response to 
blockades.52 The war in Ukraine – as well as 
lukewarm condemnation by a few key geopolitical 
players – has driven recent pledges by NATO 
members to meet or exceed the target of 2% of 

GDP, which, if met by all members, would represent 
an increase in total budget by 7% in real terms.53 
Widespread defence spending, particularly on 
research and development, could deepen insecurity 
and promote a race between global and regional 
powers towards more advanced weaponry.54

The private sector is set to increasingly drive the 
development of military technologies, yielding 
advancements in semiconductor manufacturing, 
AI, quantum computing, biotechnology and even 
nuclear fusion, among other technologies.55 Many 
of these are general purpose in nature with civilian 
applications, but are also a force multiplier of military 
power, enhancing the capabilities of autonomous 
weapons, cyberwarfare and defensive capabilities. 
Emerging technologies will be increasingly subject 
to state-imposed limits to cross-border flows of 
talent, IP, data and underlying technologies (such 
as extreme ultraviolet lithography equipment) and 
resources (such as critical metals and minerals), 
to constrain the comparative rise of foreign rivals. 
Enhanced focus and investment will drive innovations 
– global research and development expenditure 
hit 2.63% in 2021, the highest in decades.56 There 
are sure to be multiple architects (Figure 2.7), with 
parallel innovations and interoperable ecosystems 
that will not only undermine efficiencies and 
duplicate efforts – even prior to the tightening of 
market conditions, technological fragmentation was 
estimated to result in losses of up to 5% GDP for 
many economies57  – but may also increase risk.

Military-driven innovations in relevant fields will 

-6 -4 -2 0 +2 +4 +6

% Change in average score

Armed services personnel rate
Weapons import

Perception of criminality
Incarceration rate

Nuclear and heavy weapons
Deaths from external conflict

Terrorism impact

Military expernditure (% GDP)

Violent demonstrations
Police rate

Homicide rate
Internal conflicts fought

External conflicts fought

UN Peacekeeping funding

Access to small arms
Violent crime

Political instability
Refugees and IDPs

Intensity of internal conflicts
Neighbouring countries relations

Intensity of internal conflicts

Political terror scale
Deaths from internal conflicts

Pre-2022 trends in militarization and conflictF I G U R E  2 . 6

Source

IEP, 2022.

Note

Percentage change in global score by indicator, 2021-2022.

Global Risks Report 2023   39

2023 - Agenda - Audit and Risk - March - Information Report - Risk Management

125



have knock-on benefits for economic productivity 
and societal resilience, including personalized 
and preventative medicine, climate modelling and 
material science development. The influence of blocs 
will grow, closely tying together alliances across 
security, investment, trade, innovation, talent and 
standards. For example, Australia, Japan, South 
Korea and New Zealand were recently invited to 
participate at a NATO summit for the first time.59 
As developing economies seek to enhance their 
security in the new military architecture, they will be 
pulled deeper into the wider economic and military 
expansion of larger powers.60 However, the Global 
South also risks being priced out of security and 
broader technological advancements. For example, 
the diffusion of dual-use technologies may be 
constrained or subject to high royalties, widening 
global inequality.

Next-generation technologies and 
multi-domain conflicts 

New technologies will change the nature of the 
threat to national and international security, with a 
rise in multi-domain conflicts that blur the definition 
of conventional warfare. “Future battlefields” 
and methods of confrontation are expanding, 
encompassing the land, sea, air, cyberspace 
and outer space (explored in the Crowding and 
Competition in Space Chapter in last year’s Global 
Risks Report).61 Anti-satellite and hypersonic weapon 
capabilities have already been demonstrated by 

some states.62 Directed Energy Weapons are 
expected to make significant progress over the 
next decade, with the potential to disable satellites, 
electronics, communications and positioning 
systems, and some of these weapons may be more 
cost-effective than traditional munitions.63 Quantum 
computing may be harnessed to identify new 
materials for use in stealth technologies, and cyber 
and information warfare will be deployed to target 
vulnerabilities in increasingly sophisticated military 
technologies, which could range from disinformation 
campaigns to hacking hardware in nuclear defence 
systems.64

Importantly, these technologies are emerging in 
parallel – with the potential for simultaneous and 
compounding impacts on global security.65 The 
testing and demonstration of enhanced capabilities 
could destabilize geopolitical relationships and 
accelerate an arms race, even in the absence of 
triggering conventional or nuclear strikes. This race 
will also slow the development of and adherence to 
norms, standards and safety protocols governing the 
development and use of these technologies, leaving 
fundamental questions unanswered – such as how 
to pursue fields like quantum computing, without 
simultaneously destabilizing the world’s encryption 
systems and accelerating a global arms race.66 As a 
result, self-regulation by the private sector will likely 
rise, as will consumer campaigning against military 
applications of technologies, such as the “Stop Killer 
Robots” coalition.

While social and global norms constraining the use 
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of nuclear weaponry remain high, the unconstrained 
pursuit of lower-yield weaponry and stronger 
defensive military technologies could undermine the 
perceived security provided by nuclear weapons, 
putting in jeopardy a delicate strategic balance. 
Emerging technologies heighten the actual or 
perceived vulnerability of countries to attack, 
including nuclear-armed ones.67 Advanced sensing 
technologies, particularly once enabled by quantum 
computing, could theoretically expose second-strike 
capabilities (mobile nuclear weapons) to real-time 
targeting and elimination.68 The potential for lower-
yield, more targeted nuclear weaponry has already 
brought into question the viability of the current 
threshold of activation for the “nuclear umbrella” of 
the United States of America. An escalating arms 
race may cause countries to roll back the no-first-
use principle to enhance deterrence. 

Together, these new technologies are escalating 
rhetoric and the pressure on existing governance 
mechanisms. This could lead to an increase in 
the global inventory of nuclear warheads for the 
first time since the Cold War,69 raising the risk of 
accidental, miscalculated or deliberate clashes, 
with devastating results. Nuclear-armed countries 
continue to modernize arsenals and develop new 
types of delivery systems; late last year, the United 
States of America unveiled its first new nuclear-
capable strategic bomber in more than three 
decades. The Treaty on the Prohibition of Nuclear 
Weapons, which entered into force in early 2021, 
continues to be opposed by all nine declared 
nuclear-armed states.70 North Korea conducted the 

largest number of annual ballistic missiles launches 
last year, and there is escalating rhetoric in the 
context of the war in Ukraine.71 The possibility of 
nuclear-sharing arrangements or even potential 
acquisition in limited circumstances has been raised 
in some non-nuclear states, such as Japan and 
the South Korea.72 Negotiations on the revival of 
the Joint Comprehensive Plan of Action (JCPOA) 
have also stalled.73 Although both the United 
States of America and Russia have continued to 
adhere to the New START Treaty, and disarmament 
technically continues, the usable military stockpiles 
of both countries - accounting for 90% of all nuclear 
weapons - remained stable in 2021.74 

A rise in rogue actors 

Proliferation of more destructive and new-tech 
military weaponry may enable newer forms of 
asymmetric warfare, allowing smaller powers and 
individuals to have a greater impact at a national and 
global level.  Financial, information and intelligence 
thresholds are lower in many dual-use technologies. 
For example, advances in biotechnologies could 
enable the creation of pathogens by small groups or 
even individuals.75 Low-cost drones utilizing swarm 
intelligence can be used to attack high-value units, 
including bases and fuel tanks.76 The most recent 
available data suggests a consolidation of arms 
exports, with North America and Europe accounting 
for 87% of all arms exports from 2017-2021, 
alongside an accompanying decline from China and 
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Russia.77 However, any future diffusion of market 
share will increase the likelihood of advanced military 
systems being shared with more adversaries, across 
a broader geographic area.78

The lower cost and potential spread of conventional 
or chemical, biological, or nuclear weaponry to rogue 
actors will further erode the government’s “monopoly 
on violence". This can increase the vulnerability of 
states and fuel migration, corruption and violence 
that can spill over borders.79 Drones have already 
been used by non-state actors in Syria, Libya and 
Yemen, and both military and civilian drones have 
been used by formal security forces, paramilitary 
groups and non-combatants in Ukraine.80 Despite 
limited transparency and accountability, there has 
also been a growing reliance on private militia and 
security services to protect assets and infrastructure, 
including vessels, commercial shipping, offshore 
platforms and ports. The use of these proxy, hybrid 
and private armies in multiple security contexts 
has been linked to violations of human rights 
and international law in conflict, post-conflict and 
peacetime settings.81

The distinction between civilian and military spheres 
is blurring further: these technologies expose 
populations to direct domestic threats, often with 
the objective of shattering societal functioning. 
This includes the physical and virtual disruption 
of critical resources and services at both a local 
and national level, such as agriculture and water, 
financial systems, public security, transport, 
energy, and domestic, space-based and undersea 
communication infrastructure. “Breakdown of 
critical information infrastructure” was ranked 
tied 16th by GRPS respondents in terms of 
perceived severity over the next 10 years, but 
its relationship with Interstate conflict was not 
highlighted (Figure 2.8). Concerted attempts at 
cyberattacks against Ukraine were made last year, 
including against communication services, financial 
websites and electricity grids. Data theft and deep-
fake technology also sought to prevent access to 
services, targeting flows of refugees, medicines, 
food and relief supplies.82 The critical functioning of 
whole economies will only become more exposed 

with breakthroughs in dual-use technologies, most 
notably quantum computing. 

Acting today

An international environment that is at greater 
risk of conflict and the less transparent attribution 
of unconventional engagement may weaken the 
shared moral, reputational and political costs 
that partially act as a deterrent to the deployment 
of destructive weaponry, including nuclear 
engagement. Undoubtedly, the strengthening of 
arms control, disarmament and non-proliferation 
agreements and norms, covering both existing and 
newer forms of military technologies, are essential 
to provide transparency. This can also reduce the 
risk of unintended escalation, for example by limiting 
the spillover of conflicts across domains, such as 
a cyberattack on critical infrastructure escalating 
into a targeted destructive exchange with lethal 
autonomous weapons.83 Establishing norms will be 
essential to ensuring the right balance is struck so 
that technological innovation can continue to be 
harnessed to improve socioeconomic outcomes for 
humanity.

However, achieving effective arms control will 
be even more challenging than in the past. It will 
require engagement with a broader range of actors 
– including academic researchers and the private 
sector – given the dual-usages of many of these 
technologies. Developments are quickly outpacing 
global governance processes. An escalating 
arms race will further hinder collaboration, but the 
regulation of new weapons technologies to control 
proliferation and usage can only be achieved through 
transnational cooperation. The first step should 
include greater recognition by global powers of 
the strategically beneficial value to agreements on 
key arms control issues. In the longer term, new 
strategies for global governance that can adapt 
to this new security context must be explored to 
assuage the concerns of nations and avoid a spiral 
of instability and accidental or intentional destruction. 

Digital rights: privacy in peril2.5

Digital tools - increasingly sophisticated AI applications, 
interoperable edge computing and Internet of Things 
(IOT) devices, autonomous technologies - underpin the 
functioning of cities and critical infrastructure today and 
will play a key role in developing resilient solutions for 
tomorrow’s crises. Yet these developments also give 
rise to new challenges for states trying to manage the 
existing physical world and this rapidly expanding digital 
domain. 

Based on  GRPS results, “Widespread cybercrime 
and cyber insecurity” is a new entrant into the top 10 
rankings of the most severe risks over the next decade. 

As highlighted in last year’s Global Risks Report chapter 
‘Digital Dependencies and Cyber Vulnerabilities’, 
malicious activity in cyberspace is growing, with more 
aggressive and sophisticated attacks taking advantage 
of more widespread exposure. It was seen as a 
persistent threat by GRPS respondents as well as a 
strong driver of other risks (Figure 2.9). 

The proliferation of data-collecting devices and data-
dependent AI technologies could open pathways 
to new forms of control over individual autonomy. 
Individuals are increasingly exposed to the misuse of 
personal data by the public and private sector alike, 
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ranging from discrimination of vulnerable populations 
and social control to potentially bioweaponry.84

Not all threats to the digital autonomy and 
sovereignty of individuals are malicious in nature. 
Larger data sets and more sophisticated analysis 
also heighten the risk of the misuse of personal 
information through legitimate legal mechanisms, 
weakening the human right to privacy,85 even 
in democratic and strongly regulated regimes.
Legal incursions on privacy can be motivated by 
public safety considerations, crime prevention and 
response, economic development and better health 
outcomes. The privacy of personal and sensitive 
data is coming under increasing pressure by 
national security concerns, combining the protection 
of societies and states and the desire to gain a 
competitive technological and economic advantage.

Commercialized privacy

The right to privacy as it applies to information about 
individuals incorporates two key elements: the right 
not to be observed and the right to control the flow 
of information when observed.86 As more data is 
collected and the power of emerging technologies 
increases over the next decade, individuals will be 
targeted and monitored by the public and private 
sector to an unprecedented degree, often without 
adequate anonymity or consent.87

Surveillance technologies are becoming increasingly 

sophisticated through new technologies and 
techniques for gathering and analyzing data. The 
oft-cited examples are biometric identification 
technologies. In recognition of the potential risks 
posed to privacy and the freedom of movement, 
some companies have self-regulated the sale of 
facial recognition to law enforcement, and the use of 
this technology in public spaces faces an upcoming 
ban in the EU.88 Concerns also extend to the use 
of biometric technologies to analyze emotions. 
Other forms of monitoring are already becoming 
commonplace. Automated AI-based tools such as 
chatbots collect a wide amount of personal data to 
function effectively. The mass move to home working 
during the pandemic has led to tracking of workers 
through cameras, keystroke monitoring, productivity 
software and audio recordings – practices which are 
permitted under data-protection legislation in certain 
circumstances, but which collect deeper and more 
sensitive data than previous mechanisms.89 

More insidiously, the spread of networked data 
is increasing surveillance potential by a growing 
number of both public- and private-sector actors, 
despite stringent regulatory protection.90 As our 
lives become increasingly digitalized over the 
next decade, our “everyday experience” will be 
recorded and commodified through internet-enabled 
devices, more intelligent infrastructure and “smart” 
cities – a passive, pervasive and persistent form of 
networked observations that are already being used 
to create targeted profiles.91 This pattern will only 
be enhanced by the metaverse, which could collect 
and track even more sensitive data, including facial 
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expressions, gait, vital signs, brainwave patterns and 
vocal inflections.92 

Individuals have usually consented to the collection of 
data for the associated beneficial use of the service 
or product, given the wave of new and stronger data 
protection policies in many markets.93 However, as 
the collection, commercialization and sharing of data 
grows, consent in one area may reveal far more than 
intended when aggregated with other data points. 
This is known as the “mosaic effect”, which gives rise 
to two key privacy risks: re-identification and attribute 
disclosure.94 Research suggests that 99.98% of US 
residents could be correctly re-identified in any data 
set – including those that are heavily sampled and 
anonymized – using 15 demographic attributes.95 
Researchers have used this theory to uncover the 
political preferences of streaming users,96 match 
DNA from publicly-available research databases to 
randomly selected individuals,97 and link medical 
billing records from an open data set to individual 
patients.98

In consequential terms, this means that an 
international organization may share anonymized data 
with partner governments to support effective and 
efficient crisis responses. However, when combined 
with other data sets, it could allow the identification 
and tracking of vulnerable refugees and displaced 
persons – or compromise the location of camps 
and the supply chains of critical goods.99 Data on 
race, ethnicity, sexual orientation and immigration 
status can be legally obtained in some markets 
and re-identified to varying degrees, enabling civil 
harassment and abuse. In one such example, the 
sexual orientation of a priest was obtained through 
the purchase of smartphone location data and 
announced by a religious publication.100

Data-enabled anocracies

The right to privacy is not absolute; it is traded-off 
against government surveillance and preventative 
policing for the purposes of national security. 
However, the surveillance potential of data has 
meant that access to sensitive information can 
increasingly be obtained without due process or 
transparency.101 In some cases, data protection 
laws that require consent effectively waive the legal 
protections against electronic surveillance of private 
communications and location data.102

In the United States of America, data is aggregated 
and sold on the open market with limited regulatory 
restrictions, meaning enforcement agencies can 
purchase GPS location data without warrants or 
public disclosure. For example, theoretically, police 
could use automated licence plate data (obtained 
by both private- and public-sector organizations) to 
prosecute out-of-state abortions – leading Google 
to announce that it would auto-delete location 
data for users that visit related centres.103 There is 
also increasing political and regulatory pressure to 
weaken encryption mechanisms adopted by private 

companies, particularly as it relates to terrorist 
investigations, despite broader implications to the 
ongoing security of civilians’ data.104

Potential for misuse will be especially problematic 
for users residing in countries with poor digital 
rights records, inadequate regulatory protection 
frameworks, or authoritarian tendencies. Forms 
of digital repression to quell politically motivated 
uprisings, such as the use of spyware to track 
activist activities, are already driving significant 
human rights violations in the Middle East.105 
Recent reports have also highlighted potential 
digital rights violations in Africa stemming from 
the rapid expansion of biometric programmes 
that include voter registration, CCTV with facial 
recognition, mandatory SIM card registration and 
refugee registration.106 As more emerging markets 
look towards progressing their smart city plans, the 
collection of sensitive citizen data could expose 
societies to additional peril if poorly governed and 
protected.107

Security concerns posed by sensitive data and its 
potential abuse are well-recognized by governments. 
Countries have adopted more widespread data 
localization policies, tightened regulation of 
research collaborations, and banned some foreign-
owned companies from certain markets, including 
telecommunications, surveillance equipment and 
mobile applications, to limit the collection and 
possession of sensitive data by non-allied states.108 
Yet, less attention is being paid to the potential for 
overreach and abuse of this data in the name of 
national security. The slow and legal erosion of the 
digital sovereignty of individuals can have unintended 
and far-reaching consequences for social control and 
the erosion of democracies – including, for example, 
by compromising freedom of the press.
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Growing trade-offs between 
innovation and security

Data is an important factor of production, and 
collection and flows are essential to fuel innovation 
for enhanced economic productivity (including 
automation), as well as socially beneficial uses.109 
More expansive and innovative applications of 
AI and other emerging technologies will require 
cross-industry and public-private data aggregation. 
The centralization and consolidation of some 
types of data can lend a competitive advantage 
to economies, such as through improved 
health outcomes associated with advances in 
biotechnology.110 Yet governments may also 
increasingly struggle to balance the potential harm 
of privacy loss against the benefits of more rapid 
development of emerging technologies.

At the same time, to address the growing 
concentration of data in the hands of a small 
number of private-sector companies, governments 
may increasingly push for open-data policies from 
both public- and private-sector sources, mirroring 
recent regulatory moves by the EU around data 
spaces and marketplaces.111 Such policies – like the 
creation of public data trusts for research purposes 
– will likely affect both domestic companies and 
industries, as well as allied countries. This may 
benefit more widespread and diffused innovation, 
but it will also expand risks as they enable privacy 
breaches at a much larger scale. Privacy will 
strongly influence these agreements: the US 
government recently committed to heightened 
safeguards for transatlantic data flows, including 
from US intelligence activities.112 

However, many of these data sets may still be 
subject to the threat of re-identification, even 
with recent developments in privacy-enhancing 
technologies such as synthetic data, federated 
learning and differential privacy.113 Research 
suggests that sensitive databases and technologies, 
such as pools of biological data and DNA 
sequencing, are already vulnerable to attack.114 
Sensitive health data is governed inconsistently 
and the creation of large pools of personal data 
are creating lucrative targets for cybercriminals, 
particularly given the less stable geopolitical 
environment and limited norms currently governing 
cyberwarfare. The potential consequences of the 
large-scale theft of biometric or genomic information 
are largely unknown but may allow for targeted 
bioweaponry.

Acting today

At a national level, a patchwork of fragmented data 
policy regimes at local or state levels raises the risk 
of accidental and intentional abuses of data in a 
manner that was not considered by the individual’s 
original consent. Harmonizing policies at a national 

level will enable more effective, less complicated 
cross-border data-sharing mechanisms to power 
innovation while still ensuring adequate protection 
for individuals.

Developing a more globally consistent taxonomy, 
data standards, and legal definition of personal 
and sensitive information is a key enabler. These 
frameworks should recognize that sensitivity can 
rise from data-driven inferences that are enabled 
by large data sets, the proliferation of online social 
networks, and the blurring of personal and industrial 
data in the roll-out of the IOT and implementation of 
“smarter” cities.115 For example, one company was 
recently fined under the EU’s GDPR (General Data 
Protection Regulation) for targeted advertising that 
inferred a medical condition (deemed as a special 
category of data) on the basis of purchase history.116

Historically severe fines for data loss are also 
helping change the cost-benefit assessment 
around investment in cybersecurity measures, 
but questions remain around the individual rights 
to action, damage and compensation in cases of 
breach.117 It will be incumbent on organizations to 
consider the ethics of data collection and usage 
to minimize reputational considerations beyond 
regulatory compliance. In addition, spurred by both 
increased cyberattacks and tighter data laws, the 
voluntary disposal and destruction of personal data 
may become a stronger priority – with potential 
environmental co-benefits of minimizing data 
storage needs. Finally, governments will also need 
to development emergency capabilities to respond 
to data breaches and violation of privacy to minimize 
follow-on repercussions. 
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The threat of a sovereign debt crisis has been 
brewing, with public debt growing as interest rates 
have fallen. Governments have leveraged cheap 
money to invest in future growth and help stabilize 
distressed financial systems, providing massive 
fiscal support during the pandemic and to shield 
households and businesses from the current cost-
of-living crisis. However, high levels of debt may not 
be sustainable under tighter economic conditions. 
The rapid and widespread normalization of monetary 
policies, accompanied by a stronger US dollar and 
weaker risk sentiment, has already increased debt 
vulnerabilities that are likely to remain heightened for 
years. 

Stagflation on a global scale, combined with 
historically high levels of public debt, could have 
vast consequences.118 Even with a softer landing, 
the consequences of debt-trap diplomacy and 
rockier restructuring raise the risk of debt distress – 
and even default – spreading to more systemically 
important markets, paralysing the global economic 
system. Further, even comparatively orderly fiscal 
consolidation is likely to impact spending on human 
capital and development, ultimately threatening the 
resilience of economies and societies in the face of 
the next global shock, whatever form it might take. 

The rising price of debt

General government gross debt in advanced 
economies hit 112% of GDP in 2022, compared 
to roughly 65% of GDP for emerging and 
developing markets.119 Yet as identified in Chapter 
1.2, Economic downturn, some developing 
and emerging markets are feeling the impacts 
of tightening monetary policy and deteriorating 
economic conditions first and most acutely. For 
example, Ghana recently reached an agreement with 
the IMF regarding a $3 billion bailout and Zambia is 
seeking to conclude restructuring of $15 billion in 
external debt early this year. A broad-based global 
recession within the year120 could temper inflation 
and cap interest rate rises, but there is a higher risk 
of balance-of-payments crisis in the short-term, 
alongside a credit crunch over the mid to longer 
term.121 Emerging market banks also hold a larger 
proportion of domestic public debt, with the potential 
for distress to spread to banks, households and 
pension funds.122 Larger emerging markets exhibiting 
a heightened risk of default include Argentina, Egypt, 
Ghana, Kenya, Tunisia, Pakistan and Türkiye.123 

Downside risks loom large, and another global shock 
could result in deeper and more prolonged economic 
disorder. Stagflation remains a severe risk for many 
economies. Current crises, such as the war in 
Ukraine and lingering impacts of COVID-19, are still 
impacting basic inputs, including labour, energy and 
food. Continued tightness in major labour markets 

Economic stability: global debt distress2.6

may exacerbate wage inflation – meaning there may 
need to be a material increase in unemployment to 
contain consumer inflation. Extended supply-driven 
inflation could drive more painful interest rate rises, 
even amidst a slowdown in growth, leading to a 
harder landing and more widespread debt distress. 
A more systemically important emerging and 
developing economy – the likes of Mexico, South 
Africa and Poland – could face distress in coming 
years, raising the risk of financial contagion.124 

As cautioned by the International Monetary Fund 
(IMF), miscalibration between fiscal and monetary 
policies could exacerbate this further, and in 
unexpected markets.125 Questions around the 
independence of central banks risk de-anchoring 
market expectations, and monetary intervention 
to counteract inflationary fiscal policies will only 
heighten the risk of longer economic malaise. The 
United Kingdom of Great Britain's near-crisis in 
September last year is an example of the potential 
instability that could arise. The interest payable on 
the country's public debt is expected to hit £120.4 
billion for the financial year ending March 2023, up 
from £69.9 billion, the highest on record.126 The Bank 
of England raised rates from 0.1% in December 
2021 to 3.5% in December 2022, yet was forced 
to intervene with an emergency quantitative easing 
programme in September to counter the market 
reaction to the UK government’s proposed fiscal 
stimulus.127 In the absence of a global shock, the 
“veto power” of the markets will increasingly limit 
fiscal expansion, even in advanced economies.128 

The new geopolitics of debt

For now, the ratio of defaulted versus total global 
public debt remains very low by historic standards 
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and far lower than peaks experienced in the 1980s 
(Figure 1.6). However, this partially reflects the 
growth in absolute public debt levels. Despite record 
IMF emergency lending and a $650 billion allocation 
in special drawing rights,129 more than 54 countries 
are currently in need of debt relief, representing 
less than 3% of the global economy. Yet these 
countries represent 18% of the global population 
and account for more than 50% of people living in 
extreme poverty.130 Fears of contagion and further 
capital flight could weaken debt sustainability in a 
growing number of lower-income countries. The 
scale of debt defaults will influence the depth of 
available restructuring, with some creditor countries 
hesitant to bail out distressed states on sufficiently 
concessionary terms, due to their own tightening 
fiscal space and rising domestic needs. There may 
also be a shift away from overseas development 
assistance towards loans to continue to support 
development and wield economic power. This has 
a lower domestic cost but exacerbates the debt 
burden on these markets and increases the risk of a 
larger wave of defaults in the future.

It is not only the scale but the complexity of potential 
debt restructuring and need for global cooperation 
that will determine the extent to which defaults can 
be contained (Figure 2.10). Creditors have expanded 
to include quasi-sovereign entities and the private 
sector, such as commodity traders and producers. 
Although this expansion has provided new avenues 
of financing, the coordination of relief between 
international organizations, the “Paris Club” and 

other state creditors, as well as the private sector will 
continue to complicate attempts at restructuring. For 
example, only three countries – Chad, Ethiopia and 
Zambia – are currently undergoing treatment under 
the G20 Common Framework for Debt Treatments. 
All remain unresolved, reflecting challenging 
geopolitical and economic dynamics as well as a 
lack of transparency.131 

The call for wealthier economies to intervene 
bilaterally is growing – likely increasing longer-term 
geopolitical tensions. China has become a large 
bilateral creditor to many low-income countries 
and, by some estimates, has become the largest 
official creditor globally.132 Energy exporters, such as 
the Middle East and the United States of America, 
are also well-placed to step into the gap over the 
medium-term. Renewed soft power approaches 
and debt-trap diplomacy could redraw regional 
and global political lines, driving currency blocs 
and possibly exacerbating pressures on developing 
countries as supply chains shift to mirror economic 
alliances.133 This trend could also destabilize security 
dynamics, as debt is leveraged to pull developing 
economies into the military expansion of larger 
powers (see Chapter 2.4: Human security).

Yet as the number of sovereign defaults grow, 
creditor countries and companies could become 
more exposed to debt contagion, including 
systemically important banks, pension funds and 
state creditors. This will interact with other domestic 
debt vulnerabilities, including the private sector 
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and state-owned entities,135 to raise aggregate 
exposure and place pressure on the solvency of 
even advanced and large emerging economies. A 
sovereign debt default in a systemically important 
economy could result in systemic proliferation with a 
devastating impact on a global scale. 

A looming investment shortfall

Even in the absence of a global crisis, the 1980s 
“lost decade” of development in Latin America and 
Sub-Saharan Africa provides a very real example of 
the economic and humanitarian crisis that can arise 
from a sovereign debt default, including currency 
free falls, collapses in output, cost-of-living crises 
and rapid increases in poverty. The 41 countries 
that defaulted on their debt in the first half of the 
decade required eight years, on average, to reach 
their pre-crisis GDP per capita.136 Debt distress and 
restructuring will also have an impact on investment. 
According to GRPS results, the risk of Debt crises 
drops in perceived severity over the longer-term 
time frame, but the Collapse or lack of public 
infrastructure and services becomes more severe. 
The ability to finance continued productivity and 
resilience will be hampered by economic and political 
dynamics on both a global and national level. 

Advanced economies will have more autonomy 
to invest in future priorities, while developing 
markets may be more beholden to the demands 
of the creditor, meaning money could be diverted 

from the areas of greatest social need, including 
expenditure in public goods and infrastructure. 
Beyond the growing financial cost of natural 
disasters, emerging and developing economies will 
need to spend a higher proportion of GDP on the 
green transition and sustainable infrastructure, with 
knock-on ramifications for other public spending 
and services.137 By contrast, within the limits of 
inflationary pressures, advanced economies can 
continue to leverage more accessible financing for 
economic development, such as stronger industrial 
policy, to underpin the energy transition, widening 
the divide between countries. Necessary fiscal 
consolidation in emerging and developing economies 
may also rely heavily on spending cuts, which 
could rapidly remove social protection available to 
low-income and vulnerable populations, increasing 
poverty and inequality within countries, alongside 
social and political unrest.

Yet in a structurally different low-growth, low-
investment economic era, even advanced economies 
will need to make trade-offs. Rising unemployment, 
social unrest and political polarization, and even 
technologically-driven churn in both blue- and white-
collar jobs may influence the prioritization of current 
expenditure over longer-term capital expenditure, 
while security considerations may mean there is 
less fiscal headroom for social and environmental 
development over the medium term. The potential 
result is the de-prioritization of investment and slow 
decay of public infrastructure and services in both 
developing and advanced markets.138 Around two-
fifths of low- and lower-middle-income countries 
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cut expenditure on education by an average of 
13.5% since 2020, which, despite a minor rebound, 
fell again in 2022.139 As referenced in Chapter 2: 
Human health, the lingering economic, educational 
and healthcare overhang of the pandemic continues 
to weaken the capacity of public systems that also 
face compounding pressure from ageing populations 
in advanced economies, and rapidly expanding 
populations in some developing markets. This is a 
slow-burning risk: impacts are subtle, lagged and 
cumulative in nature, but can be highly corrosive in 
overall impact to the strength of human capital and 
development – a critical mitigant to the impact and 
likelihood of other global risks.  

Acting today

In recognition of the risks posed to broader financial 
stability, timely and deeper debt write-downs could 
allow a faster return to developmental progress for 
vulnerable countries and render a future default less 
likely. The private sector could be incentivized to 
participate in debt restructuring through a variety 
of mechanisms, including issuing of new bonds 
with stronger legal protections, loss reinstatement 
commitments and value recovery instruments – with 
the latter enabling private creditors to gain from 
upside developments in debtor countries in the 
future, such as GDP-linked instruments in Costa 
Rica, Argentina, Greece and Ukraine.140

As a complementary mechanism to more 
comprehensive debt restructuring, there may be 

increased deployment of debt-for-development deals 
(see Chapter 2.2: Natural ecosystems), particularly 
relating to climate-positive adaptation, to help break 
the correlation between exposure to climate change 
and debt vulnerability.141 However, this should not 
just be limited to environmental concerns. Social 
bond issuances have already jumped sevenfold, to 
$148 billion in 2022, targeting healthcare, education 
and small and medium-sized enterprises.142 While 
debt swaps may not create fiscal space beyond the 
specific objective, SDG-linked conditionality may 
enhance the willingness of creditors to consider debt 
relief, particularly for countries where other forms of 
fiscal support, including write-downs and conditional 
grants, may be less likely.143

Finally, we are unlikely to be able to double down on 
debt to the same extent to cushion the next crisis. 
A more proactive approach to countries that are not 
yet on the verge of debt distress could help mitigate 
the systemic risk of sovereign debt contagion. 
Recognition of simultaneous crises – debt, climate 
impacts and food security – could be integrated 
into greater flexibility and more concessional forms 
of financing available to vulnerable markets. With 
particular respect to the climate agenda, there is 
a growing expectation that packages will include 
grants, rather than rely solely on loans that add to 
overall debt burdens.144 Bilateral and multilateral 
underwriting of risk could also enable much-needed 
flows of private capital, while support for longer-term 
projects that can help crowd-in private capital, such 
as the IMF’s Resilience and Sustainability Trust, is 
also critical.145
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Resource Rivalries:  
Four Emerging Futures

3

Chapter one and Chapter two highlighted newly 
emerging and rapidly accelerating risks over the 
current, two- and 10-year time frame to provide 
analysis on risks currently unfolding or those that 
may become the next global shock. However, these 
present and future risks can also interact with each 
other to form a “polycrisis” – a cluster of related 
global risks with compounding effects, such that the 
overall impact exceeds the sum of each part.1 

Scenario thinking can be a useful tool to enable 
better anticipation of polycrises, as key drivers 
can interact in unanticipated ways and lead to 

unexpected consequences. Bearing this in mind, 
this chapter explores how connections between the 
emerging risks outlined in previous sections may 
evolve by 2030. This year, we explore Resource 
Rivalries - a potential cluster of interrelated 
environmental, geopolitical and socioeconomic risks 
relating to the supply of and demand for natural 
resources. The intent is not to exhaustively outline 
all scenarios but to provide a structured approach 
to identifying potential futures for the polycrisis that 
may be triggered, providing a framework for better 
preparedness and risk mitigation efforts today.

Anticipating “polycrises”3.1

Resource Rivalries: Four Emerging Futures

Polycrisis: natural resources, climate 
and cooperation

3.2

A growing demand-supply gap 
for natural resources

Supply-chain crises of recent years have highlighted 
the need for resilience in traditional strategic sectors. 
Reliable and cheap access to the most basic of 
necessities – food, water and energy – underpins the 
critical functioning of societies. Early data suggests 
that current crises are driving a worrying reversal of 
recent progress. An additional 200 million people 
faced acute food insecurity last year compared 
to 2019, and the number of people worldwide 
without electricity rose to an estimated 774 million, 
the equivalent of pre-pandemic levels.2 As noted 
in Chapter 1.2, Cost-of-living crisis, supply 
crises of this nature can be highly destabilizing, 
exposing the fragility of states and leading to loss 
of life, widespread violence, political upheaval and 
involuntary migration.

Demand for food, water and critical metals and 
minerals is escalating. This reflects a range of 
factors, including continued population growth, 
anticipated to reach 8.5 billion by 2030,3 and 
socioeconomic advancement, with a push to achieve 
the UN’s Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) by 
the target date of 2030. Global food consumption 

is projected to increase by 1.4% annually over the 
next decade, concentrated in low- to middle-income 
countries, versus a 1.1% per annum increase in 
production.4 One estimate places the gap between 
water demand and supply at 40% by 2030, with a 
dramatic and unequal increase in demand between 
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Cooperation and climate as key 
forces for disruption

In the 2030 time frame, two critical factors will 
determine the trajectory of our ability to match 
supply and demand for these resources as well 
as the scale of the associated polycrisis: 1) the 
degree of global cooperation that allows the flow of 
resources across national borders, and 2) the impact 
of climate change on the supply of natural resources 
and speed of the low-carbon transition (Box 3.1).

Together, these two axes lead to four hypothetical 
futures for 2030:

•	 	Resource collaboration – the danger of 
natural scarcity: effective climate action 
measures and flexible supply chains enabled by 
global cooperation largely absorb the impacts 
of climate change on food production. However, 
shortages in water and metals and minerals 

cannot be avoided. Persistently high commodity 
prices slow climate mitigation – despite ambitions 
– and add to inflationary pressures in broader 
value chains, while water stress leads to a 
growing, but comparatively contained, health and 
humanitarian crisis in developing nations. 

•	 	Resource constraints – the danger of 
divergent distress: current crises draw focus 
and slow climate action, exposing the most 
vulnerable countries to hunger and energy 
shocks, even as countries cooperate to 
partially address constraints. In the absence of 
intervention, the water and mineral shortages 
experienced in the Resource collaboration 
scenario act as a multiplier to broader risks. A 
multi-resource, humanitarian crisis emerges in 
developing markets as food and water resources 
are impacted by the physical consequences of 
climate change, alongside global disruptions to 
trade, political stability and economic growth.  

Edges

Collapse of a systemically
important supply chain

Biodiversity loss and
ecosystem collapse

Environmental
damage incidents

Geoeconomic
confrontation

Interstate conflict

Cost-of-living crisis

Natural resource crises Failure to mitigate
climate change

Natural disasters and
extreme weather

Failure of climate-change adaption

Source

World Economic Forum, Global Risks
Perception Survey 2022-2023.
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Edges
Relative influence

High

Low
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Risk influence
Nodes

High

Low
Medium

Reference

countries.5 The continued expansion into secure, 
renewable energy and related infrastructure will also 
drive exponential demand for finite critical metals and 
minerals.6 Significant even in absolute terms, annual 
demand for these resources, such as graphite, 
lithium and cobalt, is anticipated to hit 450% of 2018 
production levels by 2050.7 

Together, the set of emerging demand and supply 
concerns around natural resources are already 
becoming an area of growing alarm. GRPS 
respondents identified strong relationships and two-
way linkages between “Natural resource crises” 
and the other risks identified in previous chapters 
(Figure 3.1), pointing to the potential polycrisis that 
may evolve over the medium term. 
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•	 	Resource competition – the danger of 
resource autarkies: distrust drives a push 
for self-sufficiency in high-income countries, 
limiting the need for rivalry over food and water 
to a degree, but widening divides between 
countries. State intervention is centred on the 
resource most exposed to a concentration in 
supply – critical metals and minerals – leading 
to shortages, price wars and the transformation 
of business models across industries. Resource 
power shifts, driving the formation of new blocs 
as well as wedges in existing alliances between 
mineral-rich and -poor countries, while the 
potential for accidental or intentional conflict 
escalates. 

•	 	Resource control – the danger of resource 
wars: alongside the weaponization of metals and 
minerals explored in Resource competition, 

geopolitical dynamics exacerbate climate-
induced shortages in food and water. This 
results in a truly global, multi-resource crisis, with 
widespread socioeconomic impacts that exceed 
those faced in other futures in both scope 
and scale, including famine and water scarcity 
refugees. Geoeconomic warfare is widespread, 
but more aggressive clashes between states 
become one of the few means to ensure supply 
of basic necessities for populations.

Given the nature of the polycrisis in each scenario, 
we face various environmental and socioeconomic 
upsides and downsides. The following section 
outlines an illustrative, but non-exhaustive set of mid-
term futures to help support business leaders and 
policy-makers in preparing for – and preventing – the 
progression of the crises we are facing today.

We use two global drivers – geoeconomic 
confrontation and speed of climate action – 
to create four futures we may face by 2030, 
considering potential implications based on the 
evolution of these risks and their interactions 
(Figure 3.2). 
 
First, we explore the potential risks of a failure of 
climate-change adaptation and failure of climate 
mitigation efforts, described in Chapter 1.2, 
Climate action hiatus, and the extent to which 
these failures could result in conditions of scarcity, 
on a continuum (y-axis):

•	 	Accelerated climate action: climate action 
and associated funding and innovation are 
prioritized. By 2030, we see persistently 
expanding but largely well-managed impacts of 
climate change, nature loss, natural disasters 
and extreme weather events at a global level, 
alongside a more rapid energy transition and 

Futures frameworkBOX 1

other climate mitigation efforts as well as more 
rapid adaptation. 

•	 	Slow climate action: trade-offs between 
environmental, social and security goals slow 
the prioritization of attention and resources 
to address climate change. By 2030, there 
has been insufficient or ineffective progress 
towards the adaptation support required to 
protect infrastructure and populations from 
changing climactic conditions. Paired with 
relatively slow efforts at mitigation, this has 
resulted in continued damage to natural 
ecosystems and an increasing financial and 
humanitarian impact. 

In parallel, the intensity of the demand-supply gap 
in natural resources will reflect the mechanisms 
by which states look to boost security in key 
resources. We consider the extent to which 
the evolution of Geoeconomic confrontation, 
highlighted in Chapter 1.2, Economic warfare, 
could create conditions of scarcity, by considering 
two ends of a continuum (x-axis): 

•	 	Geoeconomic cooperation: characterized by 
open dialogue and broadscale, but not always 
successful, economic and trade collaboration 
between powers through relevant bilateral and 
multilateral mechanisms and forums. Well-
established principles governing trade policies 
and state aid are respected. 

•	 	Geoeconomic confrontation: direct and 
indirect clashes between global and regional 
powers through the extensive exercise of hard 
or soft economic, industrial and technological 
power. There is limited collaboration on global 
economic and trade issues and a breakdown 
or paralysis of mechanisms of cooperation, as 
well as alliances.
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By 2030, the world is subject to more widespread 
and dramatic climate impacts – but we are prepared. 
Capital, intellectual property and technological 
innovations flow relatively freely across borders (x-axis). 
Multilateral and market-led initiatives have unlocked 
a range of financing mechanisms and innovation to 
support climate-proofing against future disasters 
and a rapid shift to climate mitigation efforts (y-axis). 
In response to public pressure, governments have 
broadly prioritized spending towards adaptation – and 
in some cases mitigation – alongside other social and 
security concerns, dampening the impact of climate 
change on societal vulnerabilities. In this future, the 
scaling of food has been supported by international 
flows of financing and technology, and shortages 
muted by flexible supply chains. Downside impacts 
are primarily focused on resources that face barriers to 
trading or scaling: water and critical minerals. 

Climate-driven declines in agricultural productivity 
have been met with a range of measures in 
most countries, with climate and nature-based 
interventions helping to transform food systems to 
be regenerative, climate-smart and healthy. Global 
sharing of data and technologies has allowed 
more effective pre-emptive adaptation measures 
to be taken, such as the targeted use of flood- 
and drought-resilient seeds in some vulnerable 
geographies. Although environmental degradation 
continues to threaten aquaculture and fisheries, 
targeted nature-based adaptation measures have 
shored up domestic food networks (see Chapter 
2.2: Natural Ecosystems). 

The allocation of risk has begun to shift away from 
vulnerable workforces and communities. The burden 
of continued weather shocks has been partially 
offset through adaptation actions, financed by fit-for-
purpose financial products, including weather-based 
index insurance, climate-related loan products, 
guaranteed credit lines, and well-managed risk-
based exits from extreme-event-prone geographies.8 
Supply shocks stemming from natural disasters are 
quickly absorbed by flexible, market-driven supply 
chains, and global food insecurity continues to slowly 
trend downwards. 

Risks remain: some natural resources are scarce, 
even in a climate-adapted, geopolitically cooperative 
world. Demand for geographically concentrated 
critical metals and minerals has risen dramatically, 
reflecting a push for secure, renewable energy 
sources in the wake of the war in Ukraine, and 
renewed urgency of net-zero ambitions over recent 
years. Despite sufficient resource deposits in most 
minerals,9 this exponential increase in demand has 
proved difficult to meet through a rapid expansion 
of supply. Shortages initially stemmed from limited 
exploration and significant capital requirements, 
but the rise in commodity prices have subsequently 
helped to scale production, with companies now 
targeting deposits previously deemed unextractable 
for economic or technological reasons.

However, shortages in key materials remain a near- 
and mid-term concern, given time lags to production. 
Further, environmental concerns have limited 
domestic extraction in several advanced and some 
emerging economies, as well as by multinational 
mining companies headquartered in the West. 
Scrutiny from investors, downstream industries and 
the public have led to longer approval processes and 
more stringent environmental and social standards. 
For example, since the early 2020s, the expansion 
of lithium mining in Portugal has been significantly 
delayed due to environmental approvals; projects 
in Canada and Australia have slowed based on 
concerns relating to indigenous communities; and 
a rare species of buckwheat has limited domestic 
mining in key locations in the United States of 
America.10

Higher commodity prices have driven inflationary 
impacts along the wider value chain, explored further 
(and felt more acutely) in the section on Resource 
competition. This has encouraged some countries 
and multinational companies to accelerate efforts 
to turn towards the circular economy as a means 
of securing and diversifying the supply of critical 
minerals and metals, reducing the need for extraction 
and associated emissions. Industry coalitions are 
working with future-focused governments to establish 
the incentives, policy frameworks, standards and 
certifications, and circularity-focused capabilities that 
are necessary to scale.11 In some markets, business 
models are being transformed to decrease demand 
and increase both the recovery potential and actual 
recovery of metals and minerals, partially mitigating 
the demand-supply gap going forward. 

Despite these efforts and continued climate 
ambitions, higher prices and shortages are slowing 
momentum for the green energy transition in the 
short-term. In lower-income economies without local 
minerals and metals assets, the promise of support 
with green energy infrastructure is partly unfulfilled, 
and some are considering reverting to carbon-
intensive energy sources to secure energy.12

The ability to scale water supply has similarly been 

Four futures for 20303.3

Resource collaboration –  
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constrained. Water monitoring, efficiency and 
production measures have been prioritized by cities, 
local and national governments to address more 
frequent and severe droughts and the growing water 
footprint of food production. Water remains heavily 
subsidized, but pricing is used to curb demand and 
encourage investment by the private sector and 
households in water-efficient, re-usable solutions, 
including rainwater harvesting and stormwater 
runoffs. Some countries have limited the use of price 
controls to industrial use, while others apply them 
more broadly across populations, further fueling 
inflation, cost-of-living pressures and unrest. But even 
significant drops in water demand and waste have not 
kept pace with the impact of climate change on water 
resources in the most exposed regions (Figure 3.3). 
The capacity to scale supply through mechanisms 
such as desalinization and purification differ between 
countries for geographical and economic reasons. 
Water security continues to be threatened in some of 
these countries, with growing regional impacts from 
hygiene and health crises, urban migration, internal 
displacement and involuntary migration.

Resource constraints –  
the danger of divergent distress

Despite strong headwinds in the early 2020s, 
geoeconomic cooperation resumes in the latter 
half of the decade, with stronger global trade as 
well as efforts on climate cooperation (x-axis), 
mirroring Resource collaboration. However, 
domestic funding – and therefore overall investment 
– in adaptation measures as well as technological 
innovation has not kept pace with climate impacts 
to date (y-axis), given competing priorities, a 
growing insurance gap and continued costs of 
disaster recovery. In this future, even international 
coordination cannot address triple-shortages in 
food, water and energy in the most vulnerable 
nations, with extended climate-induced distress 
and disruptions to trade, and political and economic 
stability. 

In the absence of appropriate intervention, 
water availability is now a concern in all regions. 
Snowmelt, glacial melt and groundwater availability 
has diminished, while 10% of global land area has 
experienced an increase in extremely high and 
low river flows in the same location. Continued 
geopolitical cooperation is evident through 
widespread engagement in the range of multilateral 
mechanisms governing these resources, from the 
1992 Convention on the Protection and Use of 
Transboundary Watercourses and International Lakes 
(Water Convention) and the 1997 Convention on the 
Law of the Non-navigational Uses of International 
Watercourses (Watercourses Convention), to bilateral 
and regional agreements. 

However, water stress acts as a multiplier to 
shortages of other key resources. In the absence 
of effective adaptation, agricultural productivity is 
severely impacted by climate change, diverging in 
intensity between regions. Crop yields have fallen in 
volume and nutritional value due to heat, changing 
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Level of water stress (SDG 6.4.2) by major river basin (reference year 2018). It is calculated as the 
ratio between (a) the amount of total freshwater resources withdrawn in the three economic 
sectors (Agriculture, Service and Industry) and (b) the total renewable freshwater resources after 
detracting the amount of water needed to support existing environmental services.

F I G U R E  3 . 3 Level of water stress by major river basin, 2018
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weather patterns, dry and wet precipitation extremes, 
and shifts to the distribution of insects, pests and 
diseases.14 Agricultural output in the United States 
of America has declined overall due to decreased 
production of rice, corn, soy and wheat.15 Russian 
agricultural yields have fallen in the country’s most 
productive southern regions and have not been 
fully balanced by the expansion of arable land in the 
country’s north, where soils remain less productive.16 
Climate change has reduced rice, wheat and 
corn yields by 8% in China.17 Without focused 
conservation and restoration efforts, ocean warming 
and acidification has caused broadscale declines in 
aquaculture and fisheries, threatening not only food 
security but also livelihoods in some of the most 
climate-exposed countries.

High-latitude, high-income and high-tech countries 
are comparatively less impacted, either due to 
contained climate impacts for now, or leveraging of 
rapid innovation to address food and water security 
challenges.18 Free-flowing global supply chains have 
helped distribute the overall hit to food production 
levels, but the most resource-insecure countries are 
those vulnerable to two prolonged crises: debt and 
climate change. Given the extended capital flight 
earlier in the decade, and without the fiscal space to 
speed up adaptation measures (see Chapter 1.2, 
Economic downturn), these countries have become 
even more heavily import-dependent, unable to scale 
food production to meet the demands of population 
growth, given water stress and deteriorated soil 
conditions. 

Green-energy supply is also at risk. Companies 
mining critical metals and minerals in water-stressed 
regions face regular interruptions to operations or 
closures, or are forced to invest in water sources that 
do not directly compete with human consumption, 
partially exacerbating shortages, as described in 
Resource collaboration. This elevates commodity 
prices further, slowing the roll-out of green energy 
infrastructure. In parallel, the frequency and severity 
of heatwaves and droughts has forced green energy 
sources – biofuels, hydropower and nuclear – into 
periodic production cuts, and some are on the verge 
of becoming stranded assets. Electrical supply has 
been destabilized in the near-term for many countries, 

including Brazil, South Africa, China, Germany and the 
United States of America, increasingly turning these 
markets towards alternate energy sources. 

Even in the absence of geopolitically fuelled shocks 
or constraints, continued price pressures on food, 
water and energy have resulted in an elongated 
cost-of-living crisis in selected markets, ushering in 
wage strikes, violent protests and state instability. 
Socioeconomic impacts have also begun to spread 
to more advanced economies, with a risk of partial 
deindustrialization caused by combined energy-water 
shortages. The shutdown of waterborne transport 
of trade is more regularly disrupting global supply 
chains, placing pressure on road and rail transports 
and dampening global economic growth.19 Energy- 
and water-intensive strategic industries, such as 
semiconductor manufacturing, located in resource-
insecure areas, have become new geopolitical 
hotspots, raising the risk of prolonged disputes and 
possible conflicts. 

Resource competition –  
the danger of resource autarkies
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In this future, there is accelerated climate action by 
2030 (y-axis) but global powers are aiming for self-
sufficiency in key resources, leaving many emerging 
and developing countries comparatively exposed. 
Heightened geopolitical confrontation is focused 
in the most geographically concentrated resource: 
metals and minerals (x-axis).

In anticipation of a deteriorating geopolitical 
environment, self-sufficiency in sources of food 
production has been scaled up in countries that 
can afford it, alongside a focus on adaptation, 
as considered in Resource collaboration. Food 
productivity has been enhanced, in part via 
technology, such as gene editing of crops, even in 
the absence of extensive multilateral cooperation on 
such technology. A sharper focus on productivity 
of existing farmlands, dietary shifts and reductions 
in food loss and waste are being utilized as levers. 
Efficiency in agricultural practices, land-use and food 
systems have allowed some countries to decouple 
food security and biodiversity trends, partially 
addressing the estimated 33% of global food 
production previously wasted through unsustainable 
production and consumption. 

While this has led to enhanced food production 
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overall in many advanced economies, the benefits 
have not been widely shared, with significant 
divergence in the level of food security between 
countries. Even as some global trade in protein has 
continued, shortages and higher prices have hit 
lower socioeconomic groups, and developing and 
emerging countries the hardest, particularly those 
least able to scale food production in the absence 
of international support. This includes parts of 
Africa, Central and South America, Small Island 
Developing States (SIDS) and South Asia, where 
many economies have faced nearly decade-long 
triple crises: debt, population growth and climate 
change. Global poverty, climate-sensitive livelihood 
crises, malnutrition and diet-related diseases, 
state instability and involuntary migration have all 
risen, elongating and spreading the instability and 
humanitarian crises described in Chapter 1.2, 
Cost-of-living crisis. 

Critical metals and minerals are a key area of 
geopolitical confrontation due to their geographic 
concentration. These resources are not only 
essential to renewable energy capture, storage 
and efficiency, but also continue to be leveraged 
for a wide range of other industrial applications, 
including technological and military end-uses (Figure 
3.4).21 Indium is part of touch screens as well as 
solar panels; lithium compounds are utilized by 
the pharmaceutical industry; cobalt has multiple 
aerospace applications but is also of increasing 
interest as a catalyst for green hydrogen production; 
and vanadium is used as an input for industrial-scale 
batteries as well as a steel alloy in nuclear reactors, 
space vehicles and aircraft carriers. The resulting 
demand-supply gap described in Resource 
collaboration is exacerbated in this future because 
of geopolitical rivalries, exposing the brittleness of 
global supply chains with limited opportunities for 

geographic diversification. For example, in the early 
half of the 2020s, the United States was 100% 
net import-reliant for 14 critical minerals, including 
gallium, natural graphite, indium and vanadium.22 
At the time, China was the leading producer for 
16 of the 32 strategic minerals, including the 
aforementioned resources, representing 98%, 82%, 
58% and 66%, respectively, of the world’s total 
production.23

With a trend towards remilitarization (see Chapter 
2.4: Human security), these strategic resources 
have become one of the primary fronts of economic 
warfare over the latter half of the decade. Despite 
competing fiscal priorities, more states have sought 
to diversify supply through domestic extraction 
where available, although many face environmental 
constraints outlined in Resource collaboration. 
Enhanced capacity in processing and refining 
has been targeted in particular by states with 
limited resource reserves (Figure 3.5). Resilience, 
particularly for import-reliant markets, has partially 
translated into redundancies, with the building of 
stockpiles of key materials exacerbating supply 
crises. Inbound investment screening – which only 
advanced economies have been able to afford 
the opportunity cost – has been expanded to 
mining and related industries to minimize foreign 
interference. Other countries have followed the 
lead of Canada, ordering certain foreign companies 
to unwind investments in mining due to the 
perceived threats to national security.24 With limited 
options, outbound investment screening is now 
being contemplated by import-reliant markets 
as a potential lever, although most major powers 
continue to leverage increasingly state-directed 
investment in emerging export markets across Latin 
America and Africa as a means of securing access 
to these resources.

Source

Leruth, et al. 2022.20

Note

Largest producers and consumers are indicative only. 

F I G U R E  3 . 4 Relevance of critical metals and minerals

Indicative supply chains: key producers and consumers
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The importance and influence of allied blocs have 
grown, with countries building and favouring 
domestic and “trusted” supply chains in their search 
for resource security. The geographic distribution 
of numerous metals and minerals has ensured a 
degree of mutual interdependence. For example, 
Brazil has scaled lithium, rare earth elements and 
nickel production, but has remained dependent 
on others for refining and on neighbours for other 
resources such as copper and cobalt.26 The EU and 
Canada have continued their Strategic Partnership 
on Raw Materials, extending the scope of the 
agreement beyond the development and financing 
of critical mineral projects to increased collaboration 
on related technologies.27 

Yet resource nationalism has also driven cracks 
in existing alliances – becoming the next Airbus 
vs. Boeing – with disputes arising first around the 
application of state aid to boost domestic mining 
and processing industries. The expanding use of 
the national security exemption at the WTO has also 
increasingly paralysed multilateral trade mechanisms, 
rendering them ineffective in addressing geopolitical 
confrontation in a world where local resilience and 
security is prioritized over comparative advantage 
and efficiency. Bilateral mechanisms are elevated in 
importance as the primary vehicle for disputes. 
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Source

IEA, World Energy Outlook Special Report: The Role of Critical 
Minerals in Clean Energy Transitions, 2022, US Geological 
Study, Mineral Commodity Summaries (various), 2022.25

Note

References to 1% refer to <1%.

F I G U R E  3 . 5 Reserves of critical metals and minerals

Shortages artificially inflated by geoeconomic rivalries 
and price volatility, including of related products such 
as batteries and semiconductors, have reverberated 
throughout the supply chains of multiple industries. 
Shorter supply chains reflecting geopolitical alliances 
have ensued. State intervention has become more 
common and stringent, with government planning 
directly and indirectly allocating available resources 
for prioritised industries; some followed Mexico’s 
suit by renationalizing assets associated with key 
metals and minerals.28 Multiple “civilian” sectors 
have been forced to adapt to greater cross-industry 
competition. For example, Tesla built a lithium 
refinery in the United States of America,29 and an 
uptick in offtake agreements have quickly spiralled 
into direct investments and more vertical integration, 
creating fresh challenges for competitiveness 
regulations.

A number of developing and emerging markets 
have become net beneficiaries of this heightened 
interest of both the public and private sector, 
including Indonesia, Morocco and the lithium 
triangle of Plurinational State of Bolivia, Argentina 
and Chile. However, these countries have had to 
walk a tightrope as global powers exert control 
through trade, investment and technological ties and 
seek to constrain access by rival states. Alongside 
enhanced nationalization, this has led to the relatively 
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recent creation of OMEC: an organization of mineral 
exporting countries, similar to OPEC.30 While the 
resource boom has offered a path to growth for 
some of these countries, for others the focus 
on these assets has created a “Dutch Disease” 
phenomenon, or led to increased corruption, 
inequality, violence and humanitarian crises.31 

Further, illicit activities and the risk of accidental or 
intentional escalation into hot warfare over resources 
has risen, particularly in the border zones and global 
commons. Export constraints on minerals have 
placed upwards pressure on broader international 
governance and enforcement mechanisms that 
oversee new exploration zones – including those 
relating to mining in international waters, polar 
regions and in space. As the hunt for new mineral 
sources turns to the ocean, national marine 
jurisdictions are increasingly contentious, with a 
growing proportion of territory under dispute.32

Resource control –  
the danger of resource wars

By 2030, investment in adaptation measures has 
not kept pace with climate impacts to date (y-axis). 
At the same time, geopolitical dynamics have turned 
the natural resource crisis from one of affordability 
to one of availability (x-axis), creating a cascading 
economic, environmental and humanitarian crisis in 
all but a handful of select countries – but even these 
remain exposed through cross-border effects. In this 
future, the resulting socioeconomic fall-out exceeds 
the scope and scale of all other futures, and state 
intervention turns even more aggressive, expanding 
beyond economic confrontation to secure supply of 
necessities for populations. 

Building on Resource constraints, both affordability 
and availability concerns are widening inequality. 
Reflecting Resource competition, self-sufficient 
sources of food production have been scaled 
up, but with limited sharing of innovation and 
financing, the tipping point of overall productivity 
growth in agriculture has already passed. Without 
effective policy, financing and technological support 
for adaptation practices, lower socioeconomic 
communities and countries have resorted to changes 
in crop choice and large shifts in land-use patterns to 
maintain current production growth.33 Agriculture has 
become an even larger driver of global emissions. 
Land-clearance for crops and grazing have led 
to deforestation, and an increase in livestock has 

resulted in even more emissions, including the very 
potent methane. Intensive and inefficient farming has 
exacerbated soil degradation, water stress, pollution 
and the decline in production capacity. This has 
created broader domestic trade-offs, particularly with 
sectors directly dependent on biological resources, 
with knock-on impacts for economic growth and 
productivity and the speed of the green transition. 
Arable land has been increasingly prioritized for 
agriculture, shifting away from biofuels and green 
energy infrastructure. 

Similar to Resource constraints, water stress 
is now widespread. In developing countries, this 
particularly impacts women and girls responsible 
for water collection, with knock-on impacts for 
health and education outcomes. More widespread 
scarcity, combined with paralysis of international 
cooperation mechanisms, has necessitated a degree 
of water nationalism, resulting in prolonged disputes 
between neighbouring countries.34 In the face of 
spreading humanitarian crises and state instability, 
water infrastructure continues to be used both as 
a weapon and target, mirroring past water conflicts 
and terrorism in India, Pakistan and Afghanistan.35 In 
addition, there is less visible abuse and depletion of 
shared “non-renewable” groundwater reserves, such 
as in Saharan Africa and the Middle East, raising the 
risk of conflict.36

Conditions of scarcity initially consolidated the 
influence of geopolitical blocs, heavily reflecting raw 
resource trade dependences, as well as innovation 
and information flows. Increasingly however, distrust 
between global powers is artificially exacerbating 
supply crises on a global scale. Beyond Resource 
competition, all three resources are weaponized 
by resource-rich countries where possible, as 
both offensive and defensive tools in a more 
zero-sum geopolitical environment (see Chapter 
1.2, Economic warfare). In this world, the export 
of resources will soon supplant investment as a 
measure of global soft power, although economic 
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power will continue to be leveraged to achieve 
strategic objectives by more subtle, indirect means. 
Facing actual or perceived shortages, states 
continue to quickly and regularly exercise control 
over key resources to protect their own population, 
which will fracture alliances, deepen conditions of 
scarcity, and result in escalating trade tensions that 
restrict the flow of climate technologies. Exposed on 
multiple fronts, state intervention grows in a broader 
range of industries, including renationalization of 
industries. 

Confrontations regularly extend beyond the 
economic sphere. Transboundary conflicts and 
violence have become more common as one of 
the few ways in which states can secure supply 
of strategic resources. Hotspots reflect shifts to 
biodiversity patterns, heightened competition over 
terrestrial and marine foodstocks, and the pressing 
need for metals and minerals that underpin secure 
energy and technological development. Food, 

energy and water insecurity becomes a driver of 
social polarisation, civil unrest and political instability 
in advanced and developing economies alike. It also 
becomes a driver for cross-border terrorism, with 
devastating impacts given the proliferation of high-
tech weaponry (see Chapter 2.4: Human security). 

In this future, there has been little incentive – or 
fiscal room – to invest in climate change and 
environmental protection. Overexploitation and 
pollution – the tragedy of the global commons – 
has expanded, but continues to go unpunished 
or undiscovered, and existing agreements and 
regulations are regularly breached or not enforced. 
Famine has returned at a scale not seen in the 
last century. The sheer scale of humanitarian and 
environmental crises showcases broader paralysis 
and ineffectiveness of key multilateral mechanisms 
in addressing crises facing the global order, 
spiralling downwards into a self-perpetuating and 
compounding polycrises. 
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Conclusion: is preparedness possible?

While ongoing shocks unfold, the world stands 
at a crossroads. As we enter a low-growth, low-
investment and low-cooperation era, the actions that 
we take today will dictate our future risk landscape. 
We must ensure that addressing current crises does 
not detract from the longer-term view.

Recent and current events such as COVID-19 
and the cost-of-living crisis are steadily eroding 
economic, educational and health-related gains 
in a widening proportion of the population, with 
a growing divergence between advanced and 
developing countries. This in turn is interacting with 
a multiplicity of environmental and geopolitical risks 
– climate change, ecosystem collapse, multi-domain 
conflicts – to further threaten the security and 
stability of societies around the world. 

In this context, defensive, fragmented and crisis-
oriented approaches are short-sighted and often 
perpetuate vicious cycles. Lack of preparedness 
for longer-term risks will destabilize the global risks 
landscape further, bringing ever tougher trade-offs 
for policy-makers and business leaders scrambling 
to address simultaneous crises. A rigorous approach 
to foresight and preparedness is called for, as we 
aim to bolster our resilience to longer-term risks and 
chart a path forward to a more prosperous world. 

Each risk requires concerted, specific and 
customized efforts but several cross-cutting 
principles can support preparedness across themes. 
In this concluding section, we outline four principles 
for preparedness in this new era of concurrent 
shocks: 1) strengthening risk identification and 
foresight, 2) recalibrating the present value of “future” 
risks, 3) investing in multi-domain risk preparedness, 
and 4) strengthening preparedness and response 
cooperation. 

Improving risk identification  
and foresight 

A wide range of disciplines aim to gather intelligence 
about the future, ranging from economics, business 
management, investment funds and insurance, 
to urban planning, climatology, virology and civil 
protection – but the track record around the use of 
foresight to enhance risk mitigation efforts remains 

mixed. The underestimation of – and therefore lack 
of preparedness for – emerging macro risks (like 
“grey rhinos” and “black swans”) reflect challenges 
posed by high levels of uncertainty, low levels of 
information, conflicting data and cognitive biases. 
Yet systematic progress is possible. Enhanced risk 
identification and foresight can be a key enabler 
for strategic decision-making, agenda-setting and 
resilience measures, helping to prioritize areas that 
would benefit from data collection and monitoring, 
risk controls and resources, and redundancies. 

The first task of foresight is to identify future 
developments, risks and opportunities. Both horizon 
scanning and scenario planning are useful tools 
that can examine and build on “weak signals” in 
qualitative and quantitative data sources to better 
anticipate emerging trends. Established methods 
can help crystallize expert disagreements,1 while a 
greater distinction between risk and uncertainty – 
imperfect knowledge, such that likelihood cannot be 
scientifically quantified or known – will help challenge 
core assumptions. Greater levels of uncertainty 
should shift the focus from the probable to the 
possible: the study of potential outcomes needs 
to be expanded to ensure that risk mitigation and 
preparedness addresses the full scope of possible 
impacts.2 This is then complemented by risk 
monitoring, which focuses on providing early warning 
for when specific risks are about to materialize to 
enable advanced preparedness measures.

Another step to enhance risk foresight is to explore 
dynamics of change, to map interconnections 
between risks, including dependencies between 
critical systems. More sophisticated methods 
of analyzing interconnected risks (beyond linear 
relationships) can support the evaluation and 
prioritization of risk resources. Risks that are most 
influenced by or exposed to other risks will be the 
most challenging to mitigate, while those that exert 
an outsized influence on the outcome of the network 
can be prioritized as key points of intervention. The 
need for a systemic view of and approach to global 
risks is reflected in the rising call for the appointment 
of National Risk and Resilience Officers, to mirror the 
increasingly important role of the Chief Risk Officer 
in the private sector. While the mandate of this role 
may vary in practice, it reflects the need for a cross-
cutting and whole-of-society view around external 
risk foresight, mitigation and crisis management.3
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Terrorist attacks

Infectious diseases

Breakdown of critical information infrastructure

Asset bubble bursts

Chronic diseases and health conditions

Use of weapons of mass destruction

Collapse or lack of public infrastructure and services

Prolonged economic downturn

Adverse outcomes of frontier technologies

Proliferation of illicit economic activity

Widespread cybercrime and cyber insecurity

Employment crises

State collapse or severe instability

Digital inequality and lack of access to digital services

Collapse of a systemically important industry or supply chain

Failure to stabilize price trajectories

Debt crises

Interstate conflict

Ineffectiveness of multilateral institutions and international cooperation

Geoeconomic confrontation

Digital power concentration

Severe mental health deterioration

Large-scale environmental damage incidents

Cost-of-living crisis

Large-scale involuntary migration

Erosion of social cohesion and societal polarization

Natural disasters and extreme weather events

Natural resource crises

Biodiversity loss and ecosystem collapse

Misinformation and disinformation

Failure of climate-change adaption

Failure to mitigate climate change

Risk name Risk preparedness Risk governance

Perception StakeholderRisk category

1000 25 50 751000 25 50 75

Please indicate the current effectiveness of
risk management, taking into account mechanisms
in place to prevent the risk from occurring or
prepare to mitigate its impact

Which set of stakeholders can most effectively
manage the risk?

Source

World Economic Forum, Global Risks
Perception Survey 2022-2023.

Perceptions around preparedness and governanceF I G U R E  4 . 1

Highly ineffective

Ineffective

Effective

Highly effective

Indeterminate effectiveness

Economic

Environmental

Geopolitical

Societal

Technological

Local government

National government

International organization

Businesses

Public-Private cooperation

Bilateral

Multi-country

Regional

Rethinking ‘future’ risks

Cognitive biases channel public attention towards 
recent, “catastrophic” events. Business and 
political imperatives tend to prioritize risks with 
a direct, immediate and localized impact, such 
as food, fuel or other commodities’ shortages or 
local environmental disasters. This is necessary to 

manage crises, especially when millions of lives and 
livelihoods are at risk. However, when such risks 
manifest, resources and attention are often diverted 
from addressing global risks, especially those that 
form the root causes of local catastrophes or those 
that may arise outside the time frames relevant to 
today’s leaders. 

This can skew preparedness efforts in the public 
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and private sector alike. For better planning and 
preparedness, institutions must de-anchor risk 
prioritization from shorter-term incentives. Despite 
regularly featuring in the top rankings, the most 
severe global risks – pertaining particularly to climate 
and nature – are those we are still the least prepared 
for. The majority of GRPS respondents assessed 
existing measures to prevent or prepare for the 
Failure to mitigate climate change, Failure of 
climate-change adaptation, and Biodiversity loss 
and ecosystem collapse as ineffective or highly 
ineffective (Figure 4.1). Similarly, most respondents 
considered preparedness to be inadequate for 
Misinformation and disinformation, Erosion 
of social cohesion and societal polarization, 
Involuntary migration and Cost-of-living crisis. 

The growing global awareness of these risks is clear, 
but further action will likely continue to be stymied, 
given perceived shorter-term and localized crises 
and trade-offs. Without minimizing the need for an 
effective response, the over-prioritization of current 
challenges can quickly descend into a doom-loop 
of continuous global shocks, whereby resources 
are absorbed by crisis management, rather than 
directed to preparedness for future risks. Complex 
challenges cannot be solely solved by short-term 
decision-making – and yet long-term thinking alone 
is insufficient in the face of currently unfolding crises.

To break the cycle, business leaders and policy-
makers need to embrace complexity and adopt a 
dual vision that more effectively balances current 
crisis management with a longer-term lens. For 
example, in the wake of the COVID-19 pandemic, 
governments will not only need to target resources 
to stabilize distressed healthcare systems, but at 
the same time work to ensure that environments 
conducive to zoonotic disease spread are 
adequately monitored, gain-of-function research 
is regulated, and that synthesis requests to bio-
laboratories are screened to prevent future outbreaks 
from natural spillovers, accidents and threat actors.4

Investing in multi-domain, 
cross-sector risk preparedness 

In addition, actions taken to address current 
challenges should, at a minimum, avoid exacerbating 
future risks, such as the potential trade-off between 
food security, nature loss and climate change. 
Recent crises have seen an extraordinary level 
of fiscal intervention to protect individuals and 
companies from the financial impacts of crises – 
from the COVID-19 pandemic to energy prices. 
While necessary and perhaps unavoidable in the 
circumstances at hand, it remains to be seen how 
significantly these rapid, large-scale actions will 
result in debt sustainability concerns and how widely 
they distracted decision-makers from other risks 
highlighted in this report. 

Conversely, many shorter-term actions can also act 
as wider stabilizers, embedding and accelerating 

longer-term, multi-domain resilience. Not all global 
risks pose a preparedness trade-off, and solutions 
that address both current needs and future risks 
can rebalance the cost-benefit ratio for necessary 
investment. For example, investment in health and 
education, key tenets of managing present needs 
in all societies as well as longer-term human capital 
and economic development, strengthens societal 
resilience to multiple shocks and risks including 
climate change.

Additionally, many global risks have the potential to 
impact economies and societies in an analogous 
way, with similar consequences. For example, 
cyberattacks, social unrest or extreme weather 
could each cause the outage of critical information 
infrastructure; or, on a more catastrophic scale, 
volcanic eruptions and war may disrupt food 
security.5 Strengthening resilience efforts in critical 
areas therefore pays off in all scenarios and improves 
preparedness for a multiplicity of risks, both known 
and unknown, and short and long term. 

Following recent shocks – the pandemic, inflation, 
war, among others – national governments are 
increasingly focusing on addressing vulnerabilities 
in critical systems, including potential disruptions to 
food, water, shelter, basic communication services 
and public safety, and developing multi-domain 
responses. A bill has been introduced in the United 
States of America to form an interagency committee 
to assess all global catastrophic risks over the next 
30 years and develop strategies to ensure continuity 
of operations and critical infrastructure if these risks 
arise.6 In addition, the UK Government is developing 
a tool to measure socioeconomic resilience to key 
civil contingencies risks, to provide a more nuanced, 
data-driven view on how risks impact across different 
communities and groups.7

As global risks become more intertwined, 
preparedness also needs to become more of a 
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shared responsibility between sectors, with local 
and national governments, business and civil society 
each playing to their strengths, rather than traditional 
models of governments addressing market failures 
when they occur.8 For example, private-public 
partnerships can help close key gaps in innovation, 
financing, governance and implementation of 
preparedness measures for emerging and well-
established risks, such as food and water insecurity, 
weakened education and healthcare systems, and 
insufficient regulation of dual-use technologies, or 
addressing the looming insurance gap relating to 
cyberwarfare.9 Innovative collaborations can also 
minimize overall exposure to potential impacts, as 
organizations across geographies and sectors are 
rarely exposed to the same risks at the same time. 
For example, data centres of different institutions 
in differing geographies are highly unlikely to be 
exposed to the same cyber or extreme weather 
risks, meaning effective mitigation could include 
regular backups of each other’s systems.10

Re-building and strengthening 
global risk preparedness  
cooperation

While national risk preparedness can enhance the 
ability of societies and economies to rebound from 
shocks, most global risks are ‘owned’ by no one 
and sit outside the direct control of any one public 
or private sector entity – meaning many global risks 
are most effectively tackled through coordinated, 
global action. Respondents to the GRPS shared their 
views on which stakeholders were best prepared 
to tackle the key risks covered in the survey (Figure 
4.1). The majority consider national governments, 
multi-country efforts and international organizations 
to be the most relevant stakeholders for governing 
these global risks – recognizing that global risks are 
complex, and effective preparedness can require 
action at local, national, regional and global levels. 

International cooperation has reached levels that 
may have been unimaginable even a century ago. 
However, the recent overload of crises has turned the 
focus of nations inwards and the emerging outlook 
for international cooperation is deteriorating. Actions 
taken to shore up national resilience can be self-
perpetuating. For example, stockpiling and export 
controls can directly exacerbate global shortages 
and position trade, financial and technological 
dependencies as a strategic vulnerability, spurring 
further disintegration. Similarly, the pursuit of 
domestic and global security goals may have 
unintended consequences for the geopolitical 

landscape, leading to spiralling distrust, declining 
safeguards against mutually assured economic 
destruction, and currency and technological tools 
that are less influential. Even areas traditionally 
open to collaboration, such as international climate 
research, are under threat. For example, data 
regarding Russia’s boreal forests –the biggest land-
based carbon store on the planet – is no longer 
available for international scientific research because 
of the war in Ukraine.11

International organizations will continue to play 
an essential role in global preparedness, even as 
they face significant headwinds that risk degrading 
the guardrails in place to address well-established 
issues. There have been numerous examples of the 
politicization and partial paralysis of key international 
mechanisms and organizations in recent crises. 
These pressures may impede the development 
of meaningful norms and agreements required to 
mitigate emerging global risks – from the proliferation 
of military technologies to governing the global 
commons. Re-invigorating multilateral processes and 
organizations is critical to the future of preparing for 
and managing global risks. 

Additionally, specific cooperation at sectoral, bilateral 
and regional levels will become even more important 
in this environment. Robust data exchange and 
collaborative monitoring processes have already 
been established for some global risks (natural 
disasters, extreme weather events and terrorist 
attacks, among others). Further, open-source data 
and scenario development have helped increase 
the effectiveness of individual risk responses, such 
as the extensive work undertaken by the IPCC 
to develop a range of climate scenarios that has 
improved understanding, informed decarbonization 
strategies and allowed for collective alignment on 
science-based targets. However, efforts are more 
nascent or non-existent in other areas, such as the 
long-term trajectory and impact of transformative AI. 
Greater collaboration across industries and between 
countries – in terms of coordinated funding, research 
and data sharing – is critical to help identify weak 
signals of emerging threats at both a national and 
global level. 

In a complex risks outlook, there must be a better 
balance between national preparedness and 
global cooperation. We need to act together, to 
shape a pathway out of cascading crises and build 
collective preparedness to the next global shock, 
whatever form it might take. Leaders must embrace 
complexity and act on a balanced vision to create a 
stronger, prosperous shared future.
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A “global risk” is the possibility of the occurrence 
of an event or condition which, if it occurs, would 
negatively impact a significant proportion of global 
GDP, population or natural resources.

Table A.1 presents the list of 32 global risks and 
definitions adopted in the Global Risks Perception 
Survey 2022-2023.

To ensure legibility, the names of some of the global 
risks have been abbreviated in the figures. 
The portion of the full name used in the abbreviation 
is in bold.

 

Appendix A 

Technical Notes: Global Risks 
Perception Survey 2022-2023

Definitions of global risksTA B L E  A . 1

Global risks Description

Asset bubble bursts Prices for housing, investment funds, shares and other assets become increasingly disconnected from the 

real economy, leading to a severe drop in demand and prices. Includes, but is not limited to: cryptocurrencies, 

energy prices, housing prices, and stock markets.

Collapse of a systemically important 
industry or supply chain

Collapse of a systemically important global industry or supply chain with an impact on the global economy, 

financial markets or society leading to an abrupt shock to the supply and demand of systemically important 

goods and services at a global scale. Includes, but is not limited to: energy, food and fast-moving consumer 

goods.

Debt crises Corporate or public finances struggle to service debt accumulation, resulting in mass bankruptcies or 

insolvencies, liquidity crises or defaults and sovereign debt crises.

Failure to stabilize price trajectories Inability to control the general price level of goods and services, including commodities. Inclusive of an 

unmanageable increase (inflation) or decrease (deflation) of prices.

Proliferation of illicit economic activity Global proliferation of illicit economic activities and potential violence that undermine economic advancement 

and growth due to organized crime or the illicit activities of businesses. Includes, but is not limited to: illicit 

financial flows (e.g. tax evasion); and illicit trade and trafficking (e.g. counterfeiting, human trafficking, wildlife 

trade).

Prolonged economic downturn Near-zero or slow global growth lasting for many years leading to periods of stagnation; or a global contraction 

(recession or depression).

Biodiversity loss and ecosystem 
collapse

Severe consequences for the environment, humankind and economic activity due to destruction of natural 

capital stemming from a result of species extinction or reduction spanning both terrestrial and marine 

ecosystems.

Failure of climate-change adaption Failure of governments, businesses and individuals to enforce, enact or invest in effective climate-change 

measures to adapt to climate change, such as a lack of climate-resilient infrastructure.

Failure to mitigate climate change Failure of governments, businesses and individuals to enforce, enact or invest in effective climate-change 

mitigation measures, such as the decarbonization of economic activity.

Large-scale environmental damage 
incidents

Loss of human life, financial loss and/or damage to ecosystems as a result of human activity and/or failure to 

co-exist with animal ecosystems. Inclusive of deregulation of industrial accidents, oil spills and radioactive 

contamination.

Natural disasters and extreme weather 
events

Loss of human life, damage to ecosystems, destruction of property and/or financial loss at a global scale due 

to extreme weather events. Inclusive of land-based (e.g. earthquakes, volcanos wildfires), water-based (e.g. 

floods), atmospheric (e.g. heat-waves), and extra-terrestrial based (e.g. comet strikes and geomagnetic storms).

Economic Environmental Geopolitical Societal TechnologicalRisk categories
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Definitions of Global RisksTA B L E  A . 1

Global risks Description

Natural resource crises Severe commodity and natural resource supply shortages at a global scale as a result of human overexploitation 

and/or mismanagement of critical natural resources. Includes, but is not limited to: chemicals, food, minerals 

and water.

Geoeconomic confrontation Deployment of economic levers by global or regional powers to decouple economic interactions between 

nations, restricting goods, knowledge, services or technology with the intent of gaining geopolitical advantage 

and consolidate spheres of influence. Includes, but is not limited to: currency measures, investment controls, 

sanctions, state aid and subsidies, and trade controls on energy, minerals and technology.

Ineffectiveness of multilateral 
institutions and international cooperation

Ineffectiveness of international cooperation mechanisms due to a weakening of global multilateral institutions 

or marked geopolitical fragmentation. Includes, but is not limited to processes that underpin coordination on: 

finance, the environment, humanitarian aid, health pandemics and trade.

Interstate conflict Belligerent bilateral or multilateral conflict between states manifesting as cyber attacks, proxy wars or hot war.

State collapse or severe instability Collapse of a state with geopolitical significance due to the erosion of institutions and rule of law, internal civil 

unrest and military coups, or the effects of severe regional or global instability.

Terrorist attacks Large-scale or persistent small-scale terrorist attacks carried out by non-state actors with ideological, political 

or religious goals, resulting in loss of life, severe injury or material damage caused by biological, chemical, 

nuclear or radiological weapons or other means.

Use of weapons of mass destruction Deployment of biological, chemical, cyber, nuclear, radiological or autonomous AI weapons, resulting in loss of 

life, destruction and/or international crises.

Chronic diseases and health conditions Widescale increase in chronic physical health conditions. Includes, but is not limited to, conditions linked to 

excessive consumption habits and economic activity that releases harmful pollutants in the air, water or food 

through agricultural, industrial and household practices.

Collapse or lack of public infrastructure 
and services

Non-existence, or widespread bankruptcy of social security systems and erosion of social security benefits, 

alongside inequitable or insufficient public infrastructure and services. Includes but is not limited to lack of 

disability and family benefits, as well as affordable and adequate housing, public education, child and elder 

care, healthcare, transportation systems and urban development.

Cost-of-living crisis Significant inability among broad sections of populations to maintain their current lifestyle due to increases in 

the cost of essential goods which are not matched with a rise in real household income.

Employment crises Structural deterioration of work prospects or standards of work. Includes, but is not limited to: erosion 

of workers' rights; stagnating wages; rising unemployment and underemployment; displacement due to 

automation; stagnant social mobility; and geographical or industry mismatches between labour supply and 

demand.

Erosion of social cohesion and societal 
polarization

Loss of social capital and fracturing of communities leading to declining social stability, individual and collective 

well-being and economic productivity. Includes, but is not limited to: persistent and potentially violent civil 

unrest; and actual or perceived inequalities in opportunities across age, income bracket, ethnicity and race, 

educational background, demographic characteristics, and political affiliation.

Infectious diseases Massive and rapid spread of viruses, parasites, fungi or bacteria that cause an uncontrolled contagion of 

infectious diseases, resulting in an epidemic or pandemic with loss of life and economic disruption. Includes, 

but is not limited to: zootic diseases, accidental or intentional releases of natural or man-made pathogens, the 

resurgence of pre-existing diseases due to lower levels of immunity, and the rise of antimicrobial resistance.

Large-scale involuntary migration Large-scale involuntary migration and displacement across or within borders, stemming from: persistent 

discrimination and persecution, lack of economic advancement opportunities, natural or human-made 

disasters, and internal or interstate conflict.

Misinformation and disinformation Persistent false information (deliberate or otherwise) widely spread through media networks, shifting public 

opinion in a significant way towards distrust in facts and authority. Includes, but is not limited to, dissemination 

by: states, public figures, media organizations and networks of individuals.

Severe mental health deterioration Widescale spread of mental health disorders or rising inequality globally across multiple demographics, 

which negatively impacts well being, social cohesion and productivity. Includes, but is not limited to: anxiety, 

dementia, depression, loneliness and stress.

Economic Environmental Geopolitical Societal TechnologicalRisk categories
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Global risks Description

Adverse outcomes of frontier 
technologies

Intended or unintended negative consequences of technological advances on individuals, businesses, 

ecosystems and/or economies. Includes, but is not limited to: AI, brain-computer interfaces, biotechnology, 

geo-engineering, quantum computing and the metaverse.

Breakdown of critical information 
infrastructure

Deterioration, overload or shutdown of critical physical and digital infrastructure or services leading to 

the breakdown of internet, cellular devices, public utilities or satellites. Stemming from, but not limited to, 

cyberattacks, intentional or unintentional physical damage, or solar storms.

Digital inequality and lack of access to 
digital services

Fractured or unequal access to digital networks and technologies stemming from underinvestment, low digital 

skills, insufficient purchasing power, or government restrictions on technologies.

Digital power concentration Concentration of critical digital assets, capabilities or knowledge among a small number of individuals, 

businesses or states that can control access to digital technologies and demand discretionary pricing. 

Stemming from, but not limited to, the failure of anti-trust regulation, inadequate investment in the innovation 

ecosystem, or state control over key technologies.

Widespread cybercrime and cyber 
insecurity

Increasingly sophisticated cyberespionage or cybercrimes. Includes, but is not limited to: loss of privacy, data 

fraud or theft, and cyber espionage.

Definitions of Global RisksTA B L E  A . 1

Economic Environmental Geopolitical Societal TechnologicalRisk categories

Technical notes

The Global Risks Perception Survey (GRPS) is the 
World Economic Forum’s source of original risks 
data, harnessing the expertise of the Forum’s 
extensive network of academic, business, 
government, civil society and thought leaders. 
Survey responses were collected from 7 September 
to 5 October 2022 from the World Economic 
Forum’s multistakeholder communities.

Updates to the GRPS 2022-2023

The list of 32 global risks included in the survey was 
updated in 2022. 

Two new risks were added in response to observed 
economic, geopolitical and environmental trends: 

1.	 “Cost-of-living crisis”

2.	 “Misinformation and disinformation”

In addition, “Climate action failure” was delineated 
into two separate risks:

1.	 “Failure of climate-change adaption”

2.	 “Failure to mitigate climate change”

The names and definitions of the remaining risks 
have been revised and, where applicable, merged, 

modified and/or expanded to reflect new ways in 
which the risks may materialize and the potential 
adverse outcomes they may cause. However, to 
ensure comparability over time, although names and 
definitions were modified, the fundamental concept 
of each risk has remained consistent with that of 
previous versions of the survey.

Methodology

The GRPS 2022–2023 was further refined this year 
to gather more granular perceptions of risk and to 
incorporate new approaches to risk management 
and analysis. The GRPS 2022–2023 was comprised 
of six sections:

1.	 Outlook for the World asked respondents to 
characterize their outlook for the world over 
the short term (two years) and the long term 
(10 years). Respondents were provided with 
five options: (1) Progressive tipping points 
and persistent crises leading to catastrophic 
outcomes, (2) Consistently volatile across 
economies and industries with multiple shocks 
accentuating divergent trajectories, (3) Slightly 
volatile with occasional localized surprises, 
(4) Limited volatility with relative stability, and 
(5) Renewed stability with a revival of global 
resilience. A simple tally for each of the five 
options was calculated. The result is illustrated 
in Figure 1.10.

2.	 Currently Manifesting Risks asked 
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respondents to rank the top five risks among 
14 pre-selected risks in order of how severe 
they believe their impact will be on a global 
level in 2023. The final rank is the average rank 
estimated by the respondents, weighted by 
the number of respondents who selected the 
particular risk. Options included: Continued 
waves of COVID-19, Cost-of-living crisis, 
Cyberattacks on critical infrastructure, 
Debt crisis, Deployment of chemical and 
biological weapons on a catastrophic scale, 
Deployment of nuclear weapons on a 
catastrophic scale, Disruptions in global 
supply chains for non-food goods, Energy 
supply crisis, Failure to set and meet 
national net-zero targets, Food supply crisis, 
Rising inflation, Structural failures in health 
systems, Weakening of human rights, and 
Weaponization of economic policy such as 
sanctions and trade controls. To ensure legibility, 
the names of some of the global risks have 
been abbreviated in the figures. The portion of 
the full name used in the abbreviation is in bold. 
The result is illustrated in Figure 1.1. 

3.	 Global Severity 2 Years and 10 Years asked 
respondents to estimate the likely impact 
(severity) for each of the 32 global risks, on a 
1-7 scale [1 – Low severity, 7 – High severity], 
over both a two-year and 10-year period. 
Respondents were asked to evaluate the 
severity, considering the impact on populations, 
GDP or environmental resources on a global 
scale. They were also allowed to nominate 
any other risk considered missing from the 32 
global risks. A simple average based on the 
scores selected was calculated. The results are 
illustrated in Figure 1.2 and Figure 2.1. 

4.	 Global Risks Consequences seeks to 
understand of the potential consequences of 
risks, to create a network map of the global 
risk landscape. Respondents were provided 
10 randomly selected global risks (from the full 
list of 32 global risks), and were then asked 
to select up to five global risks (from the full 
list) likely to be triggered by each of the 10 
risks materializing. In visual results, “Nodes: 
Risk influence” is based on a simple tally of 
all bidirectional relationships identified by 
respondents. “Edges: Relative influence” is 
based on a simple tally of the number of times 
the risk was identified as a consequence. 
However, visual do not show all connections: 
weaker relationships identified by less than 25% 
of respondents were not included as edges. 
"Employment crises" was not offered as a 
randomly selected risk, and is shown only as a 
consequence. “Prolonged economic downturn” 
was not offered as a consequence, and is only 
shown as a cause.

5.	 Risk Preparedness and Governance 
asked respondents to indicate the current 
effectiveness of risk management across 
economies and multiple stakeholders, taking 

into account any mechanism in place to prevent 
the risk from occurring or prepare to mitigate 
its impact. The respondent was provided 10 
randomly selected global risks, and was asked 
to rate current effectiveness based on five 
options: (1) Highly ineffective, (2) Ineffective, (3) 
Indeterminate effectiveness, (4) Effective, and (5) 
Highly effective. A simple tally of the number of 
times a risk was identified on each level of the 
five-point effectiveness scale was calculated on 
this basis. The result is illustrated in Figure 4.1. 
 
Respondents were then asked to identify 
up to three stakeholders who can effectively 
manage the most severe risks identified in 
Section 3. Respondents could choose among 
the following eight entities: local government, 
national government, bilateral, multi-country, 
regional, international organization, businesses, 
public-private cooperation. A simple tally of the 
number of times a stakeholder was identified as 
effective was calculated on this basis. The result 
is illustrated in Figure 4.1.

6.	 Future Outlook for the World captured the 
respondents’ outlook on global cooperation 
over the next 10 years. Respondents were 
asked to select from among three options: 
(1) Broad-base convergence to a multilateral 
rules-based order, (2) Fractures between 
competing economies which consolidate into 
blocs and new structures for cooperation, 
and (3) Wide-scale division of economies into 
competing blocks with divergent standards, 
values and paradigms with limited collaboration. 
A simple tally for each of the three options was 
calculated. 

Completion thresholds
A total of 1,316 responses to the GRPS were 
received. From these, 1,249 were kept, using as a 
threshold at least one non-demographic answer. 

•	 Outlook for the World: 1,244 respondents 
selected at least one of the short-term and long-
term world outlook options. 

	– Short-term outlook for the world: 1,233

	– Long-term outlook for the world: 1,231

•	 Currently Manifesting Risks: 1,180 
respondents ranked at least one manifesting risk. 

•	 Global Severity 2 Years and 10 Years: 1,091 
respondents evaluated the severity of at least 
one risk in one time frame. 

	– Short-term severity: 1,086

	– Long-term severity: 999

•	 Global Risks Consequences: 877 respondents 
paired at least one materializing risk with its 
consequence. 
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•	 Risk Preparedness and Governance: 869 
respondents answered at least one of the 
preparedness and governance questions.

	– 839 respondents scored the effectiveness 
level for at least one risk

	– 789 respondents mapped at least one 
stakeholder against at least one risk 

•	 Future Outlook for the World: 869 respondents 
answered the Future Outlook for the World 
question. 

•	 Sample distribution: the 1,249 respondent 
who answered at least one non-demographic 
question were used to calculate the sample 
distribution by place of residence (region), 
gender, age, area of expertise and organization 
type.

Figure A.2 presents some key descriptive 
statistics and information about the profiles of the 
respondents.

Source

World Economic Forum Global Risks
Perception Survey 2022-2023.

Gender

Region

Age group

Female,
33%

Other, 2%

Male,
65%

<30 30-39 40-49 50-59 60-69

F I G U R E  A . 2

>69 Not filled

10%

20%

30%

23%

11%

2%
4%

Private Sector, 54%

Government,
14%

Academia,
13%

International
Organization,

11%

Non-governmental organization
(NGO), 9%

Other, 5%

Europe, 36%

East Asia and
the Pacific, 14%

North America,
13%

Sub-Saharan
Africa, 12%

Latin America
and the
Caribbean,
11%

Middle East and
North Africa, 6%

South
Asia, 5%

Central Asia, 2%

Not filled, 1%

Organization

Survey sample composition
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Appendix B 

Executive Opinion Survey: 
National Risk Perceptions

Figure B.1 presents the list of 35 risks that were 
incorporated into the World Economic Forum’s 
2022 Executive Opinion Survey (EOS), which was 
administered between April and September 2022. 
The risks are comparable to those in the GRPS 
(Global Risks Perception Survey) but are applied at a 
more granular level to reflect the possible short-term 
and country-level manifestations of global risks. 

To ensure legibility, the names of some of the global 
risks have been abbreviated in the figures. The 
portion of the full name used in the abbreviation is 
in bold.

 
 
 

List of risksTA B L E  B . 1

Source

World Economic Forum Global Risks
Perception Survey 2022-2023.

Asset bubble burst

Collapse of a systemically important industry

Debt crises

Proliferation of illicit economic activity

Prolonged economic stagnation

Rapid and/or sustained inflation

Severe commodity price shocks or volatility 
(e.g. energy, food, metals)

Blue (marine/freshwater) biodiversity loss and
ecosystem collapse

Failure of climate-change adaption

Failure of climate-change mitigation

Terrestrial biodiversity loss and ecosystem collapse

Human-made environmental damage

Natural disasters and extreme weather events

Severe commodity supply crises
(incl. energy, food, water)

Geoeconomic confrontations
(incl. sanctions, trade wars, investment screening) 

Geopolitical contestation of strategic resources
(incl. technology, energy, minerals) 

Interstate conflict

State collapse

Terrorist attacks

Weapons of mass destruction

Collapse or lack of social services and public 
infrastructure

Cost-of-living crisis

Employment and livelihood crises

Erosion of social cohesion and well-being

Infectious diseases

Large-scale involuntary migration

Misinformation

Pollution-driven harms to human health

Severe mental health deterioration

Widespread youth disillusionment

Automation and displacement of jobs

Breakdown of critical information infrastructure
through cyber attacks 

Digital power concentration and monopolies

Failure of cybersecurity measures (incl. loss of privacy, 
data fraud or theft, cyber espionage)

Lack of widespread digital services and digital inequality

Risk categories Economic Environmental Geopolitical Societal Technological
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Figure B.2 presents the top five risks for each of the 
121 economies surveyed. 

Over 12,000 respondents were presented with the 
following question: “Which five risks are the most 
likely to pose the biggest threat to your country in 
the next two years?” and were asked to select these 
from a list of 35 risks. 

“Risk 1” indicates the most frequently selected 
risk in each economy. Tied risks are presented 
in alphabetical order, with the tie indicated by 
numbering. For example, in Angola, two risks (“Rapid 
and/or sustained inflation” and “Employment and 
livelihood crises”) are tied for first place and there is, 
therefore, no risk listed in second place.

Risk categories Economic Environmental Geopolitical Societal Technological

Albania

1 Infectious diseases

2 Failure of cybersecurity measures

3 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

4 Geopolitical contestation of resources

5 Severe commodity supply crises

Algeria

1 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

2 Cost-of-living crisis

3 Digital inequality

4 Geopolitical contestation of resources

5 Interstate conflict

Angola

1 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

1 Employment and livelihood crises

3 Cost-of-living crisis

4 Collapse of services and public 
infrastructure

5 Severe commodity supply crises

Argentina

1 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

2 Debt crises

2 Proliferation of illicit economic activity

4 State collapse

5 Severe commodity supply crises

Armenia

1 Interstate conflict

2 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

3 Erosion of social cohesion

4 Severe commodity price shocks

5 Geoeconomic confrontation

Australia

1 Cost-of-living crisis

2 Debt crises

2 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

4 Geoeconomic confrontation

5 Failure of climate-change adaptation

Austria

1 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

2 Severe commodity price shocks

3 Breakdown of critical infrastructure

4 Geoeconomic confrontation

5 Geopolitical contestation of resources

Bahrain

1 Cost-of-living crisis

2 Debt crises

3 Severe commodity price shocks

4 Prolonged economic stagnation

4 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

Bangladesh

1 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

2 Debt crises

3 Severe commodity price shocks

4 Human-made environmental damage

5 Geopolitical contestation of resources

Barbados

1 Natural disasters and extreme weather 
events

2 Cost-of-living crisis

3 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

4 Severe commodity price shocks

5 Debt crises

Belgium

1 Cost-of-living crisis

2 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

3 Failure of climate-change adaptation

4 Debt crises

5 Geoeconomic confrontation

Benin

1 Cost-of-living crisis

2 Severe commodity price shocks

3 Employment and livelihood crises

4 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

5 Severe commodity supply crises

Top five risks identified by the Executive Opinion Survey (EOS)TA B L E  B . 2
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Risk categories Economic Environmental Geopolitical Societal Technological

Bolivia (Plurinational State of)

1 Prolonged economic stagnation

1 Digital inequality

3 Employment and livelihood crises

4 State collapse

5 Human-made environmental damage

5 Debt crises

5 Erosion of social cohesion

Bosnia and Herzegovina

1 Severe commodity supply crises

1 State collapse

3 Severe commodity price shocks

4 Digital inequality

5 Cost-of-living crisis

Botswana

1 Cost-of-living crisis

2 State collapse

3 Severe commodity supply crises

4 Failure of cybersecurity measures

5 Debt crises

Brazil

1 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

2 Proliferation of illicit economic activity

3 Geoeconomic confrontation

4 Severe commodity price shocks

4 Employment and livelihood crises

Bulgaria

1 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

2 Proliferation of illicit economic activity

3 Cost-of-living crisis

4 Interstate conflict

5 State collapse

Cambodia

1 Geoeconomic confrontation

2 Cost-of-living crisis

2 Digital inequality

4 Geopolitical contestation of resources

5 Failure of climate-change adaptation

Cameroon

1 Cost-of-living crisis

2 Debt crises

3 Digital inequality

4 Employment and livelihood crises

5 Geopolitical contestation of resources

Canada

1 Cost-of-living crisis

2 Debt crises

3 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

4 Failure of climate-change adaptation

5 Asset bubble burst

Cape Verde

1 Debt crises

2 Cost-of-living crisis

3 Geoeconomic confrontation

4 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

5 Employment and livelihood crises

Chad

1 Employment and livelihood crises

2 Geopolitical contestation of resources

3 Terrestrial biodiversity loss and ecosystem 
collapse

4 Blue biodiversity loss and ecosystem 
collapse

5 Debt crises

5 Digital inequality

5 Digital power concentration

Chile

1 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

2 Erosion of social cohesion

3 Proliferation of illicit economic activity

4 Severe commodity supply crises

5 State collapse

China

1 Geoeconomic confrontation

2 Natural disasters and extreme weather 
events

3 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

4 Infectious diseases

5 Geopolitical contestation of resources

5 Asset bubble burst

5 Digital power concentration

Colombia

1 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

2 Digital inequality

3 Employment and livelihood crises

4 State collapse

5 Cost-of-living crisis

Top five risks identified by the Executive Opinion Survey (EOS)TA B L E  B . 2

Global Risks Report 2023   81

2023 - Agenda - Audit and Risk - March - Information Report - Risk Management

167



Risk categories Economic Environmental Geopolitical Societal Technological

Congo (Democratic Republic of)

1 Digital inequality

2 State collapse

3 Debt crises

5 Interstate conflict

5 Cost-of-living crisis

5 Digital power concentration

Costa Rica

1 Cost-of-living crisis

2 Debt crises

3 Breakdown of critical infrastructure

4 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

5 Natural disasters and extreme weather 
events

Côte d'Ivoire

1 Cost-of-living crisis

2 Debt crises

3 Terrorist attacks

4 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

5 Failure of cybersecurity measures

Cyprus

1 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

2 Cost-of-living crisis

3 Failure of climate-change adaptation

3 Geoeconomic confrontation

5 Severe commodity supply crises

Czechia

1 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

2 Severe commodity supply crises

3 Severe commodity price shocks

4 Geopolitical contestation of resources

5 Interstate conflict

Denmark

1 Breakdown of critical infrastructure

2 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

3 Severe commodity price shocks

4 Geoeconomic confrontation

5 Asset bubble burst

Dominican Republic

1 Cost-of-living crisis

2 Debt crises

3 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

4 Natural disasters and extreme weather 
events

5 Severe commodity price shocks

Ecuador

1 Prolonged economic stagnation

2 Digital inequality

3 Natural disasters and extreme weather 
events

3 Employment and livelihood crises

5 State collapse

Egypt

1 Debt crises

2 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

3 Cost-of-living crisis

4 Prolonged economic stagnation

5 Severe commodity price shocks

El Salvador

1 Debt crises

2 State collapse

3 Cost-of-living crisis

4 Natural disasters and extreme weather 
events

5 Employment and livelihood crises

Estonia

1 Severe commodity price shocks

2 Geoeconomic confrontation

3 Interstate conflict

5 Severe commodity supply crises

5 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

5 Cost-of-living crisis

Finland

1 Geoeconomic confrontation

2 Prolonged economic stagnation

3 Severe commodity price shocks

4 Interstate conflict

4 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

France

1 Debt crises

2 Severe commodity price shocks

3 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

3 Cost-of-living crisis

3 Erosion of social cohesion

Top five risks identified by the Executive Opinion Survey (EOS)TA B L E  B . 2
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Risk categories Economic Environmental Geopolitical Societal Technological

Georgia

1 Cost-of-living crisis

2 Interstate conflict

3 Geoeconomic confrontation

3 Digital power concentration

5 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

Germany

1 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

2 Severe commodity price shocks

3 Interstate conflict

4 Severe commodity supply crises

4 Geopolitical contestation of resources

Ghana

1 Debt crises

2 Cost-of-living crisis

3 Human-made environmental damage

4 Employment and livelihood crises

5 Failure of cybersecurity measures

Greece

1 Cost-of-living crisis

2 Severe commodity price shocks

2 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

4 Debt crises

5 Interstate conflict

5 Geoeconomic confrontation

Guatemala

1 Natural disasters and extreme weather 
events

2 Collapse of services and public 
infrastructure

3 Prolonged economic stagnation

4 State collapse

5 Digital inequality

Honduras

1 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

2 Natural disasters and extreme weather 
events

3 State collapse

4 Employment and livelihood crises

5 Cost-of-living crisis

Hong Kong SAR, China

1 Geoeconomic confrontation

2 Prolonged economic stagnation

3 Asset bubble burst

4 Cost-of-living crisis

5 Infectious diseases

Hungary

1 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

2 Infectious diseases

3 Geoeconomic confrontation

4 Cost-of-living crisis

5 Natural disasters and extreme weather 
events

5 Severe commodity price shocks

Hungary

1 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

2 Cost-of-living crisis

3 Asset bubble burst

4 Natural disasters and extreme weather 
events

4 Breakdown of critical infrastructure

India

1 Digital inequality

2 Geopolitical contestation of resources

3 Cost-of-living crisis

4 Debt crises

5 Natural disasters and extreme weather 
events

Indonesia

1 Debt crises

2 Interstate conflict

2 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

4 Digital inequality

5 Geopolitical contestation of resources

Ireland

1 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

2 Cost-of-living crisis

3 Geoeconomic confrontation

4 Severe commodity price shocks

5 Failure of climate-change adaptation

Top five risks identified by the Executive Opinion Survey (EOS)TA B L E  B . 2
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Risk categories Economic Environmental Geopolitical Societal Technological

Israel

1 Cost-of-living crisis

2 Terrorist attacks

3 Interstate conflict

4 Geoeconomic confrontation

5 Asset bubble burst

Italy

1 Debt crises

2 Interstate conflict

2 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

4 Failure of climate-change adaptation

5 Asset bubble burst

Jamaica

1 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

2 Cost-of-living crisis

3 Natural disasters and extreme weather 
events

4 Proliferation of illicit economic activity

5 Severe commodity price shocks

Japan

1 Geoeconomic confrontation

2 Natural disasters and extreme weather 
events

3 Prolonged economic stagnation

4 Severe commodity price shocks

5 Geopolitical contestation of resources

Jordan

1 Debt crises

2 Severe commodity supply crises

2 Cost-of-living crisis

4 Severe commodity price shocks

5 Employment and livelihood crises

Kazakhstan

1 Geoeconomic confrontation

2 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

3 Geopolitical contestation of resources

4 Interstate conflict

5 Severe commodity price shocks

Kenya

1 Debt crises

2 Cost-of-living crisis

3 Employment and livelihood crises

4 Geopolitical contestation of resources

5 Failure of climate-change adaptation

Kosovo

1 Human-made environmental damage

1 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

1 Cost-of-living crisis

4 Geoeconomic confrontation

5 Failure of cybersecurity measures

5 Digital inequality

Kuwait

1 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

1 Cost-of-living crisis

3 Severe commodity price shocks

4 Human-made environmental damage

4 Interstate conflict

Kyrgyzstan

1 Interstate conflict

2 Debt crises

3 State collapse

4 Severe commodity supply crises

5 Infectious diseases

Lao PDR

1 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

2 Severe commodity price shocks

3 Infectious diseases

4 Cost-of-living crisis

5 Employment and livelihood crises

Latvia

1 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

2 Interstate conflict

3 Cost-of-living crisis

4 Employment and livelihood crises

5 Debt crises

Top five risks identified by the Executive Opinion Survey (EOS)TA B L E  B . 2
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Risk categories Economic Environmental Geopolitical Societal Technological

Lesotho

1 Geopolitical contestation of resources

2 Collapse of services and public 
infrastructure

3 Digital inequality

4 Collapse of a systemically important industry

5 Proliferation of illicit economic activity

Liberia

1 Cost-of-living crisis

2 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

3 Prolonged economic stagnation

4 Employment and livelihood crises

5 Proliferation of illicit economic activity

Lithuania

1 Severe commodity price shocks

2 Interstate conflict

3 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

4 Geoeconomic confrontation

5 Severe commodity supply crises

Luxembourg

1 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

2 Cost-of-living crisis

3 Severe commodity price shocks

4 Severe commodity supply crises

5 Geoeconomic confrontation

Malawi

1 Debt crises

2 Cost-of-living crisis

3 Prolonged economic stagnation

4 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

5 Failure of climate-change adaptation

Malaysia

1 Cost-of-living crisis

2 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

3 Debt crises

4 Geoeconomic confrontation

5 Human-made environmental damage

5 Severe commodity supply crises

5 Severe commodity price shocks

5 Prolonged economic stagnation

5 Failure of cybersecurity measures

Mali

1 Geopolitical contestation of resources

2 Employment and livelihood crises

3 Geoeconomic confrontation

4 Terrorist attacks

5 Breakdown of critical infrastructure

Malta

1 Cost-of-living crisis

2 Human-made environmental damage

3 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

4 Severe commodity price shocks

5 Digital inequality

Mauritius

1 Cost-of-living crisis

2 Debt crises

3 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

4 Natural disasters and extreme weather 
events

5 Severe commodity price shocks

Mexico

1 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

2 Proliferation of illicit economic activity

2 Prolonged economic stagnation

4 State collapse

4 Erosion of social cohesion

Mongolia

1 Debt crises

2 Human-made environmental damage

3 Geoeconomic confrontation

4 Employment and livelihood crises

5 Interstate conflict

Montenegro

1 Cost-of-living crisis

2 Geoeconomic confrontation

3 Prolonged economic stagnation

4 Failure of climate-change adaptation

5 Human-made environmental damage

5 Severe commodity supply crises

5 Debt crises

5 Employment and livelihood crises

Morocco

1 Cost-of-living crisis

2 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

2 Severe commodity price shocks

4 Severe commodity supply crises

5 Debt crises

Top five risks identified by the Executive Opinion Survey (EOS)TA B L E  B . 2
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Risk categories Economic Environmental Geopolitical Societal Technological

Namibia

1 Debt crises

2 Cost-of-living crisis

3 Employment and livelihood crises

5 Failure of climate-change adaptation

5 Prolonged economic stagnation

5 Digital inequality

Nepal

1 Geopolitical contestation of resources

2 Debt crises

3 Human-made environmental damage

4 Natural disasters and extreme weather 
events

5 Digital inequality

Netherlands

1 Failure of climate-change adaptation

2 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

3 Geoeconomic confrontation

3 Geopolitical contestation of resources

5 Cost-of-living crisis

New Zealand

1 Cost-of-living crisis

2 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

3 Natural disasters and extreme weather 
events

4 Asset bubble burst

5 Debt crises

Nigeria

1 Terrorist attacks

2 Debt crises

3 Cost-of-living crisis

4 Severe commodity supply crises

5 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

5 Employment and livelihood crises

North Macedonia

1 Cost-of-living crisis

2 Debt crises

3 Human-made environmental damage

4 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

5 Prolonged economic stagnation

Oman

1 Debt crises

2 Natural disasters and extreme weather 
events

3 Severe commodity price shocks

3 Cost-of-living crisis

5 Geopolitical contestation of resources

5 Proliferation of illicit economic activity

Pakistan

1 Digital power concentration

2 Failure of cybersecurity measures

3 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

4 Debt crises

5 State collapse

Panama

1 Employment and livelihood crises

2 Debt crises

3 Digital inequality

4 Cost-of-living crisis

5 Proliferation of illicit economic activity

5 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

Paraguay

1 Prolonged economic stagnation

2 Collapse of services and public 
infrastructure

2 Digital inequality

4 Natural disasters and extreme weather 
events

5 State collapse

Peru

1 State collapse

2 Digital inequality

3 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

4 Proliferation of illicit economic activity

5 Employment and livelihood crises

Philippines

1 Natural disasters and extreme weather 
events

2 Debt crises

3 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

4 Misinformation

5 Geopolitical contestation of resources

Top five risks identified by the Executive Opinion Survey (EOS)TA B L E  B . 2
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Risk categories Economic Environmental Geopolitical Societal Technological

Poland

1 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

2 Breakdown of critical infrastructure

3 Geoeconomic confrontation

4 Employment and livelihood crises

5 Interstate conflict

Portugal

1 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

2 Cost-of-living crisis

3 Debt crises

4 Severe commodity price shocks

5 Prolonged economic stagnation

Qatar

1 Cost-of-living crisis

2 Natural disasters and extreme weather 
events

2 Geoeconomic confrontation

4 Geopolitical contestation of resources

4 Severe commodity price shocks

4 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

4 Failure of cybersecurity measures

Romania

1 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

2 Geoeconomic confrontation

3 Interstate conflict

4 Severe commodity price shocks

4 Cost-of-living crisis

Rwanda

1 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

1 Cost-of-living crisis

3 Severe commodity price shocks

4 Natural disasters and extreme weather 
events

5 Interstate conflict

Saudi Arabia

1 Cost-of-living crisis

2 Interstate conflict

3 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

4 Severe commodity price shocks

4 Breakdown of critical infrastructure

4 Failure of cybersecurity measures

Senegal

1 Cost-of-living crisis

2 Debt crises

2 Employment and livelihood crises

4 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

5 Severe commodity supply crises

Serbia

1 Geoeconomic confrontation

1 Severe commodity price shocks

3 Interstate conflict

4 Cost-of-living crisis

5 Asset bubble burst

5 Severe commodity supply crises

Sierra Leone

1 Cost-of-living crisis

2 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

3 Debt crises

4 Natural disasters and extreme weather 
events

4 State collapse

4 Employment and livelihood crises

4 Digital inequality

Singapore

1 Geoeconomic confrontation

2 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

3 Severe commodity supply crises

4 Severe commodity price shocks

5 Cost-of-living crisis

Slovakia

1 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

2 Severe commodity price shocks

3 Severe commodity supply crises

4 Asset bubble burst

4 Interstate conflict

Slovenia

1 Severe commodity price shocks

2 Geoeconomic confrontation

3 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

4 Severe commodity supply crises

5 Geopolitical contestation of resources

Top five risks identified by the Executive Opinion Survey (EOS)TA B L E  B . 2
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Risk categories Economic Environmental Geopolitical Societal Technological

South Africa

1 State collapse

2 Debt crises

2 Collapse of services and public 
infrastructure

2 Cost-of-living crisis

5 Employment and livelihood crises

South Korea

1 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

2 Proliferation of illicit economic activity

3 Severe commodity supply crises

3 Severe commodity price shocks

5 Asset bubble burst

5 Debt crises

Spain

1 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

2 Debt crises

3 Cost-of-living crisis

4 Employment and livelihood crises

5 Geopolitical contestation of resources

5 Proliferation of illicit economic activity

Sri Lanka

1 Debt crises

2 Cost-of-living crisis

3 State collapse

3 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

5 Severe commodity supply crises

Sweden

1 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

2 Cost-of-living crisis

3 Debt crises

4 Failure of climate-change adaptation

5 Terrorist attacks

5 Geoeconomic confrontation

5 Collapse of a systemically important industry

Switzerland

1 Severe commodity price shocks

2 Severe commodity supply crises

3 Geoeconomic confrontation

3 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

5 Natural disasters and extreme weather 
events

5 Geopolitical contestation of resources

5 Breakdown of critical infrastructure through 
cyber attacks

Taiwan, China

1 Geoeconomic confrontation

2 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

3 Infectious diseases

4 Natural disasters and extreme weather 
events

4 Severe commodity price shocks

Thailand

1 Debt crises

2 Cost-of-living crisis

3 Human-made environmental damage

4 Digital inequality

5 Geoeconomic confrontation

Trinidad and Tobago

1 Cost-of-living crisis

2 Digital inequality

3 Severe commodity supply crises

3 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

5 Widespread youth disillusionment

Tunisia

1 Debt crises

2 State collapse

3 Severe commodity supply crises

4 Cost-of-living crisis

5 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

Türkiye

1 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

2 Employment and livelihood crises

3 Interstate conflict

4 Severe commodity supply crises

5 Debt crises

5 Severe commodity price shocks

Ukraine

1 Severe commodity supply crises

2 Interstate conflict

3 Large-scale involuntary migration

3 Failure of cybersecurity measures

5 Automation and displacement of jobs

Top five risks identified by the Executive Opinion Survey (EOS)TA B L E  B . 2
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Risk categories Economic Environmental Geopolitical Societal Technological

United Arab Emirates

1 Cost-of-living crisis

2 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

3 Severe commodity price shocks

4 Geopolitical contestation of resources

5 Geoeconomic confrontation

5 Failure of cybersecurity measures

United Kingdom of Great Britain

1 Cost-of-living crisis

2 Debt crises

3 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

4 Failure of climate-change adaptation

5 Terrestrial biodiversity loss and ecosystem 
collapse

5 Interstate conflict

5 Asset bubble burst

United Republic of Tanzania

1 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

2 Debt crises

3 Employment and livelihood crises

4 Geopolitical contestation of resources

4 Cost-of-living crisis

United States of America

1 Debt crises

2 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

3 Geoeconomic confrontation

4 Cost-of-living crisis

5 Failure of climate-change adaptation

Uruguay

1 Severe commodity price shocks

2 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

3 Prolonged economic stagnation

3 Cost-of-living crisis

5 Automation and displacement of jobs

Venezuela (Bolivarian Republic of)

1 Severe commodity supply crises

2 Collapse of services and public 
infrastructure

3 State collapse

3 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

5 Geoeconomic confrontation

5 Prolonged economic stagnation

5 Digital inequality

Viet Nam

1 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

2 Infectious diseases

3 Geopolitical contestation of resources

4 Natural disasters and extreme weather 
events

5 Failure of cybersecurity measures

Yemen

1 Severe commodity supply crises

2 Collapse of services and public 
infrastructure

3 State collapse

4 Breakdown of critical infrastructure

5 Proliferation of illicit economic activity

Zambia

1 Debt crises

2 Cost-of-living crisis

3 Failure of climate-change adaptation

4 Geopolitical contestation of resources

5 Failure of climate-change mitigation

Zimbabwe

1 Rapid and/or sustained inflation

2 Cost-of-living crisis

3 Geoeconomic confrontation

4 Collapse of services and public 
infrastructure

5 Severe commodity supply crises

Top five risks identified by the Executive Opinion Survey (EOS)TA B L E  B . 2
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Albania
Institute for Contemporary Studies, Tirana 
Business University and College
Helton Cevi, Project Coordinator
Artan Hoxha, President of ISB and Administrator of 
TBU
Oltjon Valisi, Assistant Project Coordinator

Algeria
Centre de Recherche En Economie Appliquée 
Pour Le Développement - CREAD
Yacine Belarbi, Director
Khaled Menna, Director of Macroeconomics and
Economic Integration

Angola
Jobartis
João Freitas, Country Manager
Luis Verdeja, Director

Argentina
IAE Business School, Universidad Austral
Eduardo Fracchia, Director of Academic Department 
of Economics
Martin Calveira, Research Economist

Armenia
Economy and Values Research Center
Sevak Hovhannisyan, Board Member and Senior 
Associate

Australia, Belgium, Canada, Indonesia, Italy, 
Sweden, United Kingdom, United States 
Dynata
Thomas Huff, Senior Project Manager 
Steffen Bott, Vice President, Sales 
Valentyna Chuikina, Associate Account Director 

Austria
Austrian Institute of Economic Research - WIFO 
Gabriel Felbermayr, Director
Michael Peneder, Project Lead
Alexandros Charos, Survey Expert

Bahamas, The
The Government and Public Policy Institute, 
University of the Bahamas
Zhivargo Laing, Executive Director
Jeannie D. Gibson, Policy Assistant

Bahrain
Bahrain Economic Development Board
Khalid Humaidan, Chief Executive
Nada Al-Saeed, Executive Director
Rima AlKilani, Executive Director
Fatema Alatbi, Senior Executive 
Sara Ishaq, Senior Executive

Bangladesh
Centre for Policy Dialogue - CPD 
Dr Fahmida Khatun, Executive Director
Dr Khondaker Golam Moazzem, Research Director
Ratia Rehnuma, Research Associate
Chowdhury Fariha, Research Intern

Barbados 
University of West Indies 
Jonathan G. Lashley, Senior Fellow
Don Marshall, Professor
Kenisha Chase, Research Assistant

Benin
Institut de Recherche Empirique en Economie 
Politique - IREEP 
Leonard Wantchekon, President
Stéphania Houngan, Research Associate

Plurinational State of Bolivia, Costa Rica, 
Dominican Republic, El Salvador, Honduras, 
Panama
INCAE Business School
Ronald Arce, Researcher
Enrique Bolaños, President
Octavio Martínez, Director

Bosnia and Herzegovina
School of Economics and Business, University of 
Sarajevo
Jasmina Selimovic, Dean
Zlatko Lagumdzija, Professor
Amra Kapo, Associate Professor

Botswana
Botswana National Productivity Centre
Letsogile Batsetswe, Research Consultant and 
Statistician
Zelda Okatch, Information and Research Services 
Manager
Christopher Diswai, Executive Director

Brazil
Fundação Dom Cabral 
Carlos Arruda, Professor of Innovation and 
Competitiveness
Hugo Tadeu, Professor of Innovation
Miguel Costa, Research Assistant

Bulgaria
Center for Economic Development
Maria Prohaska, Director
Ivalina Simeonova, Project Manager

The World Economic Forum’s Centre for the New Economy and Society is 
pleased to acknowledge and thank the following organizations as its valued 
Partner Institutes:

Partner Institutes
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Cambodia
Nuppun Research and Consulting Co., Ltd
Pisey Khin, Director
Chanthan Tha, Researcher
Dalen Vyla, Research Assistant

Cameroon
Compétitivité Cameroon
Hermann Fotie Ii, Permanent Secretary
Tanankem Belmondo Voufo, Expert Investment 
Climate
Jean Baptiste Nsoe Nkouli, Competitiveness 
Observatory Expert

Cambodia 
Nuppun Research and Consulting Co., Ltd
Khin Pisey, Managing Director
Pong Vanny, Researcher
Kimhong Sin, Research Assistant

Cape Verde 
INOVE Research
Frantz Tavares, Chief Executive Officer
Jerónimo Freire, Project Manager
Júlio Delgado, Director

Chad 
Groupe de Recherches Alternatives Et de 
Monitoring Du Projet Pétrole-Tchad-Cameroun
Simael Mbairassem, Economist in charge of 
Research and Public Policies
Maoundonodji Gilbert, Managing Director

Chile
School of Government, University Adolfo Ibañez 
Carolina Apablaza, Director
Patricio Aroca, Professor
Isabella Cuneo, Doctoral Student 

China
Dataway Horizon
Lingling Qiao, General Manager
Yuming Zhi, Research Director
Zhuyu Yao, Senior Project Manager

Colombia
National Planning Department of Colombia 
Consejo Privado de Competitividad
Jorge Ivan Gonzalez, General Director, Department 
of National Planning 
Camilo Rivera Perez, Technical Director, Innovation 
and Private Sector Development
Sara Patricia Rivera, Adviser, Innovation and Private 
Sector Development
Congo, Democratic Republic of
Congo-Invest Consulting 
Teza Bila Minlangu, Administrator
Faila Tabu Ngandi, Managing Director
Bertin Muderhwa, Head of Service in charge 
of Studies and Statistics at the Federation of 
Businesses of Congo 

Côte d'Ivoire
Centre de Promotion des Investissements en 
Côte D’ivoire - CEPICI 
Solange Amichia, CEO

Ramatou Fall, Director of Business Climate
Simon Meledje, Head of Planning and Monitoring
Bernadine Yeble N'Guessan, Research officer

Cyprus
Cyprus Employers and Industry Confederation - 
OEB
Antonis Frangoudis, Director Business Development 
and Economic Affairs Department
Bank of Cyprus
Kyriacos Antoniou, Governance Officer
Andreas Alexandrou, Manager Strategy and 
Customer Insights

Czech Republic 
CMC Graduate School of Business
Tomáš Janča, Executive Director

Denmark
Danish Technological Institute
Stig Yding Sørensen, Senior Specialist
Andreas Bjerre Lunkeit, Consultant

Ecuador
ESPAE Graduate School of Management - 
ESPOL
Sara Wong, Professor
Tania Tenesaca, Project Coordinator
Xavier Ordeñana, Dean
Jack Zambrano, Research Assistant

Egypt
Egyptian Center for Economic Studies - ECES
Abla Abdel Latif, Executive Director, and Director of 
Research
Salma Bahaa El Din, Senior Economist 
Ahmed Maged, Research Assistant
Hossam Khater, Research Assistant
Mohamed Khater, Research Assistant

Estonia 
Estonian Institute of Economic Research -EKI
Marje Josing, Director

Finland 
ETLA Research Institute of the Finnish Economy
Aki Kangasharju, Managing Director
Päivi Puonti, Head of Forecasting
Ville Kaitila, Researcher

France
Business France
RCassagnes Louise, Economist
Marcias Manuel, Head of Service : Economic studies 
 
Georgia
TSU Center for Analysis and Forecasting
Vakhtang Charaia, Director
Otar Anguridze, Head of the Board
Shota Gulbani, Expert
Mariam Lashkhi, Project Manager
Mamuka Tsereteli, Expert
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Germany
Institute for Innovation and Technology within the 
VDI/VDE Innovation + Technik GmbH
Michael Nerger, Project Leader

Ghana
Association of Ghana Industries 
Yaw Adu-Gyamfi, President
Seth Twum-Akwaboah, Chief Executive Officer
John Defor, Direcctor, Policy and Research

Greece 
SEV Hellenic Federation of Enterprises
Michael Mitsopoulos, Director - Business 
Environment and Regulatory Affairs
Athanasios Printsipas, Senior Advisor - SEV 
Business Council for Sustainable Development

Guatemala
FUNDESA
Juan Carlos Paiz, President of the Board of Directors
Juan Carlos Zapata, Chief Executive Officer
Fernando Spross, Associate Researcher
Priscilla González, Corporate Affairs Coordinator

Hong Kong SAR, China  
Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce
Simon Ngan, Director, Policy and Research
Wilson Chong, Senior Economist

Hungary 
KOPINT-TÁRKI Economic Research Ltd
Peter Vakhal, Senior Research Associate
Éva Palócz, CEO

Iceland
The Icelandic Centre for Future Studies
Karl Friðriksson, Manager Director

India
LeadCap Knowledge Solutions Pvt Ltd - 
LeadCap Ventures
Sangeeth Varghese, Managing Director and CEO
Vidyadhar Prabhudesai, Director and COO

Ireland
Irish Business and Employers Confederation - 
IBEC
Geraldine Anderson, Head of Research

Israel
Manufacturers' Association of Israel - MAI
Ron Tomer, President
Ruby Ginel, CEO
Dan Catarivas, General Manager, Foreign Trade and 
International Relations Division
Itai Nakash, Deputy General Manager, Foreign Trade 
and International Relations Division

Jamaica
Mona School of Business and Management - 
MSBM, The University of the West Indies, Mona
David McBean, Executive Director 
Franklin Johnston, Director 
Yvette Cameron-Harris, Project Administrator
Jamaica Promotions Corporation - JAMPRO

Shulette Cox, Vice President, Research, Advocacy, 
and Project Implementation
National Competitiveness Council Jamaica 
Sharifa Powell, Consultant Project Manager

Japan 
Waseda University
Jusuke Ikegami, Professor
Mitsuyo Tsubayama, Coordinator
Shoko Miya, Coordinator

Jordan 
Ministry of Planning and International 
Cooperation of Jordan
Hadram Al Fayes, Director
Ghada Issa, Head of Competitiveness Division
Thamer Masarweh, Researcher

Kazakhstan
Center for Strategic Initiatives LPP
Olzhas Khudaibergenov, Senior Partner
Yerbol Tulegenov, Associate Partner
Symbat Aliaskarova, Consultant

Kenya
University of Nairobi
Karuti Kanyinga, Research Professor and Director, 
IDS
Vincent Mugo, Project Assistant IDS
Paul Kamau, Associate Research Professor, IDS

Kosovo*, North Macedonia
Economic Chamber of North-West Macedonia
Drilon Iseni, Executive Director 
Durim Zekiri, Operations Manager
Miranda Ajdini, Legal associate

Kuwait
Kuwait University
Fahad Al-Rashid, Committee Chair
Adel Al-Husainan, Committee Member
Majed Jamal Al-Deen, Committee Member

Kyrgyzstan
Economic Policy Institute
Marat Tazabekov, Chairman
Lola Abduhametova, Coordinator
Irina Kandybko, Manager

Lao PDR
Enterprise and Development Consultants Co. 
Ltd - EDC
Buakhai Phimmavong, Managing Partner
Thipphasone Inthachack, Office administrator

Latvia
Stockholm School of Economics in Riga
Arnis Sauka, Head of the Centre for Sustainable 
Development

Lesotho
Private Sector Foundation of Lesotho - PSFL
Thabo Qhesi, CEO
Bokang Tsoanamatsie, Public Relations Officer
Qothoase Khofane, Researcher
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Liberia, Sierra Leone 
GQRDOTCOM Limited - GQR
Omodele Jones, Chief Executive Officer

Lithuania
Innovation Agency Lithuania
Jone Kalendiene, Head of Research and Analysis 
Division
Irena Karelina, Analyst

Luxembourg
Luxembourg Chamber of Commerce
Christel Chatelain, Director of the Economic Affairs 
Department
Jean-Baptiste Nivet, Sr Economist
Sidonie Paris, Economist

Malawi 
Malawi Confederation of Chambers of 
Commerce and Industry
Chancellor Kaferapanjira, Chief Executive
Madalitso Kazembe, Director, Business Environment 
and Policy Advocacy
Manfred Maguru, Economic Analyst
Chancy Mkandawire, Economic Analyst

Malaysia
Malaysia Productivity Corporation 
Dato' Abdul Latif Abu Seman, Director General
Zahid Ismail, Deputy Director General
Dr Mazrina Mohamed Ibramsah, Deputy Director 
General
Wan Fazlin Nadia Wan Osman, Director 

Mali
Mali Applied and Theoretical Economics 
Research Group - GREAT
Massa Coulibaly, Executive Director 
Wélé Fatoumata Binta Sow, Researcher
Badiégué Diallo, Administrative and Financial 
Assistant

Malta
Competitive Malta - Foundation for National 
Competitiveness
Adrian Said, Associate
Matthew Castillo, Associate

Mauritius 
Economic Development Board
Sanroy Seechurn, Head of Department 
Ken Poonoosamy, CEO
Dooshala Ramjutun-Ramlaul, Manager

Mexico 
Instituto Mexicano para la Competitividad - 
IMCO
Valeria Moy, General Director
Ivania Mazari, Program Manager
Ministry of the Economy
Jorge Eduardo Arreola Cavazos, General Director for 
Competitiveness and Competition
Carlos Rubén Altamirano Márquez, Director
Fernando Tonatiuh Parra Calvo, Underdirector for 
Competitiveness

Mongolia 
Open Society Forum - OSF
Erdenejargal Perenlei, Executive Director
Oyunbadam Davaakhuu, Program Manager

Montenegro 
The Institute for Strategic Studies and Prognoses 
- ISSP
Maja Drakic Grgur, Project Coordinator
Veselin Vukotic, President

Morocco 
The Policy Centre for the New South
Dr Karim El Aynaoui, Executive President 
Asmaa Tahraoui, Senior Knoweldge Manager
Abdelaaziz Ait Ali, Head Economics Research 
Department

Mozambique 
African Centre for Economic Transformation 
(ACET)
John Asafu Adjaye, Senior Fellow - Economic 
Management and Governance Program
Edward Brown, Senior Director, Research & Policy 
Engagements
Confederation of Business Associations of 
Mozambique
Roque Magaia, Economist 

Namibia 
Institute for Public Policy Research - IPPR
Ndapunikwa Fikameni, Research Associate
Salmi Shigwedha, Research Associate
Graham Hopwood, Director

Nepal 
Competitiveness and Development Institute - 
CODE
Dr Ramesh C. Chitrakar, Project Director/ Country 
Coordinator
Abhinandan Baniya, Associate Team Member
Menaka Shrestha, Team Member
Netherlands 
Amsterdam Centre for Business Innovation, 
University of Amsterdam
Henk Volberda, Director and Professor 
Kevin Heij, Senior Innovation Researcher
Pieter van den Brink, Research Assistant
Nina Versluijs, Research Assistant
Jochem Bouman, Research Assistant

New Zealand
BusinessNZ
Kirk Hope, CEO
Kathryn Asare, Manager Communications

Nigeria
Nigerian Economic Summit Group - NESG
Laoye Jaiyeola, Chief Executive Officer
Dr Olusegun Omisakin, Director of Research and 
Development
Sodik Olofin, Economist
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Oman 
National Competitiveness Office - NCO
Dr Salim Abdullah Al Shaikh, Acting Chief of NCO
Juhaina Saleh Al Balushi, Economic Researcher
Jawaher Sultan Al Habsi, Business Analyst

Pakistan
Mishal Pakistan
Amir Jahangir, Chief Executive Officer
Puruesh Chaudhary, Director
Amna Sabahat Bhutta, Director

Paraguay
Paraguayan Foundation for Cooperation and 
Development
Martin Burt, CEO
Luis Fernando Sanabria, CEO
Sol Urbieta, Management Assistant

Peru
Industrial Development Center of the National 
Society of Industries
Luis Tenorio, Executive Director
Maria Elena Baraybar, Project Assistant
Benoni Sanchez, Head of Systems

Philippines
Makati Business Club - MBC
Roxanne Lu, Programs Director
Trisha Teope, Foreign Programs Officer

Poland
National Bank of Poland
Piotr Boguszewski, Economic Advisor
Piotr Szpunar, Director

Portugal
Business Administrators Forum - FAE
Paulo Carmona, President
Mariana Marques dos Santos, Member of the Board
PROFORUM Association for the Development of 
Engineering
Ilidio De Ayala Serôdio, Vice-President
Helena Roquette, Secretary

Qatar 
Qatari Businessmen Association - QBA 
Social and Economic Survey Research Institute, 
Qatar University 
Issa Abdull Salam Abu Issa, Secretary General
Sarah Abdallah, Deputy General Manager
Maria Jusay, Executive Secretary
Prof. Kaltham Al Ghanim, Director, Social and 
Economic Survey Research Institute
Raymond Carasig, Senior Survey Support Specialist

Romania
Association for Women Entrepreneurship 
Development - ADAF 
The Chamber of Commerce and Industry of 
Romania
Rotaru Cornelia, President
Rotaru Gela, Business Analyst
Savu Cristina, Communication Expert

 

Rwanda
Rwanda Development Board
Delphine Uwase, Ag. Head of Strategy and 
Competitiveness Department 
Kennedy Kalisa, Strategy Analyst
Richard Kayibanda, Ag. Chief Strategy and 
Compliance Officer

Saudi Arabia
Alfaisal University
Mohammed Kafaji, Vice Dean for Quality Assurance 
and Accreditation
National Competitiveness Centre 
Eiman Habbas Al-Mutairi, CEO of the National 
Competitiveness Centre
Waleed Al-Rudaian, Deputy CEO of the National 
Competitiveness Centre
Salman Al-Tukhaifi, General manager
Abdulrahman M. Al-Ghamdi, Project Manager

Senegal
Université Cheikh Anta Diop of Dakar
Thierno Thioune, Directeur du Centre de Recherches 
Economiques Appliquées 

Serbia
Foundation for the Advancement of Economics 
- FREN 
Aleksandar Radivojević, Coordinator
Dejan Molnar, Director

Singapore 
Singapore Economic Development Board
Cheng Wai San, Director and Head
Teo Xinyu, Executive Officer, Senior

Slovakia
Business Alliance of Slovakia - PAS
Peter Serina, Executive Director
Robert Kičina, Member of the Board

Slovenia 
Institute for Economic Research
Peter Stanovnik, Professor
Sonja Uršič, Senior Research Assistant
University of Ljubljana, Faculty of Economics
Mateja Drnovšek, Full Professor

South Africa
Business Unity South Africa
Tyson Thamsanqa Sibanda, Economic Policy 
Manager
Olivier Serrao, Economic Policy Executive Director
Cas Coovadia, Chief Executive Officer

South Korea
Korea Development Institute
Inho Song, Executive Director, Economic Information 
and Education Center
Joohee Cho, Head, Public Opinion Analysis Unit
Boyoung Han, Senior Reseach Associate, Public 
Opinion Analysis Unit
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Spain
IESE Business School
Pascual Berrone, Professor, Director of the 
International Center for Competitiveness
María Luisa Blázquez, Research Associate

Sri Lanka
Institute of Policy Studies of Sri Lanka - IPS
Kithmina Hewage, Research Economist
Tharindu Udayanga, Research Assistant

Switzerland
University of St.Gallen, Center for Financial 
Services Innovation
Tobias Trütsch, Managing Director

Taiwan, China 
Taiwan Institute of Economic Research
Chen, Yi-Man, Research Fellow
Tsuo, I-Chun, Assistant Research Fellow

Tanzania
REPOA Ltd
Donald Mmari, Executive Director
Lucas Katera, Director of Collaborations and 
Capacity Building
Cornel Jahari, Researcher and Field Manager

Thailand
Chulalongkorn Business School
Kanyarat (Lek) Sanoran, Assistant Professor and 
Assistant Dean at Dean's Office
Wilert Puriwat, Professor and Dean
Nat Kulvanich, Assistant Professor

Trinidad and Tobago
Arthur Lok Jack Global School of Business 
Raynardo Hassanally, Alumni Relations Coordinator
Balraj Kistow, Programme Director
Ron Sookram, Academic Coordinator

Tunisia
Institut Arabe des Chefs d’Entreprises
Majdi Hassen, Executive Director 
Hager KARAA, Head of Studies Department

Türkiye 
TÜSIAD, Sabanci University Competitivness 
Forum - REF
Esra Durceylan Kaygusuz, Director
Sezen Uğurlu Sum, Project Specialist

 
 

Ukraine
CASE Ukraine, Center for Social and Economic 
Research
Dmytro Boyarchuk, Executive Director
Vladimir Dubrovskiy, Leading Economist
Oksana Kuziakiv, Senior Adviser

United Arab Emirates
Federal Competitiveness and Statistics Centre
Hanan Ahli, Director General of Federal 
Competitiveness and Statistics Centre
Rashed Abdulkarim Al Blooshi, Undersecretary of 
Department of Economic Development, Abu Dhabi
Hend Abdulla, Analyst

Uruguay
Universidad ORT Uruguay
Isidoro Hodara, Professor
Bruno Gili, Professor
Federico Monetti, Professor

Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela 
Venezuelan Council for Investment Promotion
Jennyn Osorio, Economics Affairs Manager
Jorge García, Business Intelligence Manager

Viet Nam
Ho Chi Minh City Institute for Development 
Studies - HIDS
Tran Hoang Ngan, Director
Trieu Thanh Son, Head of Rereach Management
Nguyen Manh Quan, Researcher

Yemen
Yemeni Business Club - YBC
Fathi Abdulwase Hayel Saeed, Chairman
Ghadeer Ahmed Almaqhafi, Executive Director
Safa Abdullah Alsayaghi, Projects Manager

Zambia
University of Zambia
Joseph Simbaya, Director
Chitalu Chama Chiliba, Assistant Director and Senior 
Research Fellow
Patricia Funjika, Research Fellow

Zimbabwe
National Competitiveness Commission
Phillip Phiri, Executive Director
Brighton Shayanewako, Director, Competitiveness
Douglas Muzimba, Chief Economist, International 
Competitiveness
Elizabeth Magwaza, Economist
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Officer, Marsh McLennan) and Mario Greco (Chief Executive Officer, Zurich 
Insurance Group). Thanks also to Peter Giger (Group Chief Risk Officer, Zurich 
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Special gratitude is due to John Scott (Head of Sustainability Risks, Zurich 
Insurance Group) and Richard Smith-Bingham (Executive Director, Marsh 
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of the report.
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24 February 2023 
 
Dear LGFA Stakeholder 
 

LGFA 2022-23 Half Year Report 
 
Please find attached a copy of the Half Year Report for the six-month period to December 2022. A 
copy is also available for download on our website www.lgfa.co.nz.   
 
We are pleased to highlight another positive six-month period for LGFA including the following 
 
1. Increased lending to council and CCO borrowers 

By 31 December 2022, LGFA had a market value of loans outstanding of $15.75 billion. We 
lent $1.82 billion over the six-month period which was the second highest amount on record. 
We added two new councils and two new CCOs to bring the number of member councils to 
seventy-seven and the number of member CCOs to three.   
 

2. A focus on sustainability. 
We launched our Climate Action Loan (CAL) product for council and CCO members in 
December 2022 that will incentivise borrowers through a lower loan margin if they have a 
GHG emission reduction plan in place and are meeting the reduction targets. 
 
We have approved a further three projects as eligible for Green, Social and Sustainable (GSS) 
loans over the six-month period, bringing the number of eligible projects to five across five 
councils. Councils receive a discounted borrowing margin for eligible projects.  
 
Sustainability remains important at LGFA as noted with the CAL product launch and ongoing 
dialogue with councils relating to GHG emission reporting and reduction. 
 

3. A financial position tracking to forecast.  
Net Operating Profit for the six-month period was $1.1 million, which is lower than the 
comparable prior period but in line with our SOI forecast. We expect a lift in profitability 
during the next six-month period. LGFA has $18.14 billion of assets and Shareholder Equity of 
$104.45 million as at 31 December 2022.     
 

4. Working with our stakeholders.  
We have been assisting Central and Local Government with the Three Waters Reform 
programme to ensure a smooth transition of debt from councils to the proposed new Water 
Services Entities in July 2024. 
 
We continue to receive the support of our growing investor base. It is pleasing to see the 
amount of LGFA bonds held by offshore investors grow to a record $5.09 billion as at 31 
December 2022 as well as domestic banks, institutional and retail investors increase their 
holdings. Having a diverse investor base for LGFA bonds helps provide certainty of access to 
markets for our council and CCO borrowers. 
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A further highlight was LGFA being voted by market participants as the KangaNews New 
Zealand Debt Issuer of the Year award for 2022. 

 
 
Finally, we appreciate the support of all our stakeholders and thank you for your contribution and 
assistance over the past six months.  
 
Please do not hesitate to contact me if you have any comments or questions. 
 
Kind regards 

 
Mark Butcher 
Chief Executive 
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He karere mai i te Toihau  
me te Tumuaki

Message from the Chair  
and Chief Executive

Financial and Operational Performance
LGFA’s total interest income for the six-month period 
to December 2022 of $312.9 million was a 68.4% 
increase over the 2021 comparable period ($185.9 
million), while net operating profit of $1.1 million for 
the six-month period decreased 81.3% on the 2021 
comparable period ($5.9 million).

Net operating profit was significantly lower than 
the comparable period a year ago due to the sharp 
rise in interest rates combined with increased 
holdings of liquid assets. This outcome was expected 
and forecast in our Statement of Intent (SOI) last 
year. Both net interest income and operating 
profit were slightly ahead of the SOI forecast and 
we are forecasting an improvement in financial 
performance in the second half of the financial year.

Expenses have been managed under the SOI 
budget over the past six months. Lower fees relative 
to budget for the NZ Debt Management standby 
facility and lower NZX and legal fees relating to 
issuance were positive. These savings were offset 
by higher legal costs relating to considering the 
implications from the proposed Three Waters Reform, 
the development of new sustainability initiatives, 
including related consultancy costs.

The financial strength of LGFA was affirmed by Fitch 
Ratings who maintained our domestic currency credit 
rating at AA+ in October 2022. Our AAA rating from 
S&P Global Ratings was affirmed in March 2022 and 
remains the same as the New Zealand Government. 

Borrowing activity
LGFA issued $1.76 billion of bonds over the past six months 
and outstandings now total $17.84 billion (including $1.10 
billion of treasury stock) across 11 maturities ranging 
between 2023 to 2037. The average term of our bond 
issuance during the six months at 4.37 years was 
significantly shorter than the prior year period.

LGFA has the largest amount of New Zealand 
dollar (NZD) bonds on issue after the New Zealand 
Government and our individual bond tranches 
are amongst the largest and most liquid NZD debt 
instruments available for investors. Secondary market 
activity in our bonds continues to rise, assisting 
investors’ access to our bonds throughout the year.

The performance of LGFA bonds over the past six 
months has been soft with LGFA bond spreads to  
New Zealand Government Bonds (NZGBs) and spreads 
to swap in general moving wider in line with global  
high grade markets. Spreads widened between  
3 basis points (bps) and 25 bps to NZGB and between 
7 bps to 12 bps to swap over the six-month period. The 
inclusion of the NZGBs into the World Government Bond 
Index was also positive for the performance of NZGBs 
relative to LGFA bonds. Outright yields on LGFA bonds 
rose between 157 bps (2024 maturity) and 75 bps (2033 
maturity) over the six-month period.

LGFA was voted by market participants as the 
KangaNews New Zealand Debt Issuer of the Year award 
for 2022 and we want to acknowledge their support.

It is also pleasing to observe the increased participation 
by offshore investors over the past six months as NZD-
denominated investments have become relatively 

more attractive for investors. We estimate that offshore 
investors have increased their holdings of LGFA bonds 
over the past six months by $638 million to a record $5.09 
billion (or 30.1% of LGFA bonds on issue), while domestic 
institutional and retail investors hold 33.2%, domestic 
banks 28.2% and the Reserve Bank 8.5%.

Lending to the sector
LGFA was established in 2011 to provide long-dated 
borrowing, certainty of access to markets and to 
reduce the borrowing costs for the local government 
sector. The original 31 shareholders including the Crown 
remain as shareholders. Over the past six months, 
we added two councils and two Council-controlled 
organisations (CCOs) as members, with Dunedin 
City Council and Environment Southland joining as 
guarantors and Westland Holdings and Dunedin City 
Treasury joining as CCOs. Total membership is now 77 
out of the 78 councils in New Zealand and three CCOs.

Long-dated lending to council and CCO members 
over the six-month period was $1.82 billion provided to 
51 members. This was the second highest amount lent 
over a rolling six-month period and was just below the 
amount of loans made during the six-month period to 
September 2020. Our estimated market share of total 
council borrowing of 89% was above forecast and the 
third highest annual average on record. The average 
tenor of long-dated borrowing by councils of 5.6 years 
over the six-month period was in line with prior periods.

Short-dated lending for terms less than 12 months 
continues to be supported by councils. As at 31 
December 2022, LGFA had $493 million of short-term 
loans outstanding to 30 council and CCO members.

Our role in assisting Local and Central 
Government 
The local government sector continues to face a 
period of change and uncertainty having to deal with 
climate-related events, rising cost pressures and the 
Central Government-led initiatives relating to the 
proposed Three Waters Reform Programme and the 
Future for Local Government Review.

LGFA is assisting on an as-required basis, both 
Central Government and our council members, as 
they work through the proposed Three Waters Reform 
Programme. The Government’s proposed Three Water 
Reform Programme will be the largest change to the 
local authority sector in recent years.

LGFA continues to assist the local government sector-
led initiative in developing a Ratepayer Financing 
Scheme that may provide some financial relief to 
ratepayers. 

 Message from the Chair and Chief Executive LGFA Half Year Report 2022

For the six-months ended 31 December 2022

The six-months to December presented a challenging period for 
financial markets, with LGFA’s operating performance over this 
period subdued due to the volatile markets. Despite the difficult 
conditions, LGFA continued to deliver value to members and our 
investor base while meeting our financial targets. Highlights over the 
period included launching our new Climate Action Loan product for 
members and being awarded the KangaNews New Zealand Debt 
Issuer of the year.

New Zealand 
Issuer of the Year 
for 2022 
Thank you to our investors, 
intermediaries and market 
participants for their support.
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New products and initiatives
We launched Green, Social and Sustainable (GSS) 
lending in October 2021 and over the past six months 
have approved three further projects as being eligible 
for GSS loans, bringing the number to five loans 
across five councils. As at 31 December 2022 we have 
undertaken $101 million of GSS Loans to three councils.

We launched Climate Action Loans (CALs) for councils 
and CCOs in December 2022. A CAL provides a 
discounted loan margin to those councils with a 
Greenhouse Gas Emission Reduction Plan in place and 
who are meeting their targets.

Increasing focus on sustainability
Sustainability plays an important part within the local 
government sector and at LGFA. We have undertaken 
several initiatives over the past year, including 
maintenance of CarbonZero certification from Toitu 
Envirocare, actively marketing our GSS loan product 
and establishing CALs.

We reviewed the Climate Change Emergency 
Declarations and responses by Councils and a copy 
of the report is available on our website: Review of 
Climate Emergency Declarations and Responses  
by Councils

Acknowledgments
The Agency’s work cannot be implemented without 
the support of our staff, fellow directors, Shareholders 
Council, New Zealand Debt Management (NZDM) and 
Central Government, all of whose efforts should be 
acknowledged.

John Avery, one of LGFA’s foundation directors, retired 
in November 2022, and we would like to take this 
opportunity to sincerely thank John for his invaluable 
contribution to LGFA since 2011.

We believe LGFA’s future remains positive and look 
forward to working with all stakeholders.

Craig Stobo 
Chair

Mark Butcher 
Chief Executive
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Pedestrian bridge, Waikanae River, Otaihanga Domain. 

Kapiti Coast District Council. Photo by Mark Coote
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Ko ngā whakatutukinga  
ki ngā whāinga

Performance  
against objectives

The statement of service performance provides a summary of LGFA’s performance for the first 
half of the financial year against the objectives and performance targets set out in the LGFA 
Statement of Intent 2022-23 (SOI)

2022-23 Objectives and performance targets

LGFA objectives and performance targets for 2022-23 fall within the following five strategic priorities which 
encompass our shareholders’ foundation objectives and guide the LGFA Board and management in determining 
our strategy:

•	� Governance, capability and business practice

•	�� Optimising financing services for local government

•	� Environmental and social responsibility

•	� Effective management of loans

•	� Industry leadership and engagement

Our quarterly reports to shareholders provide more detail on our performance against objectives and 
performance targets. The reports for the quarters’ ended September and December 2022 are available on the 
LGFA website.

Governance, capability and business practice
LGFA is committed to best practice corporate governance to ensure its long-term sustainability and success.

Objectives Our performance to 31 December 2022

Demonstrate best practice 
corporate governance.

LGFA is committed to demonstrating best practice corporate 
governance and we report annually on our compliance with the eight 
core principles underpinning the NZX Corporate Governance Best 
Practice Code.

Our 2022 Annual Report, released on 30 August 2022, is the most recent 
report with commentary on our compliance with the NZX Code.

Set and model high standards of 
ethical behaviour.

LGFA has adopted a formal Code of Ethics, incorporating its Conflicts of 
Interest and Code of Conduct policies, which sets out the standards and 
values that directors and employees are expected to follow.

Ensure products and services 
offered to participating borrowers 
are delivered in a cost-effective 
manner.

LGFA prepares annual operating budgets and monitors progress against 
these monthly. Our performance against our financial performance 
targets for the six months to 31 December is summarised below under our 
performance targets.

Be a good employer by providing 
safe working conditions, training 
and development and equal 
opportunities for staff.

LGFA is committed to being a good employer and we report our 
employment practices annually in our Annual Report.

Our 2022 Annual Report is our most recent report outlining our health and 
safety and wellbeing practices and policies, including compliance with 
the Health and Safety at Work Act, diversity and inclusion and capability 
and development.

Performance targets 2022-2023 target Our performance to 31 December 2022

Comply with the Shareholder 
Foundation Polices and the Board-
approved Treasury Policy at all 
times.

No breaches. 	 No breaches.

Maintain LGFA’s credit rating equal 
to the New Zealand Government 
sovereign rating where both 
entities are rated by the same 
Rating Agency.

LGFA credit 
ratings equivalent 
to NZ Sovereign.

	� Our ratings remain equivalent to the New 
Zealand Government for both S&P Global 
Ratings and Fitch Ratings.

	� Fitch Ratings upgraded our long-term foreign 
currency credit rating to AA+ on 16 September 
2022. S&P Global Ratings affirmed our domestic 
currency credit rating at AAA in February 2022.

LGFA’s total operating income for 
the period to 30 June 2023.

> $12.2 million. 	� On target to meet by 30 June 2023.

	� $5.651 million as at 31 December 2022.

LGFA’s total operating expenses for 
the period to 30 June 2023.

< $9.4 million. 	� On target to meet by 30 June 2023.

	� $4.542 million as at 31 December 2022.

2023 - Agenda - Audit and Risk - March - Correspondence

191



LGFA Half Year Report 2022 Performance against objectives

50               2021-22 ANNUAL REPORT

Transport

Transport is about Hamilton 
Kirikiriroa being a city that 
is easy to get around. We 
want to have a safe, reliable, 
and sustainable transport 
system that is accessible 
to everyone and caters 
to a variety of transport 
choices. We want to meet 
our legislative obligations 
relating to the way we 
manage the road corridor 
and transport network 
within our boundaries.

Providing this 
activity helps 

create a city that’s 
easy to live in

Waikato riverpath

10   

Optimising financing services for local government
LGFA’s primary objective is to optimise the terms and conditions of the debt funding it provides to participating 
borrowers. Amongst other things, LGFA will achieve this by delivering operational best practice and efficiency 
across our lending products and services.

Objectives How we measure our performance

Provide interest cost 
savings relative to 
alternative sources of 
financing.

Comparison to other high-grade issuers - secondary market spread to swap (bps)

Supranational, sovereign and agency issuers	
Kainga Ora (AAA)			   KBN (AAA)
Asian Development Bank (AAA)		  Rentenbank (AAA)
IADB (AAA)				    World Bank (AAA)
International Finance Corp (AAA)		  Nordic Investment Bank (AAA)

Banks
BNZ (AA-)				    Westpac Bank (AA-)

Offer flexible short 
and long-term 
lending products that 
meet the borrowing 
requirements for 
borrowers.

LGFA provides members with short term loans (less than one year), long term loans on 
either a floating or fixed rate basis (between one year and April 2037), Green Social 
and Sustainable Loans and standby facilities.

	• Over the six months to 31 December 2022, our members borrowed $1.82 billion in 
163 long term loans across maturity dates ranging between 2023 and 2033, with 
December quarter lending being the second highest on record.

	• As at 31 December 2022 there were 45 short term loans totaling $497 million.

	• As at 31 December 2022, standby facilities totalled $682 million across 13 members.

Deliver operational 
best practice and 
efficiency for lending 
services.

Over the six months to 31 December 2022, LGFA operations staff successfully:

	• settled 842 new trades with a gross value of $9.97 billion,

	• processed 6,067 cash flows with a gross value of $15.0 billion, and

	• rate set 4,305 existing trades.

There were no LGFA settlement errors over the six months.

Ensure certainty 
of access to debt 
markets, subject 
always to operating 
in accordance with 
sound business 
practice.

There was strong activity in LGFA bonds in both the primary market (tender or 
syndicated issuance) and secondary market (between banks and investors). Over 
the six months to 31 December 2022, we issued $1.76 billion of primary bonds and 
secondary market turnover totalled $5.14 billion. Secondary market turnover of $3.1 
billion over the December quarter was at the second highest on record.

Performance targets 2022-2023 target Our performance to 31 December 2022

Share of aggregate long-term 
debt funding to the Local 
Government sector.

> 80% 	� 89% as at 31 December 2022 (compared to a 
historical average of 75% since 2012).

Total lending to Participating 
Borrowers.

> $15,004 million 	� On target to meet by 30 June 2023.

	 $15,751 million as at 31 December 2022.

Conduct an annual survey of 
Participating Borrowers who 
borrow from LGFA as to the value 
added by LGFA to the borrowing 
activities.

> 85% satisfaction 
score

	� 100% satisfaction score in August 2022 
Stakeholder Survey.

Successfully refinance existing 
loans to councils and LGFA bond 
maturities as they fall due.

100% 	� 100%

Meet all lending requests from 
Participating Borrowers, where 
those requests meet LGFA 
operational and covenant 
requirements.

100% 	� 100%

Performance against objectives LGFA Half Year Report 2022 11   
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Hamilton City Council
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Effective management of loans
LGFA will ensure its loan book remains at a high standard by ensuring it understands each participating 
borrower’s financial position. LGFA manages its assets within an appropriate risk management framework to 
ensure shareholder value is not compromised.

Objectives How we measure our performance

Proactively monitor and review 
each Participating Borrower’s 
financial position, including its 
financial headroom under LGFA 
policies.

Analyse finances at the Council 
group level where appropriate 
and report to shareholders.

Over the six months, we reviewed council agendas and management 
reports on an ongoing basis for all members on the LGFA borrower 
watch-list.

We have received compliance certificates for LGFA covenants from all 
of our members with debt outstanding at June 2022 and no council has 
requested that they be measured on a group basis. Some certificates 
have been provided based upon unaudited financial statements given 
the delays in providing final audit signoff due to audit shortages.

Endeavour to meet each 
participating borrower annually, 
including meeting with elected 
officials as required, or if 
requested.

We met with 30 borrowers over the six months and are on target to meet 
with all members by 30 June 2023.

Performance targets 2022-2023 target Our performance to 31 December 2022

Review each participating 
borrower’s financial position under 
LGFA policies.

100% 	� On target to meet by 30 June 2023.

Arrange to meet each 
Participating Borrower at least 
annually, including meeting with 
elected officials as required, or if 
requested.

100% 	� On target to meet by 30 June 2023.

Environmental and social responsibility
LGFA recognises the risks inherent in climate change for councils and supports New Zealand’s shift to a low-
carbon economy. LGFA will exhibit a sense of social and environmental responsibility by having regard to the 
interests of the community in which it operates and by endeavouring to accommodate or encourage these 
when able to do so.

Objectives How we measure our performance

Assist the local government sector 
in achieving their sustainability 
and climate change objectives.

Over the six months, we approved GSS loans to Hutt City Council for the 
Naenae swimming pool, Whangarei District Council for the Civic Centre, 
and approved our first eligible project for social lending for Christchurch 
City Council’s Ōtautahi Community Housing Trust.

In total, to date we have approved five GSS loans with a combined 
approved value of $543 million, with $101 million of loans drawn down  
to date.

On 1 December 2022, we launched Climate Action Loans (CALs) 
which provides councils with a discounted loan margin if they have 
implemented a Greenhouse Gas Emission Reduction Plan and meet their 
emission reduction targets.

LGFA completed research on which New Zealand councils declared 
a climate emergency over 2019-2020 (16 out of 78), their subsequent 
responses and any opportunities for LGFA. A copy of our report is 
available from our website: Review of Climate Emergency Declarations 
and Responses by Councils

Improve sustainability outcomes 
within LGFA.

In 2021, LGFA directors committed to reducing our carbon emissions 
over time, with our target of cutting per employee emissions by 30% by 
2030, compared with a 2018/19 base year. We are currently working on 
translating this target into annual carbon reduction plan targets.

Performance targets 2022-2023 target Our performance to 31 December 2022

Comply with the Health and Safety 
at Work Act 2015.

No breaches 	� No breaches.

Maintain Toitū Carbon Zero 
certification.

Carbon-zero 
certification 
maintained.

	� Toitū Net Carbon-zero recertification approved 
11 October 2022.

Meet reduction targets outlined 
in our carbon reduction 
management plan.

Reduction targets 
met.

	� We are currently working on translating this 
target into annual carbon reduction plan 
targets.

Increase our GSS lending book. Two new 
participating 
borrowers enter 
into GSS loans.

	� Three new participating borrowers approved 
for GSS lending.

Ensure Annual Report is prepared 
in compliance with applicable GRI 
Standards.

100% 	� 2022 Annual Report prepared to meet the 
requirements of the Global Reporting Initiative 
(GRI) Standards (core option).

Meet all mandatory climate 
reporting standards.

100% 	� Voluntarily comply with GRI standards (core 
option).

	� Undertaking development work on meeting 
Climate Related Disclosure requirements.
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Industry leadership and engagement
LGFA will take a proactive role to enhance the financial strength and depth of the local government debt 
market and will work with key central government and local government stakeholders on sector issues.

Objectives How we measure our performance

Take a proactive role to enhance 
the financial strength and depth 
of the local government debt 
market and work with key central 
government and local government 
stakeholders on sector and 
individual council issues.

This year we have introduced two new webinars for members:

	• LGFA Quarterly Update

	• An Economic and Financial Market Update by BNZ

These inaugural webinars were well attended by participants and will be 
formalised as ongoing quarterly events.

Over the six months we met with Treasury, the National Transition Unit 
and Policy teams at DIA (and their advisers) regarding proposed Three 
Waters Reform, working actively on issues relating how to the transition 
of council debt on 1 July 2024, as well as the borrowing options for the 
Water Services Entities (WSEs) following transition. The Water Services 
Legislation Bill was introduced to Parliament in December and, in 
consultation with key stakeholders, we are considering the contents 
of the Bill and what potential role LGFA could play under the proposed 
Three Waters Reform Programme.

LGFA has provided input into the Ratepayer Financing Scheme (RFS) 
project managed by a group of councils with advice from Cameron 
Partners. If successful, the RFS could offer temporary financial relief to 
ratepayers via rates postponement. LGFA is not contributing financially 
to this project but providing intellectual capital and assistance.

We are continuing work on initiatives to reduce compliance and 
documentation requirements for members when they borrow.

Met with Chair of the Review into the Future for Local Government.

Assist the local government sector 
with significant matters such 
as COVID-19 response and the 
proposed Three Waters Reform 
Programme.

Support councils and CCOs in 
the development of reporting 
disclosures of the impacts of 
sector activity on climate change.

Performance against objectives LGFA Half Year Report 2022 15   

Bay of Plenty Regional Oil Spill Response Team training exercise in Tauranga Harbour.

Bay of Plenty Regional Council
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Statement of comprehensive income
For the six months ended 31 December 2022 in $000s

Note Unaudited  
six months ended  
31 December 2022

 Unaudited  
six months ended  
31 December 2021

Interest income  312,883  185,886 

Interest expense  307,904  176,709 

Net interest income 4  4,979  9,178 

Other operating income 5  671  526 

Total operating income  5,651  9,704 

Operating expenses 6  4,542  3,769 

Net operating profit  1,108  5,935 

Total comprehensive income  1,108  5,935 

Director’s declaration

Nga taukī pūtea

Financial statements Statement of comprehensive income��������������������������������������������������� 16

Statement of changes in equity��������������������������������������������������������������� 17

Statement of financial position���������������������������������������������������������������� 18

Statement of cash flows������������������������������������������������������������������������������ 19

Notes to the financial statements��������������������������������������������������������� 20

Statement of changes in equity
For the six months ended 31 December 2022 in $000s

Note  Share 
capital 

 Retained 
earnings 

 Total equity 

Equity as at 1 July 2021  25,000  69,744  94,744 

Net operating profit  10,673  10,673 

Total comprehensive income for the year  10,673  10,673 

Transactions with owners  -    -   

 Dividend paid on 3 September 2021  (857)  (857)

Equity as at 1 July 2022  25,000  79,559  104,560 

Net operating profit  1,108  1,108 

Total comprehensive income for the year  1,108  1,108 

Transactions with owners  -    -   

 Dividend paid on 2 September 2022  (1,218)  (1,218)

Unaudited closing balance as at 31 December 2022 17  25,000  79,450  104,450 

These statements are to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.

Due to rounding, numbers presented in the financial statements and associated notes may not add up 
precisely to the reported totals.

The Board of Directors of the New Zealand Local Government Funding Agency Limited authorised these 
statements or issue on 24 February 2023.

Craig Stobo, Director 
Board Chair

Linda Robertson, Director 
Chair, Audit and Risk Committee
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Statement of cash 
flows

Statement of financial 
position

Statement of financial position
As at 31 December 2022 in $000s

Note Unaudited as at 
31 December 2022

Audited as at  
30 June 2022

Assets

Financial assets

Receivables  1,895  360 

Cash and bank balances  64,921  158,033 

Cash pledged as collateral  337,009  76 

Marketable securities  1,312,958  1,491,148 

Deposits  594,359  462,866 

Derivatives in gain  77,470  94,767 

Loans 8  15,751,420  14,041,908 

Non-financial assets

Prepayments  1,150  852 

Other assets 9  112  156 

Total assets  18,141,294  16,250,167 

Equity

Share capital 16  25,000  25,000 

Retained earnings  79,450  79,560 

Total equity  104,450  104,560 

Liabilities

Financial liabilities

Payables and provisions 10  95,576  45,066 

Bills 11  636,949  562,803 

Bond repurchases 12  108,077  31,671 

Derivatives in loss  1,717,879  1,206,175 

Bonds 13  15,146,187  14,015,862 

Borrower notes 14  331,468  283,180 

Non-financial liabilities

Other liabilities 15  708  850 

Total liabilities  18,036,844  16,145,607 

Total equity and liabilities  18,141,294  16,250,167 

These statements are to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements. These statements are to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.

Statement of cash flows
For the six months ended 31 December 2022 in $000s

Note Unaudited  
six months ended  
31 December 2022

 Unaudited  
six months ended  
31 December 2021

Cash Flow from Operating Activities

Cash applied to loans 8  (1,639,024)  (1,427,636)

Interest paid on bonds issued  (228,725)  (215,363)

Interest paid on bills issued  (10,088)  (1,591)

Interest paid on borrower notes  (131)  (212)

Interest paid on bond repurchases  (1,738)  (254)

Interest received from loans  224,165  76,952 

Interest received from cash & cash equivalents  2,396  1,031 

Interest received from marketable securities  13,570  5,624 

Interest received from deposits  5,897  2,206 

Net interest on derivatives  2,276  136,753 

Cash proceeds from provision of standby facilities  671  526 

Payments to suppliers and employees  (5,317)  (3,927)

Net cash flow from operating activities 18  (1,636,047)  (1,425,888)

Cashflow from Investing Activities

Purchase of marketable securities  206,657  (594,958)

(Purchase)/maturity of deposits  (462,937)  (185,743)

Purchase of plant and equipment  -    -   

Net Cashflow from Investing Activities  (256,280)  (780,701)

Cash flows from financing activities

Cash proceeds from bonds issued 13  1,477,890  2,096,802 

Cash proceeds (outflows) from bills issued  74,146  (75,367)

Cash proceeds (outflows) from bond repurchases  76,195  158,143 

Cash proceeds from borrower notes  41,598  35,509 

Dividends paid  (1,218)  (857)

Cash applied to derivatives  130,604  (25,240)

Net cash flows from financing activities  1,799,215  2,188,991 

Net (Decrease) / Increase in Cash  (93,112)  (17,599)

Cash, cash equivalents at beginning of year  158,033  391,835 

Cash, cash equivalents at end of year  64,921  374,236 
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Notes to the financial statements
Notes to the financial statements

1.	 Reporting entity
The New Zealand Local Government Funding 
Agency Limited (LGFA) is a company registered 
under the Companies Act 1993 and is subject to the 
requirements of the Local Government Act 2002.

LGFA is controlled by participating local authorities 
and is a council-controlled organisation as defined 
under section 6 of the Local Government Act 2002. 
LGFA is a limited liability company incorporated and 
domiciled in New Zealand.

The primary objective of LGFA is to optimise the 
debt funding terms and conditions for participating 
borrowers.

The registered address of LGFA is Level 8, City 
Chambers, 142 Featherston Street, Wellington Central, 
Wellington 6011.

These financial statements were authorised for issue 
by the Directors on 24 February 2023.

2.	 Statement of compliance
The interim financial statements are for the six 
months ended 31 December 2022 and are to be read 
in conjunction with the annual report for the year 
ended 30 June 2021.

The financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with New Zealand Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice (NZ GAAP) and in compliance 
with NZ IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting.

3.	 Basis of preparation
Measurement base

The financial statements have been prepared on a 
historical cost basis modified by the revaluation of 
certain assets and liabilities.

The financial statements are prepared on an accrual 
basis.

Functional and presentation currency

The financial statements are presented in New 
Zealand dollars rounded to the nearest thousand, 
unless separately identified. The functional currency 
of LGFA is New Zealand dollars.

Foreign currency conversions

Transactions denominated in foreign currency are 
translated into New Zealand dollars using exchange 
rates applied on the trade date of the transaction.

Changes in accounting policies

There have no changes to accounting policies.

Early adoption standards and interpretations

LGFA has not early adopted any standards.

Standards not yet adopted

LGFA does not consider any standards or 
interpretations in issue but not yet effective to have a 
significant impact on its financial statements.

Financial instruments

Financial assets

Financial assets, other than derivatives, are 
recognised initially at fair value plus transaction 
costs and subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest rate method.

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, 
bank accounts and deposits with an original maturity 
of no more than three months.

Cash provided by LGFA as security for financial 
arrangements remains a financial asset of LGFA and 
is recognised as cash pledged as collateral in the 
Statement of Financial Position, separate from cash 
and cash equivalents

Purchases and sales of all financial assets are 
accounted for at trade date.

At each balance date, an expected credit loss 
assessment is performed for all financial assets and 
is calculated as either:

	• �Credit losses that may arise from default events 
that are possible within the next 12 months, where 
no significant increase in credit risk has arisen 
since acquisition of the asset, or

	• Credit losses that may arise from default events 
that are possible over the expected life of the 
financial asset, where a significant increase in 
credit risk has arisen since acquisition of the asset.

Impairment losses on financial assets will ordinarily 
be recognised on initial recognition as a 12-month 
expected loss allowance and move to a lifetime 
expected loss allowance if there is a significant 
deterioration in credit risk since acquisition.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities, other than derivatives, are 
recognised initially at fair value less transaction costs 
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest rate method.

Derivatives

Derivative financial instruments are recognised 
both initially and subsequently at fair value. They 
are reported as either assets or liabilities depending 
on whether the derivative is in a net gain or net loss 
position respectively.

Fair value hedge

Where a derivative qualifies as a hedge of the exposure 
to changes in fair value of an asset or liability (fair value 
hedge) any gain or loss on the derivative is recognised 
in profit and loss together with any changes in the fair 
value of the hedged asset or liability.

The carrying amount of the hedged item is adjusted 
by the fair value gain or loss on the hedged item in 
respect of the risk being hedged. Effective parts of 
the hedge are recognised in the same area of profit 
and loss as the hedged item.

Other assets

Property, plant and equipment

Items of property, plant and equipment are initially 
recorded at cost.

Depreciation is charged on a straight-line basis at 
rates calculated to allocate the cost or valuation of 
an item of property, plant and equipment, less any 
estimated residual value, over its remaining useful life.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets comprise software and project 
costs incurred for the implementation of the treasury 
management system. Capitalised computer software 
costs are amortised on a straight-line basis over the 
estimated useful life of the software (three to seven 
years). Costs associated with maintaining computer 
software are recognised as expenses.

Other liabilities

Employee entitlements

Employee entitlements to salaries and wages, annual 
leave and other similar benefits are recognised in the 
profit and loss when they accrue to employees.

Revenue

Interest income

Interest income is accrued using the effective interest 
rate method.

The effective interest rate exactly discounts estimated 
future cash receipts through the expected life of the 
financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount. The 
method applies this rate to the principal outstanding 
to determine interest income each period.

Expenses

Expenses are recognised in the period to which they 
relate.

Interest expense

Interest expense is accrued using the effective 
interest rate method.

The effective interest rate exactly discounts estimated 
future cash payments through the expected life of 
the financial liability to that liability’s net carrying 
amount. The method applies this rate to the principal 
outstanding to determine interest expense each period.

Income tax

LGFA is exempt from income tax under Section 14 of 
the Local Government Borrowing Act 2011.

Goods and services tax

All items in the financial statements are presented 
exclusive of goods and service tax (GST), except for 
receivables and payables, which are presented on a 
GST-inclusive basis. Where GST is not recoverable as 
input tax, then it is recognised as part of the related 
asset or expense.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable 
to, the IRD is included as part of receivables or 
payables in the statement of financial position.

The net GST paid to, or received from the IRD, 
including the GST relating to investing and financing 
activities, is classified as a net operating cash flow in 
the statement of cash flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed 
exclusive of GST.

Segment reporting

LGFA operates in one segment being funding of 
participating borrowers in New Zealand.

Judgements and estimations

The preparation of these financial statements 
requires judgements, estimates and assumptions 
that affect the application of policies and reported 
amounts. For example, the fair value of financial 
instruments depends critically on judgements 
regarding future cash flows, including inflation 
assumptions and the risk-free discount rate.

The estimates and associated assumptions are 
based on historical experience and various other 
factors that are believed to be reasonable under 
the circumstances. Actual results may differ from 
these estimates and these estimates and underlying 
assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. 
Where these judgements significantly affect the 
amounts recognised in the financial statements they 
are described in the following notes.

The financial statements as at 31 December 2022 
include estimates and judgements of the proposed 
Three Waters Reform Programme on LGFA’s financial 
position and performance. Whilst there has been no 
material impact on the estimates and judgements at 
the date these financial statements are authorised, it is 
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6. Operating expenses
Issuance and on-lending expenses are those costs that are incurred as a necessary expense to facilitate the 
ongoing issuance of LGFA debt securities.

in $000s Unaudited  
six months ended  
31 December 2022

 Unaudited  
six months ended  
31 December 2021

Issuance and on-lending expenses

Approved issuer levy 1  343  325 

Rating agency fees  333  324 

NZDM facility fee  652  250 

Legal fees - issuance  205  225 

NZX  367  390 

Trustee fees  55  51 

Regulatory, registry, other fees  106  68 

 2,062  1,633 

Other operating expenses

Information technology  341  399 

Consultants  127  95 

Directors fees  213  212 

Insurance  47  43 

Legal fees  156  51 

Other expenses  230  136 

Auditors’ remuneration

Statutory audit  55  55 

Advisory services  -    -   

Personnel  1,312  1,145 

 2,481  2,135 

Total operating expenses  4,542  3,769 

1.	� The amount of Approved Issuer Levy is a function of the number of the offshore holders of certain LGFA bond 
maturities.

4. Net interest income

in $000s Unaudited  
six months ended  
31 December 2022

 Unaudited  
six months ended  
31 December 2021

Interest income

Cash and cash equivalents  4,098  1,036 

Marketable securities  18,342  4,259 

Lease liability  16  -   

Deposits  9,668  3,129 

Derivatives  -    90,015 

Loans  280,759  87,447 

Fair value hedge ineffectiveness  -    -   

Total interest income  312,883  185,886 

Interest expense

Bills  10,088  1,591 

Bond repurchase transactions  1,949  319 

Lease liability  -    5 

Derivatives  66,245  -   

Bonds  224,425  173,439 

Borrower notes  5,196  1,355 

Total interest expense  307,904  176,709 

Net interest income  4,979  9,178 

5. Other operating income
As at 30 June 2022, LGFA had provided credit standby facilities totalling $662 million to selected councils.  
As at balance date, there were no drawdowns outstanding under the facilities.

in $000s Unaudited  
six months ended  
31 December 2022

 Unaudited  
six months ended  
31 December 2021

Standby facilities fee income  671  526 

Total other operating income  671  526 

noted that there is significant uncertainty with regards 
to the medium and long-term effects of COVID-19, as 

well as the outcome of proposed Three Waters Reform 
Programme on the local government sector.
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7. Hedge accounting
LGFA is exposed to interest rate risk from its borrowing, lending and investment activities and uses interest rate 
swaps to manage this risk. For hedge accounting purposes, LGFA has designated these swaps in fair value 
relationships to its fixed rate borrowings, loans and investments.

The following table shows the gain or loss on the hedging instrument and the hedged item attributable to the 
hedged risk for fair value hedge relationships.

in $000s Unaudited six 
months ended  

31 December 2022

 Unaudited six 
months ended  

31 December 2021

Hedging instruments - interest rate swaps  329,876  520,010 

Hedged items attributable to the hedged risk  (329,876)  (520,010)

Ineffectiveness recognised in profit or loss from fair value hedges  -    -   

The gains or losses on the hedging instrument (interest rate swaps) and the hedged item (bonds, loans and 
investments) are mapped to the same fair value account. For this reason, the statement of comprehensive 
income will only report any ineffectiveness arising from the fair value hedge.

8. Loans

in $000s Unaudited as at 31 December 2022 Audited as at 30 June 2022
Short-term loans 1 Loans Short-term loans Loans

 Ashburton District Council  7,064  79,152  12,048  78,898 

 Auckland Council  -    3,629,211  -    3,413,415 

 Bay of Plenty Regional Council  25,465  167,970  25,651  167,941 

 Buller District Council  -    20,027  -    20,015 

 Canterbury Regional Council  -    75,366  4,018  75,214 

 Carterton District Council  -    14,772  -    14,762 

 Central Hawkes Bay District Council  1,011  28,168  2,024  20,107 

 Central Otago District Council  10,083  5,050  5,024  -   

 Christchurch City Council  -    2,285,660  2,017  2,036,724 

 Clutha District Council  7,547  37,590  5,532  32,394 

 Far North District Council  -    71,895  -    71,822 

 Gisborne District Council  -    111,572  -    86,095 

 Gore District Council  8,573  35,263  6,035  29,631 

 Greater Wellington Regional Council  -    636,734  -    576,343 

 Grey District Council  3,944  26,781  3,980  26,717 

 Hamilton City Council  -    726,508  -    633,049 

 Hastings District Council  -    275,067  -    237,990 

 Hauraki District Council  -    52,432  -    43,212 

 Hawkes Bay Regional Council  -    46,141  -    37,992 

 Horizons Regional Council  11,942  49,831  11,984  49,771 

 Horowhenua District Council  21,187  131,653  11,001  127,395 

 Hurunui District Council  8,073  34,307  8,033  30,147 

 Hutt City Council  -    303,302  -    256,607 

 Invercargill City Council  36,004  68,763  12,845  68,725 

 Invercargill City Holdings Ltd  18,469  68,438  22,076  68,354 

 Kaikoura District Council  -    5,341  -    5,331 

 Kaipara District Council  -    44,425  -    44,229 

 Kapiti Coast District Council  -    257,151  -    256,128 

 Kawerau District Council  -    2,005  -    -   

 Mackenzie District Council  2,018  8,080  10,002  -   

 Manawatu District Council  11,570  77,919  11,559  77,725 

 Marlborough District Council  47,553  107,324  37,325  100,289 

 Masterton District Council  -    56,244  -    50,260 

 Matamata-Piako District Council  -    45,907  -    38,191 

 Nelson City Council  -    171,371  -    140,581 

 New Plymouth District Council  10,084  216,117  -    170,350 

 Northland Regional Council  -    14,148  -    14,147 

 Opotiki District Council  -    9,067  -    7,073 

1.	� As at 31 December 2022, $2,415 million of loans are due to mature within 12 months. This comprises all short-term 
loans and $1,922 million of loans.
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9 . Other assets

in $000s
Unaudited as at 

31 December 2022
Audited as at 
30 June 2022

Right-of-use lease asset  112  156 

Total other assets  112  156 

10. Payables and provisions

in $000s
Unaudited as at 

31 December 2022
Audited as at 
30 June 2022

Loans/purchases to be advanced  95,000  44,000 

Trade creditors  185  800 

Credit provision  139  161 

Other provisions  252  105 

Total payables and provisions  95,576  45,066 

11. Bills

Unaudited as at  
31 December 2022 in $000s

 Face value  Unamortised 
premium 

 Accrued  
interest 

 Total 

13 January 2023  145,000  (139)  -    144,861 

2 February 2023  25,000  (78)  -    24,922 

10 February 2023  80,000  (337)  -    79,663 

17 February 2023  20,000  (107)  -    19,893 

28 February 2023  50,000  (348)  -    49,652 

10 March 2023  70,000  (538)  -    69,462 

15 March 2023  50,000  (436)  -    49,564 

20 March 2023  52,000  (504)  -    51,496 

5 April 2023  25,000  (265)  -    24,735 

12 April 2023  20,000  (234)  -    19,766 

18 April 2023  15,000  (191)  -    14,809 

10 May 2023  15,000  (245)  -    14,755 

7 June 2023  25,000  (522)  -    24,478 

14 June 2023  50,000  (1,106)  -    48,894 

Total bills  642,000  (5,051)  -    636,949 

in $000s Unaudited as at 31 December 2022 Audited as at 30 June 2022
Short-term loans 1 Loans Short-term loans Loans

 Otago Regional Council  26,793  73,682  66,715  48,443 

 Otorohanga District Council  -    4,028  -    4,028 

 Palmerston North City Council  -    213,980  -    187,872 

 Porirua City Council  -    178,148  -    172,335 

 Queenstown Lakes District Council  55,703  401,978  50,275  241,015 

 Rangitikei District Council  -    19,158  -    19,157 

 Rotorua District Council  53,600  275,679  43,112  245,298 

 Ruapehu District Council  8,037  29,588  8,020  29,557 

 Selwyn District Council  -    85,725  -    75,343 

 South Taranaki District Council  -    113,060  -    112,566 

 South Waikato District Council  4,954  34,294  4,874  34,171 

 Southland District Council  -    16,900  -    16,899 

 South Wairarapa District Council  -    26,631  -    26,537 

 Stratford District Council  -    32,359  6,027  26,299 

 Taranaki Regional Council  3,963  19,632  -    14,587 

 Tararua District Council  2,013  55,670  -    51,244 

 Tasman District Council  24,295  235,580  24,193  198,190 

 Taupo District Council  -    171,208  -    125,522 

 Tauranga City Council  -    761,621  -    648,528 

 Thames-Coromandel District Council  -    73,665  -    73,365 

 Timaru District Council  29,108  152,022  28,724  136,516 

 Upper Hutt City Council  -    95,766  -    91,421 

 Waikato District Council  -    110,947  -    95,454 

 Waikato Regional Council  -    25,202  -    25,120 

 Waimakariri District Council  -    171,473  -    170,903 

 Waimate District Council  -    3,534  -    -   

 Waipa District Council  26,030  154,231  25,530  124,377 

 Wairoa District Council  -    11,102  -    10,062 

 Waitaki District Council (WD)  6,903  31,201  4,491  20,583 

 Waitomo District Council  4,027  24,160  4,017  24,092 

 Wellington City Council  -    1,195,968  -    967,101 

 West Coast Regional Council  -    11,396  3,761  6,616 

 Western Bay Of Plenty District Council  -    70,687  -    70,366 

 Westland District Council  -    30,050  -    29,933 

 Westland Holdings Ltd  -    2,405  -    -   

 Whakatane District Council  -    108,433  -    86,396 

 Whanganui District Council  7,544  99,907  7,523  99,522 

 Whangarei District Council  9,947  183,505  9,972  182,813 

Fair value hedge adjustment  -    (43,416)  -    (36,332)

Total loans  493,505  15,257,915  478,385  13,563,522 
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Audited as at  
30 June 2022 in $000s

 Face value  Unamortised 
premium 

 Accrued  
interest 

 Total 

7 July 2022  15,000  -    (4)  14,996 

13 July 2022  70,000  -    (30)  69,970 

19 July 2022  35,000  -    (33)  34,967 

4 August 2022  25,000  -    (33)  24,967 

10 August 2022  80,000  -    (167)  79,833 

19 August 2022  20,000  -    (60)  19,940 

30 August 2022  50,000  -    (201)  49,799 

9 September 2022  68,000  -    (296)  67,704 

14 September 2022  100,000  -    (538)  99,462 

19 September 2022  27,000  -    (120)  26,880 

6 October 2022  25,000  -    (148)  24,852 

9 November 2022  25,000  -    (238)  24,762 

7 December 2022  25,000  -    (329)  24,671 

Total bills  565,000  -    (2,197)  562,803 

12. Treasury stock and bond repurchases
Periodically, LGFA subscribes for LGFA bonds as part of its tender process and holds these bonds as treasury 
stock. LGFA bonds held by LGFA as treasury stock are derecognised at the time of issue and no liability is 
recognised in the statement of financial position. As at 31 December 2022, $1,100 million of LFGA bonds had been 
subscribed as treasury stock.

LGFA makes these treasury stock bonds available to banks authorised as its tender counterparties to borrow 
under short-term repurchase transactions. The objective of the bond lending facility is to assist with improving 
secondary market liquidity in LGFA bonds. Bonds lent to counterparties are disclosed as a separate stock 
lending liability on the face of the statement of financial position.

in $000s Unaudited as at 
31 December 2022

Audited as at 
30 June 2022

15 April 2023  4,054 

15 April 2024  -  1,456 

15 April 2025  9,512  6,773 

15 April 2026  893  5,395 

15 April 2027  35,962  - 

15 May 2028  -  - 

20 April 2029  15,416  7,390 

15 May 2031  8,223  - 

14 April 2033  -  4,566 

15 May 2035  -  818 

15 April 2037  34,017  5,272 

Total bond repurchases  108,077  31,671 

13. Bonds
Bonds on issue do not include $1,100 million face value of issued LGFA bonds subscribed by LGFA and held as 
treasury stock. Refer Note 12: Treasury stock and bond repurchase transactions.

Unaudited as at 
31 December 2022  
in $000s

 Face Value  Unamortised 
premium 

 Accrued 
interest 

 Fair value 
hedge 

adjustment 

 Total 

Fixed interest bonds

15 April 2023  1,830,000  9,127  21,568 

15 April 2024  2,108,000  862  10,164 

15 April 2025  2,409,000  (45,646)  14,196 

15 April 2026  2,055,000  (52,395)  6,605 

15 April 2027  1,881,000  78,421  18,138 

15 May 2028  1,373,000  (59,559)  4,011 

20 April 2029  1,562,000  (60,236)  4,699 

15 May 2031  1,000,000  (42,471)  2,921 

14 April 2033  1,350,000  34,731  10,255 

15 May 2035  400,000  2,096  1,558 

15 April 2037  770,000  (25,117)  3,300 

Total bonds  16,738,000  (160,188)  97,415  (1,529,039)  15,146,187 

Audited as at 
30 June 2022  
in $000s

 Face Value  Unamortised 
premium 

 Accrued 
interest 

 Fair value 
hedge 

adjustment 

 Total 

Fixed interest bonds

15 April 2023  1,830,000  25,117  21,175 

15 April 2024  1,998,000  5,625  9,458 

15 April 2025  1,679,000  (13,379)  9,714 

15 April 2026  1,815,000  (31,599)  5,728 

15 April 2027  1,751,000  85,460  16,577 

15 May 2028  1,270,000  (53,384)  3,650 

20 April 2029  1,362,000  (21,893)  4,019 

15 May 2031  850,000  (19,801)  2,443 

14 April 2033  1,290,000  43,486  9,622 

15 May 2035  400,000  2,166  1,533 

15 April 2037  730,000  (12,837)  3,072 

Total fixed interest  14,975,000  8,962  86,989  (1,185,774)  13,885,177 

Floating rate notes

14 October 2022  130,000  (7)  692  -    130,684 

Total bonds  15,105,000  8,955  87,681  (1,185,774)  14,015,862 
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14. Borrower notes
Borrower notes are subordinated debt instruments which are required to be held by each local authority 
that borrows from LGFA in an amount equal to a fixed percentage of the aggregate borrowings by that local 
authority. The fixed percentage is 2.5% for loans issued from 1 July 2020. Prior to this date, the fixed percentage 
was 1.6%.

LGFA may convert borrower notes into redeemable shares if it has made calls for all unpaid capital to be paid in 
full and the LGFA Board determines it is still at risk of imminent default.

15.	Other liabilities

in $000s Unaudited as at 
31 December 2022

Audited as at 
30 June 2022

Lease liability  112  156 

Accruals  596  694 

Total other liabilities  708  850 

16.	Share capital
As at 31 December 2022, LGFA had 45 million ordinary shares on issue, 20 million of which remain uncalled.

All ordinary shares rank equally with one vote attached to each ordinary share. Ordinary shares have a face 
value of $1 per share.

17.	Shareholder information

Registered holders of equity securities As at 31 December 2022 As at 30 June 2022

Minister of Finance and Minister for Local Government  5,000,000 11.1%  5,000,000 11.1%

Auckland Council  3,731,960 8.3%  3,731,960 8.3%

Christchurch City Council  3,731,960 8.3%  3,731,960 8.3%

Hamilton City Council  3,731,960 8.3%  3,731,960 8.3%

Bay of Plenty Regional Council  3,731,958 8.3%  3,731,958 8.3%

Greater Wellington Regional Council  3,731,958 8.3%  3,731,958 8.3%

Tasman District Council  3,731,958 8.3%  3,731,958 8.3%

Tauranga City Council  3,731,958 8.3%  3,731,958 8.3%

Wellington City Council  3,731,958 8.3%  3,731,958 8.3%

Western Bay of Plenty District Council  3,731,958 8.3%  3,731,958 8.3%

Whangarei District Council  1,492,784 3.3%  1,492,784 3.3%

Hastings District Council  746,392 1.7%  746,392 1.7%

Marlborough District Council  400,000 0.9%  400,000 0.9%

Selwyn District Council  373,196 0.8%  373,196 0.8%

Gisborne District Council  200,000 0.4%  200,000 0.4%

Hauraki District Council  200,000 0.4%  200,000 0.4%

Horowhenua District Council  200,000 0.4%  200,000 0.4%

Hutt City Council  200,000 0.4%  200,000 0.4%

Kapiti Coast District Council  200,000 0.4%  200,000 0.4%

Manawatu District Council  200,000 0.4%  200,000 0.4%

Masterton District Council  200,000 0.4%  200,000 0.4%

New Plymouth District Council  200,000 0.4%  200,000 0.4%

Otorohanga District Council  200,000 0.4%  200,000 0.4%

Palmerston North District Council  200,000 0.4%  200,000 0.4%

South Taranaki District Council  200,000 0.4%  200,000 0.4%

Taupo District Council  200,000 0.4%  200,000 0.4%

Thames-Coromandel District Council  200,000 0.4%  200,000 0.4%

Waimakariri District Council  200,000 0.4%  200,000 0.4%

Waipa District Council  200,000 0.4%  200,000 0.4%

Whakatane District Council  200,000 0.4%  200,000 0.4%

Whanganui District Council  200,000 0.4%  200,000 0.4%

Total  45,000,000 100%  45,000,000 100%
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18.	Reconciliation of net profit to net cash flow from operating activities

in $000s Unaudited six 
months ended 

31 December 2022

 Unaudited six 
months ended  

31 December 2021

Net profit/(loss) for the period  1,108  5,935 

Cash applied to loans  (1,639,024)  (1,427,636)

Non-cash adjustments

Amortisation and depreciation  2,643  (3,955)

Working capital movements

Net change in trade debtors and receivables  (378)  13 

Net change in prepayments  (298)  (319)

Net change in accruals  (98)  73 

Net Cash From Operating Activities  (1,636,047)  (1,425,888)

19.	Related parties
Identity of related parties

LGFA is related to the local authorities set out in the Shareholder Information in note 17.

LGFA operates under an annual Statement of Intent that sets out the intentions and expectations for LGFA’s 
operations and lending to participating borrowers.

Shareholding local authorities, and non-shareholder local authorities who borrow more than $20 million, are 
required to enter into a guarantee when they join or participate in LGFA. The guarantee is in respect of the 
payment obligations of other guaranteeing local authorities to the LGFA (cross guarantee) and of the LGFA itself.

Related party transactions

LGFA was established for the purpose of raising funds from the market to lend to participating borrowers. The 
lending to individual councils is disclosed in note 8, and interest income recognised on this lending is shown in 
the statement of comprehensive income.

The purchase of LGFA borrower notes by participating borrowers. Refer note 14.

The Treasury (New Zealand Debt Management) provides LGFA with a committed credit facility and is LGFA’s 
derivatives counterparty.

Rārangi tauwaea
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Postal address
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24 February 2023 
 
 
Dear Shareholder 
 

Draft Statement of Intent 2023-26 
 
Please find attached a copy of the draft Statement of Intent (SOI) for the 2023-26 period. 
 
LGFA continues to focus on delivering strong results for both our council borrowers and 
shareholders.  
 
For our borrowing councils we seek to optimize funding terms and conditions by 

• Achieving savings in borrowing costs  

• Provide longer dated funding and  

• Provide certainty of access to markets 
 
For our shareholders we are focused on  

• Delivering a strong financial performance 

• Monitoring asset quality 

• Enhancing our approach to treasury and risk management and 

• Ensuring we have the correct governance framework and capital structure in place. 

 
For our guarantors we are focused on 

• Minimising the risk of a call upon the guarantee through actively monitoring and managing 

the business risks faced by LGFA including operational, credit, liquidity, interest rate and 

funding risk.   

The following points regarding the draft SOI 2023-26 are worth noting:   
  

• This draft SOI, including financial forecasts, assumes that there are no implications for LGFA 
from the Three Waters Reform Programme. We are awaiting further information relating to 
the establishment of the Water Services Entities (WSEs); how WSEs are intending to 
structure their borrowing; how the transition of revenue and debt will occur between our 
council members and WSEs, and the impact on future council borrowing intentions from the 
Three Waters Reform Programme. The final SOI in June 2023 will be updated from this draft 
to incorporate any future announcements/legislation relating to the Three Waters Reform 
Programme and will include a statement if there have been any material changes to our 
forecast assumptions. 
 

• Profitability is forecast to rebound from the 2022-23 period with projections for Net 
Operating Gain of $9.5 million, $8.3 million and $7.6 million for the next three years. 
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However, we remain cautious in placing too much emphasis on the Year Two (2024-25) and 
Three (2025-26) forecasts given we have $6.6 billion of LGFA bonds and $5.8 billion of 
council and CCO loans maturing over the three-year SOI forecast period. Assumptions 
regarding the amount and timing of refinancing and interest rates have a meaningful impact 
on financial projections.   
 

• We have increased our forecast for council loans (short and long term) outstanding as at 
June 2024 to $16.410 billion and to $17.137 billion as at June 2025 (from $15.995 billion and 
$16.650 billion in the previous SOI). This reflects a higher starting position as at 30 June 2023 
and councils undertaking further capex and a continued high utilisation of short-term 
borrowing from LGFA by councils.   
 

• We are assuming a gross bond issuance of $3.2 billion (2023-24), $3.2 billion (2024-25) and 
$3.15 billion (2025-26) based on council gross lending of $2.8 billion (2023-24), $2.9 billion 
(2024-25) and $3.0 billion (2025-26) 
 

• Net interest income is expected to gradually reduce over the forecast period as the balance 
sheet grows from increased council lending and positive impact from higher interest rates on 
the Liquid Asset Portfolio offset is offset by narrower lending margins.  
 

• We have assumed a modest narrowing in lending margins as more councils and CCOs take up 
the Climate Action Loan (CAL) product and we undertake more Green, Social and 
Sustainability (GSS) lending to councils and CCOs. Given the high starting point with an 
average credit rating of “AA” on the council lending book, we have assumed no further 
improvement in the credit quality of the sector improves.  
 

• Compared to the previous SOI, issuance and operating expenses, excluding Approved Issuer 
Levy (“AIL”) are forecast to be approximately $500k higher in the 2023-24 and 2024-25 
financial years. This is due to forecast higher IT, staffing and legal costs.      
 

• The SOI performance targets are similar to the previous SOI. There is a greater focus on 
sustainability with a target for new CALs, a greater focus on assisting councils with GHG 
emission reporting and assistance with the transition of Three Waters related debt from 
councils to the WSEs. 
 

• As noted above, there is some timing uncertainty within the SOI forecast relating to council 
loans and LGFA bonds outstanding as we need to project both the repayment amount and 
repayment timing of the council loans that are due to mature in April 2024, April 2025 and 
April 2026. Decisions made by our council members regarding early refinancing will have a 
phasing impact across all three years in the SOI forecast.   
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If you have any questions or wish to provide comments by 1 May 2023 then please feel free to 
contact myself or any member of the Shareholders Council. The LGFA board will consider any 
feedback received and provide a final version of the SOI to shareholders by 30 June 2023.  
 
 
Yours sincerely 
 

 
 
Mark Butcher 
Chief Executive 
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1. Introduction

This Statement of Intent (SOI) sets out the nature and scope of the activities, objectives and performance targets for 
the New Zealand Local Government Funding Agency Limited (LGFA) for the three-year period 1 July 2023 to 30 June 2026.

LGFA is enabled under the Local Government Borrowing Act 2011 and is a council-controlled organisation (CCO) for the 
purposes of the Local Government Act 2002.

The SOI is prepared in accordance with section 64(1) of the Local Government Act 2002.

Note: This draft SOI, including financial forecasts, assumes that there are no implications for LGFA from the proposed 
Three Waters Reform Programme. We are awaiting further information relating to the establishment of the Water 
Services Entities (WSEs); how WSEs are intending to structure their borrowing; how the transition of revenue and debt 
will occur between our council members and WSEs, and the impact on future council borrowing intentions from the 
proposed Three Waters Reform Programme. The final SOI in June 2023 will be updated from this draft to incorporate 
any future announcements/legislation relating to the proposed Three Waters Reform Programme and will include a 
statement if there have been any material changes to our forecast assumptions as a consequence.

2. Nature and scope of activities

LGFA raises debt funding for the purpose of providing debt financing to New Zealand local authorities and CCOs 
(participating borrowers).

LGFA may raise debt funding either domestically and/or offshore in either NZ dollars or foreign currency. 

LGFA only lends to participating borrowers that have entered into required relevant legal and operational 
arrangements and comply with the LGFA’s lending policies.

In addition, LGFA may undertake any other activities considered by the LGFA Board to be reasonably related, 
incidentally to, or in connection with, that business.

3. Our purpose Ta tatou kaupapa

Benefiting local communities through delivering efficient financing for local government.

Ka whiwhi painga ngā hapori mā te whakarato pūtea tōtika ki ngā kaunihera.

4. Our values Ō mātau uara

We act with 
integrity

E pono ana 
mātau

We are 
customer 
focused

E arotahi ana 
mātau ki te 
kiritaki

We strive for 
excellence

E whakapau 
kaha mātau kia 
hiranga te mahi

We provide 
leadership

He kaiārahi 
mātau

We are 
innovative

He auaha 
mātau

We are honest, 
transparent and are 
committed to doing 
what is best for our 
customers and our 
company.

Our customers 
are our council 
borrowers, investors, 
and all other 
organisations that 
we deal with. We 
listen to them and 
act in their best 
interests to deliver 
results that make a 
positive difference.

We strive to excel 
by delivering 
financial products 
and services that 
are highly valued 
at least cost while 
seeking continuous 
improvement in 
everything we do.

We are here for our 
stakeholders in being 
strategically minded, 
providing resilience 
and executing 
our strategy. We 
embrace a high-
performance culture 
and can be relied 
upon to deliver 
results.

To meet our ever-
changing customer 
requirements, we 
will encourage 
innovation and 
provide a diverse 
range of financial 
products and 
services.

2023 - Agenda - Audit and Risk - March - Correspondence

209



Statement of Intent // 2023 – 2026 03

5. Foundation objectives

The Shareholders’ Agreement is a foundation document and states that, in accordance with the Local Government 
Act, in carrying on its business the objectives of the Company will be to:

(a) 	�achieve the objectives of the Shareholders (both commercial and non-commercial) as specified in the Statement of 
Intent. The Shareholders agree that the Company shall carry on its business with a view to making a profit sufficient 
to pay a dividend in accordance with the Dividend Policy, but that the primary objective of the Shareholders with 
respect to the Company is that it optimises the terms and conditions of the debt funding it provides to Participating 
Local Authorities;

(b) 	�be a good employer;

(c) 	�exhibit a sense of social and environmental responsibility by having regard to the interests of the community in 
which it operates and by endeavouring to accommodate or encourage these when able to do so; and

(d) 	�conduct its affairs in accordance with sound business practice.

This Statement of Intent sets out the company’s strategic priorities, together with associated objectives and 
performance targets, which align with the foundation objectives and have been agreed with shareholders.

6. Strategic priorities

The following five strategic priorities encompass the foundation objectives and guide the LGFA Board and 
management in determining our strategy, objectives and associated performance targets.

Governance, capability and business practice
LGFA is committed demonstrating best practice corporate governance underpinned by sound business practice to 
ensure its long-term sustainability and success.

Optimising financing services for local government
LGFA’s primary objective is to optimise the terms and conditions of the debt funding it provides to participating 
borrowers. Amongst other things, LGFA will achieve this by delivering operational best practice and efficiency across 
our lending products and services.

Environmental and social responsibility
LGFA recognises the risks inherent in climate change for councils and supports New Zealand’s shift to a low-carbon 
economy. LGFA will exhibit a sense of social and environmental responsibility by having regard to the interests of the 
community in which it operates and by endeavouring to accommodate or encourage these when able to do so.

Effective management of loans
LGFA will ensure its loan book remains at a high standard by ensuring it understands each participating borrower’s 
financial position and managing assets within an appropriate risk management framework to ensure shareholder 
value is not compromised.

Industry leadership and engagement
LGFA will take a proactive role to enhance the financial strength and depth of the local government debt market  
and will work with key central government and local government stakeholders on sector issues.
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7. Objectives and performance targets

This section sets out LGFA’s objectives and performance targets for SOI 2023-2026.

The financial performance targets are focused on the 2023-2024 year and, as applicable, are based on the financial 
forecasts outlined in section 8.

Governance, capability and business practice

Objectives How we measure our performance

LGFA will:

Demonstrate best practice  
corporate governance.

The Annual Report outlines our compliance with the eight core principles 
underpinning the NZX Corporate Governance Best Practice Code.

Set and model high standards  
of ethical behaviour.

LGFA has adopted a formal Code of Ethics, incorporating its Conflicts of 
Interest and Code of Conduct policies, which sets out the standards and 
values that directors and employees are expected to follow.

Achieve the shareholder-agreed 
objectives and performance targets 
specified in this Statement of Intent.

LGFA reports performance against objectives quarterly to shareholders  
and in our Annual and Half Year Reports.

Ensure products and services offered 
to participating borrowers are 
delivered in a cost-effective manner.

LGFA prepares annual operating budgets and monitors progress against 
these monthly. Financial performance is reported quarterly to shareholders 
and in our Annual and Half Year Reports.

Be a good employer by providing 
safe working conditions, training and 
development and equal opportunities 
for staff

The Annual Report reports on our health and safety and wellbeing practices 
and policies, compliance with the Health and Safety at Work Act, diversity 
and inclusion and capability and development.

Performance targets 2023-2024 target

Comply with the Shareholder Foundation Polices and the Board-approved Treasury Policy 
at all times

No breaches

Maintain LGFA’s credit rating equal to the New Zealand Government sovereign rating 
where both entities are rated by the same Rating Agency

LGFA credit ratings 
equivalent to NZ 
Sovereign

LGFA’s total operating income for the period to 30 June 2024 > $19.3 million

LGFA’s total operating expenses for the period to 30 June 2024 < $9.5 million

Optimising financing services for local government

Objectives How we measure our performance

LGFA will:

Provide interest cost savings relative 
to alternative sources of financing.

Measure LGFA issuance spreads against other high-grade issuers in the New 
Zealand domestic capital markets.

Offer flexible short and long-term 
lending products that meet the 
borrowing requirements for borrowers.

Measure LGFA’s share of overall council borrowing.

Survey participating borrowers on an annual basis.

Deliver operational best practice and 
efficiency for lending services.

Monitor settlements errors for new trades and cashflows.

Survey participating borrowers on an annual basis.

Ensure certainty of access to debt 
markets, subject always to operating 
in accordance with sound business 
practice.

Maintain a vibrant primary and secondary market in LGFA bonds. Monitor 
participation by investors at our tenders through bid-coverage ratios and 
successful issuance yield ranges.
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Performance targets 2023-2024 target

Share of aggregate long-term debt funding to the Local Government sector > 80%

Total lending to Participating Borrowers > $16,410 million

Conduct an annual survey of Participating Borrowers who borrow from LGFA as to the 
value added by LGFA to the borrowing activities

> 85% satisfaction score

Successfully refinance existing loans to councils and LGFA bond maturities as they fall due 100%

Meet all lending requests from Participating Borrowers, where those requests meet LGFA 
operational and covenant requirements

100%

Environmental and social responsibility

Objectives How we measure our performance

LGFA will:

Assist the local government sector 
in achieving their sustainability and 
climate change objectives.

LGFA is committed to assist borrowers financing of projects that promote 
environmental and social wellbeing in New Zealand. Green, Social & 
Sustainability (GSS) loan applications from councils are appraised by the 
LGFA Sustainability Committee, with approved loans monitored for ongoing 
compliance.

Improve sustainability outcomes 
within LGFA.

LGFA is committed to reducing our carbon emissions and formalised 
processes to measure our greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions, as well as 
management plans to reduce our company’s emissions.

Performance targets 2023-2024 target

Comply with the Health and Safety at Work Act 2015 No breaches

Maintain Toitū Carbon Zero certification Carbon-zero 
certification maintained

Meet reduction targets outlined in our carbon reduction management plan Reduction targets met.

Increase our GSS lending book and Climate Action Loans Two new borrowers enter 
into GSS loans

Three new borrowers 
enter into CALs

Issuance of LGFA Bonds under Sustainable Funding Framework Issue Sustainable 
Funding Bonds

Ensure Annual Report is prepared in compliance with applicable GRI Standards 100%

Meet all mandatory climate reporting standards 100%

Effective management of loans

Objectives How we measure our performance

LGFA will:

Proactively monitor and review each 
Participating Borrower’s financial 
position, including its financial 
headroom under LGFA policies.

LGFA reviews all participating councils and CCOs financial statements on 
an annual basis and the agendas and management reports on an ongoing 
basis for all councils on the LGFA borrower watch-list.

Participating borrowers are required to complete annual compliance 
certificates by the end of November each year.Analyse finances at the Council group 

level where appropriate and report to 
shareholders.
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Endeavour to meet each participating 
borrower annually, including meeting 
with elected officials as required, or if 
requested

Number of participating borrowers visited in a year

Assist a smooth transition of 
Three Water Related loans if the 
Three Waters Reform Programme 
progresses during the financial year 
for a 1 July 2024 implementation date

By 30th June 2024, LGFA will endeavour to facilitate a successful transition of 
existing council Three Water related loans to the Water Services Entities 

Performance targets 2023-2024 target

Review each Participating Borrower’s financial position 100%

Arrange to meet each Participating Borrower at least annually, including meeting with 
elected officials as required, or if requested

100%

Three Waters debt transition plan in place by 30 June 2024 100%

Industry leadership and engagement

Objectives How we measure our performance

LGFA will:

Take a proactive role to enhance the financial strength 
and depth of the local government debt market and 
work with key central government and local government 
stakeholders on sector and individual council issues.

Report on actions undertaken and progress made on 
sector issues.

Identifying any legislative or Central Government policy 
changes that may impact LGFA and undertake formal or 
informal submissions.

Assist the local government sector with understanding 
any legislative or Central Government policy changes 
that may impact LGFA. 

Report back on the alignment of LGFA and council’s 
climate and emissions reporting requirements 

Report back in how we are helping smaller council’s 
understand future reporting requirements.

Assist the local government sector with significant matters 
such as the proposed Three Waters Reform Programme.

Maintain productive relationships with central 
government representatives.

Support councils and CCOs in the development of 
reporting disclosures of the impacts of sector activity on 
climate change.

8. Financial forecasts

LGFA’s financial forecasts for the three years to 30 June 2026 are:

Comprehensive income $m Jun 24 Jun 25 Jun 26

Net Interest income  17.9  17.1  16.7 

Other operating income  1.3  1.3  1.3 

Total operating income  19.3  18.5  18.1 

Approved Issuer Levy  0.3  0.3  0.3 

Issuance & onlending costs  3.8  3.9  4.0 

Operating overhead  5.4  5.6  5.9 

Issuance and operating expenses  9.5  9.8  10.2 

P&L  9.8  8.6  7.9 
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Financial position (nominals) $m Jun 24 Jun 25 Jun 26

Liquid assets portfolio  2,008  2,125  1,934 

Loans to local government  16,410  17,137  17,980 

Other assets  -    -    -   

Total Assets  18,419  19,262  19,914 

Bonds on issue (ex Treasury stock)  17,305  18,021  18,676 

Bills on issue  600  600  600 

Borrower notes  357  388  415 

Other liabilities  -    -    -   

Total Liabilities  18,262  19,009  19,691 

Capital  25  25  25 

Retained earnings  96  103  109 

Dividend  (2)  (2)  (2)

Shareholder equity  119  126  132 

Ratios Jun 24 Jun 25 Jun 26

Liquid assets/funding liabilities 11.4% 11.5% 10.1%

Liquid assets/total assets 10.9% 11.0% 9.7%

Net interest margin 0.11% 0.10% 0.09%

Cost to income ratio 49.3% 53.3% 56.5%

Return on average assets 0.05% 0.04% 0.04%

Shareholder equity/total assets 0.6% 0.7% 0.7%

Shareholder equity + BN/total assets 2.6% 2.7% 2.7%

Asset growth 5.6% 4.6% 3.4%

Loan growth 5.7% 4.4% 4.9%

Return on equity 8.8% 7.2% 6.2%

Capital ratio 12.9% 13.4% 13.7%

Due to rounding, summary numbers presented in these financial forecasts may not add up precisely to the reported 
totals. The above forecasts assume a gross bond issuance programme of $3.20 billion (FY24), $3.20 billion (FY25) and $3.15 
billion (FY26) based upon term lending to councils of $2.78 billion (FY24), $2.90 billion (FY25) and $3.0 billion (FY26).

Note there is a high level of uncertainty regarding the financial forecasts for both council borrowing and LGFA bond 
issuance due to the uncertainty relating to the proposed Three Waters Reform and the impact on councils. 

Councils prepared their 2021-31 Long Term Plans (and borrowing forecasts) on the assumption that proposed Three 
Water Reform was not progressing and we have made the same assumption with our forecasts. LGFA projects it could 
have between $5 billion to $6 billion of loans to councils in June 2024 that are related to Three Waters. There have been 
no final decisions regarding the transfer mechanism for assets, liabilities and revenue from councils to the proposed 
Three Water entities.  We intend to provide an update to stakeholders on implications for LGFA as further information 
becomes available.

9. Dividend policy

LGFA primary objective is to maximise benefits to participating borrowers rather than shareholders. Consequently, it is 
intended to pay a limited dividend to shareholders.

The Board’s policy is to pay a dividend that provides an annual rate of return to shareholders equal to LGFA fixed rate 
bond cost of funds plus 2.00% over the medium term. 

At all times payment of any dividend will be discretionary and subject to the Board’s legal obligations and views on 
appropriate capital structure.
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10. Governance

Board
The Board is responsible for the strategic direction and control of LGFA’s activities. The Board guides and monitors the 
business and affairs of LGFA, in accordance with the Companies Act 1993, the Local Government Act 2002, the Local 
Government Borrowing Act 2011, the Company’s Constitution, the Shareholders’ Agreement for LGFA and this SOI. 

The Board comprises six directors with five being independent directors and one being a non-independent director. 

The Board’s approach to governance is to adopt best practice with respect to:

•	� The operation of the Board.

•	� The performance of the Board.

•	� Managing the relationship with the Company’s Chief Executive.

•	� Being accountable to all Shareholders.

All directors are required to comply with a formal Charter. 

The Board will meet on a regular basis and no fewer than six times each year.

Shareholders’ Council
The Shareholders’ Council is made up of between five and ten appointees of the Shareholders (including an appointee 
from the Crown). The role of the Shareholders’ Council is to:

•	� Review the performance of LGFA and the Board, and report to Shareholders on that performance on a periodic basis.

•	� Make recommendations to Shareholders as to the appointment, removal, replacement and remuneration of directors.

•	� Make recommendations to Shareholders as to any changes to policies, or the SOI, requiring their approval.

•	� Ensure all Shareholders are fully informed on LGFA matters and to coordinate Shareholders on governance decisions.

11. Information to be provided to Shareholders

The Board aims to ensure that Shareholders are informed of all major developments affecting LGFA’s state of affairs, 
while at the same time recognising both LGFA’s obligations under NZX Listing Rules and that commercial sensitivity may 
preclude certain information from being made public.

Annual Report
The LGFA’s balance date is 30 June.

By 30 September each year, the Company will produce an Annual Report complying with Sections 67, 68 and 69 of the 
Local Government Act 2002, the Companies Act 1993 and Financial Reporting Act 2013. The Annual Report will contain 
the information necessary to enable an informed assessment of the operations of the company, and will include the 
following information:

•	� Directors’ Report.

•	� Financial Statements incorporating a Statement of Financial Performance, Statement of Movements in Equity, 
Statement of Financial Position, Statement of Cashflows, Statement of Accounting Policies and Notes to the Accounts.

•	� Comparison of the LGFA’s performance regarding the objectives and performance targets set out in the SOI, with an 
explanation of any material variances.

•	� Auditor’s Report on the financial statements and the performance targets.

•	� Any other information that the directors consider appropriate.

Half Yearly Report
By 28 February each year, the Company will produce a Half Yearly Report complying with Section 66 of the Local 
Government Act 2002. The Half Yearly Report will include the following information:

•	� Directors’ commentary on operations for the relevant six-month period.

•	� Un-audited half-yearly Financial Statements incorporating a Statement of Financial Performance, Statement of 
Movements in Equity, Statement of Financial Position and Statement of Cashflows.

Quarterly Report
By 31 January, 30 April, 31 July, and 31 October each year, the Company will produce a Quarterly Report. The Quarterly 
Report will include the following information:
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•	� Commentary on operations for the relevant quarter, including a summary of borrowing margins charged to 
Participating Borrower’s (in credit rating bands).

•	� Comparison of LGFA’s performance regarding the objectives and performance targets set out in the SOI, with an 
explanation of any material variances.

•	� Analysis of the weighted average maturity of LGFA bonds outstanding.

•	� In the December Quarterly Report only, commentary on the Net Debt/Total Revenue percentage for each 
Participating Local Authority that has borrowed from LGFA (as at the end of the preceding financial year).

•	� To the extent known by LGFA, details of all events of review in respect of any Participating Borrower that occurred 
during the relevant quarter (including steps taken, or proposed to be taken, by LGFA in relation thereto).

•	� Details of any lending to CCOs during the quarter and the amount of CCO loans outstanding. 

•	� Commentary on sustainability initiatives.

Statement of Intent
By 1 March in each year the Company will deliver to the Shareholders its draft SOI for the following year in the form 
required by Clause 9(1) of Schedule 8 and Section 64(1) of the Local Government Act 2002.

Having considered any comments from the Shareholders received by 30 April, the Board will deliver the completed SOI 
to the Shareholders on or before 30 June each year.

Shareholder Meetings
The Board will hold an Annual General Meeting between 30 September and 30 November each year to present the 
Annual Report to all Shareholders.

The Company will hold a meeting with the Shareholders’ Council approximately every six months – prior to the Annual 
General Meeting and after the Half Yearly Report has been submitted. Other meetings may be held by agreement 
between the Board and the Shareholders’ Council. 

12. Acquisition / divestment policy

LGFA will invest in securities in the ordinary course of business. It is expected that these securities will be debt securities. 
These investments will be governed by LGFA’s lending and/or investment policies as approved by the Board and/or 
Shareholders.

Any subscription, purchase or acquisition by LGFA of shares in a company or organisation will, if not within those 
investment policies, require Shareholder approval other than as concerns the formation of wholly owned subsidiaries 
and the subscription of shares in such wholly owned subsidiaries. 

13. Activities for which compensation is sought from Shareholders

At the request of Shareholders, LGFA may (at its discretion) undertake activities that are not consistent with its normal 
commercial objectives. Specific financial arrangements will be entered into to meet the full cost of providing such 
activities.

Currently there are no activities for which compensation will be sought from Shareholders.

14. Commercial value of Shareholder’s investment

LGFA will seek to maximise benefits to Participating Local Authorities as Borrowers rather than Shareholders.

Subject to the Board’s views on the appropriate capital structure for LGFA, the Board’s intention will be to pay a 
dividend that provides an annual rate of return to Principal Shareholders equal to LGFA fixed rate bond cost of funds 
plus 2.00% over the medium term.

As the Shareholders will have invested in the LGFA on the basis of this limited dividend, the Board considered that at 
establishment the commercial value of LGFA was equal to the face value of the Shareholders’ paid up Principal Shares 
- $25 million.

In the absence of any subsequent share transfers to the observed share transfers on 30 November 2012, the Board 
considers the current commercial value of LGFA is at least equal to the face value of the Shareholders’ paid up 
Principal Shares of $25 million. This equates to a value per share of $1.00.
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15. Accounting policies

LGFA has adopted accounting policies that are in accordance with the New Zealand International Financial Reporting 
Standards and generally accepted accounting practice. 

Statement of Accounting Policies

1. Reporting entity
The New Zealand Local Government Funding Agency Limited (LGFA) is a company registered under the Companies Act 
1993 and is subject to the requirements of the Local Government Act 2002.

LGFA is controlled by participating local authorities and is a council-controlled organisation as defined under section 6 
of the Local Government Act 2002. LGFA is a limited liability company incorporated and domiciled in New Zealand.

The primary objective of LGFA is to optimise the debt funding terms and conditions for participating borrowers.

The registered address of LGFA is Level 8, City Chambers, 142 Featherston Street, Wellington Central, Wellington 6011.

2. Statement of compliance
LGFA is an FMC reporting entity under the Financial Markets Conduct Act 2013 (FMCA). These financial statements have 
been prepared in accordance with that Act and the Financial Reporting Act 2013. LGFA’s bonds are quoted on the NZX 
Debt Market.

LGFA is a profit orientated entity as defined under the New Zealand Equivalents to International Financial Reporting 
Standards (NZ IFRS).

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with New Zealand Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice (NZ GAAP) and they comply with NZ IFRS and other applicable Financial Reporting Standard, as appropriate 
for Tier 1 for-profit entities. The financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

3. Basis of preparation

Measurement base

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis modified by the revaluation of certain assets 
and liabilities.

The financial statements are prepared on an accrual basis.

Functional and presentation currency

The financial statements are presented in New Zealand dollars rounded to the nearest thousand, unless separately 
identified. The functional currency of LGFA is New Zealand dollars.

Foreign currency conversions

Transactions denominated in foreign currency are translated into New Zealand dollars using exchange rates applied 
on the trade date of the transaction.

Changes in accounting policies

There have no changes to accounting policies.

Early adoption standards and interpretations

LGFA has not early adopted any standards.

Standards not yet adopted

LGFA does not consider any standards or interpretations in issue but not yet effective to have a significant impact on 
its financial statements. 

Financial instruments

Financial assets

Financial assets, other than derivatives, are recognised initially at fair value plus transaction costs and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, bank accounts and deposits with an original maturity of no more 
than three months.
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Cash provided by LGFA as security for financial arrangements remains a financial asset of LGFA and is recognised as 
cash pledged as collateral in the Statement of Financial Position, separate from cash and cash equivalents

Purchases and sales of all financial assets are accounted for at trade date.

At each balance date, an expected credit loss assessment is performed for all financial assets and is calculated  
as either:

•	� Credit losses that may arise from default events that are possible within the next 12 months, where no significant 
increase in credit risk has arisen since acquisition of the asset, or

•	� Credit losses that may arise from default events that are possible over the expected life of the financial asset, where 
a significant increase in credit risk has arisen since acquisition of the asset.

Impairment losses on financial assets will ordinarily be recognised on initial recognition as a 12-month expected loss 
allowance and move to a lifetime expected loss allowance if there is a significant deterioration in credit risk since 
acquisition.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities, other than derivatives, are recognised initially at fair value less transaction costs and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

Derivatives

Derivative financial instruments are recognised both initially and subsequently at fair value. They are reported as 
either assets or liabilities depending on whether the derivative is in a net gain or net loss position respectively.

Fair value hedge

Where a derivative qualifies as a hedge of the exposure to changes in fair value of an asset or liability (fair value 
hedge) any gain or loss on the derivative is recognised in profit and loss together with any changes in the fair value of 
the hedged asset or liability.

The carrying amount of the hedged item is adjusted by the fair value gain or loss on the hedged item in respect of the 
risk being hedged. Effective parts of the hedge are recognised in the same area of profit and loss as the hedged item.

Other assets

Property, plant and equipment

Items of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost.

Depreciation is charged on a straight-line basis at rates calculated to allocate the cost or valuation of an item of 
property, plant and equipment, less any estimated residual value, over its remaining useful life.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets comprise software and project costs incurred for the implementation of the treasury management 
system. Capitalised computer software costs are amortised on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of 
the software (three to seven years). Costs associated with maintaining computer software are recognised as expenses.

Other liabilities

Employee entitlements

Employee entitlements to salaries and wages, annual leave and other similar benefits are recognised in the profit and 
loss when they accrue to employees.

Revenue

Interest income

Interest income is accrued using the effective interest rate method.

The effective interest rate exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial 
asset to that asset’s net carrying amount. The method applies this rate to the principal outstanding to determine 
interest income each period.

Expenses

Expenses are recognised in the period to which they relate.

Interest expense

Interest expense is accrued using the effective interest rate method.
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The effective interest rate exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the financial 
liability to that liability’s net carrying amount. The method applies this rate to the principal outstanding to determine 
interest expense each period.

Income tax

LGFA is exempt from income tax under Section 14 of the Local Government Borrowing Act 2011.

Goods and services tax

All items in the financial statements are presented exclusive of goods and service tax (GST), except for receivables 
and payables, which are presented on a GST-inclusive basis. Where GST is not recoverable as input tax, then it is 
recognised as part of the related asset or expense.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the IRD is included as part of receivables or payables in the 
statement of financial position.

The net GST paid to, or received from the IRD, including the GST relating to investing and financing activities, is classified 
as a net operating cash flow in the statement of cash flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed exclusive of GST.

Segment reporting

LGFA operates in one segment being funding of participating borrowers in New Zealand.

Judgements and estimations

The preparation of these financial statements requires judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the 
application of policies and reported amounts. For example, the fair value of financial instruments depends critically on 
judgements regarding future cash flows, including inflation assumptions and the risk-free discount rate.

The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that 
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates and these 
estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Where these judgements significantly affect 
the amounts recognised in the financial statements they are described in the following notes.

The financial statements as at 30 June 2022 include estimates and judgements of the potential impact of COVID-19 
and the proposed Three Waters Reform Programme on LGFA’s financial position and performance. Whilst there has 
been no material impact on the estimates and judgements at the date these financial statements are authorised, it is 
noted that there is significant uncertainty with regards to the medium and long-term effects of COVID-19, as well as the 
outcome of proposed Three Waters Reform Programme on the local government sector.
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Karakia  
 
Kia uruuru mai  
Ā hauora  
Ā haukaha 
Ā haumāia 
Ki runga, Ki raro 
Ki roto, Ki waho  
Rire rire hau Paimārire 

I draw in (to my being) 
The reviving essence  
The strengthening essence  
The essence of courage  
Above, Below 
Within, Around 
Let there be peace. 
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